
Summons 
and

Agenda
Monday 25 February 2019

Managing Director
Friday 15 February 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



Summons and Agenda

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council

A meeting of the Council will be held on:

Date: Monday 25 February 2019
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford

The Agenda is set out below:

1. Prayers: Reverend Avery 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Apologies for Absence 
To receive apologies for absence

4. Mayor's Announcements 

5. Urgent Items 
The Mayor will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items.

6. Member Attendance at  Meetings - Councillor B E Read (pages 1-
2) 
To consider awarding a dispensation to Councillor Bryan Read who 
has been unable to attend meetings in recent months due to ill health 
and may not be able to attend for the remainder of the Municipal 
Year.

7. Appointment of a new Member to the Independent Remuneration 
Panel (pages 3-4) 
To consider the appointment of a new Member to serve on the 
Independent Remuneration Panel.



8. Council Tax Discounts for Empty and Uninhabitable Dwellings 
and Empty Premium (pages 5-10) 
To consider the level of Council Tax discounts for empty and 
uninhabitable buildings and the empty property premium.

9. Revenue and Capital Budgets 2019/20 (pages 11-294) MD
To set the overall level of General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account revenue and capital expenditure for Dartford Borough 
Council for 2019/20, to agree the level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and unparished areas for 2019/20, to approve 
the Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 and to determine sundry 
related matters.



               
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 February 2019

MEMBER ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS – COUNCILLOR B READ

1. Summary

To seek approval for the continued absence of Councillor B E Read from 
meetings of the Council. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION

That the General Assembly of the Council note Councillor Read’s current 
indisposition for medical reasons and that the Councillor’s failure to attend 
meetings of the Council by reason of that indisposition be approved for the 
remainder of his current term of office for the reasons detailed in the report. 

3. Background and Discussion

The Local Government Act 1972 sets out the terms under which a council 
member is disqualified by failing to attend any meeting of the authority 
throughout a period of six consecutive months from the date of his/her last 
attendance. The Act further provides that where the failure to attend is 
approved by the authority in advance of the expiration of a six month period, 
then the Member will not be disqualified.  Councillor Read has been unable to 
attend a qualifying meeting due to ill health since 27 September 2018.  Under 
the terms of the Local Government Act 1972, the expiration of the six month 
disqualification period would therefore occur on 26 March 2019. 

Councillor Read remains unwell and is unlikely to be in a position to resume his 
full civic duties and attendance at meetings within the six month timeframe. It is 
therefore recommended that Councillor Read should be granted a dispensation 
to enable him to remain a Councillor until the end of his current term of office in 
May 2019 on the grounds of ill health.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 February 2019

6. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Twyman
Democratic 
Services Manager
01322 343430

Democratic 
Services/
Internal 
Services

N/A



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

APPOINTMENT TO MEMBERSHIP OF THE INDEPENDENT 
REMUNERATION PANEL

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the appointment of a fourth member to the Independent 
Remuneration Panel.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Miss Claire Metcalf be appointed to membership of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel. 

                     

1. Background and Discussion

3.1 In accordance with The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, the Council is required to establish and maintain an 
Independent Remuneration Panel which has the function of providing the 
Council with recommendations on the Members’ Allowance Scheme.

3.2. The Regulations require the Independent Remuneration Panel to have at 
least three members.

3.3 The last review of the Members’ Allowances Scheme was undertaken on 14 
December 2015.

3.4 The Independent Remuneration Panel has three members. It was established 
with four members in February 2015 but one member resigned mid-way 
through the last review to take up a staffing position within a shared services 
function.  To provide greater resilience going forward, the Panel requested 
that a further member be appointed.

3.5 After advertising and attracting a single applicant, an interview was held on 
January 16 2019. The interview panel consisted of the Leader, Shadow 
Leader, Deputy Leader and the Chair of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel.

3.6 The interview panel’s unanimous recommendation is that Miss Claire Metcalf 
be appointed to the Independent Remuneration Panel as its fourth member.

2. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

3. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial 
Implications

None

Legal 
Implications

As set out in the body of the report.

Staffing 
Implications

None

Administrative 
Implications

None

Risk 
Assessment

No uncertainties and/or constraints.

4. Appendices

None
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Guidance on 
Regulations
for Local 
Authority
Allowance

Tim Sams Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services

N/A



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS FOR EMPTY AND UNINHABITABLE DWELLINGS 
AND EMPTY PREMIUM

1. Summary

1.1 To amend the level of Council Tax discount for unoccupied and 
unfurnished dwellings, and dwellings undergoing or requiring major 
structural repair, and to increase the premium on dwellings that are 
long term empty (unoccupied and unfurnished for more than 2 years), 
as recommended by Cabinet at its meeting on 24 January 2019 
(minute number 112).

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Council Tax discount for unoccupied and unfurnished 
dwellings be reduced from 100% for three months to 100% for one 
month

2.2. That the Council Tax discount for unoccupied dwellings undergoing or 
requiring major structural repair be reduced from 100% for 12 months 
to 0% for 12 months.

2.3. That the additional charge for dwellings that are unoccupied and 
unfurnished for 2 years or more be increased from 50% to 100%.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Local Authorities were given powers and flexibility to amend certain 
Council Tax discounts under Section 11A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, which were enacted by the Council Tax 
(Prescribed Classes of Dwellings (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2012 and The Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) (England) 
(Amendment) Order 2012.

3.2. Approval was given by the General Assembly of the Council on 17 
December 2012 (minute number 69) to make the following 
amendments to the level of Council Tax discount for prescribed 
classes of dwellings and long term empty premium with effect from 1 
April 2013:

Prescribed class C (unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings) be set at 
100% discount for a three month period, thereafter the discount be 
set at 0%;



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

Prescribed class D (unoccupied dwellings undergoing or requiring 
major structural repair) be set at 100% discount for a maximum 
period of 12 months;

Section 12 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 added section 
11B to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 enabling Local 
Authorities to increase the charge on long term empty dwellings 
(unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least 2 years) by up 
to 50%.  The GAC determined this charge from 1 April 2013.

3.3. The table  below summarises the current position across other Kent 
authorities –  some of which are reviewing their discounts with effect 
from 1 April 2019

Council Class C discount
Unoccupied/unfurnished

Class D discount
Uninhabitable/major repair

Ashford 100% up to 6 weeks 100% for 12 months
Canterbury 0% 100% for 12 months
Dartford 100% up to 3 months 100% for 12 months
Dover 0% 100% for 12 months
Gravesham 100% up to 1 month 100% for 12 months
Maidstone 0% 0%
Medway 100% up to 3 months 100% for 12 months
Sevenoaks 100% up to 3 months 100% for 12 months
Shepway 0% 0% 
Thanet 0% 100% for 12 months
Tonbridge & 
Malling

100% up to 1 month 100% for 12 months

Tunbridge 
Wells

0% 0%

3.4. It is recommended that from 1 April 2019, the prescribed class C 
(unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings) be set at 100% discount for a 
one month period, thereafter the discount be set at 0%.

3.5. It is also recommended that from 1 April 2019, the prescribed class D 
(unoccupied dwellings undergoing or requiring major structural repair) 
be set at 0% discount for a maximum period of 12 months.

3.6. The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 increased the amount local authorities 
can charge on long term empty dwellings up to 100%. It is therefore 
recommended that from 1 April 2019, the charge on long term empty 
dwellings (unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least 2 
years) be set at 100%.

3.7. Reducing the Class C discount to 100% to  1 month, the Class D 
discount to 0% for 12 months and increasing the longer term empty 
charge from 50% to 100% will support the Council’s empty homes 



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

plan and encourage empty dwellings to be brought back into use 
more quickly.

3.8. In addition, there is estimated additional Council Tax that can be 
raised as a result of implementing the recommendations. As 
highlighted in the financial implications section of this report, the 
estimated income for Dartford Borough Council from these changes is  
£62k.

3.9. Kent County Council have also committed to give an incentive of 25% 
of the County’s share of additional Council Tax proceeds where 
districts have reduced empty property discounts. This commitment is 
for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 and is subject to review thereafter. 
The incentive payable to the Council for 2019/20 is estimated at 
£107k.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The estimated additional Council Tax 
that can potentially be raised as a result 
of the recommendations is as follows:

a. Discount for unoccupied and 
unfurnished dwellings (Class 
C) – reducing the discount 
from 100% for up to 3 months 
to 100% for up to 1 month will 
raise an estimated  £454,000 
in additional Council Tax.  

b. Discount for unoccupied 
dwellings undergoing or 
requiring major structural 
repair (Class D) – reducing 
the discount from 100% to 0% 
for 12 months will raise an 
estimated £144,000 in 
additional Council Tax. 

c. Long Term Empty Dwellings – 
increasing the premium to 
100% will raise an estimated 



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

£28,000

The estimated additional Council Tax of  
£626,000 would be shared between the 
Council and the major precepting 
authorities.  The Council’s share would 
be  £62,000

Kent County Council are committed to 
pay an incentive of 25% of their share of 
additional income from reductions in 
empty property discounts from 2017/18 
to 2019/20 (subject to review thereafter). 
The incentive for 2019/20 for the 
recommendations are approved would 
be  £107k

These proposals will have a negative 
impact on the Housing Revenue 
Account. The HRA will have to pay 
additional Council Tax on any void 
properties. Based on average numbers 
of voids, it is estimated that the extra 
cost to the HRA would be around £7k. 
This would have a minimal impact on 
the HRA Business Plan.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality Duty

There is no legal requirement to consult 
on the recommended changes but there 
is a legal requirement to publish any 
changes to the Council Tax regime in at 
least one newspaper circulating in the 
Billing Authority’s area. This must be 
done within 21 days of the resolution 
being agreed by the Council. 

Section 13A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 allows for the Council 
to reduce or remit any amount of council 
tax (at the full cost of the Council).  
These powers can be considered in 
certain circumstances where a dwelling 
can not be occupied, such as fire or 
flood damage.
Any amendments made to Council Tax 
discounts for empty, uninhabitable or 
long term empty dwellings are not based 
on individual circumstances or family 
characteristics. The recommendations 



              
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

25 FEBRUARY 2019

will therefore apply equally to everyone. 

Staffing Implications Minimal, the adjustments will be 
processed as part of the annual billing 
processes.  Some complaints or 
appeals my increase in the short term

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None

6. Appendices
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Dennington Revenues 
&Benefits

N/A





GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL – 25 FEBRUARY 2019

REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS 2019/20

REPORT OF THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

CONTENTS

1. Details of Exempt Information Category

2. Purpose of the Report and Summary 

3. Recommendations

4. Introduction

5. Budget Making Process 

5.1 Objectives
5.2 General Fund
5.3 Medium Term Financial Plan
5.4 Housing Revenue Account
5.5 Capital Programme
5.6 Staffing Budget

6. Probable Outturn 2018/19

6.1 General Fund
6.2 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
6.3 Capital Programme

7. Budget 2019/20

7.1 Summary of General Fund Budget
7.2 Basis of Budgeting
7.3 Housing Revenue Account
7.4 Capital Programme
7.5 The Collection of Council Tax and the Collection Fund
7.6 General Fund Balance and Earmarked Reserves
7.7 Revenue Support Grant and Business Rate Retention
7.8 General Fund Budget and the level of Council Tax

8. Financial Implications

9. Legal Implications

10. Staffing and Administrative Implications

11. Conclusions

12. Background Papers



APPENDICES

A (i) General Fund Probable Outturn 2018/19
A (ii) Commentary on Significant Changes to General Fund Budget 2019/20

B (i) General Fund Summary and Detailed Budget 2018/19 to 2019/20
B (ii) Fees and Charges 2019/20
B (iii) Community Grants 2019/20
B (iv) Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24
B (v) Identified Initiatives Reserve

C (i) Housing Revenue Account Probable Outturn 2018/19
C (ii) Housing Revenue Account Budget 2019/20 to 2021/22
C (iii) Housing Revenue Account Fees and Charges 2019/20

D (i) Capital Resources and Budget (Housing) 2018/19 to 2021/22
D (ii) Capital Resources and Budget (General Fund) 2018/19 to 2021/22
D (iii) Capital Strategy 2019/20
D (iv) Investment Strategy 2019/20 
D (v) Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 

E Corporate Property Maintenance and Improvement Programme

F Business Rate Retention for 2019/20

G Amendments to the Approved Budgets

H Statement on Robustness of the Budget, Adequacy of Reserves and Key 
Budget Risks

J (i) Council Tax: Precepts – 2019/20
J (ii) Council Tax Parished and Unparished Areas – 2019/20
J (iii) Council Tax - Band D 2016/17 to 2019/20
J (iv) Analysis of Net General Fund Budget and Funding – 2016/17 to 2019/20

K Council Tax 

L Legal Considerations for Members

M CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer

N Prohibition Orders and Judicial Review - Audit Powers

P Pay Policy Statement 2019/20

Q Background Papers
 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS 2019/20

1. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not Appropriate.

2. Purpose of the Report and Summary

To set the overall level of General Fund and Housing Revenue Account revenue 
and capital expenditure for Dartford Borough Council for 2019/20, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford Borough in its parished and unparished areas for 
2019/20, to approve the Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 and to determine 
sundry related matters.

3. RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 That the probable outturn and overall financial position for 2018/19, as set out in 
Section 6 of this report, be noted.

3.2 That, in the light of the probable outturn of the General Fund for 2018/19, the 
estimated General Fund balance of £3m at 31 March 2019 be noted, as set out in 
paragraph 7.6.1 of this report.

3.3 That the main changes to the General Fund Budget, as set out in Appendix A (ii), 
be noted.

3.4 That the Council Tax requirement of £6,709,535 for 2019/20  as set out in 
Appendix B (i) to this report, be approved.

 
3.5 That the Pay Policy Statement 2019/20, at Appendix P, be approved.

3.6 That an increase of 2.5% be applied to all salary levels and associated allowances 
excluding protected pay.

3.7 That a 2.5% increase be applied to Members’ and Mayoral allowances and other 
relevant allowances for 2019/2020.

 
3.8 That the level of Mayoral allowances be based on a standard rate income tax 

payer, and this be adjusted to reflect individual tax circumstances, as required.

3.9 That it be noted that the Managing Director is given delegated authority to agree 
fees payable for elections as outlined in the Pay Policy Statement at Appendix P. 

3.10 That the fees and charges as set out in Appendix B (ii), be noted with effect from 
1 April 2019 . 

3.11 That it be noted that the Managing Director has delegated authority to determine 
individual sums to be met from the Identified Initiative Reserve in accordance with 
the agreed general purpose for which it was established.

3.12 That it be noted that the Managing Director has delegated authority, in 
consultation with the Leader, to determine any expenditure funded from the New 
Homes Bonus.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

3.13 That the Community Grants budget, as set out in Appendix B (iii), be noted.

3.14 That the overall Housing Revenue Account Budget, at Appendix C (ii), be 
approved. 

3.15 That it be noted that the rent charges relating to Housing Revenue Account 
properties will be reduced by 1% in line with government regulations. 

3.16 That the fees and charges relating to Housing Revenue Account properties, as set 
out in Appendix C (iii) be noted 

3.17 That the 2% increase in rent chargeable for pitches at Claywood Lane Caravan 
Site, Bean be noted.

3.18 That the Corporate Property Maintenance and Improvement Programme be noted, 
as set out in Appendix E.

3.19 That the overall Capital Programme and budget for 2019/20 to 2021/22 be agreed 
and the detail noted as set out in Appendices D (i) and D (ii).

3.20 That the Medium Term Financial Plan shown at Appendix B (iv) be noted.

3.21 That the Capital Strategy shown at Appendix D (iii), Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement shown at Appendix D (v), and the Investment Strategy at 
Appendix D(iv), be approved, and that the Managing Director be given delegated 
authority to borrow for capital investment purposes, in accordance with the 
Treasury Management Strategy, should it be in the interest of the Council to do 
so.

3.22 That it be noted that the Managing Director is authorised to charge such sums 
which are currently anticipated to be met from revenue, balances or reserves, or 
capital accounts, to other accounts, as is deemed to be in the interest of the 
authority. 

3.23 That the budget amendment rules for 2019/20, as set out in Appendix G, be 
agreed.

3.24 That the special expense General Fund budget (parish precepts) as set out in 
Appendix J(i), totalling £1,167,348 be noted.

3.25 That the requirement of major preceptors, as detailed in Appendix J(i) to this 
report, be noted.

3.26 That the CIPFA statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer, reproduced as 
Appendix N, be noted.

3.27 That the financial threshold for the definition of a key decision, in accordance with 
Article 13.03(b) of the Constitution, be set  at £500,000. 

3.28 That it be noted that, at its meeting on 10 December 2018, the General Assembly 
of the Council calculated the following amounts as its Council Tax Base for the 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

year 2019/20 in accordance with regulations made under Section 31 B(3) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended (the Act):

(a) 37,747.03 being the Council Tax Base for 2018/2019, for the whole Council 
area.

and

(b) the aggregate of the amounts for dwellings in those parts of its area to 
which a Parish precept relates, as follows:

Bean Parish    557.41
Darenth Parish 1,272.18
Longfield and New Barn Parish 2,498.54
Southfleet Parish    628.29
Stone Parish 4,174.46
Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish 1,477.42
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 4,469.50
Wilmington Parish 2,989.35

        

3.29 That the following amounts now be calculated by the Council for the year 2019/20 
in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
as amended:-

(a)  £53,004,732 being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Council estimates for the amounts set out in Section 
31 A (2) of the Act, taking into account all precepts 
issued to it by Parish Councils.

(b) £45,127,849 being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Council estimates for the items set out in section 31 
A (3) of the Act.

(c)  £7,876,883 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) 
above exceeds the aggregate at (b) above, 
calculated by the Council in accordance with 
sections 31 A (4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year.

(d)  £206.68 being the amount at (c) above, divided by 3.28 (a) 
above, calculated by the Council in accordance with 
section 31 B (1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its 
Council Tax for the year (including parish precepts)

(e) £1,167,348 being the aggregate amount of all special items, i.e. the total 
of the parish and town council precepts, referred to in Section 
34(1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992

(f)  £177.75 being the amount at (d) above, less the result given 
by dividing the amount at (e) above by the amount at 
3.28 (a) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(2) of the Local 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

Government Finance Act 1992, as the basic amount 
of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those 
parts of its area to which no special item relates

(g) Part of the Borough's area:

£213.05 Bean Parish
£230.89 Darenth Parish
£205.55 Longfield and New Barn Parish
£191.60 Southfleet Parish
£268.63 Stone Parish
£249.15 Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish
£273.24 Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town
£207.94 Wilmington Parish

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 3.29 (f) above to 
the amounts of the special item or items relating to dwellings in those 
parts of the Council's area mentioned above, divided in each case by 
the amount at 3.28 (b) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, as the basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for 
dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items 
relate.

(h) That the following amounts, given by multiplying the amounts at 3.29 (f) 
and 3.29 (g) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in 
Section 5(1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, is applicable to 
dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number 
which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation 
band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992, be the amounts to be taken 
into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in 
different valuation bands:



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

Bean Parish

A B C D E F G H
142.03 165.71 189.38 213.05 260.39 307.74 355.08 426.10

Darenth Parish

A B C D E F G H
153.93 179.58 205.24 230.89 282.20 333.51 384.82 461.78

Longfield and New Barn Parish 

A B C D E F G H
137.03 159.87 182.71 205.55 251.23 296.91 342.58 411.10

Southfleet Parish 

A B C D E F G H
127.73 149.02 170.31 191.60 234.18 276.76 319.33 383.20

Stone Parish  

A B C D E F G H
179.09 208.93 238.78 268.63 328.33 388.02 447.72 537.26

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish

A B C D E F G H
166.10 193.78 221.47 249.15 304.52 359.88 415.25 498.30

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 

A B C D E F G H
182.16 212.52 242.88 273.24 333.96 394.68 455.40 546.48

Wilmington Parish     

A B C D E F G H
138.63 161.73 184.84 207.94 254.15 300.36 346.57 415.88

Unparished Parts of the Borough

A B C D E F G H
118.50 138.25 158.00 177.75 217.25 256.75 296.25 355.50



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

3.30 That it be noted that, for the year 2019/20, the major precepting authorities have 
stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with 
Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of 
dwellings shown below:-

Precepting Authorities 

Kent County Council – including social care precept

A B C D E F G H
866.28 1010.66 1155.04 1299.42 1588.18 1876.94 2165.70 2598.84

Kent Police and Crime Commissioner

A B C D E F G H
128.77 150.23 171.69 193.15 236.07 278.99 321.92 386.30

Kent Fire and Rescue

A B C D E F G H
51.84 60.48 69.12 77.76 95.04 112.32 129.60 155.52

3.31 That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 3.29(h) and 
3.30 above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts of Council Tax 
for the year 2019/20 for each of the categories of dwellings shown on the following 
page.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

Bean Parish

A B C D E F G H
1188.92 1387.08 1585.23 1783.38 2179.68 2575.99 2972.30 3566.76

Darenth Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1200.82 1400.95 1601.09 1801.22 2201.49 2601.76 3002.04 3602.44

Longfield and New Barn Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1183.92 1381.24 1578.56 1775.88 2170.52 2565.16 2959.80 3551.76

Southfleet Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1174.62 1370.39 1566.16 1761.93 2153.47 2545.01 2936.55 3523.86

Stone Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1225.98 1430.30 1634.63 1838.96 2247.62 2656.27 3064.94 3677.92

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1212.99 1415.15 1617.32 1819.48 2223.81 2628.13 3032.47 3638.96

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town     

A B C D E F G H
1229.05 1433.89 1638.73 1843.57 2253.25 2662.93 3072.62 3687.14

Wilmington Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1185.52 1383.10 1580.69 1778.27 2173.44 2568.61 2963.79 3556.54

Unparished Parts of the Borough

A B C D E F G H
1165.39 1359.62 1553.85 1748.08 2136.54 2525.00 2913.47 3496.16



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

4. INTRODUCTION

4.1 The adoption of a budget and determination of the local level of taxation are 
crucial decisions to be taken by Members every year.  These decisions are central 
to the operations of the Authority, since they relate directly to the Council's 
continued viability for service delivery, the exercise of local democratic discretion, 
and choice. 

4.2 The Managing Director, in consultation with the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), is required to report to Members on issues relevant to the budget and 
the setting of the Council Tax for 2019/20, the impact on future years, and the 
prospects for future resources.

4.3 Dartford Borough Council has the opportunity to improve the quality of life for local 
residents and businesses, and has a strong track record of doing so but it 
nevertheless faces challenges and financial pressures which require careful 
management. 

4.4 Significant growth has already occurred in the area and more is expected. This 
continues to places additional strains on resources as the demand for services 
increases whilst additional resources do not necessarily accrue at the same rate. 
The Council must meet the challenges for the future of the area, retaining its focus 
on key services and customer satisfaction, but with greater innovation and less 
cost. Resources will be targeted to meet these challenges, to harness the 
redevelopment of the area for the benefit of the whole community, and ensure that 
the improvements in key services already made are consolidated and built upon. 

It is clear that increasingly pressure is being placed on the need for a range of 
infrastructure which is in part being met by ultilising the Community Infrastructure 
Levy. This will not deliver all the infrastructure needed and accordingly the Council 
is working with a variety of agencies to find ways of ensuring the needs of the 
growing population are met.

The challenge for Members and Officers is to spend resources wisely and 
effectively, with each budget area being carefully considered before resources are 
committed.  The Council must take a long term view of its policy objectives and 
prioritise them. 

4.5 The budget is the financial expression of the Council's policies. Here in Dartford 
the Council’s leadership has set out a clear and consistent approach that it is 
those who receive services from the Council - the residents, businesses and 
taxpayers of Dartford - who should be the focus of everything we do. 

It has also demanded that whilst other authorities may respond to a financial 
pressure with a cut or withdrawal of services, Dartford continues to seek first to 
find ‘back-office’ savings, efficiencies, improved income streams or better working 
practices within the Council to protect the services the Council offers. This 
approach sets the Council apart from many other authorities and requires the 
Council to constantly challenge the way it spends money. Over the years, the 
strategy has been successful in protecting services to residents.

The Leadership continues to demand that services to residents must be more 
than merely a continuation of existing service levels. They must continue to 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

support the Council’s aspirations for the community and the good track record of 
delivery. Reviewing the budget each year does not involve simply looking at one 
year. Indeed, to do so may result in a ‘stop-start’ policy for the provision of basic 
services and initiatives. This is particularly true given the uncertainty over total 
resources and takes even greater significance in the consideration of service 
levels in future years. To reduce services before knowing with greater certainty the 
likely level of resources in future years could be damaging to those services and 
the public they serve but also be an expensive option if services were required to 
be subsequently reinstated. The priorities and strategic themes of the Council 
have been set out in the Corporate Plan and it is against those priorities that the 
budget has been formulated. A continuing review of services and budgets is 
undertaken by Officers to identify ways of improving efficiency, reducing costs and 
maximising income generation. That work has been reflected in these proposals.

A minimum four year view of the financial strategy and use of resources is 
therefore essential.

4.6 The budget is a balance of ensuring a reasonable assessment of the likely 
demands on the Council and the income it is likely to receive. The budget must 
therefore be regarded as a package where the prudence of each assumption is 
weighed against others to ensure a balance overall, not simply within the year but 
also in the medium term. Some of the assumptions are more problematic and 
complex than others and can have a disproportionate effect on the actual 
expenditure or income proposed in the budget. 

4.7 The risks and complexities associated with the current Local Government Funding 
arrangements make it difficult to accurately assess total resources. Business Rate 
income is dependent on several factors outside the authority’s control such as 
continued economic growth, the results of appeals, business rates reforms and 
revaluations as well as plans for a revised scheme. The level of New Homes 
Bonus in future years is not guaranteed as the numbers or phasing of new build 
properties in the area are difficult to predict. Additionally whilst the recent 
settlement showed continued commitment to New Homes Bonus, its longer term 
existence is still to be confirmed following the 2019 spending review.

4.8 Dartford has strong financial controls and recognises that operational efficiency is 
vital to ensure that resources are directed at front-line services. This report 
includes changes that will reduce budgets by approximately £298,000. After 
considering business rates income, budgeted income is approximately £0.697m 
less than estimated expenditure. The council has a strong recent history of 
budgeting to deploy reserves to offer protection to core service delivery but then 
securing sufficient in- year income to finish the year with an improved reserve 
position. However future challenges and funding changes mean this cannot be 
guaranteed. The Council intends to deploy reserves to protect the Council in both 
the current and medium term.

4.9 This report is designed to assist Members in reaching their decisions on the 
budget and the level of council tax, by presenting a strategy for funding key policy 
initiatives.  It seeks to build on quality services, identifying efficiencies and/or 
savings, to enable redistribution and the focusing of resources where need is 
greatest. The budget, as presented, builds on the corporate plan, performance 
targets, decisions by Cabinet, policy direction from lead Members and the work of 
the Policy Overview and Scrutiny committees.  



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

4.10 Given that the long term funding of New Homes Bonus can not be guaranteed, the 
Council believes that it prudent not to allocate in year funds for general 
expenditure, instead it is placed in reserves to be drawn, to support services in the 
current and medium term. This gives certainty to the funding being available and 
not withdrawn in year by changes in government policy.

4.11 This report carries the overall endorsement of the Management Team.

5. BUDGET MAKING PROCESS

5.1 Objectives

The Council prepares budget estimates each year. The approval of estimated 
expenditure and income achieves five main objectives:

(a) to assist policy-making for prioritisation and resource allocation;

(b) to authorise future expenditure;

(c) to provide a ‘yardstick’ for measuring achievement and performance;

(d) to provide a base for the control of expenditure and income; and

(e) to enable the level of Council Tax to be set.

5.2 General Fund

5.2.1 The budget for 2019/20 is based on mandatory services and Council priorities as 
outlined in the Corporate Plan. The detailed budget is shown in Appendix B (i).

5.2.2 The Council must match expenditure with available resources, and is constrained 
to spending at levels which reflect estimated total resources. The Council is 
committed to ensuring that all of its services offer efficient and effective delivery to 
all customers.

5.2.3 The budget for 2019/20 includes an estimate of income from business rates. The 
final local government finance settlement, including business rates was 
announced on 29 January 2019. Relevant figures for Dartford are shown in 
Appendix F. Due to ongoing reductions is funding the Council will not receive. 
Revenue Support Grant in 2019/20.

5.2.4 The Council is able to keep a proportion of income from business rates.  The 
2019/20 baseline business rates funding level for Dartford is £2,672,366. The 
Council will benefit if income from business rates is higher than the baseline, 
receiving 20-40% of any net increase depending upon the level of growth and 
pooling gains. However, the Council has to consider the risk of all appeals 
outstanding. There are currently over 92 unique appeals with a rateable value of 
£22.7m outstanding from the 2010 list . Additionally whilst appeals from the 2017 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

list are minimal to date it is necessary to estimate future appeals. It is difficult to 
estimate accurately the level of future appeals and when any existing appeals 
might be determined and at what rate. Officers receive regular information from 
officials from the Valuation Office to ensure best estimates are used. A provision 
has been made for the outstanding appeals based on these estimates, but there 
is a risk that this provision may prove not to be sufficient. 

The Council will be partly liable for any reduction in income from business rates, 
due to appeals or from businesses closing, but this reduction is limited by the 
operation of a ‘safety net’ within the pool arrangements. The safety net 
arrangements within the pool mean that Dartford’s income from business rates 
should not go below £2,471,938 for 2019/20.

Although it is difficult to predict income from business rates before the appeals are 
determined, the business rate base has been continuing to grow. In 2017/18, 
business rates income was above the safety net level and the position has 
remained likewise in 2018/19. Therefore, even after making an estimate of a 
prudent level of successful appeals, it has been assumed in the budget that the 
retained level will continue to be above the safety net level. After this, there is an 
expected reset in 2020/21 to take account of growth and needs based changes. It 
is currently expected that this reset will be full taking the Council’s income down to 
a reassessed baseline level. This assessment is shown in the medium term 
financial plan and contrasted with the situation of no change and a continuation of 
existing arrangements.

5.2.5 The Council has continued its investment strategy on cash balances using a multi 
layered investment strategy to enhance return while managing risk and the current 
and expected levels of cash balances. The uncertainties over the outcome of the 
Brexit have however depressed the market. This therefore shows as a reduction in 
the value of assets although a reversal of this position is anticipated if a deal is 
reached.

5.2.6 Other changes to the budget have been made reflecting efficiency savings, 
expected increases and additional income recognition. More details regarding 
changes to the budget are given in Appendix A (ii).

5.2.7 In order to support Local Government through the reductions in funding, the 
referendum limit on Council Tax has been set at the higher of a 3% increase or 
£5.00 for the average Band D property. This increase is assumed in the funding 
analysis provided by the Department for Communities and Local Government. 

In recent years, the Council’s Leadership maintained a level of Council Tax 
unchanged for several years, despite seeing significant increases levied in some 
neighbouring authorities. This policy of protecting the Council Tax rate has been 
no whim, but has successfully reinforced two clear and firm beliefs held by the 
Leadership. First, that money is often easier spent by a Council than it is earned 
by the taxpayer and secondly, that budget concerns should be felt and absorbed 
first by the Council rather than casually passed to residents. 

However, there is a third key principle, which underpins the Council’s approach to 
its finances. That is that the Council should recognise not only the demands it 
currently faces but accept new demands where taxpayers clearly wish to see them 
delivered.  Dartford taxpayers enjoyed many years of unchanging Council Tax 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

rates from this authority but the Leadership recognise that residents have rising, 
and entirely justifiable, aspirations in some areas of Council services. 

A Council that froze local tax for so many years is unlikely to easily fall into the 
habit of routine annual increases but it should nevertheless be prepared to raise 
levels when it is necessary to protect and enhance essential public services.

In 2017 the Council Leader gave an indication that he would give a degree of 
certainly in relation to Council Tax by suggesting that an increase of no more than 
£5 per year (band D) for three years would be likely, in return for a commitment to 
protect core services. 

The Council will therefore protect and extend those services that are important to 
the public whilst continuing to identify efficiencies and other income opportunities.

However going forward the Council Medium Term Financial Plan is based on a 
Council Tax freeze in the years 2020/21 to 2023/24 a clear aspiration of the 
leadership to maintain the tax at the lowest level possible consistent with 
protecting services. 

5.3 Medium Term Financial Plan

5.3.1 This report includes a detailed revenue budget for 2019/20. Summary details for 
four further years (to 2023/24) are shown in the Medium Term Financial Plan at 
Appendix B (iv). Various assumptions have been made about future inflation rates 
and income levels. 

5.3.2 The assumption for business rate income is the most difficult not only are there 
still a large number of appeals outstanding, which will have a direct impact on how 
much income the Council will receive but a new reset level of business rates 
baseline is expected to be in place for 2020/21.

5.3.3 The corporate review/use of reserves figure is estimated at £3.32m for 2018/19, 
rising to £4.40m in 2022/23 assuming a business rates reset. It is intended to 
allocate reserves for these purposes to ensure that subject to no unexpected 
shock the Council can maintain its current level of service delivery. 

5.3.4 The Council will review other strategic opportunities as opportunities arise. It will 
continue to examine ways of reducing costs or raising additional revenue. The 
Council needs to remain agile in meeting future challenges. 

5.4 Housing Revenue Account 

Following the significant changes and efficiencies made in the last few years, the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) has an estimated balance at 31 March 2019 of 
approximately £11.6m. Whilst this appears to be a healthy sum the balances will 
reduce markedly in the next few years as the Council to continues with its New 
Build Programme while implementing a 1% reduction in rent for general needs 
properties for the next year, in line with government policy. Care will have to be 
taken to avoid any substantial new increase in costs falling on the HRA during this 
period. However the current high level of service will be maintained throughout the 
period. 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

The Council continues to review the operation of the housing service and further 
changes will be made if they are to the overall benefit of the service, tenants, and 
other customers. 

5.5 Capital and Treasury Management

5.5.1 The Council is required to produce, and have approved annually, a Capital 
Strategy.  This is a new report introduced by the 2017 edition of the Prudential 
Code.  The strategy is intended to give a high level, concise and comprehensive 
overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management 
activity contribute to the provision of the Council’s services.  The report also 
provides an overview of the associated risks, its management and the implications 
for future financial sustainability.  The Capital Strategy is attached as Appendix D 
(iii).

5.5.2 A requirement of the 2018 MHCLG Investment guidance is that the Council must 
prepare, and have approved annually, an Investment Strategy.  This is a separate 
document to the Treasury Management Strategy and includes both financial and 
non-financial investments.  The aim of the investment strategy is to increase 
transparency and to ensure that the Council and its Members have a full 
understanding of the risks associated with the investments made.  The Investment 
Strategy is attached as Appendix D (iv)  

5.5.3 The Council continues to be required to prepare, and have approved annually, a 
Treasury Management Strategy.  Treasury management is the management of 
the Council’s cash flows, borrowing and investments and the associated risks.  
Whilst the Treasury Management Strategy could be delegated to another 
committee for approval it has been decided to present the report for approval 
alongside the Capital Strategy and Investment Strategy to aid transparency.  The 
Treasury Management Strategy is attached as Appendix D (v). 

5.6 Staffing Budget

5.6.1 The Managing Director is responsible for approving staffing resources and 
structures that will deliver the policy and service objectives of the Council within 
the budget available. The Managing Director, in consultation with other Directors, 
is continually reviewing staffing resources. 

6. PROBABLE OUTTURN 2018/19

6.1 General Fund

The probable outturn on the General Fund for 2018/19 indicates a net underspend 
on directorate budgets of around £982,000 compared to the current budget. A 
summary of the probable outturn is shown in Appendix B (i), while a narrative on 
the main service variances is set out in Appendix A (i).

The budget provided for estimated business rates income is £4,900,000. Based 
on current monitoring it is expected that this will be achieved and a small surplus 
of around £170,000 generated to be received in 2019/20.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

The Kent Business Rates Pilot should provide additional gains in income. Firstly, 
as under the pooling arrangements, a 50% levy on growth is not payable. This 
means gains of approximately £400,000 to the authority plus a contribution to the 
growth fund of the same. The direct gain is included in the overall projection. In 
addition, it is expected that a financial stability fund sum of around £930,000 will 
be received as an additional retention element under the pilot arrangements. This 
amount is not included in the projection as it stands as it is reliant on continued 
good performance across Kent and may be subject to in year shocks. 

The 2018/19 budget included a contribution from reserves of £0.697m. Given the 
above projected outcome, it is expected that this will not be required and that an 
additional £0.325m can be contributed to  reserves. 

6.2 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

The probable outturn shows an estimated deficit for the year of £1.2m compared 
to the budgeted annual deficit of £3.19m.  Details of the main variances are set 
out in Appendix C (i). The balance carried forward into 2019/20 is estimated at an 
approximate surplus of £11.7m. 

6.3 Capital Programme

The approved capital budget for 2018/19 is £25.9m. The probable outturn is 
£17.89m. Regular reports are submitted to Cabinet on progress against projects. 

7 BUDGET 2019/20

7.1 Summary of General Fund Budget

The detailed budget estimates are shown in Appendix B (i). 

 The summary budget for 2018/19 is:

Service budgets                                   
Plus allowance for inflation                  

Less: employee vacancy factor                                          
          support to other funds                
                                                           
Total Expenditure
                 

         £
13,670,300
     140,000
---------------
13,810,300

   (125,000)
   (865,000)
---------------
12,820,300



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

7.2 Basis of Budgeting

7.2.1 The budget has been compiled on the basis of mandatory service levels, 
contractual commitments, and the priorities of key stakeholders; it also 
incorporates savings identified.

7.2.2 The Council will continue to review the resources allocated to each service to 
ensure that all spending meets the objectives from the corporate plan. The 
Council will continue to look for ways to provide services more efficiently, and will 
consider further joint working with neighbouring authorities, and other operating 
models, to increase resilience and reduce costs. It will also explore new income 
streams.

7.2.3 Compiling the budget for 2019/20 and the Medium Term Financial Plan 
necessarily means making judgements on the level of inflation and interest rates, 
as well as estimating  the demand for council services and residents’ ability to pay 
for them. The Council needs to ensure that reserves and balances are maintained 
at a sufficient level to allow for unbudgeted, unavoidable expenditure and for 
potential problems in maintaining net expenditure within budget, as well as further 
losses in funding.

7.2.4 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, the Chief Finance Officer is 
required to comment on the robustness of the budget and adequacy of reserves. 
The Council holds specific reserves for particular purposes and a general 
unallocated balance for cash flow requirements and contingencies. These must be 
sufficient to ensure sustainable budgets through the period of long term grant 
reduction if levels of basic services are to be maintained. The statement by the 
Chief Finance Officer is shown as Appendix H.  Further details on budgets and 
reserves are given later in this report.

7.2.5 The Council established the Identified Initiatives Reserve to fund specific, short-
term initiatives. The balance on the reserve at 31 March 2019 was £2.698m.  
Resources have been reviewed within this reserve, to ensure that it is consistent 
with key priorities and residents’ aspirations. The Managing Director has been 
given delegated authority to agree individual sums to be met from the reserve in 
accordance with the general purpose for which it was established and this is 
proposed to continue. This is a single budget and whilst individual schemes have 
funding estimated the exact costs and timings of spend can vary. The fund allows 
for movement both across schemes and financial years. The current position is 
shown in appendix B(v).

7.2.6 The Council has limited scope to increase fees and charges, but recognises the 
importance of maximising income where it can, providing that charges are 
reasonable and any increase justified.  As part of the budget review, fees and 
charges were examined and proposals for changes are included in this budget. 
Details of proposed fees and charges are given in Appendix B (ii). For reasons of 
service need and flexibility, the Managing Director, in consultation with the leader 
and/or the relevant member of Cabinet, continues to have delegated  authority to 
amend or create new fees and charges.

7.2.7 Details of Community Grants are shown in Appendix B (iii). The General Fund 
budget includes a sum of £22,120 for community grants. The Identified Initiative 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

Reserve has in the past also funded community grants and this will continue in 
2019/20.

7.2.8 New Homes Bonus is paid for any increase in properties subject to council tax, 
plus a sum for all new affordable homes. The amount paid is based on the 
average national council tax which is approximately £1,671. The Council receives 
a sum each year based on the net increase in properties in the year (Oct to Oct) 
for four years. Additionally a growth baseline also applies so that only growth over 
0.4% is eligible for payments. 

In 2019/20 the Council will receive a total of £4,773,509 which is the cumulative 
payment.

7.2.9 Monitoring of performance against budget will be robust to ensure the integrity of 
the budget during the year.  

7.2.10 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) has a statutory responsibility for the 
financial affairs of the Council.  This is recognised in the CIPFA “Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer” and this is reported as Appendix N for Members’ information.

7.3 Housing Revenue Account

7.3.1 The Housing service, and with it the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), has 
undergone substantial modernisation in recent years. With the aid of tenants, 
service levels have been revised and a sustainable budget set. The Council 
submitted its stock options appraisal and 30 year HRA business plan to the 
Government in 2005. The business plan demonstrated that the Council could 
make a substantial revenue contribution to providing the much needed “decent 
homes” improvements for the Council’s tenants. 

7.3.2 A new self-financing regime was introduced in 2012/13. The budget for 2018/19 is 
based on the assumptions in the business plan approved in 2012/13, updated for 
known changes as described below.

7.3.3 Rents continue to be reduced in 2019/20 due to legislation which requires all 
social landlords to reduce rents by 1% for four years. After this year rents will be 
allowed to be increased up to CPI plus 1%. 

7.3.4 Appendix C (iii) details proposals for increased fees and charges in the Housing 
Revenue Account. 

7.3.5 There is a budgeted use of reserves for the next three years, mainly due to 
revenue contributions to New Build Housing capital programme as described in 
the capital section below.

7.4 Capital Programme 

7.4.1 Appendix D (i) sets out the resources available and the proposed programme of 
works for Housing properties for 2019/20 to 2021/22. The programme is based on 
the stock condition survey and the improvements made in recent years. The 
Housing Business Plan allows for an annual spend on capital improvements of 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

£6.6m, £4.6m and £4.6m over the next three years. The budgets for 2019/20 to 
2022/23 also include £13.1m to build new homes. This is funded in part (30%) 
from the “one-for-one” capital receipt initiative and 70% from the Housing 
Revenue Account or other available contributions.  “One-for-one” receipts have to 
be used within a prescribed timescale otherwise they are repayable with 
compound interest. 

Appendix D (ii) sets out the resources and proposed programme for the General 
Fund Capital Programme. The programme is based on known requirements and 
contractual commitments. The resources available to the Council will be carefully 
monitored over the next years and the Council will not commit expenditure in any 
year unless resources have first been fully identified.

Appendix D (ii) also includes a line for Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
expenditure. CIL is a charge on development that allows the Council to raise and 
pool contributions from developers to fund a wide range of infrastructure, such as 
schools, health facilities, and transport and community improvements - all of which 
are necessary to support new development.  

At this stage funding has not been allocated to individual projects but an envelope 
for granting or spending contributions needs to be agreed. Future projects will be 
agreed by Cabinet. Projections of future amounts received are estimates and no 
commitments will be made in excess of resources received. For essential 
community infrastructure needs it may be necessary to allocate the balance of 
reserves excluding working balances to take key projects forward. Should this be 
necessary approval will be sought although it is not likely to affect the current year.

7.4.2 The preparation and approval of the Capital Programme is integrated with revenue 
budgets to reflect any ongoing financial implications of capital schemes and the 
resources they consume in running costs and the interest generated on unused 
capital receipts.  

7.4.3 Under the Prudential Code, the Council is able to borrow to fund capital 
expenditure. The Treasury Management Strategy allows the Council to borrow 
long-term in support of capital expenditure where it is in the Council’s interest to 
do so. This is irrespective of the availability of capital receipts. The relationship of 
the strategy to the revenue budget is key and any strategy would seek to minimise 
both the short and long-term revenue impact.

7.4.4 The Council is required to determine various indicators and limits as part of the 
Prudential Code and these are shown in Appendix D (iii). 

7.5 The Collection of Council Tax and the Collection Fund

7.5.1 Details of the operation and legal requirements of Council Tax are set out in 
Appendix L. The percentage of Council Tax collected for 2018/19 was 84% at the 
end of December and it is estimated that it will be 97% by the year end. The 
Council continues to collect arrears for previous years. Officers will continually 
review collection practices to ensure best practice is applied.

7.5.2 The Collection Fund is a statutory account that receives all the money collected 
from Council Tax and Business Rates. Separate accounting arrangements exist 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

for the Collection Fund. The Collection Fund pays Council Tax and Business 
Rates to the major precepting authorities. Any estimated surplus or deficit from the 
fund has to be shared by major precepting authorities and taken into account 
when setting the following year’s Council Tax.

7.5.3 In accordance with regulations, the surplus on the Collection Fund was estimated 
on 15 January 2019 at £4,084,838.  This is shared between authorities as follows:

      £
Dartford Borough Council 498,896
Kent County Council         2,994,083
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 409,192
Kent Fire and Rescue Authority 182,667

         4,084,838

7.6 General Fund Balance and Earmarked Reserves

7.6.1 In setting the Council Tax for the financial year, each charging authority must 
allow for:

their own estimated revenue expenditure; 

(i) an appropriate contingency allowance;

(ii) an appropriate level of financial reserves;

(iii) any revenue account deficit in respect of a previous year which has 
not been provided for.

The General Fund balance for Dartford is estimated to be £3m both at the end of 
2018/19 and during 2019/20.

              
7.6.2 As noted in the Statement on the Robustness of the Budget (Appendix H), the 

minimum prudent level of resources is a matter of judgement and is the Council’s 
safety net for unforeseen expenditure or other circumstances.  The minimum 
balance has been set at £2.5m.

7.6.3 The Council holds earmarked reserves for specific purposes. At 1 April 2019, it is 
estimated that the balance on the earmarked reserves (not including the 
Identified Initiatives Reserve) will be approximately £28m. Of this, £16m is 
expected to be from New Homes Bonus income. At this stage this income is set 
against the Potential Medium Term Financial plan shortfall for the next four years 
with the remainder held against capital development and in particular essential 
infrastructure. £2m is held in the pension reserve to fund any future increase in 
employer pension contributions and to meet the pension deficit for ex-Orchard  
staff transferred to HQ Theatres. There is also £1m held to support items of 
exceptional cost and another £1m held against investment volatility; £670,000 is 
set aside for the replacement and renewal of major items of plant and 
equipment, and a further £645,000 for the maintenance of corporate property. 
There are also other, smaller, earmarked reserves. 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

7.7 Business Rate Retention

7.7.1 Business Rate figures for Dartford are shown in detail at Appendix F.

7.8    General Fund Budget and the level of Council Tax

7.8.1 The Government has set the 2019/20 limit on the increase in council tax, before it 
is necessary to call a local referendum, at £5 for authorities like Dartford or 3% 
whichever is lower. This level of increase is assumed within the DCLG’s funding 
calculations.

If the Council does not increase council tax by £5, it will lose a total of 
approximately £0.934m (from council tax, less grant) over the next five years.

Given significant uncertainty in funding beyond the current settlement period 
(ending  2019/20), the Council is reluctantly proposing an increase in council tax 
at band D of £4.95 for 2019/20.

The resources available to the Council in 2019/20 compared with spending plans 
are shown below, and determine the level of Band D council tax.

£
Total General Fund Budget 11,955,300
Less charged to other accounts    (865,000)

-----------------
Net General Fund requirement            12,820,300

Plus transfer to reserves   4,773,509
Less contribution from balances/reserves    (611,869)  

    -----------------
16,981,940

Less:
    Business Rates (5,000,000)
    New Homes Bonus (4,773,509)
    Collection Fund Surplus    (498,896)

                                                                                                 ---------------
Council tax requirement              6,709,535

Council Tax Base    37,747.03
Dartford Borough Council Band D Tax                    £177.75

The tax required of the precepting authorities is set out in Appendices J(i) and 
J(ii).  In summary, the Band D tax levels for non-parished parts of the Borough 
are:



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

2018/19 2019/20 % change
           

Kent County Council 1,237.68 1,299.42 5.0%
Kent Fire and Rescue Authority 75.51 77.76     2.9%
Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner

169.15 193.15   14.1%

Dartford Borough Council 172.80 177.75 2.9%
----------- ----------- ------

1,655.14 1,748.08 5.6%

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

As set out within the body of the report and appendices.

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Legal implications are as set out in Appendices L and N.

The budget does not have a direct impact on any particular group.

10. STAFFING AND ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS

Vacant posts will not be filled unless the relevant manager and Director can make 
a business case that can be supported. Opportunities to revise working 
arrangements will be taken where alternative options exist.

Currently the Council has several joint working arrangements in place with 
Sevenoaks, including Revenues and Benefits, Audit and Anti-Fraud, and 
Environmental Health. 

The Council continues to look for joint working opportunities in both the public and 
private sectors where this makes sense for the Council, preserves or enhances 
service delivery and as a by-product reduces costs.

A 2.5% increase on all salary levels is proposed. This recognises the difficulty in 
balancing a budget with reduced resources in the current and future years, but 
also the commitment of all staff to work more flexibly, strive to improve efficiency 
and improve the quality of services to the residents of Dartford. This level of 
increase is also proposed for member allowances.

The Council’s pay policy is attached at Appendix P.

There are no changes to the proposed level of service provided to Dartford 
residents as part of the budget process, therefore only a customer access review 
initial screening has been carried out.

11. CONCLUSIONS

11.1 As in previous years, Members have been advised of the range of challenges 
facing them and the financial consequences of these over the short and medium 
terms as they seek to address policy objectives.  The current pressures of rising 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
25 FEBRUARY 2019

expectations, reducing resources and the need to maintain a balanced, thriving 
and safe community constantly require the most fundamental reviews of service 
and policies, the manner of their provision and the options for addressing strategic 
needs including the creation of jobs and housing opportunities.   

11.2 The Council has, in constructing its proposals for 2019/20 and future years, 
considered the needs of front-line services, the views of key stakeholders on the 
Corporate Plan, staffing levels and the skills of staff necessary in delivering a 
demanding agenda in times of change.  The needs of residents continue to grow, 
as do the pressures for further development and change. Future funding is still 
uncertain. 

11.3 The Council Leadership has set its course to protect front line services by finding 
efficiencies and savings from within and maximising income generation. The 
whole Council is invited to support that direction. Policy and resource reviews, and 
public consultation on policy and resources, are part of the cycle of ensuring the 
aspirations of Members and the public are achieved.  

11.4 If the integrity of the budget is not maintained, the implications for the Authority are 
serious in the context of the provisions of Section 114 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (Appendix N refers).  

11.5 Members are requested to give full and proper consideration to the issues raised 
in this report, having regard to the legal responsibilities in relation to taking 
decisions on these issues (Appendix M refers).  

11.6 If Members wish to pursue other options, the Managing Director is able to give 
advice as to the implications and viability of these.  Any proposals, however, must 
be achievable, produce a legally balanced budget, and be within the powers of the 
General Assembly of the Council to approve the budget envelope.

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS

See Appendix Q





Appendix A (i)

GENERAL FUND

The General Fund probable outturn for 2018/19 is as follows:

Current 
Budget 

   Probable   
Outturn

 £     £
  Internal Services 5,837,000 4,565,110
  Managing Director                                               319,150 316,730
  External Services                                           6,700,720 7,303,680

--------------
12,856,870 

-----------------
12,185,520

         Allowance for inflation 123,610 123,610
         Employee vacancy factor/adjustment                           310,350 0
         Support to other funds (850,000) (850,000)

----------------- -----------------
12,440,830 11,459,130

----------------- -----------------

Staffing vacancy factor  
 
The budget for the year of £125,000 has been achieved and it is expected 
that General Fund salary budgets will outturn at £310,000 under budget.

Inflation allowance 

The allowance in the budget for inflation on major contracts is £210,000 and 
to date, £86,390 has been used as at the end of January.

INTERNAL SERVICES

Land Charges 

The number of requests for Local Land Charge searches are increasing 
predominantly due to the continuing pace of development. This is coupled 
with several multi property searches (100 – 400units) which have increased 
the income to an expected additional £47,000.

Fairfield Pool Management Fee Income 

The budget allowed for management fee income of £502,550, in line with the 
contractual schedule,, however, with cumulative indexation, the income for 
2018/19 is now expected to be £527,290.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 



Appendix A (i)

The Orchard Theatre 

Income from the profit share at £53,700, will be £24,000 higher than budget. 

Interest 

The investment income budget has been exceeded due to the externally 
managed pooled funds performing better than anticipated.  The Council also 
increased investments in the pooled funds during the year which has resulted 
in higher income receipts.  These in-house investments have also achieved a 
higher than anticipated return due to the increase in the Bank of England base 
rate to 0.75% which has driven up the money market fund investment return. 
Additional income of £850,000 is expected.

Benefits 

Most benefit expenditure is reimbursed by Government grant and the Council 
also receives income from the recovery of overpaid housing benefit. 

The net budget is £25,000. It is likely that the budget will not be required and 
that good overpayment recovery will result in a surplus position, the size of 
the surplus is likely to be around £275,000.

Revenues & Benefits 
 
A prudent budget is assumed for court costs, however the projected receipts 
from court costs is expected to be £129,000 above budget and £54,000 
higher than the 2017/18 outturn as there has been a significant increase in the 
number of summonses and liability orders. 

Revenues, Benefits, Fraud and Audit Shared Services 

The shared service is expected to produce an in year saving of £132,000 due 
to a staffing restructure and some vacancies. Other additional in year 
expenditure has been covered by grant income received from government.

Eltham Crematorium 

The Council’s share of the income distribution with the joint Arrangement at 
Eltham Crematorium is expected to be £29,000 lower than budget. There was 
some loss of income following the crematorium closure for two weeks for 
essential works. The latest information from the Royal Borough of Greenwich 
is that the number of cremations this year is lower than estimated which is 
in-line with the national average. 

Land and Properties Income 

The budget is likely to underachieve by £110,000. This includes £110,000 
income from the new Mabledon Cemetery lease. It has now been ascertained 
that, due to accounting lease rules, £48,000 of the income will be recorded as 
a capital receipt rather than revenue income. 



Appendix A (i)

A number of rent and lease reviews are ongoing which may result in 
increases or possibly reductions in the income received. During this exercise 
it has been identified that turnover rent from one of the properties is no longer 
receivable which will result in a reduction of current year income of £40,000. 
This has also led to a credit in respect of last year’s rent which, explains the 
remaining variance. 

Special Events 

The net budget for the festival is £85,470 with an outturn of £147,580.

The variation in costs for the Festival were down to a number of issues. 
Firstly, security costs continue to rise, due to the need for additional 
stewarding, metal detectors at all entrances and the use of sniffer dogs. 
These measures have been taken in the light of the severe threat level in the 
country as a whole. The security costs are now subject to a three year 
contract which should mean security costs stay the same next year. If the 
threat level decreases the level of security will be reviewed. Headline acts are 
also costing considerably more. This is called the “Rewind effect” after the 
increasingly popular Rewind Festivals held all over the country, featuring acts 
from the 70’s,80’s and 90’s. These acts are now able to command far higher 
fees than even three years ago. It would be possible to look at less well 
known acts or local acts, however the Festival has a reputation for quality and 
many of the Council’s sponsors and commercial stall holders are attracted to 
the event by that quality, something that may be lost if the Council lowers its 
offer. 

Sponsorship was lower than anticipated, although still far higher than in 
2016/17 and years before that. One of last year’s main sponsors was not able 
to sponsor this year as the company had been taken over and was 
reassessing its sponsorship activities. Another potential main sponsor was not 
able to get Head Office sign off in time. Income from bar concessions nearly 
halved and income from commercial stalls was also down. Some of this may 
be due to the knowledge that on the Sunday the Festival would clash with the 
World Cup final. 

Markets

The market income budget is unlikely to be met, with a shortfall of £58,000. 
Dartford’s Thursday and Saturday street markets continue to face a number of 
challenges. Traders are seeing shifts in shopping patterns and competition 
from discount retailers, supermarkets and the internet, while exchange rates 
constrain profitability and their ability to invest and grow. 

Traders have stated that these pressures have been exacerbated by the 
closure of Central Car Park which they complain has adversely impacted on 
their sales with many reporting that they are now struggling to make returns.

Property Information 

Street naming is a sporadic event based completely on the schedules of 
developers. Although the Council has an approximate schedule of completion 



Appendix A (i)

it is very difficult to predict when an application will be received.  This year the 
Council has received applications for a number of smaller developments but 
very little on the larger multiple street name applications. As a result the 
income budget is likely to underachieve by £30,000.

EXTERNAL SERVICES

Planning Income 

Planning income is likely to exceed its budget by £355,000. 

The planning fees income for the first half of the year exceeded the full year 
budget by £160,000 which was almost three times the income for the same 
period last year.  There have been some significant high value applications 
this year with three applications totalling £281,000. The number of large 
applications and the government-set 20% planning fee increase accounts for 
the rise in income.  

Income from planning performance agreements and commercial pre-
application advice is also performing well against budget and is projected to 
exceed individual budgets by £7,000 and £9,000 respectively.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

CIL Receipts have been higher than expected to date. As a result the 5% 
administration element chargeable each time the levy is billed will bring about 
an expected increased income of £47,000.

Building Control Income 

The projected outturn is £34,000 higher than budget. This reflects the income 
to date which includes two large receipts of £39,000 and £17,000.  The final 
position for the year will be dictated by the year end receipts in advance 
adjustment which matches income to the work actioned within any given year. 

Environmental Shared Services 

Overall the shared service is expected to underspend by £40,000. Some 
savings result from vacant posts and new employments at the lower starter 
grade payment levels, and a reduced use of the contractor and other 
overhead budgets.  Additionally, nearly £4,000 was recovered for officer time 
following a successful prosecution.  

Refuse & Street Cleansing 
 
A fire at Kent County Council’s waste disposal site used by the Council’s 
contractor for the disposal of the borough’s waste has resulted in additional 
costs being incurred by the contractor due to the greater distances travelled to 
reach an alternative disposal site. The usual site is now operational again.  
Costs of £242,875 have been incurred and an invoice for this amount has 
been raised to Kent County Council. Such additional costs are usually 



Appendix A (i)

reimbursed by the disposal authority using a set formula. The set formula 
would only allow £145,000 of this expenditure to be recovered leaving a 
potential shortfall of £98,000.  Negotiations are ongoing and KCC are due to 
confirm their position shortly. However for the purpose of the projected outturn 
exercise, a full recovery of costs has been assumed.

The main area of overspend at £59,000, is on garden waste. Income does not 
cover the fixed operating costs as it has not been possible to keep a fixed 
customer base or increase customer numbers. Additionally, the budget is 
insufficient to fund the costs associated with replacing missing bins and 
retrieving bins from former customers.

Similar to last financial year, there are increasing numbers of wheeled bins 
either going missing or needing replacement.  It is probable that the income 
received for new bins will not cover the overall cost of providing bins. The 
projected outturn anticipates a shortfall of £14,000 against budget but income 
from other sales reduces this by £8,000.

Clearance of illegal dumping is projected to exceed its £20,000 budget by 
£10,000 and recycling income is reducing with an expected shortfall of 
£5,000. Other variances largely relate to minor non-core ad hoc work.

Cemeteries Income 

Following on from 2017/18, when income was lower than budgeted, 
cemeteries income is currently projected to be £174,100, against the budget 
of £195,000. 

Temporary Accommodation – net overspend of £833,000   

At this stage last year the projected outturn was set to overspend by 
£750,000, on a £400,000 budget. The budget was increased to £650,000 for 
2018/19 but expenditure on housing homeless clients continues to grow. This 
is turn puts increasing pressure on the availability of rented housing in the 
area, exacerbated by London boroughs placing their temporary 
accommodation clients in Dartford in out of borough placements. It is 
projected that spend on nightly paid accommodation will be lower than last 
year as a result of fewer urgent interventions needed due to the increased 
stock of DPLS properties and higher capacity for prevention work. As more 
DPLS properties have been taken on, this has led to an increase in spend in 
this area. Total spend on all temporary accommodation is predicted to 
increase by £278,000 compared to last year.

If expenditure continues at a similar rate throughout the rest of the year, a net 
overspend of £833,000 is expected. However, there has been some reduction 
in recent months, particularly in relation to nightly paid accommodation, which 
if continued could result in lower total spend. 

This year the flexible homelessness support grant has been increased to 
£301,357. The grant replaces the Department for Work and Pensions’ 
temporary accommodation management fee paid as part of housing benefit. 
This grant may only compensate for reductions in housing benefit received.



Appendix A (i)

The situation continues to be closely monitored and the Housing Department 
is actively pursuing a number of strategies to help contain the issue.

Homelessness Prevention – net overspend of £230,000

Due to increased staffing and new IT, funded by the new Flexible Housing 
grant, the amount of work on preventing homelessness has increased. This 
has led to a large increase in spend on Homeless prevention payments. It is 
projected that this alone will overspend by £154,000 this year, however this 
may be an underestimate as current spend is only £10,000 less than the full 
year projection due to a sudden increase in spend in the last few days of 
January. Other significant overspends include Rent deposits and Rent in 
advance which together are expected to overspend by £38,000. It should be 
noted that any homelessness not prevented leads to even greater costs being 
incurred against the temporary accommodation budget.



Appendix A (ii)

COMMENTARY ON SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE GENERAL FUND 
BUDGET 2019/20

Minimum Revenue Provision
Due to the application of resources to the Capital Financing Requirement it will 
be no longer necessary to have the £153,000 established for this purpose.

Contract Inflation
A provision of £140,000 for in year increases has been set aside reflecting recent 
inflation trends.

Temporary Accommodation
Given continuing pressures in this area, an additional budget of £250,000 has 
been allocated. 

Pay Award
The proposed pay award of 2.5% has increased general fund staff budgets by 
£200,000.

Court Costs
This budget has been increased by £30,000 to better reflect the current level of 
court application income. 

Orchard Theatre
The original contract  with the theatre reflects an increase in costs of £35,000 
starting in 2019/20. However, profit share income has grown in recent years 
enabling this budget to be raised by £15,000. There is therefore  a net increase 
of £20,000 in the overall theatre budget.

Market Rent
Given reducing market income as identified in regular budget monitoring, it is 
sensible to reduce the income budget by £30,000 to reflect the current trends.

Staffing Changes
Restructures and other staffing changes have resulted in a net budget saving of 
£30,000.

Land and Properties
Due to capital accounting and a review of income receivable, it has been 
necessary to reduce this budget by £48,000.

Benefit Payments 
This budget of £25,000 has not been used in recent years as income from 
subsidy and overpayment recovery has resulted in a surplus position. Income 
may be reduced by higher error rates or due to an audit extrapolation, however it 
is now unlikely that this budget will be required.





Appendix B (i) 

 
 

GENERAL FUND SUMMARY

BUDGET
2018/2019

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

BUDGET
2019/2020

£ £ £ £

INTERNAL SERVICES 6,083,620 5,837,000 4,565,110 6,021,680

MANAGING DIRECTOR 378,010 319,150 316,730 400,530

EXTERNAL SERVICES 6,744,200 6,700,720 7,303,680 7,248,090

13,205,830 12,856,870 12,185,520 13,670,300

Plus/(Less)

Increase in provision for doubtful debts 0 0 0 0

Allowance for Inflation 210,000 123,610 123,610 140,000

Employee vacancy factor/adjustment (125,000) 310,350 0 (125,000)

Support to other funds (850,000) (850,000) (850,000) (865,000)

12,440,830 12,440,830 11,459,130 12,820,300

Contribution to Reserves 4,121,233 4,121,233 4,446,529 4,773,509

Net General Fund Budget 16,562,063 16,562,063 15,905,659 17,593,809

Business Rate Retention (4,900,000) (4,900,000) (4,900,000) (5,000,000)

Other Grants 0 (41,000) 0

New Homes Bonus (4,121,233) (4,121,233) (4,121,233) (4,773,509)

Total Grant and Business Rates income (9,021,233) (9,021,233) (9,062,233) (9,773,509)

Collection Fund Council Tax Surplus (504,248) (504,248) (504,248) (498,896)

Council Tax (6,339,178) (6,339,178) (6,339,178) (6,709,535)

Total Income (15,864,659) (15,864,659) (15,905,659) (16,981,940)

USE OF BALANCES/RESERVES (697,404) (697,404) 0 (611,869)

Total Income (16,562,063) (16,562,063) (15,905,659) (17,593,809)





 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES 148,320 147,550 147,890 151,930
COMMUNICATIONS 100,550 125,090 125,480 146,250
CONTRIBUTION TO PARISH COUNCILS 104,940 104,940 98,070 84,950
FINANCE 2,184,170 2,083,740 1,186,200 2,088,130
HUMAN RESOURCES 310,500 304,470 294,180 304,440
LEGAL SERVICES 284,090 277,880 301,570 288,410
ELTHAM CREMATORIUM (225,190) (225,190) (196,530) (225,190)
CORPORATE LAND AND PROPERTIES (787,330) (787,320) (685,660) (743,640)
POLICY & CORPORATE SUPPORT 382,460 376,600 377,440 390,990
REVENUES AND BENEFITS 404,900 404,900 (109,560) 352,910
COMMUNITY GRANTS 172,670 172,670 172,520 172,670
CUSTOMER CONTACT CENTRE 572,750 515,850 515,550 593,700
CIVIC CENTRE SERVICES 361,310 347,050 336,190 354,290
THE ORCHARD THEATRE 335,500 335,500 309,790 355,500
SPORTS & FACILITIES MANAGEMENT (222,430) (221,850) (244,450) (234,230)
SPECIAL EVENTS 89,970 89,970 150,700 93,150
BANDSTAND 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
NATURAL THEATRE 13,120 13,170 9,930 13,330
MUSEUM 53,970 53,370 53,240 55,730
PROPERTY INFORMATION 39,540 33,860 63,620 61,450
LAND CHARGES (45,850) (45,850) (93,090) (45,260)
DEMOCRATIC REPRESENTATION 668,710 650,710 649,710 644,520
ELECTIONS 209,200 208,870 203,430 214,580
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 848,100 848,100 823,860 887,170
DBC FIRE ENGINE 0 0 0 0
TOWN CENTRE MANAGEMENT 184,460 120,370 116,310 125,860
DARTFORD MARKETS (109,810) (102,450) (46,280) (114,960)

6,083,620 5,837,000 4,565,110 6,021,680



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES
Codes: A3100
Spending Officer : S Martin

EXPENDITURE
Employees 144,890 144,120 144,120 148,380
Supplies and Services 1,430 1,430 1,770 1,550
Agency and Contracted Services 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000

GROSS EXPENDITURE 148,320 147,550 147,890 151,930

NET EXPENDITURE 148,320 147,550 147,890 151,930

COMMUNICATIONS
Codes:  A0809
Spending Officer : A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Employees 67,680 92,120 92,120 113,330
Supplies and Services 32,540 32,640 33,050 32,590
Transport 330 330 330 330

GROSS EXPENDITURE 100,550 125,090 125,500 146,250

INCOME
Miscellaneous Income 0 0 (20) 0

GROSS INCOME 0 0 (20) 0

NET EXPENDITURE 100,550 125,090 125,480 146,250

CONTRIBUTION TO PARISH COUNCILS
Codes: A9595
Spending Officer : T Sams

EXPENDITURE
Agency and Contracted Services 104,940 104,940 98,070 84,950

GROSS EXPENDITURE 104,940 104,940 98,070 84,950

NET EXPENDITURE 104,940 104,940 98,070 84,950



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

FINANCE 
Codes: A5020, A5407, A5444, A5450, D3062, D0224, D3065, H7570, D1545
Spending Officer : T Sams

FINANCIAL SERVICES (A5020) 662,200 561,770 556,400 689,180
AUDIT SHARED SERVICES (A5407) 159,410 159,410 138,810 163,070
FRAUD SHARED SERVICES (A5444) 59,800 59,800 30,410 59,800
AUDIT& FRAUD SHARED SERVICES DBC COSTS (A5450) 7,550 7,550 7,890 8,220
PHOTOCOPYING & PRINTING PAPER (D1545) 0 0 0 0
INSURANCES (D3062) 149,700 149,700 168,650 149,700
SUPERANNUATION (D0224) 1,364,990 1,364,990 1,350,310 1,390,640
MISCELLANEOUS FINANCE COSTS (D3065) (324,480) (324,480) (1,166,270) (477,480)
LAND DRAINAGE (H7570) 105,000 105,000 100,000 105,000

2,184,170 2,083,740 1,186,200 2,088,130
EXPENDITURE

Employees 765,640 664,860 665,230 793,320
Supplies and Services 104,810 104,260 109,440 106,280
Transport 1,330 2,230 2,270 1,980
Support Services & Bank charges 71,210 71,210 90,000 79,320
Audit Fees 57,930 57,930 49,820 49,820
Agency and Contracted Services 166,390 166,390 124,480 167,900
Environment Agency 105,000 105,000 100,000 105,000
Minimum Revenue Provision 153,000 153,000 153,000 0
Insurance and Miscellaneous 1,855,730 1,855,730 1,825,130 1,879,950

GROSS EXPENDITURE 3,281,040 3,180,610 3,119,370 3,183,570

INCOME
Recharges (344,040) (344,040) (245,550) (342,610)
Fines and Costs 0 0 (140) 0
Interest Received (650,000) (650,000) (1,500,000) (650,000)
Contributions (97,830) (97,830) (117,720) (97,830)
Miscellaneous 0 0 (63,820) 0
Procurement Income (5,000) (5,000) (5,940) (5,000)

GROSS INCOME (1,096,870) (1,096,870) (1,933,170) (1,095,440)

NET EXPENDITURE 2,184,170 2,083,740 1,186,200 2,088,130



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

HUMAN RESOURCES
Codes: D0101, D0120, D0214
Spending Officer : P Curtis

HUMAN RESOURCES (D0101) 209,050 202,550 200,830 202,130
EMPLOYEE NON PAYROLL COSTS (D0120) 80,810 81,280 82,550 81,670
HEALTH CARE (D0214) 20,640 20,640 10,800 20,640

310,500 304,470 294,180 304,440
EXPENDITURE

Employees 203,960 198,280 199,530 199,190
Supplies and Services 20,180 20,010 18,310 18,890
Transport 900 900 900 900
Agency and Contracted Services 64,820 65,640 65,640 64,820
Corporate or Recharged Expenditure 35,800 35,800 22,930 35,800

GROSS EXPENDITURE 325,660 320,630 307,310 319,600

INCOME
Recharge to Users (4,900) (4,900) (3,080) (4,900)
Other Reimbursements (10,260) (11,260) (10,050) (10,260)

GROSS INCOME (15,160) (16,160) (13,130) (15,160)

NET EXPENDITURE 310,500 304,470 294,180 304,440

CHECKS TO VERIFY ACCURACY 0 0 0 0

LEGAL SERVICES
Code: A4051
Spending Officer : M Kelly Stone

EXPENDITURE
Employees 218,100 211,890 211,890 222,480
Supplies and Services 77,450 77,450 117,020 77,390
Transport 490 490 560 490
Agency and Contracted Services 50 50 100 50

GROSS EXPENDITURE 296,090 289,880 329,570 300,410

INCOME
Fees & Charges (12,000) (12,000) (28,000) (12,000)

GROSS INCOME (12,000) (12,000) (28,000) (12,000)

NET EXPENDITURE 284,090 277,880 301,570 288,410

ELTHAM CREMATORIUM
Codes: C2520
Spending Officer : T Sams

INCOME
Other Reimbursements (225,190) (225,190) (196,530) (225,190)

GROSS INCOME (225,190) (225,190) (196,530) (225,190)

NET INCOME (225,190) (225,190) (196,530) (225,190)



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

CORPORATE LAND AND PROPERTIES
Codes: A4650, A3825, A3646, A6030, A7200, A7242,  A7545, A7747, A7780, C3530
Spending Officer : M Kelly-Stone

VALUATION SERVICES (A4650) 161,100 161,100 163,020 162,180
FORMER CO-OP SITE (A3825) 0 0 0 0
MANOR GATEHOUSE (A3646) (43,980) (43,970) (48,720) (43,940)
LAND & PROPERTIES (A6030) (345,400) (345,400) (233,840) (297,400)
FORMER LIBRARY SITE, SWANSCOMBE (A7200) (14,050) (14,050) (14,120) (14,550)
ORCHARDS SHOPPING CENTRE (A7242) (215,000) (215,000) (215,000) (215,000)
COUNTY COURT SITE (A7545) (190,000) (190,000) (190,000) (190,000)
ORCHARD CLOCKTOWER (A7747) (700) (700) (700) (700)
THE BRIDGE (A7780) (98,930) (98,930) (105,580) (103,930)
STONE LODGE DARTFORD (C3530) (40,370) (40,370) (40,720) (40,300)

(787,330) (787,320) (685,660) (743,640)
EXPENDITURE

Employees 43,550 43,550 43,550 44,590
Premises 14,480 14,490 14,410 14,720
Supplies and Services 118,410 121,060 130,500 118,450
Agency and Contracted Services 3,190 24,100 25,910 3,190

GROSS EXPENDITURE 179,630 203,200 214,370 180,950

INCOME
Recharges (420) (420) (520) (550)
Agency Reimbursements (102,120) (102,120) (107,000) (107,120)
Sales 0 0 (7,500) 0
Fees & Charges (22,000) (22,000) (31,150) (22,500)
Rents (842,420) (842,420) (730,300) (794,420)
Transfer From Reserves 0 (23,560) (23,560) 0

GROSS INCOME (966,960) (990,520) (900,030) (924,590)

NET INCOME (787,330) (787,320) (685,660) (743,640)

POLICY & CORPORATE SUPPORT
Code: A3850
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Employees 400,320 415,610 415,240 464,670
Supplies and Services 19,100 23,810 24,370 19,080
Transport 1,220 1,220 1,220 1,220
Third Party Payments 0 200 200 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 420,640 440,840 441,030 484,970

INCOME
Recharge to Capital 0 (21,050) (21,050) (54,870)
Sales 0 0 (20) 0
Fees & Charges (1,000) (1,000) 0 (1,000)
Agency Reimbursements (37,180) (42,190) (42,520) (38,110)

GROSS INCOME (38,180) (64,240) (63,590) (93,980)

NET EXPENDITURE 382,460 376,600 377,440 390,990



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

REVENUES AND BENEFITS
Codes: A5410, A5420, A5472, A5490, A5600
Spending Officer: S Martin

REVENUES SHARED SERVICES - DBC COSTS (A5410) (647,950) (647,950) (780,870) (673,640)
BENEFITS SHARED SERVICES - DBC COSTS (A5420) (261,080) (261,080) (261,080) (236,900)
LOCAL TAXATION SHARED SERVICES (A5472) 493,940 493,940 427,650 469,540
REVENUES & BENEFITS SHARED SERVICES (A5490) 794,990 794,990 779,040 793,910
BENEFITS PAYMENTS (A5600) 25,000 25,000 (274,300) 0

404,900 404,900 (109,560) 352,910
EXPENDITURE

Employees 910,760 910,760 874,320 944,990
Supplies and Services 59,020 59,020 54,640 58,860
Transport 4,400 4,400 2,400 4,400
Agency - Shared Services 496,580 496,580 513,580 423,340
Miscellaneous 26,921,080 26,921,080 25,656,630 25,110,000

GROSS EXPENDITURE 28,391,840 28,391,840 27,101,570 26,541,590

INCOME
Government Grant (27,430,020) (27,430,020) (26,532,880) (25,615,450)
Implementation of Localised Council Tax (106,500) (106,500) (106,500) (106,500)
Other Reimbursements (7,500) (7,500) 0 0
Court Costs Raised (415,000) (415,000) (543,830) (445,000)
Transfer from Reserves (27,920) (27,920) (27,920) (21,730)

GROSS INCOME (27,986,940) (27,986,940) (27,211,130) (26,188,680)

NET EXPENDITURE 404,900 404,900 (109,560) 352,910

COMMUNITY GRANTS
Codes: D3064, D3067
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
SMALL GRANTS (D3064) 22,120 22,120 22,120 22,120
RECURRING GRANTS (D3067) 150,550 150,550 150,400 150,550

GROSS EXPENDITURE 172,670 172,670 172,520 172,670

NET EXPENDITURE 172,670 172,670 172,520 172,670

CUSTOMER CONTACT CENTRE
Codes: A1018
Spending Officer: C Russell

EXPENDITURE
Employees 546,280 489,380 489,380 566,970
Supplies and Services 18,620 18,500 18,580 18,760
Transport 470 470 470 470
Agency and Contracted Services 7,380 7,500 7,120 7,500

GROSS EXPENDITURE 572,750 515,850 515,550 593,700

NET EXPENDITURE 572,750 515,850 515,550 593,700



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

CIVIC CENTRE SERVICES
Codes:A1012, A1326, A3040
Spending Officer : C Russell

CIVIC CENTRE SERVICES (A1012) 86,120 66,910 66,970 88,150
CENTRAL POSTAGES (A1326) 0 1,650 0 0
CIVIC CENTRE (A3040) 275,190 278,490 269,220 266,140

361,310 347,050 336,190 354,290
EXPENDITURE

Employees 135,550 108,670 108,670 143,010
Premises 352,210 353,180 355,970 355,070
Supplies and Services 24,540 34,710 35,730 24,870
Transport 100 100 100 100
Agency and Contracted Services 1,830 1,930 1,930 1,830
Miscellaneous 82,120 84,370 84,120 84,370

GROSS EXPENDITURE 596,350 582,960 586,520 609,250

INCOME
Recharges (204,170) (205,040) (218,780) (222,090)
Fees & Charges (320) (320) 0 (320)
Rents (30,550) (30,550) (31,550) (32,550)

GROSS INCOME (235,040) (235,910) (250,330) (254,960)

NET EXPENDITURE 361,310 347,050 336,190 354,290

THE ORCHARD THEATRE
Codes: A7040
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Agency and Contracted Services 365,500 365,500 363,490 400,500

GROSS EXPENDITURE 365,500 365,500 363,490 400,500

INCOME
Other Income (30,000) (30,000) (53,700) (45,000)

GROSS INCOME (30,000) (30,000) (53,700) (45,000)

NET EXPENDITURE 335,500 335,500 309,790 355,500



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

SPORTS & FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 
Codes: C4000, C4031, C4032, C4040
Spending Officer: A Gowan

ACACIA (C4000) 195,120 195,700 195,700 198,510
PRINCES PARK (C4031) 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000
FAIRFIELD POOL AND LEISURE CENTRE (C4032) (502,550) (502,550) (527,290) (517,740)
PRINCES PARK MINI PITCHES (C4040) (5,000) (5,000) (2,860) (5,000)

(222,430) (221,850) (244,450) (234,230)
EXPENDITURE

Premises 221,160 214,740 179,830 217,120
Supplies and Services 108,400 108,200 108,890 108,200
Agency and Contracted Services 35,980 36,280 37,780 36,710

GROSS EXPENDITURE 365,540 359,220 326,500 362,030

INCOME
Sports Income (549,590) (542,690) (566,270) (557,880)
Rents (1,440) (1,440) (440) (1,440)
Contribution to Reserves 6,000 6,000 5,780 6,000
Transfer from Reserves (42,940) (42,940) (10,020) (42,940)

GROSS INCOME (587,970) (581,070) (570,950) (596,260)

NET INCOME (222,430) (221,850) (244,450) (234,230)

SPECIAL EVENTS
Codes: C6051
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Employees 0 0 7,830 0
Supplies and Services 6,000 6,000 3,800 6,000
CIL Development Contribution 155,470 155,470 204,400 158,650

GROSS EXPENDITURE 161,470 161,470 216,030 164,650

INCOME
Income (71,500) (71,500) (65,330) (71,500)

GROSS INCOME (71,500) (71,500) (65,330) (71,500)

NET EXPENDITURE 89,970 89,970 150,700 93,150



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

BANDSTAND
Codes: C0150
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Premises 150 150 150 150
Supplies and Services 450 450 450 450
Agency and Contracted Services 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400

GROSS EXPENDITURE 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

NET EXPENDITURE 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

NATURAL THEATRE
Codes: C1800
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Premises 11,870 11,920 8,680 12,080
Supplies and Services 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

GROSS EXPENDITURE 13,370 13,420 10,180 13,580

INCOME
Fees & Charges (250) (250) (250) (250)

GROSS INCOME (250) (250) (250) (250)

NET EXPENDITURE 13,120 13,170 9,930 13,330

MUSEUM
Codes: C6052
Spending Officer: A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Employees 39,910 39,310 39,170 41,070
Premises 9,070 9,070 9,710 9,810
Supplies and Services 5,670 5,670 4,640 5,530
Transport 20 20 20 20

GROSS EXPENDITURE 54,670 54,070 53,540 56,430

INCOME
Miscellaneous (700) (700) (300) (700)

GROSS INCOME (700) (700) (300) (700)

NET EXPENDITURE 53,970 53,370 53,240 55,730



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

PROPERTY INFORMATION 
Codes: A4155
Spending Office: T Clark

PROPERTY INFORMATION (A4155) 39,540 33,860 63,620 61,450
39,540 33,860 63,620 61,450

EXPENDITURE
Employees 82,290 76,610 76,610 84,340
Supplies and Services 3,200 3,200 3,060 3,060
Transport 250 250 250 250
Agency and Contracted Services 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

GROSS EXPENDITURE 90,740 85,060 84,920 92,650

INCOME
Recharge to Users (200) (200) (300) (200)
Sales (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)
Fees & Charges (50,000) (50,000) (20,000) (30,000)
Other Reimbursements 0 0 0 0

GROSS INCOME (51,200) (51,200) (21,300) (31,200)

NET EXPENDITURE 39,540 33,860 63,620 61,450

LAND CHARGES
Codes: A4152
Spending Office: T Clark

EXPENDITURE
Employees 33,190 33,190 33,190 34,020
Supplies and Services 870 8,870 8,630 630
Transport 90 90 90 90

GROSS EXPENDITURE 34,150 42,150 41,910 34,740

INCOME
Fees and Charges (80,000) (88,000) (135,000) (80,000)

GROSS INCOME (80,000) (88,000) (135,000) (80,000)

NET EXPENDITURE (45,850) (45,850) (93,090) (45,260)



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

DEMOCRATIC REPRESENTATION
Codes: A1015,  A1017, A2334, A2536
Spending Officer : A Twyman

CABINET SERVICES (A1015) 29,590 29,590 29,280 30,350
COMMITTEE AND MEMBERS' SUPPORT (A1017) 188,250 170,250 169,820 152,570
CIVIC EXPENSES (A2334) 23,620 24,120 23,350 23,890
MEMBERS' SERVICES (A2536) 427,250 426,750 427,260 437,710

668,710 650,710 649,710 644,520
EXPENDITURE

Employees 210,320 192,920 192,920 175,290
Supplies and Services (including Members' Allowances) 448,090 446,990 446,660 458,930
Transport 10,300 10,800 10,130 10,300

GROSS EXPENDITURE 668,710 650,710 649,710 644,520

NET EXPENDITURE 668,710 650,710 649,710 644,520

ELECTIONS
Codes:  A1016, A2132
Spending Officer : J Pegler

ELECTORAL REGISTRATION - SUPPORT UNIT (A1016) 135,150 135,020 135,390 144,820
ELECTORAL REGISTRATION (A2132) 74,050 73,850 68,040 69,760

209,200 208,870 203,430 214,580
EXPENDITURE

Employees 127,080 126,150 126,160 135,870
Premises 2,550 1,190 1,190 1,190
Supplies and Services 79,980 81,380 77,360 77,570
Transport 160 720 720 520

GROSS EXPENDITURE 209,770 209,440 205,430 215,150

INCOME
Sales (570) (570) (2,000) (570)

GROSS INCOME (570) (570) (2,000) (570)

NET EXPENDITURE 209,200 208,870 203,430 214,580



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Codes: A1225, D1030, D1060, D1090
Spending Officer: S Martin

TELEPHONE COMMUNICATIONS (A1225) 510 8,580 0 260
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (D1030) 620,630 612,560 602,500 652,950
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY LICENCES (D1060) 226,960 226,960 221,360 233,960
CORPORATE PRINTERS (D1090) 0 0 0 0

848,100 848,100 823,860 887,170

EXPENDITURE
Employees 514,410 494,410 490,140 552,750
Supplies and Services 359,480 379,150 380,780 369,280
Transport 300 300 300 300
Agency and Contracted Services 62,750 55,010 49,010 55,860
Miscellaneous 60,470 68,540 69,220 68,540

GROSS EXPENDITURE 997,410 997,410 989,450 1,046,730

INCOME
Recharges (149,310) (149,310) (165,590) (159,560)
Other Reimbursements 0 0 0 0

GROSS INCOME (149,310) (149,310) (165,590) (159,560)

NET EXPENDITURE 848,100 848,100 823,860 887,170

DBC FIRE ENGINE 
Codes:  A3875
Spending Officer : A Gowan
EXPENDITURE

Employees 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Transport 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

GROSS EXPENDITURE 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

INCOME
Fees & Charges (3,000) (3,000) (3,000) (3,000)

GROSS INCOME (3,000) (3,000) (3,000) (3,000)

NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR INTERNAL SERVICES BUDGET
2018/2019

£

CURRENT
BUDGET
2018/2019

£

PROBABLE
OUTTURN
2018/2019

£

BUDGET
2019/2020

£

DARTFORD MARKETS
Codes:  H0510
Spending Officer : A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Employees 26,960 32,960 32,960 32,240
Premises 25,000 25,000 24,000 25,370
Supplies and Services 5,610 5,610 5,460 5,620
Agency and Contracted Services 75,720 77,080 75,000 34,910

GROSS EXPENDITURE 133,290 140,650 137,420 98,140

INCOME
Rents (240,000) (240,000) (182,000) (210,000)
Fees & Charges (3,100) (3,100) (1,700) (3,100)

GROSS INCOME (243,100) (243,100) (183,700) (213,100)

NET INCOME (109,810) (102,450) (46,280) (114,960)

TOWN CENTRE MANAGEMENT
Codes: A3647
Spending Officer : A Gowan

EXPENDITURE
Employees 118,910 55,320 55,440 60,390
Supplies and Services 5,550 5,050 4,870 5,470
Christmas Events and Lights 160 160 160 160
Transport 62,340 62,340 62,340 62,340

GROSS EXPENDITURE 186,960 122,870 122,810 128,360

INCOME
Christmas Event Income (2,500) (2,500) (6,500) (2,500)

GROSS INCOME (2,500) (2,500) (6,500) (2,500)

NET EXPENDITURE 184,460 120,370 116,310 125,860





 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

MANAGING DIRECTOR
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

MANAGING DIRECTOR 378,010 319,150 316,730 400,530
378,010 319,150 316,730 400,530

MANAGING DIRECTOR
Codes:  A5001, A0203, A0404, A5015
Spending Officer : G Harris

MANAGING DIRECTOR (A5001) 233,900 186,640 185,950 238,360
INDUSTRIAL PROMOTION (A0203) 23,360 23,360 22,150 38,360
CORPORATE MISCELLANEOUS (A0404) 12,500 12,500 12,500 12,500
SECRETARIAT (A5015) 108,250 96,650 96,130 111,310

378,010 319,150 316,730 400,530
EXPENDITURE

Employees 286,450 237,590 237,180 293,370
Supplies and Services 70,180 60,180 61,870 85,780
Expenditure Funded from Reserves 0 28,000 28,000 0
Third Party Payments 2,560 2,560 2,560 2,560
Industrial Promotion 11,320 11,320 11,320 11,320
Corporate Miscellaneous 12,500 12,500 12,500 12,500

GROSS EXPENDITURE 383,010 352,150 353,430 405,530

INCOME
Transfer from Reserves 0 (28,000) (28,000) 0
Fees & Charges (5,000) (5,000) (8,700) (5,000)

GROSS INCOME (5,000) (33,000) (36,700) (5,000)

NET EXPENDITURE 378,010 319,150 316,730 400,530





 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR EXTERNAL SERVICES 143,990 107,270 107,080 147,240
CCTV 152,040 168,540 150,590 153,710
CAR PARKS (129,420) (174,260) (183,080) (143,810)
LICENSING (5,030) (14,690) (14,520) (4,270)
ENFORCEMENT AND REGULATION 424,860 416,780 391,330 470,120
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 554,160 557,290 531,650 576,250
CEMETERIES 94,080 95,480 115,660 102,180
PARKS AND OPEN SPACES 348,380 357,690 365,050 367,420
HIGHWAYS 5,200 5,200 5,200 5,200
WASTE & PARKS MANAGEMENT 3,624,550 3,650,030 3,727,730 3,741,890
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 309,410 309,410 (129,360) 343,870
BUILDING CONTROL (8,200) (8,200) (48,890) (3,150)
TEMPORARY HOUSING ACCOMMODATION 756,500 756,500 1,819,760 1,006,590
STRATEGIC HOUSING 25,510 25,510 25,510 25,510
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 265,320 265,320 247,220 271,590
CLAYWOOD LANE CARAVAN SITE (21,670) (21,670) (19,260) (21,670)
CORPORATE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 196,320 196,320 203,810 201,220
EMERGENCY PLANNING 8,200 8,200 8,200 8,200

6,744,200 6,700,720 7,303,680 7,248,090



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR EXTERNAL SERVICES
Code: D1035
Spending Officer: S Green

EXPENDITURE
Employees 142,670 105,950 105,950 145,970
Supplies and Services 1,320 1,320 1,130 1,270

GROSS EXPENDITURE 143,990 107,270 107,080 147,240

NET EXPENDITURE 143,990 107,270 107,080 147,240

CCTV
Code: A3700 
Spending Officer: M Salisbury

EXPENDITURE
Employees 73,790 108,140 90,290 105,390
Premises 3,500 3,500 4,200 3,500
Supplies and Services 6,120 2,620 2,180 2,620
Transport 100 100 100 100
CCTV  68,530 72,030 72,170 72,030

GROSS EXPENDITURE 152,040 186,390 168,940 183,640

INCOME
Other Local Authority Grants & Contributions 0 (17,850) (17,850) (29,930)
Fees & Charges 0 0 (500) 0

GROSS INCOME 0 (17,850) (18,350) (29,930)

NET EXPENDITURE 152,040 168,540 150,590 153,710



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

CAR PARKS
Codes: E1004, E1075, E4030, E4031, H0109, H0155
Spending Officer: M Salisbury

CAR PARKS ADMINISTRATION (E1004) 182,620 161,990 164,600 165,480
RAPID CHARGE POINTS E1075) 2,500 2,500 1,900 2,500
CAR PARKS - ON STREET (E4030) (338,500) (344,500) (399,680) (368,070)
CAR PARKS - OFF STREET (E4031) (216,920) (227,160) (199,030) (192,830)
CIVIL ENFORCEMENT  (H0109) 255,880 247,910 249,030 249,110
PARKING ENFORCEMENT TECHNOLOGY (H0155) (15,000) (15,000) 100 0

(129,420) (174,260) (183,080) (143,810)
EXPENDITURE

Employees 395,050 349,770 349,920 363,540
Premises 129,630 124,280 124,430 143,950
Supplies and Services 65,910 79,700 81,920 73,510
Transport 4,230 4,530 5,310 4,230
Agency and Contracted Services 17,570 14,070 14,070 17,570

GROSS EXPENDITURE 612,390 572,350 575,650 602,800

INCOME
Fines & Costs (313,340) (318,140) (335,000) (318,140)
Fees and Charges (428,470) (428,470) (423,730) (428,470)

GROSS INCOME (741,810) (746,610) (758,730) (746,610)

NET INCOME (129,420) (174,260) (183,080) (143,810)

LICENSING
Code: H0105
Spending Officer: M Salisbury

EXPENDITURE
Employees 130,230 120,570 120,570 130,920
Supplies and Services 11,490 11,490 11,860 11,560
Transport 750 750 750 750

GROSS EXPENDITURE 142,470 132,810 133,180 143,230

INCOME
Fees and Charges (147,500) (147,500) (147,700) (147,500)

GROSS INCOME (147,500) (147,500) (147,700) (147,500)

NET INCOME (5,030) (14,690) (14,520) (4,270)



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

ENFORCEMENT AND REGULATION
Codes: C0105, H0107, H0108, H0112, H0125, H0140, H0144, H1621
Spending Officer: M Salisbury

COMMUNITY SAFETY (C0105) 122,940 122,940 122,890 133,210
ENFORCEMENT  AND REGULATION (H0107) 145,150 144,160 133,210 174,650
PATROLLING UNIT (H0108) 89,660 85,660 85,790 91,820
TOWN CENTRE CRIME AND DISORDER (H0112) 8,290 4,450 6,770 9,130
CDRP (H0125) 0 0 0 0
PRIVATE LITTER ENFORCEMENT (H0140) (19,850) (19,850) (36,830) (19,830)
PLANNING ENFORCEMENT (H0144) 77,170 77,920 78,000 79,640
ILLEGAL TRAVELLERS (H1621) 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

424,860 416,780 391,330 470,120
EXPENDITURE

Employees 443,730 436,400 436,300 481,070
Supplies and Services 30,310 30,180 33,320 32,500
Transport 7,320 7,970 7,460 7,320
Agency and Contracted Services 122,000 122,000 109,000 129,000
Miscellaneous 31,850 42,640 10,840 5,070

GROSS EXPENDITURE 635,210 639,190 596,920 654,960

INCOME
Transfer from Reserves (3,500) (3,500) (2,000) (3,500)
CDPR Contribution (31,850) (42,640) (10,790) (5,070)
Fines & Costs (150,000) (151,270) (169,000) (151,270)
Fees & Charges (25,000) (25,000) (23,800) (25,000)

GROSS INCOME (210,350) (222,410) (205,590) (184,840)

NET EXPENDITURE 424,860 416,780 391,330 470,120



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
Codes: H1250, H1270, H1320, H1340, H1380, H1390
Spending Officer: A Sargent

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION-SHARED SERV (H1250) 299,290 299,290 270,320 305,270
ENVIRONMENTAL COMMERCIAL-SHARED SERV (H1270) 200,460 200,460 189,140 205,210
ANIMAL CONTROL (H1320) 33,970 37,100 35,940 39,330
PEST CONTROL (H1340) 15,000 15,000 25,000 21,000
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION-DBC (H1380) 9,330 9,330 13,770 9,330
ENVIRONMENTAL COMMERCIAL-DBC (H1390) (3,890) (3,890) (2,520) (3,890)

554,160 557,290 531,650 576,250

EXPENDITURE
Employees 436,710 436,710 416,640 445,960
Supplies and Services 46,890 46,970 38,260 48,370
Transport 13,080 13,000 8,130 13,080
Agency and Contracted Services 96,580 103,330 126,380 109,940

GROSS EXPENDITURE 593,260 600,010 589,410 617,350

INCOME
Shared Services (2,060) (2,060) (22,340) (2,060)
Fees and Charges (37,040) (40,660) (35,420) (39,040)

GROSS INCOME (39,100) (42,720) (57,760) (41,100)

NET EXPENDITURE 554,160 557,290 531,650 576,250

CEMETERIES
Codes:  C2015, H6058
Spending Officer : D Thomas

CEMETERIES AND CHURCHYARDS (C2015) 91,790 93,190 113,260 99,780
MORTUARY SERVICE (H6058) 2,290 2,290 2,400 2,400

94,080 95,480 115,660 102,180

EXPENDITURE
Employees 219,200 219,200 219,170 224,320
Premises 21,690 26,690 26,700 22,650
Supplies and Services 23,470 18,470 18,150 23,530
Transport 5,790 5,790 5,300 5,790
Agency and Contracted Services 18,930 20,330 20,440 20,890

GROSS EXPENDITURE 289,080 290,480 289,760 297,180

INCOME
Fees and Charges (195,000) (195,000) (174,100) (195,000)

GROSS INCOME (195,000) (195,000) (174,100) (195,000)

NET EXPENDITURE 94,080 95,480 115,660 102,180



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

PARKS AND OPEN SPACES
Codes: C0501, C0502, C0503, C1009, C1730
Spending Officer : D Thomas

CENTRAL PARK (C0501) 147,220 151,510 166,240 155,970
HESKETH PARK (C0502) 60,220 63,040 61,910 67,070
CRANFORD ROAD DEPOT (C0503) 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
OPEN SPACES (C1009) 165,310 167,510 161,360 169,050
VISITORS CENTRE AND CAFÉ (C1730) (25,370) (25,370) (25,460) (25,670)

348,380 357,690 365,050 367,420

EXPENDITURE
Premises (including Open Spaces Grounds Maintenance) 428,420 431,760 433,690 436,110
Supplies and Services 960 960 1,490 960
Transport 1,500 2,000 2,000 1,500
Security 19,770 25,360 25,370 31,680

GROSS EXPENDITURE 450,650 460,080 462,550 470,250

INCOME
Recharges (7,000) (7,000) (2,000) (7,000)
Agency Reimbursements (33,000) (33,120) (30,670) (33,560)
Fees & Charges (4,320) (4,320) (5,000) (4,320)
Rents (57,950) (57,950) (57,830) (57,950)
Other Reimbursements 0 0 (2,000) 0

GROSS INCOME (102,270) (102,390) (97,500) (102,830)

NET EXPENDITURE 348,380 357,690 365,050 367,420

HIGHWAYS
Codes: E5040
Spending Officer : D Thomas

EXPENDITURE
Premises 240 240 240 240
Supplies and Services 4,960 4,960 4,960 4,960

GROSS EXPENDITURE 5,200 5,200 5,200 5,200

NET EXPENDITURE 5,200 5,200 5,200 5,200



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

WASTE & PARKS MANAGEMENT
Codes: H3530, H4535, H5040, H5045, H5046, H5048, H5075
Spending Officer : D Thomas

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES (H3530) 42,050 42,230 42,030 40,430
ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANSING (H4535) 1,146,700 1,166,380 1,182,330 1,125,790
REFUSE COLLECTION / DOMESTIC WASTE (H5040) 1,541,460 1,569,450 1,577,460 1,482,850
MEDICAL WASTE (H5045) 4,090 4,200 4,700 20,860
RECYCLING (H5046) 562,020 577,310 582,550 730,860
GARDEN WASTE PROMOTIONS (H5048) (22,980) (19,560) 39,340 410
WASTE & PARKS MANAGEMENT (H5075) 351,210 310,020 299,320 340,690

3,624,550 3,650,030 3,727,730 3,741,890

EXPENDITURE
Employees 352,250 293,660 284,980 390,600
Premises 39,130 39,130 38,930 37,440
Supplies and Services 120,860 122,320 172,850 129,650
Transport 5,590 5,590 4,600 5,590
Agency and Contracted Services 3,668,690 3,731,780 4,020,250 3,700,190

GROSS EXPENDITURE 4,186,520 4,192,480 4,521,610 4,263,470

INCOME
Recharges (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000)
Agency Reimbursements (47,400) (30,000) (270,880) (45,400)
Sales (92,450) (90,000) (115,000) (90,000)
Fees & Charges (267,120) (267,450) (263,000) (257,450)
Transfer from Reserves (145,000) (145,000) (135,000) (118,730)

GROSS INCOME (561,970) (542,450) (793,880) (521,580)

NET EXPENDITURE 3,624,550 3,650,030 3,727,730 3,741,890



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
Codes:  G1502, G1503, G1950
Spending Officer: T Ryszkowska

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL (G1502) (23,880) (23,880) (414,930) 1,440
PLANNING POLICY (G1503) 333,290 333,290 332,720 342,430
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) (G1950) 0 0 (47,150) 0

309,410 309,410 (129,360) 343,870
EXPENDITURE

Employees 949,690 1,019,870 979,770 1,076,490
Supplies and Services 35,170 43,870 48,530 39,950
Transport 5,270 5,220 3,870 5,220
Agency and Contracted Services 26,100 30,600 30,600 26,100
CIL Development Contribution 66,850 68,110 114,000 68,110
CIL Recharge from Planning 64,110 62,850 62,850 62,850

GROSS EXPENDITURE 1,147,190 1,230,520 1,239,620 1,278,720

INCOME
Other Planning Income (62,850) (62,850) (62,850) (62,850)
Other Reimbursements (452,340) (508,170) (850,000) (549,410)
Other Planning Income (127,500) (127,500) (140,500) (127,500)
CIL Fees & Charges (126,960) (126,960) (220,000) (126,960)
Transfer from Reserves (68,130) (95,630) (95,630) (68,130)

GROSS INCOME (837,780) (921,110) (1,368,980) (934,850)

NET EXPENDITURE 309,410 309,410 (129,360) 343,870

BUILDING CONTROL
Codes: G2005, G2010
Spending Officer: T Ryszkowska

BUILDING CONTROL (G2005) (9,200) (9,200) (49,890) (4,150)
DANGEROUS STRUCTURES (G2010) 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

(8,200) (8,200) (48,890) (3,150)
EXPENDITURE

Employees 254,290 254,290 252,690 259,400
Supplies and Services 16,240 16,240 12,370 16,180
Transport 5,270 5,270 4,100 5,270
Agency and Contracted Services 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000

GROSS EXPENDITURE 281,800 281,800 275,160 286,850

INCOME
Fees & Charges (290,000) (290,000) (324,050) (290,000)

GROSS INCOME (290,000) (290,000) (324,050) (290,000)

NET EXPENDITURE (8,200) (8,200) (48,890) (3,150)



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

TEMPORARY HOUSING ACCOMMODATION
Code: B1010, B5050
Spending Office: M Gerald

TEMPORARY HOUSING ACCOMMODATION (B1010) 650,000 650,000 1,483,050 900,000
HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION (B5050) 106,500 106,500 336,710 106,590

756,500 756,500 1,819,760 1,006,590
EXPENDITURE

Supplies and Services 1,950 1,950 4,600 2,040
Transport 100 100 2,320 100
Support Services 194,770 194,770 244,940 282,670
Contracted Services 1,825,627 1,825,627 3,621,260 2,325,240
Miscellaneous 0 0 29,600 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 2,022,447 2,022,447 3,902,720 2,610,050

INCOME
Contribution from Reserves 0 0 (42,380) (41,210)
Government Grants (345,527) (345,527) (349,150) (409,370)
Fees & Charges (5,000) (5,000) 0 (5,000)
Rents (915,420) (915,420) (1,691,430) (1,147,880)

GROSS INCOME (1,265,947) (1,265,947) (2,082,960) (1,603,460)

NET EXPENDITURE 756,500 756,500 1,819,760 1,006,590

STRATEGIC HOUSING
Code: B2020
Spending Office: J Pye

EXPENDITURE
Recharge from HRA 25,510 25,510 25,510 25,510

25,510 25,510 25,510 25,510

NET EXPENDITURE 25,510 25,510 25,510 25,510



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING
Codes: B7070
Spending Officer: M Gerald

EXPENDITURE
Employees 219,100 219,100 228,760 278,000
Supplies and Services 3,840 3,840 5,090 4,650
Transport 1,350 1,350 860 1,350
Agency and Contracted Services 41,730 41,730 19,750 41,730
Miscellaneous 0 0 40 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 266,020 266,020 254,500 325,730

INCOME
Fees & Charges (700) (700) (5,670) (700)
Miscellaneous Income 0 0 (1,610) 0
Transfer from Reserves 0 0 0 (53,440)

GROSS INCOME (700) (700) (7,280) (54,140)

NET EXPENDITURE 265,320 265,320 247,220 271,590

CLAYWOOD LANE CARAVAN SITE
Code: B9090
Spending Office: D Edie

EXPENDITURE
Premises 4,700 4,700 10,460 5,010
Supplies and Services 310 310 0 0
Agency and Contracted Services 9,120 9,120 8,800 9,120

GROSS EXPENDITURE 14,130 14,130 19,260 14,130

INCOME
Rent (35,800) (35,800) (38,520) (35,800)

GROSS INCOME (35,800) (35,800) (38,520) (35,800)

NET EXPENDITURE (21,670) (21,670) (19,260) (21,670)

CORPORATE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
Codes: A4870,  A4889
Spending Officer: P Koster

CORPORATE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT (A4870) 64,250 64,250 64,190 65,850
CORPORATE PROPERTY MAINTENANCE (A4889) 132,070 132,070 139,620 135,370

196,320 196,320 203,810 201,220

EXPENDITURE
Employees 63,150 63,150 63,070 64,720
Supplies and Services 860 860 880 890
Transport 240 240 240 240
Corporate Property Maintenance 132,070 132,070 139,620 135,370

GROSS EXPENDITURE 196,320 196,320 203,810 201,220

NET EXPENDITURE 196,320 196,320 203,810 201,220



 
 

Appendix B(i) 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTORATE EXTERNAL SERVICES 
ORIGINAL
BUDGET

2018/19

CURRENT
BUDGET

2018/19

PROBABLE
OUTTURN

2018/19
 BUDGET

2019/20
£ £ £ £

EMERGENCY PLANNING
Code: A2838
Spending Officer: M Salisbury

EXPENDITURE
Supplies and Services 3,260 3,260 3,260 3,260
Contracted Services 4,940 4,940 4,940 4,940

GROSS EXPENDITURE 8,200 8,200 8,200 8,200

NET EXPENDITURE 8,200 8,200 8,200 8,200





                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

SECTION                       

                                                                                                                                   
          INTRODUCTION
          VAT GUIDANCE
          BUILDING CONTROL CHARGES SCHEME

BUILDING CONTROL TABLE OF CHARGES – SCHEDULE 1
BUILDING CONTROL TABLE OF CHARGES – SCHEDULE 2

          BUILDING CONTROL TABLE OF CHARGES – SCHEDULE 3
          CAR PARKS  

CCTV
CEMETERIES
CIVIC CENTRE HIRE
CORPORATE CHARGES
DARTFORD FESTIVAL - COMMERCIAL & CHARITY STALLS
DBC FIRE ENGINE

          DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
                       PRE APPLICATION ADVICE      

                                 PLANNING FEES    
          ELECTIONS
          ELECTORAL REGISTER       

ENFORCEMENT AND REGULATION
ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANSING AND REFUSE COLLECTION
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING & REGISTRATION        
HOUSING SERVICES

          LAND CHARGES
          LEGAL SERVICES             
          LICENSING - GAMBLING ACT 2005  
                                 LICENSING ACT 2003
                                 VEHICLE LICENSING
                                 SEX ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE
                                 SCRAP DEALERS ACT 2013
           MARKETS
           PARKS              
           PLANNING - PLANNING POLICY                      
           SALE OF AGENDA
           SPORTS -     FOOTBALL

                      TENNIS 
TEMPLE HILL COMMUNITY CENTRE                    

          TREE ESTATE COMMUNITY CENTRE
          VALUERS
          
         

 
        
          

        
      



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

INTRODUCTION

Dartford Borough Council 2019/20 fees and charges for services are set out in the following pages.

Please note that statutory and mandatory fees are subject to change as/when notified by the 
relevant body.

VAT GUIDANCE

The current rates of VAT chargeable in the UK, and the codes given to them by Dartford BC are 
listed below. Please ensure that the correct VAT code is quoted.

VAT Code Description

1 Zero rated supplies
2 Standard Rate (20%)
3 5% rate
4 Exempt supplies
8 Outside the scope

For further information and guidance on VAT, please refer to the Finance Guidance Manual, 
Section 17.

ALL PRICES ARE SHOWN INCLUSIVE OF VAT UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

BUILDING CONTROL CHARGES SCHEME 2019/20 FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE BUILDING [LOCAL AUTHORITY CHARGES] 
REGULATIONS 2010

Definitions
The following definitions apply to this Charging Scheme and should be read in conjunction with the 
other clauses and tables which constitute the Charging Scheme:

‘building’ means any permanent or temporary building but not any other kind of structure or 
erection, and a reference to a building includes a reference to part of a building.

‘building notice’ means a notice given in accordance with regulations 12(2)(A)(a)and 13 of the 
Building Regulations 2000 (as amended).

‘building work’ means:

(a) the erection or extension of a building;
(b) the provision or extension of a controlled service or fitting in or in connection with a building;
(c) the material alteration of a building, or a controlled service or fitting;
(d) work required by building regulation 6 (requirements relating to material change of use); (e) the 
insertion of insulating material into the cavity wall of a building;
(f) work involving the underpinning of a building;
(g) work required by building regulation 4A (requirements relating to thermal elements); (h) work 
required by building regulation 4B (requirements relating to a change of energy
status);
(i) work required by building regulation 17D (consequential improvements to energy performance);

‘chargeable function’ means a function relating to the following –

(a) the passing or rejection of plans of proposed building work which has been deposited with the 
council in accordance with section 16 of the Building Act 1984 (as amended).

(b) the inspection of building work for which plans have been deposited with the council in 
accordance with the Building Regulation 2000 (as amended) and with section 16 of the Building Act 
1984 (as amended)
(c) the consideration of a building notice which has been given to the council in accordance with the 
Building Regulations 2000 (as amended)

(d) the consideration of building work reverting to the council under the Building (Approved
Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2000 (as amended)

(e) the consideration of a regularisation application submitted to the council under regulation 21 of 
the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended).

‘cost’ does not include any professional fees paid to an architect, quantity surveyor or 
any other person.

‘dwelling’ includes a dwelling-house and a flat.
‘dwelling-house’ does not include a flat or a building containing a flat.

‘flat’ means a separate and self-contained premises constructed or adapted for use for residential 
purposes and forming part of a building from some other part of which it is divided horizontally.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

‘floor area of a building or extension’ is the total floor area of all the storeys which comprise that 
building. It is calculated by reference to the finished internal faces of the walls enclosing the area, 
or, if at any point there is no enclosing wall, by reference to the outermost edge of the floor.

‘relevant person’ means:

(a) in relation to a plan charge, inspection charge, reversion charge or building notice charge, the 
person who carries out the building work or on whose behalf the building work is carried out;

(b) in relation to a regularisation charge, the owner of the building; and

(c) in relation to chargeable advice, any person requesting advice for which a charge may be made 
pursuant to the definition of ‘chargeable advice’

Principles of this Scheme

The set charges or method of establishing the charge have been established in this scheme for the 
functions prescribed in the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 (referred to as the 
chargeable functions), namely:

• A plan charge; payable when plans of the building work are deposited with the Local Authority.

• An inspection charge, payable on demand after the authority carry out the first inspection in 
respect of which the charge is payable.

• A building notice charge, payable when the building notice is given to the authority.

• A reversion charge, payable for building work in relation to a building: -

1.   Which has been substantially completed before plans are first deposited with the 
Authority in accordance with Regulation 20(2)(a)(i) of the Approved Inspectors 
Regulations, or

2.   In respect of which plans for further building work have been deposited with the Authority 
in accordance with the Regulation 20(3) of the Approved Inspectors Regulations, on the 
first occasion on which those plans are or have been deposited.

• A regularisation charge, payable at the time of the application to the authority in accordance 
with Regulation 21 of the Building Regulations.

• Chargeable advice, a local authority can make a charge for giving advice in anticipation of the 
future exercise of their chargeable functions (i.e. before an application or notice is received for 
a particular case), which is payable after the first hour of advice, on demand after the authority 
has given notice required by Regulation 7(7) of the Building (Local Authority) Charges 
Regulations 2010 (i.e. the charge has been confirmed in writing following an individual 
determination). This charge can be discounted from a subsequent application or notice 
received for the work in question.

The above charges are payable by the relevant person (see above for definition).

Any charge which is payable to the authority may, in a particular case, and with the agreement of 
the authority, be paid by instalments of such amounts payable on such dates as may be specified 
by the authority. If the applicant and an authority are agreeable, an inspection charge can be fully or 
partly paid up front with the plans charge.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

The charge for providing a chargeable function or chargeable advice is based on the principle of 
achieving full cost recovery.

The charges will be calculated by using the Council officers’ average hourly rate stated in the 
charging scheme, multiplied by the time taken to carry out the functions/advice, taking the following 
factors into account, as applicable, in estimating the time required by officers to carry out the 
function/advice:

• The existing use of a building, or the proposed use of the building after completion of the 
building work;

• The different kinds of building work described in regulation 3(1)(a) to (i) of the Building 
Regulations;

• The floor area of the building or extension;

• The nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative or high risk construction 
techniques are to be used;

• The estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated number of inspections to be 
carried out;

• The estimated cost of the building work;

• Whether a person who intends to carry out part of the building work is a person mentioned in 
regulation 12(5) or 20B(4) of the Building Regulations (i.e. related to competent person/self 
certification schemes);

• Whether in respect of the building work a notification will be made in accordance with 
regulation 20A(4) of the Building Regulations (i.e. where design details approved by Robust 
Details Ltd have been used);

• Whether an application or building notice is in respect of two or more buildings or building 
works all of which are substantially the same as each other;

• Whether an application or building notice is in respect of building work, which is substantially 
the same as building work in respect of which plans have previously been deposited or building 
works inspected by the same local authority;

• Whether chargeable advice has been given which is likely to result in less time being taken by 
a local authority to perform that function;

• Whether it is necessary to engage and incur the costs of a consultant to provide specialist 
advice in relation to a particular aspect of the building work.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

Principles of the scheme in respect of the erection of domestic buildings, garages, carports 
and extensions.

• Where the charge relates to an erection of a dwelling the charge includes for the provision of a 
detached or attached domestic garage or carport providing it is constructed at the same time 
as the dwelling.

• Where any building work comprises or includes the erection of more than one extension to a 
building, the total floor areas of all such extensions shall be aggregated to determine the 
relevant charge payable, providing that the building work for all aggregated extensions is 
carried out at the same time.

Exemption from charges

The Authority has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor intends to recover a charge in relation to an 
existing dwelling that is, or is to be, occupied by a disabled person as a permanent residence; and 
where the whole of the building work in question is solely-

(a)  for the purpose of providing means of access for the disabled person by way of entrance or exit 
to or from the dwelling or any part of it, or
(b)  for the purpose of providing accommodation or facilities designed to secure the greater health, 
safety, welfare or convenience of the disabled person.

The council has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor intends to recover a charge for the purpose 
of providing accommodation or facilities designed to secure the greater health, safety, welfare or 
convenience of a disabled person in relation to an existing dwelling, which is, or is to be, occupied 
by that disabled person as a permanent residence where such work consists of -

(a) the adaptation or extension of existing accommodation or an existing facility or the provision of 
alternative accommodation or an alternative facility where the existing accommodation or facility 
could not be used by the disabled person or could be used by the disabled person only with 
assistance; or

(b) the provision or extension of a room which is or will be used solely-

(i) for the carrying out for the benefit of the disabled person of medical treatment which cannot 
reasonably be carried out in any other room in the dwelling, or

(ii) for the storage of medical equipment for the use of the disabled person, or

(iii) to provide sleeping accommodation for a carer where the disabled person requires 24- hour 
care.

The council has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor intends to recover a charge in relation to an 
existing building to which members of the public are admitted (whether on payment or otherwise); 
and where the whole of the building work in question is solely-

(a) for the purpose of providing means of access for disabled persons by way of entrance or exit to 
or from the building or any part of it; or

(b) for the provision of facilities designed to secure the greater health, safety, welfare or disabled 
persons.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

Note: ‘disabled person’ means a person who is within any of the descriptions of persons to whom 
Section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948, as extended by virtue of Section 8(2) of the 
Mental Health Act 1959, applied but disregarding the amendments made by paragraph 11 of 
Schedule 13 to the Children Act 1989.

The words in section 8(2) of the Mental Health Act 1959 which extend the meaning of disabled 
person in section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948, are prospectively repealed by the 
National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990, section 66(2), Schedule 10, as from a day 
to be appointed.

Information required to determine charges

If the authority requires additional information to enable it to determine the correct charge the 
authority can request the information under the provisions of regulation 9 of The Building (Local 
Authority Charges) Regulation 2010.

The standard information required for all applications is detailed on the authority’s Building 
Regulation application forms. This includes the existing and proposed use of the building and a 
description of the building work.

Additional information may be required in relation to –

• The floor area of the building or extension

• The estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated number of inspections to be 
carried out.

• The use of competent persons or Robust Details Ltd.

• Any accreditations held by the builder or other member of the design team.

• The nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative or high-risk construction 
is to be used.

• The estimated cost of the building work. If this is used as one of the factors in establishing a 
charge the ‘estimate’ is required to be such reasonable amount as would be charged by a 
person in business to carry out such building work (excluding the amount of any value added 
tax chargeable).

Establishing the Charge

The authority has established standard charges using the principles contained within The Building 
(Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010.

Standard charges are detailed in the following tables. In the tables below any reference to number 
of storeys includes each basement level as one-storey and floor areas are cumulative.

If the building work that you are undertaking is not listed as a standard charge it will be individually 
determined in accordance with the principles and relevant factors contained within The Building 
(Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. If the authority considers it necessary to engage and 
incur the costs of a consultant to provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular 
aspect of building work, those costs shall also be included in setting the charge.

When the charge is individually determined the authority shall calculate the charge in the same way 



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

a standard charge was set by using the average hourly rate of officers’ time, multiplied by the 
estimated time taken to carry out their building regulation functions in relation to that particular piece 
of building work and taking into account the applicable factors listed in regulation 7(5) of the 
charges regulations.

Individually determined charges will be confirmed in writing specifying the amount of the 
charge and the factors that have been taken into account in determining the charge.

The building regulation charges for the following types of building work will be individually 
determined and the authority will state which factors in regulation 7(5) of the charges regulations it 
has taken into account in establishing a standard or individually determined charge.

• A reversion charge
• The building work is in relation to more than one building or
• The building work consists of alterations to any use of building where the estimated cost 

exceeds £100,000 or
• The work consists of a non-domestic extension or new build and the floor area exceeds 200m2 

or 
• The work consists of a domestic garage with a floor area over 60m2 or
• The work consists of the erection or conversion of 10 or more dwellings or
• The work consists of the erection or conversion of dwellings where the floor area of each 

dwelling exceeds 300m2 or
• Any other work when the estimated cost of work exceeds £100,000 or
• Where more than one standard charge applies to the building work and, with the agreement of 

the relevant person, the authority will establish the charge by individually determining the 
charge.

Other matters relating to calculation of charges

In calculating these charges, refunds or supplementary charges, an officer hourly rate
has been used.

Any charge payable to the authority shall be paid with an amount equal to any value added tax 
payable in respect of that charge.

Charges are not payable for the first hour when calculating an advice charge

The authority accepts payment by instalments in respect of all building work where the
total charge exceeds £60,000. The authority, on request, will specify the amounts payable and 
dates on which instalments are to be paid.

Reductions

Reduced charges are shown in the tables of standard charges and reduced charges will also be 
made in relation to individually assessed charges when work, or the relevant part of the work, has 
been, or intends to be carried out by a person mentioned in regulation 12(5) or 20B(4) of the 
Principal Regulations in respect of that part of the work, (i.e. competent person/self-certification 
schemes or other defined non-notifiable work).

Any reduced charges that will be made in relation to individually assessed charges when a 
notification is made in accordance with regulation 20A(4) of the Principal Regulations, (i.e. where, 
for the purpose of achieving compliance with Requirement E1 of the Principal Regulations, design 
details approved by Robust Details Limited have been used) are shown in the tables of standard 
charges and will also be considered in calculating individually determined charges.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

The authority will make a reduction in a standard or individually determined charge when 
chargeable advice has been given before receipt of an application or notice for proposed building 
work, which is likely to result in less time being taken by the local authority to perform the 
chargeable function for that work.

When it is intended to carry out additional building work on a dwelling at the same time as any work 
to which Table 3 relates, then the charge for this additional work will be individually determined, with 
the agreement of the applicant.

Where in accordance with Regulation 7(5)(i) of the charges regulations one application or building 
notice is in respect of two or more buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same 
as each other a 30% reduction in the standard Plan charge will be made or 7.5% of the building 
notice charge payable will be applied.

Where in accordance with Regulation 7(5)(j) of the charges regulations an application or building 
notice is deposited in respect of building work which is substantially the same as building work in 
respect of which plans have previously been deposited or building works inspected by the same 
local authority, a 25% reduction in the Plan/Inspection charge will be made.

Refunds and supplementary charges

If the basis on which the charge has been set or determined changes, the Council will refund or 
request a supplementary charge and provide a written statement setting out the basis of the 
refund/supplementary charge and also state how this has been calculated. In the calculation of 
refunds/supplementary charges no account shall be taken of the first hour of an officer’s time.

Non-Payment of a Charge

Your attention is drawn to Regulation 8(2) of the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 
2010, which explains that plans are not treated as being deposited for the purposes of Section 16 of 
the Building Act or building notices given unless the Council has received the correct charge. In 
other words, relevant timescales do not start until the agreed payment has been made. The debt 
recovery team of the authority will also pursue any non- payment of a charge.

Complaints about Charges

If you have a complaint about the level of charges you should initially raise your concern with the 
relevant officer. The Council has a comprehensive complaint handling process. If your complaint is 
not satisfactorily responded to by the officer concerned, details of how to resolve your complaint is 
available on request and can be viewed on the Council’s web site: 
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints

STANDARD CHARGES

Standard charges include works of drainage in connection with the erection or extension of a 
building or buildings, even where those works are commenced in advance of the plans for the 
building(s) being deposited.

These standard charges have been set by the authority on the basis that the building work does not 
consist of, or include, innovative or high risk construction techniques (details available from the 
authority) and/or the duration of the building work from commencement to completion does not 
exceed 12 months.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

The charges have also been set on the basis that the design and building work is undertaken by a 
person or company that is competent to carry out the design and building work referred to in the 
standard charges tables that they are undertaking. If not, the work may incur supplementary 
charges.

If chargeable advice has been given in respect of any of the work detailed in these tables and this is 
likely to result in less time being taken by the authority then a reduction to the standard charge will 
be made.

Plan and Inspection Charges
The plan charge and inspection charge are listed in the following tables.

Building Notice Charge
Where building work is of a relatively minor nature the Building Notice charge is the same as the 
total plan and inspection charge. In relation to more complex work the time to carry out the building 
regulation function is higher and the resultant additional costs of using the Building Notice 
procedure results in the higher charge as detailed in the following tables.

Reversion Charge
These charges will be individually determined

Regularisation Charge
The regularisation charge payable in respect of the erection of one or more small domestic building 
is an amount equal to 120% of the total of the building notice charge which would be payable in 
accordance with the Table 1 in this Schedule if a building notice for the carrying out of that work has 
been deposited at the time of the application for regularisation in accordance with the Principal 
Regulations.

The following tables are included as examples only; these categories/descriptions of set charges 
are not prescriptive.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

 

Table 1 - Standard Charges for the Creation or Conversion to New Dwellings 
not exceeding 300m2 and Flats up to 3 storeys

Number of 
Dwellings

Plan Charge 
- incl VAT (£)

Inspection 
Charge (IC) - 
incl VAT (£)

Building Notice 
(BN) Charge - 
incl VAT (£)

Regularisation Charge 
(VAT 8) (£)

1 290 680 970 970

2 350 816 1,166 1,166

3 430 1,103 1,533 1,533

4 506 1,180 1,686 1,686

5 607 1,416 2,023 2,023

6 695 1,620 2,315 2,315

7 737 1,720 2,457 2,457

8 790 1,844 2,634 2,634

9 838 1,956 2,794 2,794

10 936 2,185 3,121 3,121



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

Table 2 - Standard Charges for:  Domestic extensions and alterations, rooms 
in the roof and detached garages and carports up to 60m2

Type of Work
Plan 

Charge - 
incl VAT 

(£)

Inspection 
Charge 

(IC) - incl 
VAT (£)

Building 
Notice (BN) 
Charge - incl 

VAT (£)

Regularisation 
Charge (VAT 8) 

(£)

1. Erection or extension of 
an attached or detached 
building which consists 
solely of a garage or carport, 
or both, having a floor area 
not exceeding 60m

2
 in total

161 376 537 537

2. Extension of a dwelling 
(including loft conversion) 
with total floor area of which 
does not exceed 10m

2
214 500 714 714

3. Extension of a dwelling 
(including loft conversion) 
the total floor area of which 
exceeds 10m

2
, but does not 

exceed 40m
2

220 514 734 734

4. Extension of a dwelling 
(including loft conversion) 
the total floor area of which 
exceeds 40m

2 
but does not 

exceed 60m
2

231 538 769 769

5. Conversion of a garage 
into a habitable room(s) 117 273 390 390

6. Removal of a load bearing 
wall to create a 'through 
room' in a domestic dwelling 73 171 244 244

7. Removal of a chimney 
stack (or part thereof) in a 
domestic dwelling 73 171 244 244

8. Installation of up to 5 
windows 48 112 160 160

9. Replacement or renewal 
of a thermal element 68 158 226 226



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

Guidance Notes for Table 3

Estimated Cost of Works

The estimated cost of the work is that which would be charged by a person in business to 
carry out the work but excludes the amount of any VAT.  The estimated cost of works is 
only that work which is controlled under the Building Act 1984.

Extension of a Dwelling

Where an extension to a dwelling, the total floor area exceeds 60m2, the sum of the plan 
charge and the inspection charge must not be less than £769 (including VAT)

Works at Bluewater Shopping Centre or in Excess of £150,000

For fees for works at Bluewater or in excess of £150,000, please contact us for an 
Individually Determined Charge (IDC).

Table 3: Standard Charges for Other Work

Value of work based on 
estimated cost

Plan Charge - 
incl VAT (£)

Inspection 
Charge (IC) - incl 

VAT (£)

Building Notice 
(BN) Charge - incl 

VAT (£)

Regularisation 
Charge excl VAT 

(£)

Up to £2,000 80 185 265 265

£2,001 to £5,000 95 225 320 320

£5,001 to £10,000 120 285 405 405

£10,001 to £20,000 140 322 462 462

£20,001 to £30,000 133 560 693 693

£30,001 to £40,000 188 606 794 794

£40,001 to £70,000 195 810 1,005 1,005

Between £70,001 & 
£100,000 220 1,100 1,320 1,320

Between £100,001 & 
£150,000 235 1,275 1,510 1,510



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CAR PARKING INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

£
Acacia Car Park (High Street, Dartford) E4031 9463 2
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months 60.00 60.00
Release fee 50.00 50.00

Cranford Road Car Park (Dartford)
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am-8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours Free Free
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free

Highfield Road Car Park (Spring Vale, 
Dartford)

E4031 9464 2

Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am-8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free

Highfield Road Car Park (Highfield Road 
(South))

E4031 9557 2

Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months 60.00 60.00

Overy Street Car Park (1) E4031 9474 2
Overy Street Car Park (2) E4031 9512 2
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours
     Up to 4 hours
     Over 4 hours
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours)
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays)
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months

1.00
2.00
5.00
Free
Free

60.00

1.00
2.00
5.00
Free
Free

60.00

Overy Street Car Park (3) Permit Only E4031 9570 2
Overy Street Car Park (4) Permit only E4031 9571 2
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months N/A 60.00

The Grove Car Park (Swanscombe) E4031 9574 2
Monday to Friday inclusive 8.00am – 6.00pm
     Up to 2 hours Free Free
     Up to 4 hours (maximum stay) 2.00 2.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 4 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CAR PARKING (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/19

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

£
Walnut Tree Avenue Car Park
Monday to Sunday at any time

Westgate Car Park (Kent Road, Dartford) E4031 9499 2

Free Free

Monday 8.00am to Saturday 6.30pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
     6.30 pm – 8.00am 1.00 1.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free
Rapid Charge tariff: £2.50 (minimum fee for 10 
minutes charge) plus £0.25 per minute thereafter 
up to 60 minutes total stay

E1075 9572 2 2.50 + 0.25/min 2.50 + 0.25/min

Westgate House Car Park E4031 9485 2
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am-8.00pm

     Up to 2 hours (maximum stay) 1.00 1.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free

Town Car Park (Greenhithe) E4031 9442 2
Monday to Friday inclusive 8.00am – 6.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 3.00 3.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months 60.00 60.00

Woodlands Car Park (Greenhithe) E4031 9578 2
Monday to Friday inclusive 8.00am – 6.00pm

     Up to 4 hours (maximum stay) Free Free

Blue Badge holders (up to 4 hours) Free Free
Solo Motorcycles (in designated bays) Free Free

Darenth Road (on-street) E4030 9457 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CAR PARKING (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/19

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

£

Heath Street (on-street) E4030 9462 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am-8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free

Hythe Street (on-street) E4030 9466 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am-8.00pm
     One hour only 0.50 0.50
Blue Badge holders (up to 1 hour) Free Free

Kent Road (on-street) E4030 9468 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm
One hour only 0.50 0.50
Blue Badge holders (up to 1 hour) Free Free

Market Street (on-street) E4030 9469 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am- 8.00pm
     One hour only 0.50 0.50
Blue Badge holders (up to 1 hour) Free Free

Priory Hill (on-street) E4030 9475 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm
     Up to 2 hours 1.00 1.00
     Up to 4 hours 2.00 2.00
     Over 4 hours 5.00 5.00
Blue Badge holders (up to 3 hours) Free Free

Spital Street (on-street) E4030 9452 8
Monday to Saturday inclusive 8.00am – 8.00pm

One hour only 0.50 0.50
Blue Badge holders (up to 1 hour)                  Free                  Free

Eagles Road, Greenhithe (on-street) E4030 9575 8
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months 60.00 60.00

Station Road, Greenhithe (on-street) E4030 9458 8
Season ticket: charge per month up to 12 months 60.00 60.00
     



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CAR PARKING (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/19

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

£
Permits and Exemptions

Resident Permit E4030 9419 8 50.00 50.00
Visitor Permit (Book of 5) E4030 9418 8 5.00 (5 x £1) 5.00 (5 x £1)
Holiday Permit E4030 9418 8 £1/day plus £5 

admin. fee
£1/day plus £5 

admin. fee
Lost Resident Permit E4030 9419 8 £15 £15
Resident Exemption E4030 9419 8 50.00 50.00
Lost Resident Exemption E4030 9419 8 £15 £15

Dispensations E4030 9562 8
     - Daily (plus administration fee) 5.00 5.00
     - Weekly (plus administration fee) 15.00 15.00
     - Administration Fee 5.00 5.00

PCN Charges (TMA 2004)
Code dependent upon location of contravention                        

Differential Charges:

E4030/9580
E4031/9580

 Penalty Charge: Higher * 8 70.00 70.00
 Discounted * 8 35.00 35.00
 Penalty Charge: Lower * 8 50.00 50.00
 Discounted * 8 25.00 25.00

HIGHWAY INSTALLATIONS
Disabled Persons Parking Bay (DPPB) with TRO E4030 9568 8 250.00 250.00
Interim DPPB without TRO (not enforceable) - 8 Free Free
Bay Suspension E4030 9576 8 75.00 75.00
Vehicle Access Marking E4030 9577 8 75.00 75.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CCTV INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES
   1.4.2019

    £

CCTV Insurance Check request                                A3700 9516           2                  52.00                         55.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CEMETERIES INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
All burial charges are trebled in price for non-Borough residents (except, at the discretion of the 
Bereavement Services Manager, for former residents who were placed in an elderly persons home 
or with relatives outside of the Borough, for the latter years of their life). 

Purchased Graves:

Exclusive Right of Burial C2015 9459 8 840.00 865.00

Interment to depth up to 4’6”:
Stillborn and up to 12 months N/A Free Free
Stillborn and up to 12 months of non-
Borough residents C2015 9467 8 Free Free
Children over 12 months, up to 16 
years C2015 9467 8 250.00 250.00
Adults (17 years and over) * C2015 9467 8 540.00 560.00

Interment to depth up to  6’6”:
Stillborn and up to 12 months C2015 9467 8 330.00 330.00
Children over 12 months, up to 16 
years C2015 9467 8 460.00 460.00
Adults (17 years and over) * C2015 9467 8 685.00 710.00

Interment to depth up to 8’6”:
Stillborn and up to 12 months C2015 9467 8 385.00 385.00
Children over 12 months, up to 16 
years C2015 9467 8 600.00 600.00
Adults (17 years and over) * C2015 9467 8 940.00 970.00

*Charges based on a coffin size of 
80” in length by 26” width (203cm x 
66cm)

100.00 100.00

Additional charge for Casket 
instead of Coffin:
Interment up to 4’6” C2015 9467 8 175.00 180.00
Interment to 6’6” C2015 9467 8 305.00 315.00
Interment to 8’6” C2015 9467 8 440.00 455.00

Burial of Wooden Casket of Cremated 
Remains C2015 9467 8 210.00 215.00

Right to Scatter Cremated Remains C2015 9467 8 110.00 115.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CEMETERIES (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Unpurchased Graves:

Stillborn and up to 12 months N / A Free Free

Stillborn and up to 12 months of non-
Borough residents

C2015 9467 8 330.00 330.00

Children over 12 months, up to 16 
years

C2015 9467 8 385.00 385.00

Adults (17 years and over) C2015 9467 8 540.00 560.00

Chapel Fees (including taped Music 
or CD facilities):
Use of Chapel at the Cemetery C2015 9415 8 175.00 180.00

Use of Chapel at the Cemetery (non-
Borough residents)

C2015 9415 8 350.00 360.00

Miscellaneous Fees:
Late arrival of Funeral Director, +30 
mins after booked time and each 30 
mins thereafter 
Disposal of excess floral 
tributes/wreaths

C2015 9467 

C2015 9467

8 

8

155.00 

200.00

160.00 

205.00

Deed of Assignment C2015 9414 8 50.00 50.00
Transfer of Deed C2015 9414 8 50.00 50.00
Certified copy of entry in Burial 
Register C2015 9414 8 25.00 25.00
Hire of excavator for excavation of 
graves other than those programmed 
by the Council C2015 9467 2

At hire cost for 
time required plus 

admin charge

At hire cost for 
time required 

plus admin 
charge

Removal of soil from around 
excavated grave when requested

C2015 9467 2 At cost incurred 
on a time basis

At cost incurred 
on a time basis

Top soiling and seeding of grave on 
request. C2015 9467 2 25.00 25.00

Exhumation C2015 9467 4 (part)
2 (part)

Cost of hire of 
equipment plus 

excavation costs 
and other staff 

time

Cost of hire of 
equipment plus 

excavation 
costs and other 

staff time
Search Fees (to be paid in advance):
per name (at Cemetery Manager’s       
discretion)

C2015 9581 2 25.00 25.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CEMETERIES (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
Memorials, Monuments & Inscriptions:

Headstone including first inscription C2015 9471 8 210.00 215.00

A Full Kerb Memorial – headstone and 
kerbs, including first inscription

C2015 9471
8 285.00 295.00

Additional tablet or vase with inscription
Additional inscription
Additional tablet, vase or kerbs

C2015 9416

C2015 9416

2

2

135.00

110.00

140.00

115.00

Clean and Repair to existing memorial 
(Permit is still required)

N / A Free Free

All memorials other than a headstone or 
full kerb for stillborn and children up to 
12 months for Borough residents

N / A Free Free

For non-Borough residents, including 
still born and children up to 12 months 
standard fees apply.

Memorial permit applications from the 
War Graves Commission.

Free Free

Applications for the replacement of old 
or worn memorials on a like for like 
basis

Free Free

Watling Street Cemetery – Garden of 
Remembrance:

Sanctum 2000 Columbaria units :

Columbarium lease period 25 years, 
inclusive of first interment and inscription 
up to 80 letters

C2015 9417 4 1,315.00 1,360.00

Second interment of cremated remains C2015 9417 8 210.00 215.00

Additional inscribed plaque for second 
interment

C2015 9417 2 250.00 255.00

Additional inscription - per letter C2015 9417 2 2.25 2.30

Photo plaque C2015 9417 2 190.00 195.00

Motif C2015 9417 2 180.00 185.00

Renewal fee on expiry of lease for 
further 25 years

C2015 9417 4 Current fee at 
time of renewal

Current fee at 
time of renewal



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CEMETERIES (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Memorial Pergola :

10 year lease of single upright timber, 
inclusive of cast bronze plaque up to 80 
letters, scattering of cremated remains, 
and floral tribute vase with holder

C2015 9417 4 520.00 540.00

Additional cast bronze plaque C2015 9417 2 210.00 215.00

Scattering of additional cremated 
remains on dedicated area

C2015 9417 2 110.00 115.00

Renewal fee on expiry of lease for 
further 10 years

C2015 9417 4 305.00 315.00

Memorial Seats :

Balmoral memorial bench, 25 year 
lease, inclusive of cast bronze plaque up 
to 80 letters, scattering of cremated 
remains, and floral tribute vase with 
holder

C2015 9417 4 1120.00 1155.00

Additional cast bronze plaque C2015 9417 2 140.00 145.00

Scattering of additional cremated 
remains on dedicated area

C2015 9417 2 110.00 115.00

Renewal fee on expiry of lease for 
further 25 years

C2015 9417 4 Current fee at 
time of renewal 

Current fee at  
time of renewal 

Stone and Swanscombe Cemeteries only:
(half sized graves for cremated remains)

Purchase of Exclusive Right of Burial 
for 50 years

C2015 9459 8 560.00 580.00

Interment of cremated remains (as 
existing)

C2015 9467 8 210.00 215.00

Note: In the case of memorials for cremated 
remains, the usual triple fees for non-
borough residents would not apply. Triple (or 
double) fees are charged by Burial 
Authorities to reflect actual cost of interment 
and maintenance of cemetery. At the present 
time this restriction will not apply to 
memorials for cremated remains.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CIVIC CENTRE HIRE

Hire of Council Chamber

Basic hourly rate weekdays until 6pm
After 6pm and weekends hourly rate
Plus hourly caretaking fee (evening bookings 
only)

Hire of Committee Room

Basic hourly rate weekdays until 6pm
After 6pm and weekends hourly rate
Plus hourly caretaking fee (evening bookings 
only)

INCOME 
CODE

A3040 9412
A3040 9412
A3040 9412

A3040 9412
A3040 9412
A3040 9412

VAT 
CODE

2
2
2

2
2
2

2018/19

£

40.00
45.00
40.00

33.00
45.00
40.00

PROPOSED 
NEW CHARGES 

1.4.2019

£

40.00
45.00
40.00

33.00
45.00
40.00

Hire of Committee Room and / or Council Chamber where hire is given free to a Voluntary or 
Charitable Organisation

Basic hourly rate weekdays until 6pm
After 6pm and weekends hourly rate
Plus hourly caretaking fee (evening bookings only)

A3040 9412
A3040 9412

2
2

Free
33.00
40.00

Free
33.00
40.00

Note : The purpose of the meeting should be checked to ascertain whether it is for Council  
business.

           No charge is made for the hire of the chamber for Council business (Officers or Members) 
           or to Registered Charities.

Hire of Other Meeting Rooms

Basic hourly rate weekdays – Office hours only         A3040 9412         2                     10.00               10.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CORPORATE CHARGES

Please refer to the Schedule of Charges, 
located on the Internet, for more 
detailed information.

INCOME
CODE

(individual 
cost centre)

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

PHOTOCOPYING CHARGES

     A4 sheets
          0-6 (Black and White only)
          Each subsequent page (B&W)
          Colour

     A3 sheets
          0-6 (Black and White only)
          Each subsequent page (B&W)
          Colour

     A2 (Plan size) (B&W)
     A1 (Plan size) (B&W)
     A0 (Plan size) (B&W)

Account 
code 9536

2
2

2
2

2
2
2

Free
10p per sheet
20p per sheet

Free
20p per sheet
40p per sheet

2.00 per plan
2.50 per plan
3.50 per plan

Free
10p per sheet
20p per sheet

Free
20p per sheet
40p per sheet

2.00 per plan
2.50 per plan
3.50 per plan

PRINTING

    A4 sheets (non plotter copies)
          0-6 (Black and White only)
          Each subsequent page (B&W)
          Colour

     High Quality (plotter copying)
         A2
         A1
         A0

Account 
code 9503

2
2

2
2
2

Free
10p per sheet
20p per sheet

2.50 per sheet
3.00 per sheet
5.50 per sheet

Free
10p per sheet
20p per sheet

2.50 per sheet
3.00 per sheet
5.50 per sheet

     
High Gloss (plotter copying)
         A2
         A1
         A0     

2
2
2

3.00 per sheet
5.00 per sheet

10.00 per sheet

3.00 per sheet
5.00 per sheet

10.00 per sheet

   AUDIO VISUAL

         CD
         DVD
         Audio Cassette

Account 
code 9430

2
2
2

1.50 per CD
2.00 per DVD

Price on 
application

1.50 per CD
2.00 per DVD

Price on 
application



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

CORPORATE CHARGES
(continued)

INCOME
CODE

(individual 
cost centre)

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
   EMAIL (including scanned images) Free Free

   POSTAGE

    Variable weight and size (based on 
     Royal Mail Standard 2nd class)

    Sent ‘Signed For’/Special Delivery’          

Account 
code 9504

4

4

Cost dependent 
on weight & size

Costs to be met 
by applicant

Cost dependent 
on weight & size

Costs to be met 
by applicant

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000

NB: Full costs of search, retrieval and 
collation etc. of information can be charged 
for, if in excess of £450. Disbursements 
may also be charged for. If costs are 
below £450, no charge, although 
disbursements may be charged for.

Account 
code 9566

8 Hourly rate of £25 
for staff time

Hourly rate of £25 
for staff time

DATA PROTECTION 2018: SUBJECT 
ACCESS REQUESTS

Subject Access Requests
NB: a ‘reasonable fee’ can be charged if a 
request is manifestly unfounded or 
excessive, particularly if it is repetitive and 
for further copies of the same information 
(see Guidance on how to respond to a SAR 
on the intranet)

Fees that may be charged when the cost of 
compliance exceeds the appropriate limit

Account 
code 9445

2

VAT on FOI Requests

 VAT is not charged on information, which is only available from public authorities.
 Information available from another source (not being a public authority) would attract 

VAT on fees. This would still be the case even if the Council was obliged to supply the 
information because the cost of answering was below the threshold of £450.

 Licence fees charged for information that is provided in accordance with the Council’s 
Publication Scheme will attract VAT.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

DARTFORD FESTIVAL - COMMERCIAL AND CHARITY STALLS 

Services offered may change from year to year and so may market conditions. Accordingly fees 
and charges for the Festival have been delegated to the Managing Director.

INCOME CODE: C6051 9542 (Vat Code 4)

DBC FIRE ENGINE     

The hire of the fire engine is set at a minimum of £340 for a half day booking, with the actual rate to 
be agreed by the Managing Director to reflect the nature of the event.

The use of the fire engine for charitable events is to be limited to 15 occasions per calendar year.

Use of the fire engine by Dartford Borough Council for Council events is to be charged to the event 
to offset costs of maintenance, storage, fuel etc. at a full cost recovery rate.

INCOME CODE: A3875 9450 (Vat Code 2)



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
  

INCOME
 CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Photocopying of planning applications 
and related documents (A3 & A4)

Photocopying of planning applications 
and related documents (A2, A1 & A0)

Decisions first copy
Each additional copy
(Majority are available on the Internet)

Weekly List      - Yearly Payment
                        -  Quarterly Payment
(Lists will be available on the Internet)

Fee for checking approvals of planning 
conditions and s106 obligations on a 
planning permission

CIL confirmation of payment.

G1502 9451

G1502 9451

G1502 9451

G1502 9451
G1502 9451

G1502 9560

G1502 9560

2

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

Free 
for up to 6 black 

and white copies-
15p per A4 sheet 

thereafter, 
Colour copies– 25p 

per A4 sheet, 50p 
per A3 sheet

A2 size – 2.50 per 
plan

A1 size - 3.00 per 
plan

A0 size - 4.00 per 
plan

Copying of 
coloured plans will 

incur additional 
variable charges

Free
for up to 6 black 

and white copies-
15p per sheet 

thereafter
Colour copies – 

25p per A4 sheet

80.00
30.00

300 per permission 
for developments 

over 150 dwellings; 
100.00 per 

permission up to 
150 dwellings or 

other development; 
27.00 for 

householder 
applications 

50.00 per property

Free 
for up to 6 black 

and white copies-
20p per A4 sheet 
thereafter, Colour 

copies– 30p per A4 
sheet, 60p per A3 

sheet

A2 size – 2.60 per 
plan

A1 size - 3.10 per 
plan

A0 size - 4.10 per 
plan

Copying of coloured 
plans will incur 

additional variable 
charges

Free
for up to 6 black 

and white copies-
20p per sheet 

thereafter
Colour copies – 30p 

per A4 sheet

85.00
 35.00

  320 per 
permission for 

developments over 
150 dwellings; 

110.00 per 
permission up to 
150 dwellings or 

other development; 
30.00 for 

householder 
applications.

55.00 per property



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
(continued)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

Planning History Printout - First Page
- Subsequent Pages

(Available on the Internet)

Fee for dealing with High Hedge 
Complaints (under the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003)

G1502 9451
G1502 9451

G1502 9451

2
2

2

15p per sheet
15p per sheet

400.00

20p per sheet
20p per sheet

420.00

Research of planning history 
Written advice

G1502 9560 2 45.00 per hour or 
part thereof

 

50.00 per hour 
or part thereof

PRE APPLICATION ADVICE
(exclusive of VAT)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

                        £

Large Major 
Development1

Written advice (flat 
rate)

Follow up written 
advice (flat rate)

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

2

2

NA 

NA

NA 

NA

Meeting with officers
(per hour or part 
thereof)2

Follow up meeting with 
officers
(per hour or part 
thereof)

Additional premium for 
sites not identified in 
the adopted Local Plan

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

2

2

2

2060.00

1030.00

1,000.00

            2,150.00

1,070.00

1,050.00

1 Large major: over 50 dwellings or 1 hectare. Commercial over 5,000m2 or 1 hectare.
Where a series of discussions are proposed, the Council will consider a one off payment up front 
based on the likely charge.
2 Includes letter after meeting confirming advice given at no extra charge



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
(continued)

PRE APPLICATION 
ADVICE (continued)
(exclusive of VAT) 

Major Development3 Written advice (flat 
rate)

Follow up written 
advice (flat rate)

INCOME 
CODE

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

VAT 
CODE

2

2

2018/19

£

1030.00

515.00

PROPOSED 
NEW 

CHARGES 
1.4.19

£

 1070.00

  550.00

Meeting with 
officers(per hour or part 
thereof)4

Follow up meeting with 
officers
(per hour or part 
thereof)

Additional premium for 
sites not identified in 
the adopted Local Plan

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

2

2

2

1540.00

770.00

500.00

         1,600.00

           800.00

          525.00

Minor5 Written advice (flat 
rate)

Follow up written 
advice (flat rate)

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

2

2

260.00

105.00

          300.00

           
          110.00

Meeting with 
officers(per hour or part 
thereof)6

Follow up meeting with 
officers
(per hour or part 
thereof)

G1502 9487

G1502 9487

2

2

515.00

260.00

            
         600.00

          300.00

Householder 
Applications

Meeting with officers 
(per hour or part 
thereof)8

Written advice (flat 
rate)

G1502 9548 

G1502 9548

2

2

180.00

85.00

        190.00

           90.00

3 Major: 10 - 49 dwellings or 0.5 - 1 hectare.   Commercial 1,000m2 – 4,999m2 or 0.5 - 1 hectare.
4 Includes letter after meeting confirming advice given at no extra charge
5 Minor: 1 - 9 dwellings or less than 0.5 hectares. Commercial less than 1,000m2 or 1 hectare.  
6Includes letter after meeting confirming advice given at no extra charge 
8 Includes letter after meeting confirming advice given at no extra charge

file:///C:/Users/lstewart/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E6733573.xlsx#RANGE!_ftn1
file:///C:/Users/lstewart/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E6733573.xlsx#RANGE!_ftn1
file:///C:/Users/lstewart/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E6733573.xlsx#RANGE!_ftn1


                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

DEVELOPMENT 
CONTROL (continued)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019 PROPOSED 
NEW 

CHARGES
PRE APPLICATION ADVICE (continued) 1.4.2019

(exclusive of VAT) £ £

Other (anything not 
covered by the above 
categories)

Meeting with 
officers(per hour or 
part thereof)9

G1502 9487 2 280.00            300.00

Follow up meeting 
with officers (per 
hour or part thereof)

G1502 9487 2 145.00            150.00

Written advice (flat 
rate)

G1502 9487 2 180.00             200.00

Follow up written 
advice (flat rate)

G1502 9487 2 85.00              100.00

Exemptions   Charges will not be made for the following pre application advice  

 Works to facilitate access to public buildings for disabled persons; 
 Works to a Listed Building (although pre-application for an associated planning application is likely to attract a 

charge) or to buildings within a Conservation Area;
 Works to Trees covered by Tree Preservation Orders or located in Conservation Areas;
 Advice on how to submit an application to establish whether planning permission is required;
 Advice to Parish Councils and other local authorities, housing associations, residents associations, charities, 

voluntary/community groups and Government Departments/Agencies. 

__________________________

9 Includes letter after meeting confirming advice given at no extra charge

file:///C:/Users/lstewart/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E6733573.xlsx#RANGE!_ftn1
file:///C:/Users/lstewart/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E6733573.xlsx#RANGE!_ftn1
file:///C:/Users/lstewart/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E6733573.xlsx#RANGE!_ftn1


                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING FEES

The provisions for charging planning application fees are set out in section 303 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as substituted by section 199 of the Planning Act 2008. These provisions:

• allow fees to be charged in relation to any function of a local planning authority and for matters 
ancillary to those functions

• allow the Secretary of State to prescribe fees or a means of calculating fees to be set by someone 
else (such as a local planning authority)

• allow the Secretary of State to prescribe when a service would be exempt from fees

The fees charged by Dartford Borough Council are currently set on a national basis. The fees were 
increased by Government on 17th January 2018 and will apply until further notice. 

PLANNING FEES 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2019-20 

BUILDINGS, DWELLINGS AND 
OPERATIONS
1. New dwellings OUTLINE

Per 0.1 hectare up to 2.5 hectares
Sites over 2.5 hectares

Permission In principle
Per 0.1 hectare

£462
£11,432 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£402

£150,000 £462
£11,432 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£402

£150,000

2. New dwellings OTHERS

Per dwelling up to 50
Over 50 dwellings

£462
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
dwelling

£300,000 £462
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
dwelling

£300,000

3. Buildings (other than dwellings, 
agricultural buildings, plant or 
glasshouses etc.) OUTLINE

Per 0.1 hectare up to 2.5 hectares
Over 2.5 hectares

Permission In principle
Per 0.1 hectare

£462
£11,432 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£402

£150,000 £462
£11,432 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£402

£150,000



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING FEES 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2019-20 

4. Buildings (other than dwellings, 
agricultural buildings, plant or 
glasshouses etc.) OTHER

No floor area created (includes 
shopfronts, fences, flagpoles, walls etc)
Floor area less than 40 sq m 
Floor area between 40 and 75 sq m
Floor area in excess of 75 sq m up to 
3750 sq m
Floor area in excess of 3750 sq m

£234

£234
£462
£462 per 
75 sq m 
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
75 sq m

£300,000 £234

£234
£462
£462 per 
75 sq m 
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
75 sq m

£300,000

AGRICULTURAL AND HORTICULTURAL

5. Agricultural Buildings on agricultural 
land (other than glasshouses) OUTLINE

Per 0.1 hectare up to 2.5 hectares
Over 2.5 hectares

£462
£11,432 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£150,000 £462
£11,432 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£150,000

6. Agricultural Buildings on agricultural 
land (other than glasshouses) OTHER
Floor area less than 465 sq m
Floor area between 465 sq m and 540 sq 
m
Floor area in excess of 540 sq m up to 
4215 sq m

Floor area over 4215 sq m

£96
£462
£462 up to 
540 sq m & 
then £462 
per 75 sq m
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
75 sq m

£300,000 £96
£462
£462 up to 
540 sq m & 
then £462 
per 75 sq m
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
75 sq m

£300,000

7. Glasshouses on agricultural land

Floor area less than 465 sq m
Floor area in excess of 465 sq m

£96
£2,580

£96
£2,580

OPERATIONS
8. Erection, alteration or replacement of 
plant and machinery

Per 0.1 hectare up to 5 hectares
Sites over 5 hectares

£462
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£300,000 £462
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£300,000

9. Enlargement, improvement or 
alteration of dwellings for domestic 
purposes
One dwelling
Two or more dwellings

£206
£407

£206
£407



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING FEES 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2019-20 

10. Operations within residential 
curtilage for domestic purposes 
(including building gates, fences etc) £206 £206
11. Car parks, roads and access to serve 
a single undertaking where associated 
with existing use £234 £234
12. Operations connected with 
exploratory drilling for oil or gas

Per 0.1 hectare up to 7.5 hectares
Sites over 7.5 hectares

£508
£38,070 + 
£151 per 
0.1 hectare

£300,000 £508
£38,070 + 
£151 per 
0.1 hectare

£300,000

13. Operations connected with oil or 
natural gas
Per 0.1 hectare up to 15  hectares
Sites over 15 hectares

£257
£38,520 +
£151 per 
0.1 hectare

£78,000 £257
£38,520 +
£151 per 
0.1 hectare

£78,000

14. Mineral operations

Per 0.1 hectare up to 15 hectares
Sites over 15 hectares

£234
£34,934 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£78,000 £234
£34,934 + 
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£78,000

15. Operations not within above 
categories – other per 0.1 hectare £234 £2,028 £234 £2,028

USES 

16. Change of use of a building to one or 
more dwellings, from a previous use a 
single dwellinghouse to use as two or 
more single dwellinghouses

Per extra dwelling
Over 50 dwellings

£462
£22,859 + 
£1138 per 
additional 
dwelling

£300,000 £462
£22,859 + 
£1138 per 
additional 
dwelling

£300,000

17. Change of use of a building to one or 
more dwellings, in all other cases:

Up to 50 dwellings

Over 50 dwellings

£462 per 
dwelling
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
additional 
dwelling

£300,000 £462 per 
dwelling
£22,859 + 
£138 per 
additional 
dwelling

£300,000



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING FEES 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2019-20 

18. Use for disposal of refuse or waste 
minerals and open mineral storage

Per 0.1 hectare up to 15 hectares
Sites over 15 hectares

£234
£34,934+
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£78,000 £234
£34,934+
£138 per 
0.1 hectare

£78,000

OTHER

19. Playing fields (ancillary works except 
new buildings)
Non profit making clubs etc £462 £462

20. Advertisements displayed on 
business premises, on the forecourt of 
business premises or on other land 
within the curtilage of business 
premises, wholly with reference to all or 
any of the following matters:
- the nature of the business or other 

activity on the premises
- the goods sold or the services 

provided on the premises
- the name and qualifications of the 

person carrying on such a business 
activity or supplying such goods or 
services

£132 £132

21. Advertisements for the purpose of 
directing members of the public to, or 
otherwise drawing attention to the 
existence of, business premises which 
are in the same locality as the site on 
which the advertisement is to be 
displayed but which are not visible from 
that site

£132 £132

22. All other advertisements £462 £462

23. Variation of Conditions (s73) £234 £234

24. Determination for Prior Approval
Sch2 to the 2015 GPDO

Material change of use of building or 
land Under Schedule 2 except for an 
application under Part 4

Material change of use and building 
operations under Part 3 Schedule 2

£96

£206

£96

£206



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING FEES 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2019-20 

Application under Part 4(temporary 
buildings); part 6 (agricultural and 
forestry), part 7 (non-domestic 
extensions, alterations etc), part 11 
(heritage and demolition) or part 14 
(renewable energy) of Schedule 2

Development by telecommunications 
Code Systems Operators under Part 16 
of Sch2 to the 2015 GPDO (as amended)

£96

£462

£96

£462

25. Reserved matters where applicant’s 
earlier reserved matters applications 
have incurred total fees equivalent to 
that for a full application for entire 
scheme

£462 £462

26. Lawful development certificate for 
existing use or development

The 
relevant fee 
as if 
permission 
were being 
applied for

The 
relevant fee 
as if 
permission 
were being 
applied for

27. Lawful development relating to non 
compliance with a condition or limitation

£234 £234

28. Lawful development certificate for 
proposed use or development

Half the 
relevant fee 
as if 
permission 
were being 
applied for

Half the 
relevant fee 
as if 
permission 
were being 
applied for

29. Confirmation of  discharge of a 
planning condition

Householder development
All other cases

£34
£116

£34
£116

 Non-material changes to planning 
permission or permission in principle
Householder development
All other cases

£34
£234

£34
£234

Certificates of appropriate alternative 
development £234 £234

INCOME CODE:  G1502 9451 (Vat Code 8)



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ELECTIONS  (Statutory Fee)

Fee for inspecting a return or declaration of 
election expenses (Regulation 10(3) RPR 
2001)

REGISTER OF ELECTORS & LISTS 
(Statutory Fees)

Sale of Full/Edited (open) Register – 

Data Form (Regulation 111(5)(a) RPR 
2001)

Printed Form (Regulation 111(5)(b) RPR 
2001)

Sale of Monthly Updates to the
Electoral Register
Data copy
Paper copy

Sale of List of Overseas Electors

Data Form (Regulation 111(6)(a) RPR 
2001)

Printed Form (Regulation 111(6)(b) RPR 
2001)

Marked Registers

Data Form (Regulation 120 (2) (b) RPR)

Printed Form (Regulation 120 (2) (a) RPR)

Street Index (non statutory)

INCOME 
CODE

A2132 9309

A2132 9309

A2132 9309

A2132 9309
A2132 9309

A2132 9309

A2132 9309

A2132 9309

A2132 9309

A2132 9309

VAT 
CODE

8

8

8

8
8

8

8

8

8

8

2018/19

£

20p per side of 
each page

20.00 plus 1.50 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage 
and packaging 
(Electronic/CD) 

10.00 plus 5.00 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage 
and packaging

£21.50 per update
£15.00 per update

20.00 plus 1.50 per 
100 entries (or part) 

plus postage and 
packaging 

(Electronic /CD)

10.00 plus 5.00 per 
100 entries (or part) 

plus postage

10.00 plus 1.00 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage 
and packaging 
(Electronic /CD

10.00 plus 2.00 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage

27.50 
plus postage

PROPOSED NEW 
CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

20p per side of 
each page

20.00 plus 1.50 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage 
and packaging 
(Electronic/CD) 

10.00 plus 5.00 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage 
and packaging

£21.50 per update
£15.00 per update

20.00 plus 1.50 per 
100 entries (or part) 

plus postage and 
packaging 

(Electronic /CD)

10.00 plus 5.00 per 
100 entries (or part) 

plus postage

10.00 plus 1.00 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage 
and packaging 

(Electronic /CD)

10.00 plus 2.00 per 
1000 entries (or 

part) plus postage

27.50 
plus postage



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENFORCEMENT AND REGULATION

Nuisance Parking/Exposing vehicles for sale/
Repairing vehicles on road:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

INCOME 
CODE

H0107 9580

VAT
CODE

8

2018/2019

£

60.00
100.00

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

60.00
100.00

Abandoned vehicles:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8
120.00
200.00

120.00
200.00

Litter:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8
N/A

75.00
NA

75.00

Street litter control notices and litter clearing 
notices:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8

75.00
110.00

75.00
110.00

Unauthorised distribution of literature:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8
50.00
80.00

50.00
80.00

Graffiti/fly-posting:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8
50.00
80.00

50.00
80.00

Failure to produce transfer note:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8
180.00
300.00

180.00
300.00

Failure to furnish documentation (waste carriers 
licence):
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8

180.00
300.00

180.00
300.00

Offences in relation to waste receptacles/ Notice 
for bins for household waste/ Bins for commercial 
waste:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H0107 9580 8

75.00
100.00

75.00
100.00

Litter enforcement:
               
Litter (within 14 days)
               
Dog fouling (within 14 days)

H0140 9580 8

75.00

50.00

75.00

50.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENFORCEMENT AND REGULATION 
(continued)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Fixed penalty notices (FPN) for Community 
Protection Notices (CPNs):              

H0107 9580 8

               Maximum payment 100.00 100.00

Fixed penalty notices (FPN) for Public Spaces                           
Protection Orders (PSPOs):
              Maximum payment                                                                         

H0107 9580 8

100.00 100.00

Fixed penalty notices (FPN) for Fly Tipping 
Unauthorised depositing of waste’ s.33 
Environmental Protection Act 1990:

H0107 9580 8

Discounted payment (within 10 days)
Full payment 

250.00
400.00

250.00
400.00

Waste Duty of Care – Section 34 Environmental 
Protection Act 1990:

H0107 9580 8

Discounted payment (within 10 days)
Full payment 

N/A
N/A

250.00
400.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANSING AND REFUSE 
COLLECTION

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

£

A.  DOMESTIC SERVICES

      Special Domestic Refuse Collections :

                   First quarter hour H5040 9451 8 30.00 30.00 

                   Each additional quarter hour H5040 9451 8 15.00 15.00 

                   Collection of domestic 
                   refrigerators and deep freezers
    
                 
     Garden Waste Collection

H5040 9451 8 As above As above

                   Annual fee H5048 9451 8 40.00 41.50

                   240 litre Garden Waste bin (each) H5048 9451 2 42.00 43.50

B.  CLINICAL WASTE (TRADE)

     Annual charge for one bag per week H5045 9451 2 765.00 790.00

     Additional bags – bag/week H5045 9451 2 4.00 4.15

     Provision of Sharps Box H5045 9451 2 3.00 3.15

C.  WHEELED BIN SALES

     140 litre bin (each)

     180 litre bin (each)

     360 litre bin (each)

     660 litre bin (each)

     1100 litre bin (each)

H5040 9337

H5040 9337

H5040 9337

H5040 9337

H5040 9337

2

2

2

2

2

34.00

42.00

72.00

435.00

520.00

35.00

43.50

74.50

450.00

540.00

D. RECYCLING BOX SALES H5046 9451 2 7.00 7.50



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING AND 
REGISTRATION

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

PEST CONTROL SERVICE

Rodent control – domestic:
Rats

Mice - discretionary price for those in receipt of 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction (also 
known as Council Tax Support) and Universal 
Credit.

Mice (full price fee)

H1340 9492

H1340 9492

H1340 9492

2

2

2

Free

41.00 

67.00

Free

42.00 

69.00

Wasp nests – domestic H1340 9492 2 72.00 74.00

Additional charge for second nest or infestation H1340 9492 2 36.00 37.00

DOG WARDEN SERVICE

Dogs : Reclaimed by owner within 3 days,
           not tagged by DBC H1320 9493 8 113.00 117.00
           Charge for additional days H1320 9493 8 21.00

 per day
22.00

 per day
          Reclaimed by owner within 3 days,
          tagging carried out by DBC, or 
          where prior notification received that 
          dog has been lost.

H1320 9493 8 103.00 106.00

          Charge for additional days H1320 9493 8 21.00 22.00
          Reclaimed by owner, within 3 days, 
          already tagged H1320 9493 8 62.00 64.00
          Charge for additional days H1320 9493 8 21.00 22.00
          Micro-chipping of dog H1320 9493 8 31.00 32.00

CLEAN NEIGHBOURHOODS AND 
ENVIRONMENT ACT 2005 FIXED PENALTY 
NOTICES :

Notification of key holder in notification area:
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H1380 9580 8 50.00
80.00

50.00
80.00

Noise from premises (domestic):
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H1380 9580 8 75.00
110.00

75.00
110.00

Noise from premises (other):
               Discounted payment (within 10 days)
               Full payment

H1380 9580 8 N/A
500.00

N/A
500.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING AND 
REGISTRATION (continued)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

                        £

Registration: -
Ear piercers (one practitioner)
      each  additional practitioner

H1390 9451 8
140.00

30.00
140.00

               30.00
Electrolysis & Acupuncture (one practitioner)
      each  additional practitioner

175.00
45.00

175.00
45.00

Cosmetic body piercing, tattooing & semi-
permanent skin colouring (one practitioner)
   each  additional practitioner

275.00
70.00

300.00
70.00

    

Unsaleable Food Certificates and Voluntary 
Surrender Certificates

H1390 9451 2 165.00 + VAT 
minimum 

charge for max 
of 2 hrs.

Thereafter 
additional £65.00 

per hour or part 
thereof 

165.00 + VAT 
minimum 

charge for max 
of 2 hrs.

Thereafter 
additional £65.00 

per hour or part 
thereof

 
Export Certificates H1390 9451 2 65 + VAT 

minimum for 
the first 2 hours 

and then an 
additional £30 

per hour or part 
thereof

70 + VAT 
minimum for 

the first 2 hours 
and then an 

additional £30 
per hour or part 

thereof

Level 2 Food Hygiene/Health & Safety Training H1390 9444 4 65.00 65.00 

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme Re-scoring              H1270 9553          8                           200.00               200.00
inspection

Food Hygiene Advice to Businesses (ACCESS) H1270 9553         4 100 minimum 
for the first 2 

hours and then 
an additional 

£50 per hour or 
part thereo

100 minimum 
for the first 2 

hours and then 
an additional 

£50 per hour or 
part thereof

Primary Authority Advice            H1270 9553          4                 70 per hour          70 per hour

Safer Food Better Business (SFBB) Caterers 
pack 

        H1270 9539 2     10.00 plus  
p&p £2

10.00 plus  
p&p £2

Safer Food Better Business (SFBB) Retailers 
pack

        H1270 9539 2    9.00 plus    
p&p £2

   9.00 plus 
p&p £2

Safer Food Better Business (SFBB) 
additional diary sheets 

       H1270 9539 2       5.00 plus 
p&p £2

   5.00 plus 
p&p £2



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING AND        
  REGISTRATION (continued)                                INCOME            VAT            Agreed by PROPOSED
                                                                                 CODE              CODE           Cabinet 1.11.18     NEW CHARGES

           1.4.2019
                              £                              £

                                                                                               
Selling of Animals Licence

Initial Fee H1380 9451 8 418.00 + 
recharge of 

veterinary fee 
where    

incurred

418.00 + recharge 
of veterinary fee       

where incurred 

Renewal Fee H1380 9451 8 374.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where 
incurred

374.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

Breeding of Dogs Licence 

Initial Fee H1380 9451 8 402.00 + 
recharge of 

veterinary fee 
where incurred

402.00 + 
recharge of 

veterinary fee 
where incurred

Renewal Fee H1380 9451 8 358.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

358.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

Animal Boarding Activity Licence 
Initial Fee H1380 9451 8 418.00 + 

recharge of 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

418.00 + 
recharge of 

veterinary fee 
where incurred

Renewal Fee H1380 9451 8 374.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

374.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred
Home Boarding Activity Licence
Initial Fee H1380 9451 8 386.00 + 

veterinary fee 
where incurred

386.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

Renewal Fee H1380 9451                                   8
        
        342.00 +  
veterinary fee 
where incurred 

342.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred 

Dog Day Care Licence
Initial Fee H1380 9451 8         386.00 + 

veterinary fee 
where incurred

386.00 + 
veterinary fee 

where incurred

Renewal Fee H1380 9451 8 342.00 +  
veterinary fee 

where incurred

342.00 +  
veterinary fee 

where incurred



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING AND 
REGISTRATION (continued

Performing Animal Licence
Registration Fee

Renewal Fee 

INCOME 
CODE

H1380 9451

H1380 9451

VAT
CODE

8

8

Agreed at
Cabinet 

1.11.18 £

386.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred

342.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

386.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred

342.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred

Hiring of Horses Licence
Any number of horses

Renewal Fee

H1380 9451

H1380 9451

8

8

483.00+ vets 
fees where 

incurred

440.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred

483.00+ vets 
fees where 

incurred 

440.00+ vets 
fees where  

incurred

Dangerous Wild Animals Act

Initial Fee H1380 9451 8
          

418.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred + VAT

+ VAT
418.00 + vets 

fees where 
incurred + VAT

Renewal Fee H1380 9451 8 374.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred + VAT

374.00 + vets 
fees where 

incurred + VAT



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING AND 
REGISTRATION (continued)

INCOME 
CODE  

VAT
CODE

2018/2019
£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 :

Application for consent regarding operation of H1380 9451 8 130.00 133.00
loudspeaker in street 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 :
Audible Intruder Alarms

H1380 9495 2 Officer hourly 
rate (plus on-

costs and 
VAT) from 
service of 
notice to 

completion of 
task

 + 
contractors 

fees

Officer hourly rate 
(plus on-costs and 
VAT) from service 

of notice to 
completion of task
 + contractors fees

 Sunday Trading Act 1994 :
Application for consent:- Loading Provisions H1390 9451 2 270.00 270.00

 Copy of Food Premises Register:
(whole)
(per page)

Environmental Enquiry :

H1390 9451
H1390 9491 

H1390 9491

2
2

2

200.00
15.00

For enquiries 
up to 2 hours: 

108.00 plus 
VAT and 
standard 

photocopying 
charge

For enquiries 
2 hours and 

above: 
Hourly rate of 

72.00  plus 
VAT and 
standard 

photocopying 
charge

250.00
15.00

For enquiries up to 2 
hours: 108.00 plus 
VAT and standard 

photocopying charge

For enquiries 2 
hours and above: 

Hourly rate of 72.00 
plus VAT and 

standard 
photocopying 

charge

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LICENSING AND 
REGISTRATION (continued)

PRESCRIBED PROCESSES H1380 9491 8

         

             See table below:



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

Application Fees *

Standard Process
          
             Set by Government

Service Stations                        Set by Government

Waste Oil Burners (WOB) (<0.4MW)                 Set by Government

Mobile Screening & Crushing Plant                 Set by Government

For 3rd – 7th Applications              Set by Government

For 8th & Subsequent Applications                 Set by Government

Annual Subsistence Fees *
Standard Process                 Set by Government

Standard Process paid quarterly                 Set by Government

Service Station                 Set by Government

WOB (<0.4MW)                 Set by Government

Odorising Natural Gas                 Set by Government

Mobile Screening & Crushing Plant                 Set by Government

For 3rd – 7th Authorisations                 Set by Government

For 8th & subsequent Authorisations                 Set by Government

Substantial Changes  under Sections 10 & 11 *

Standard Process                             Set by Government

Service Station                  Set by Government

WOB (<0.4MW)                  Set by Government

To implement an upgrading plan                  Set by Government

* Statutory Fees set by DEFRA

Smoking in a smokefree place                                                                        Set by Government

Failing to display required ‘No Smoking’ signs                                                                        Set by Government

Failing to prevent smoking in a smokefree place                                                                                        Set by Government



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

HOUSING SERVICES INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

LICENSING OF HOUSES IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION :

Standard fee

Fee for accredited HMOs (up to a maximum of 30)                                          

Re-licensing fee

Re-licensing fee for accredited HMOs  
 

B7070 9496

B7070 9496

B7070 9496

B7070 9496

8

8

8

8

830.00 per 
house

780.00 per 
house

635.00 per 
house

585.00 per 
house

 830.00 per 
house

 780.00 per 
house

 635.00 per 
house

585.00  per 
house

HOUSING ACT 2004 :

Enforcement  Notice fee
Recharge of inspection and enforcement costs in 
cases of non-compliance

B7070 9523        2 400 per 
notice plus 

VAT        

  420 per     
notice( plus 

VAT)       

Housing fitness: Entry clearance (Immigration)
inspections 
                                                                                                                       

B7070 9545                   8 140.00 145.00

MOBILE HOMES ACT 2013:                                                

Caravan Site Licence Application Fee                                                  
Annual Caravan site licence fee                                                           
Site Rules Fee                                                                                      
     
Costs of New Licence               B7070 9451          8
0 to 5 Pitches                 0                       0
6 to 25 Pitches       500.00               525.00
26 to 99 Pitches       640.00              675.00      
100 to 199 Pitches       825.00                      875.00
200+ Pitches     1020.00                    1080.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

HOUSING SERVICES (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

          2018/2019

 £

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

MOBILE HOMES ACT 2013:                                 B7070 9451              8
(continued)

Annual Fees
0 to 5 Pitches          0                        0
6 to 25 Pitches   185.00  195.00
26 to 99 Pitches 325.00  345.00
100 to 199 Pitches 515.00  545.00
200+ Pitches 705.00  750.00

Amendment / Transfer (No Visit)                         B7070 9451             8
6 pitches and above    165.00 165.00

Amendments / Transfer (With Visit)                    B7070 9451             8 
6 pitches and above    260.00              260.00

Cost of Deposit of Site Rules 
6 pitches and above

               55.00   60.00

Enforcement 

                                                                                                                                                       
Service of Compliance Notice             B7070 9451          2                           400.00 420.00 
                                                                                                                      per Notice plus  vat  per Notice plus vat
                                                                

Fixed penalty notices (FPN) for Community           K15039941              8                                

Protection Notices (CPNs):            
Maximum payment                                                                                                               100.00               100.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LAND CHARGES STATEMENT OF ESTIMATES 2019/18

Charges for property searches are based on a cost recovery model and takes account of the total estimated 

spend on the service. 

The estimated number of requests for searches is as follows:

Search Type Estimated Requests

LLC1 Search 1300

CON29 Search 1600

                                                                                                                                                                                
LAND CHARGES   INCOME VAT 2018/2019 PROPOSED NEW

CODE CODE CHARGES 
1.4.2019

£ £
Postal Searches (Official Search)                                

Electronic (Official Search )                   
Electronic  LLC1 A4152 9451 8 30.00 30.00
Electronic Residential Con29R A4152 9451 2 60.00 60.00
Electronic Commercial Con29R A4152 9451 2 80.00 80.00

Additional Items (Official Search)                               
Additional Questions A4152 9451 2 10.00 10.00
Optional Enquiries (Con29O) A4152 9451 2 10.00 10.00
Extra Land Parcel A4152 9451 2 10.00 10.00

Additional Items (Personal Search)
Individual Con29R Refined Data Search A4152 9451 2 6.50 6.50
Electronic Compiled Register Only Search A4152 9451 8 5.00 5.00

Street Naming and Numbering –                              
Naming a new Street A4155 9451 8 250.00 250.00
Addressing New Properties
   1 to 5 Plots A4155 9451 8 50.00 50.00
   6 to 25 Plots A4155 9451 8 40.00 40.00
   26 to 75 Plots A4155 9451 8 35.00 35.00
   76 Plus Plots A4155 9451 8 30.00 30.00
 Adding an Alias to a property A4155 9451 8 10.00 10.00
Copies of Plot List A4155 9451 8 10.00 10.00
Re-numbering of properties after the initial statutory 
naming and numbering. (per property)

A4155 9451 8 50.00 50.00

Renaming of an Existing Road A4155 9451 8 1000.00 1000.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LEGAL SERVICES
(exclusive of VAT)

INCOME
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Section 106 Agreements

Unilateral Undertakings

Licence to Assign or Sublet

Sale of freehold – Downs Estate

Sale of small parcels of Council owned 
land
Lease extension - residential flat

Licence for Alterations to
Leased Premises

Access Licence

Deed of Grant of Easement

Redemption Charge

Questionnaire Fee

Registration of Notice of Assignment

Deed of Release of Covenants

Administration Fee-Contract Deposits

A4051 9431

A4051 9431

A4051 9432

A4051 9433

A4051 9433

A4051 95A7

A4051 95A8

A4051 9434

A4051 9436

A4051 9437

A4051 95A9

A4051 95B2

A4051 95B3

A4051 95B4

8

8

2

8

2

8

8

4

4

4

2

2

2

8

  £1570.00 standard 
charge or £314.00 
per hour for more 
complex 
agreements

£513.00 (for 
review consisting 

of no or minor 
amendments) 
£1046.00 (for 

review consisting 
of major  

amendments) 
standard charge

290.00 standard 
charge*

375.00

385.00 **

420.00
standard charge*

 
200.00

standard charge*

160.00

380.00
standard charge*

100.00

119.00

46.00

350.00  
standard charge*

79.00 minimum 
(or 10% of bond)

£1620.00standard 
charge or

£325.00 per hour
for more complex 

agreements 

£530.00 (for review 
consisting of no or 

minor 
amendments) 
£1080.00 (for 

review consisting of 
major  

amendments) 
standard charge

300.00 standard 
charge*

390.00

400.00*

430.00standard 
charge*

 
210.00 standard 

charge*

165.00

390.00standard 
charge*

105.00

123.00

48.00

360.00standard 
charge*

82.00minimum 
(or 10% of bond)



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LEGAL SERVICES
(exclusive of VAT)
Continued
 

Administration Fee – Staircasing Payment 
(i.e. Partial Redemption) under the 
Council’s Legal Charge for Discounted 
Sale Units ***

Administration Fee – Full Redemption 
(not on sale) under the Council’s Legal 
Charge for Discounted Sale Units ***

Administration Fee – Approval of 
Prospective Purchaser’s Mortgage Offer 
for Discounted Sale Units

Registration of Notices (Commercial)

INCOME
CODE

A4051 95A8

A4051 95A8

    A4051 95A8

    A4051 95B1

VAT
CODE

2

2

2

2

2018/2019

£

77.00

154.00

                                       
                 113.00
                 

                  87.00                              
                   

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

80.00

                          

                    
                    160.00

      
                  117.00

90.00

* Subject to enhancement for more complicated and detailed issues.
**  50% uplift for complicated transactions
***  For properties sold before November 2016. Those properties sold after that date are managed 
by Street UK Homes Limited.

 



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING

GAMBLING ACT 2005  
Premises Licence Fee (prescribed by 
Government)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019 
£

New Small Casino – 
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

H0105 9496 8
6,465.00
3,900.00
2,770.00
1,460.00
1,460.00
6,465.00
2,420.00

25.00
50.00

6,680.00
4,030.00
2,860.00
1,510.00
1,510.00
6,685.00
2,500.00

25.00
50.00

New Large Casino – 
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

H0105 9496 8
8,000.00
8,000.00
3,670.00
1,735.00
1,735.00
8,000.00
3,990.00

25.00
50.00

8,265.00
8,265.00
3,790.00
1,795.00
1,795.00
8,265.00
4,120.00

25.00
50.00

Regional Casino – 
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

Bingo Club – 
Transitional Fast-track Application
Transitional Non Fast-track Application
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

H0105 9496 8
N/A
N/A

2,160.00
670.00

1,310.00
820.00
820.00

2,160.00
890.00

25.00
50.00

N/A
N/A

2,160.00
670.00

1,310.00
820.00
820.00

2,160.00
890.00

25.00
50.00

H0105 9496

H0105 9496

8

    8

12,130.00
12,130.00

6,000.00
4,370.00
4,370.00

12,130.00
6,230.00

25.00
50.00

N/A
N/A

2,330.00
720.00

1,415.00
880.00
880.00

2,330.00
955.00

25.00
50.00

12,530.00
12,530.00

6,000.00
4,515.00
4,515.00

12,530.00
6,435.00

25.00
50.00

N/A
N/A

2,410.00
745.00

1,465.00
910.00
910.00

2,410.00
985.00

25.00
50.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
Premises Licence Fee continued

INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

Betting Premises (excluding Tracks) – 
Transitional Fast-track Application
Transitional Non Fast-track Application
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (Provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

H0105 9496 8
N/A
N/A

2,330.00
460.00

1,210.00
880.00
880.00

2,330.00
955.00

25.00
50.00

N/A
N/A

2,410.00
475.00

1,250.00
910.00
910.00

2,410.00
985.00

25.00
50.00

Tracks – 
Transitional Fast-track Application
Transitional Non Fast-track Application
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (Provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

H0105 9496 8
N/A
N/A

1,210.00
720.00

1040.00
765.00
765.00

1,820.00
765.00

25.00
50.00

N/A
N/A

2,410.00
720.00

1,075.00
920.00
920.00

2,410.00
1,000.00

25.00
50.00

Family Entertainment Centres – 
Transitional Fast-track Application
Transitional Non Fast-track Application
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (Provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

H0105 9496 8
N/A
N/A

1,615.00
600.00
600.00
765.00
765.00

1,615.00
765.00

25.00
50.00

N/A
N/A

1,670.00
620.00
620.00
790.00
790.00

1,670.00
790.00

25.00
50.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
Permit Fees & Registrations (prescribed 
by Government)

Adult Gaming Centre – 
Transitional Fast-track Application
Transitional Non Fast-track Application
New Application
Annual Fee
Application to vary
Application to transfer
Application for reinstatement
Application for Provisional Statement
Licence Application (provisional Statement 
holders)
Copy Licence
Notification of Change

INCOME 
CODE

H0105 9496

VAT 
CODE

8

2018/2019

£

N/A
N/A

1,615.00
720.00
805.00
885.00
885.00

1,615.00
1020.00

25.00
50.00

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

N/A
N/A

1,670.00
740.00
830.00
915.00
915.00

1,675.00
1,055.00

25.00
50.00

FEC Gaming Machine – 
Application fee
Renewal fee
Transitional Application Fee

H0105 9496 8
300.00
300.00
100.00

300.00
300.00
100.00

Prize Gaming – 
Application fee
Renewal fee
Transitional Application Fee

H0105 9496 8
300.00
300.00
100.00

300.00
300.00
100.00

Miscellaneous Fees
FEC Permits – 
Change of Name
Copy of Permit
Variation
Transfer

H0105 9496 8
25.00
15.00

N/A
N/A

25.00
15.00

N/A
N/A

Prize Gaming permits – 
Change of Name
Copy of Permit
Variation
Transfer

H0105 9496 8
25.00
15.00

N/A
N/A

25.00
15.00

N/A
N/A

Small Society Lotteries –
Application/Registration
Annual Fee

H0105 9496 8
40.00
20.00

40.00
20.00

Club Gaming/Gaming Machine Permit –
Application fee
Application fee – with Club Premises Cert.
Annual fee
Variation
Copy of Permit

H0105 9496 8
200.00
100.00

50.00
100.00

15.00

200.00
100.00

50.00
100.00

15.00
Alcohol Licensed Premises
Gaming Machine Permit – 
Notification of up to 2 machines
Application for Permit
Application Existing Operator
Variation
Annual fee
Transfer
Change of Name
Copy of Permit

H0105 9496 8

50.00
150.00
100.00
100.00

50.00
25.00
25.00
15.00

50.00
150.00
100.00
100.00

50.00
25.00
25.00
15.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING 

LICENSING ACT 2003  CHARGES
(premises/club premises/personal 
licenses. Prescribed by Government)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Applications for :
Premises Licences, 
Club Premises Certificates,
Variations (not changes of name/  
                   address /designated 
                   premises supervisor):

Non-Domestic Rateable band :  A
(see table below for bands)     B
                                                C
                                                D
                                                E

Note : For Band D and E see fee note below

H0105 9496
H0105 9496
H0105 9496
H0105 9496
H0105 9496

8
8
8
8
8

100.00
190.00
315.00
450.00
635.00

100.00
190.00
315.00
450.00
635.00

Annual Fee (for those holding premises 
licences and club premises certificates):

Non-Domestic Rateable band :  A
                                                B
                                                C
                                                D
                                                E

H0105 9496
H0105 9496
H0105 9496
H0105 9496
H0105 9496

8
8
8
8
8

70.00
180.00
295.00
320.00
350.00

70.00
180.00
295.00
320.00
350.00

Premises in band D and E exclusively or 
primarily in the business of selling 
alcohol (mainly large town and city centre 
pubs)

Application fee :  D
                                                           E

Annual Charge :  D
                                                           E

H0105 9496
H0105 9496

H0105 9496
H0105 9496

8
8

8
8

900.00
1905.00

640.00
1050.00

900.00
1905.00

640.00
1050.00

2019/20 Non-Domestic Rateable Value of Premises  (for Licensing Act 2003 applications and annual fees):
Band A B C D E

Non-Domestic 
Rateable Value

£0 - £4,300 £4,301 - £33,000 £33,001 - 
£87,000

£87,001 - 
£125,000

£125,001 and 
over

To find out how much your non-domestic rateable value of your premises is please enter your postcode into
the Valuation Office’s website, www.voa.gov.uk.

For premises under construction, that have not been allocated a non-domestic rateable value but will be 
given such a value as soon as a completion certificate is given, it is proposed to allocate such premises
 to band C.  Subsequent annual fees will relate to the non-domestic rateable value given to the property. 



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING 

LICENSING ACT 2003 CHARGES          INCOME CODE   VAT CODE            2018/2019                PROPOSED
(continued)                                                                                                                                    NEW CHARGES                                                                    
                                                                                                                                         £                        1.4.2019 £
  
Personal Licence Application  H0105 9496 8 37.00 37.00

Minor Variation to Premises Licence H0105 9496 8 89.00 89.00

Supply of copies of information contained 
in register

H0105 9496 8 Variable 
dependent on 

request 

Variable dependent 
on request 

Application for copy of licence or summary 
on theft, loss etc of premises licence or 
summary

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Application for copy of certificate or 
summary on theft, loss etc of certificate or 
summary

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Notification of change of name or address 
(holder of premises licence)

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Application to vary to specify individual as 
premises supervisor

H0105 9496 8 23.00 23.00

Disapply the mandatory alcohol condition 
in a community premises

H0105 9496 8 23.00 23.00

Interim Authority Notice H0105 9496 8 23.00 23.00

Application to transfer premises licence H0105 9496 8 23.00 23.00

Application for making a provisional 
statement

H0105 9496 8 315.00 315.00

Notification of change of name or alteration 
of club rules

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Change of relevant registered address of 
club

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Temporary Event Notices H0105 9496 8 21.00 21.00

Application for copy of notice on theft, loss 
etc of temporary event notice

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Application for copy of licence on theft, loss 
etc of personal licence                                               

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Notification of change of name or address 
(personal licence)

H0105 9496 8 10.50 10.50

Notice of interest in any premises H0105 9496 8 21.00 21.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING 

LICENSING ACT 2003 CHARGES
(continued)

Exceptionally large events of a temporary 
nature that require premises licences are  
to be charged as follows:

Number of people : 5,000  – 9,999
                               10,000 – 14,999
                               15,000 – 19,999
                               20,000 – 29,999
                               30,000 – 39,999
                               40,000 – 49,999
                               50,000 – 59,999
                               60,000 – 69,999
                               70,000 – 79,999
                               80,000 – 89,999
                               90,000 and over

INCOME 
CODE   

H0105 9496

VAT 
CODE            

8

2018/2019                

£

1,000.00
2,000.00
4,000.00
8,000.00

16,000.00
24,000.00
32,000.00
40,000.00
48,000.00
56,000.00
64,000.00

PROPOSED NEW 
CHARGES          
1.4.2019 £

1,000.00
2,000.00
4,000.00
8,000.00

16,000.00
24,000.00
32,000.00
40,000.00
48,000.00
56,000.00
64,000.00

Premises licences sought for community centres, village/parish halls and some schools/colleges that 
permit regulated entertainment but do not permit the supply of alcohol and/or the provision of late night 
refreshment may not incur a fee.   For more information please go to www.dartford.gov.uk/licensing or contact 
the Licensing team.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING

VEHICLE LICENSING 

ALL VEHICLE LICENCE FEES INCLUDE 
A £52 ADMIN FEE AND A GRANT FEE

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Hackney Carriages H0105 9555 8

          Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence
                  Initial Fee: 1 year 262.00 + 20.00

plate deposit
262.00 + 20.00

plate deposit

                  Renewal Fee: 1 year 220.00 220.00

          Hackney Carriage Driver’s Licence
                  Initial Fee:          3 year 143.00 + 10.00 

badge deposit
143.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

                      Annual 94.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit 

94.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit 

                  Renewal Fee:          3 year 106.00 106.00

                      Annual 58.00 58.00

          Dual Hackney Carriage / Private Hire
          Driver’s Licence
                  Initial Fee:          3 year 192.00 + 10.00 

badge deposit
192.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

                      Annual 126.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

126.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

                  Renewal Fee:          3 year 146.00 151.00

                      Annual 85.00 85.00

Private Hire H0105 9497 8

           Private Hire Operator’s Licence
                                              Annual 
                                              5 years                                                                

227.00
815.00

235.00
840.00

          Private Hire Vehicle Licence
                  Initial Fee 217.00 + 20.00 

plate deposit
225.00 + 20.00 

plate deposit

                  Renewal Fee 196.00 202.00

          Private Hire Driver’s Licence
                  Initial Fee:          3 year 139.00 + 10.00 

badge deposit
139.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

                      Annual 90.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

90.00 + 10.00 
badge deposit

                  Renewal Fee:          3 year 106.00 106.00
 

                     

Annual 58.00 58.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING

VEHICLE LICENSING (continued)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
Miscellaneous Fees 8

Transfer of Hackney Carriage / Private Hire 
Vehicle Licence

H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555 N/A N/A

Transfer of Hackney Carriage / Private Hire 
Vehicle ownership

H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555

20.00 25.00

Temporary Transfer of Licence H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555

70.00 75.00

Replacement of Licence Plate (through 
loss, damage or cancellation of 
appointment)

H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555

45.00 45.00

Replacement of Backing Plate only H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555

15.00 15.00

Replacement of Driver’s I.D. Badge
(including change of licence type)

H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555

20.00 20.00

Knowledge Test – Hackney Carriage (two 
part test)

H0105 9555 100.00
(2 x 50.00)

104.00
(2 x 52.00)

Knowledge Test – Private Hire (one part 
test)

H0105 9497 50.00 52.00

Disclosure and Barring Service Check (fee 
set by third party agency and is subject to 
change)

H0105 9567    65.00                        65.00

External Validation Check (fee set by the 
External Agency and is subject to change)

H0105 9567 10.00 10.00

English Proficiency Test H0105 9497/ 
H0105 9555

40.00 40.00

Disability Awareness Course H0105 9505 50.00 50.00
Driver Training Day H0105 9505 30.00
Copies of Paper Licence
Per Licence type

H0105 9497 
/ H0105 
9555

15.00 15.00

DVLA Check H0105 9563 10.00 10.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

LICENSING

VEHICLE LICENSING (continued)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
Re-Issue of Licence due to change in            
circumstance

Missing Appointments                              
                                                                                                               
Returned Cheque

Alteration to Temporary Vehicle Terms 

SEX ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE

H0105 9497 
/ H0105 9555

H0105 9497

H0105 9497

H0105 9497

8

8

8

8

            15.00

              5.00

            20.00
                

           20. 00             

                15.00

                  5.00

                20.00

                20.00

Submission of application (non-refundable) H0107 9451 8 4,524.00 4,675.00

SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUE LICENCE

New licence H0107 9451 8 3,340.00 3,450.00

Renewal of Licence H0107 9451 8 2,490.00 2,575.00

SCRAP METAL DEALERS ACT 2013 H0105 9488 8
Site Licence:

Grant application 320.00 330.00

Renewal 290.00 300.00

Collector’s Licence

Grant application 220.00 230.00

Renewal 195.00 200.00

Miscellaneous Fees
Variation (site to collector) 60.00 65.00

Variation (collector to site) 125.00 130.00

Change of name or address 15.00 15.00

Change of site 125.00 130.00

Change of Site Manager 40.00 45.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

MARKETS INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
THURSDAY MARKET
Permanent traders Mar – Dec H0510 9661 4 22.00 per pitch 22.00 per pitch
                              Jan – Feb H0510 9661 4 19.00 per pitch 19.00 per pitch

Casual traders Apr - March H0510 9661 4 23.00 per pitch 23.00 per pitch
                        

Payment Options for Permanent Traders:

STANDING ORDER

10 monthly payments (March–Dec)
(inc. bookovers)
2 monthly payments (Jan – Feb)(inc bookovers)

NOTE: All new permanent traders must pay by 
standing order unless agreed otherwise by the 
relevant Director

H0510 9661

H0510 9661

4

4

80.00 per mnth 

68.00 per mnth

80.00 per mnth 

68.00 per mnth

SATURDAY MARKET
Permanent traders April – March H0510 9662 4 32.00 per pitch 32.00 per pitch

Casual traders April – March H0510 9662 4 36.00 per pitch 36.00 per pitch

Payment Options for Permanent Traders:

STANDING ORDER

12 monthly payments (inc bookovers)

NOTE: All new permanent traders must pay by 
standing order unless agreed otherwise by the 
relevant Director

H0510 9662 4 120.00 per month 120.00 per month

Administration Charge H0510 9561 2 35.00 + VAT 35.00 + VAT

Permanent traders taking casual vacancies:    
                         - Thursday Market
                         - Saturday Market

H0510 9661
H0510 9662

4
4

{  Permanent
{   trader rate

{  Permanent
{   trader rate



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

MARKETS (continued) INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Use of the market electrical system in the High 
Street for external events and promotions (this fee 
may be waived for charities at the discretion of the 
Service Manager).

H0510 9662 4 £15 a day £15 a day

TRANSFER OF PITCHES:

Thursday & Saturday Markets :- Thurs Sat Thurs Sat

     1 Pitch H0510 9561 2 £210 £345 £210 £345
     2 Pitches H0510 9561 2 £260 £460 £260 £460
     3 Pitches H0510 9561 2 £315 £570 £315 £570
     4 Pitches H0510 9561 2 £370 £680 £370 £680

NEW TRADER INCENTIVE

Up to 50% rent reduction for potential new permanent traders may apply for a maximum of 4 
weeks as agreed by the relevant Director.

The relevant Director will also have discretion to agree concessions on for any “pop up” 
market stalls and promotions. 

Note : All pitch rents include a charge for electricity where appropriate. 



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PARKS INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW 

CHARGES
1.4.2019

£
Central Park *

Charity events
Per event C0501 9664 4 Free Free
Deposit (refundable) X2715 8515 8 200.00 200.00

Circuses (non-animal only)
Per Operational day
Per Non-operational day (setting 
up/dismantling)

C0501 9664
C0501 9664

4
4

247.00 per day
100.00 per day

257.00 per day
105.00 per day

Deposit (refundable) X2715 8515 8 500.00 500.00

Commercial users  - including 
fairs 
Per Operational day
Per Non-operational day (setting 
up/dismantling)

C0501 9664
C0501 9664

4
4

560.00 per day
100.00 per day

580.00 per day
105.00 per day

Deposit (refundable) X2715 8515 8 500.00 500.00

Electricity Supply
Access to electricity cabinet
(per booking)
Electricity consumption

C0501 9664

C0501 9664

4

2

85.00

Value of units 
consumed if over 

£5 per day

88.00

Value of units 
consumed if 

over £5 per day
Deductions will be made against 
deposits in respect of litter clearance, 
damage to premises and equipment, 
ground reinstatement and other 
damage not attended to by the hirer.

* Currently these charges relate to 
Central Park, however if similar 
events are requested for other parks, 
these charges will apply.



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING 

PLANNING POLICY
(Please note postage charges will 
be updated as and when they 
change)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

BOROUGH OF DARTFORD LOCAL 
PLAN (1995)

      Inquiry Inspector’s Report

Bean Triangle Inquiry Inspector’s 
Report

Photocopying of Development plans 
and related documents (A4)

Local Development Framework 
Documents 

Core Strategy - Preferred Policy 
Approaches – July 2006

Core Strategy - Sustainability 
Appraisal Technical Report * - July 
2006

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

 

 

8

8

2

2

2

£34.00  (+ 4.57 
p&p)

 £5.75  (+ 0.44 
p&p)

Free for first 6 
copies black 

and white, 10p 
per A4 sheet 

there after. 
Colour copies-

20p per A4 
sheet, 40p per 

A3 sheet

£11.00  (inc 
p&p)

£43.00  (inc 
p&p)   

   

£35.25  (+4.57 
p&p)

£6.00  (+0.44 p&p)

Free for first 6 copies 
black and white, 10p 
per A4 sheet there 
after. Colour copies-
20p
per A4 sheet, 40p per 
A3 sheet

£11.40   (inc p&p)   

£44.50   (inc p&p)   



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING

PLANNING POLICY (continued)
(Please note postage charges will 
be updated as and when they 
change)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Core Strategy Preferred Options – 
January 2008

Core Strategy Sustainability Report 
– January 2008

Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) & Appendices 
– November 2009

Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) document – 
September 2009

Core Strategy Proposed Submission 
Document - September 2010

Core Strategy Proposed Submission 
Sustainability Appraisal Technical 
Report & Appendices - Sept 2010

Core Strategy Submission 
Document - February 2011

Final Inspector's Report & 
Appendices - August 2011

Adopted Core Strategy Document - 
September 2011

Northern Gateway Supplementary 
Planning Document Consultation 
Draft 
Oct 2011

Adopted Development Policies Plan
Document – July 2017

Development Policies Plan Policies 
Maps (east, West & Town Centre)

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI)

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451

G1503 9451 

G1503 9451

G1503 9451    

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

£21.50  (inc p&p)

£54.00  (inc p&p)

£21.50  (inc p&p)

£11.00  (inc p&p)

£16.50  (inc p&p)

£54.00  (inc p&p)

£11.00  (inc p&p)

£11.00  (inc p&p)

£33.00  (inc p&p)

£11.00  (inc p&p)

£20.50 (inc p&p)  

    £31.00 (inc p&p)

                      Free

£22.25 (inc p&p)

 £55.80   (inc p&p)

£22.50  (inc p&p)

£11.40  (inc p&p)

£17.25 (inc p&p)

£55.80  (inc p&p)

£11.40  (inc p&p)

£11.40  (inc p&p)

£34.10  (inc p&p)

£11.40  (inc p&p)

£21.20 (inc p&p)

£32.10 (inc p&p)

Free

       



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

PLANNING

PLANNING POLICY (continued)
(Please note postage charges will 
be updated as and when they 
change)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

   PROPOSED
   NEW CHARGES

          1.4.2019

£
Housing Windfall SPD Adopted 
October 2014

Northern Gateway Supplementary 
Planning Document.  Adopted April 
2012

Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document. Adopted July 
2012 

Dartford Community Infrastructure 
Levy:  Charging Schedule April 2014 

G1503
9451

G1503 
9451

G1503 
9451

G1503 
9451

2

2

2

2

£16.50  (inc p&p)

£16.50  (inc p&p)

£16.50  (inc p&p)

11.00  (inc p&p)

 

£17.25  (inc p&p)

£17.25  (inc p&p)

£17.25 (inc p&p)

£11.40  (inc p&p)



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

SALE OF AGENDA INCOME
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£

Per annum Agenda Council ) including
per annum Agenda              )
Development Control           ) postage
Cost per Agenda
Minutes

A1017 9309

A1017 9309
A1017 9309
A1017 9309

1

1
1
1

200.00

315.00
42.00
27.00

210.00

330.00
44.00
28.00



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

SPORTS 
INCOME 

CODE
VAT 

CODE
2018/2019 PROPOSED 

NEW 
CHARGES

1.4.2019

£ £
Football

Dartford Heath per senior pitch with 
pavilion (charges with effect from 
start of 2019/20 season not 1/4/19)

Seasonal use (alternate Saturdays) C1009 9461 4 732.00 757.00
Seasonal use (alternate Sundays) C1009 9461 4 895.00 925.00
Casual use per game in addition to 
contract by seasonal contract holders

C1009 9461 2 74.00 76.50

Casual use per game by non contract 
holders

C1009 9461 2 100.00 100.00

Deposit against damage and litter X2705 8515 8 100.00 100.00

Central Park – no pavilion
Only junior pitches per total site:
Seasonal use Junior (every Saturday) C0501 9451 4 555.00 574.00
Seasonal use Junior (every Sunday) C0501 9451 4 693.00 716.00
Casual Junior use per occasion in 
addition to contract by seasonal contract 
holders

C0501 9451 2 63.00 65.00

Casual Junior use per occasion by non 
contract holders

C0501 9451 2 89.00 92.00

                   Princes Park Mini Pitches
Hire of Pitches at peak times  17:00-
22:00

C4040 9451 2 £35.00 per 
hour

£37.00 per hour

Hire of Pitches at off peak times 09:00-
17:00

C4040 9451 2  £30.00 per 
hour

£32.00   per 
hour

Tennis (Hesketh Park)
Pre-booking per court per hour Free Free



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

TEMPLE HILL COMMUNITY CENTRE INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

REGISTERED CHARITIES CAN APPLY FOR A 
15% DISCOUNT ON ALL CHARGES SHOWN 

GROUP (A) HIRERS – SOCIAL USE
Types of use: Weddings, Dances, Dinners, Parties 
and Social use.  Hourly charge includes the use of all 
facilities including the bar, all available equipment and 
crockery, cutlery and glasses

Temple Hill Hire Charges
          
Monday-Thursday, Per Hour:

Friday-Saturday, Per Hour:

Sundays, Bank Holidays, Christmas Eve and
New Years Eve, Per Hour:

K1701 9402 4

34.00

40.00

49.00

35.00

41.50

50.50

GROUP (B) HIRERS – COMMUNITY USE 
Types of use: Community users, such as playgroups, 
senior citizens groups, self help, meetings, whist 
drives and bingo, youth groups, religious groups, 
bazaars, etc.  Hourly charge includes the use of 
crockery, cutlery and glasses

Temple Hill Hire Charges
          
Monday-Thursday, Per Hour: 
Hall
Lounge
Kitchen

Friday-Saturday, Per Hour:
Hall
Lounge
Kitchen

Sundays, Bank Holidays, Christmas Eve and      
New Years Eve, Per Hour:
Hall
Lounge
Kitchen

K1701 9402 4

14.00
10.50
10.50

40.00
Use included 
in above rate

49.00
Use included 
in above rate

14.50
11.00
11.00

41.50
Use included in 

above rate

50.50
Use included in 

above rate



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

TEMPLE HILL COMMUNITY CENTRE (continued)       

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2015/2016

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2016
£

GROUP (C) HIRERS – COMMERCIAL USE
Types of use: Sessions such as keep-fit, martial arts, 
dancing classes and all profit making organisations 
(proof of existing insurance policy is required at the 
time of booking)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT 
CODE

2018/19      PROPOSED NEW 
CHARGES 

1.4.2019

Temple Hill Hire Charges
          
Monday-Thursday, Per Hour: 
Hall
Lounge
Kitchen

Friday-Saturday, Per Hour:
Hall
Lounge
Kitchen

Sundays, Bank Holidays, Christmas Eve and      
New Years Eve, Per Hour:
          

K1701 9402 4 £

22.00
14.00
14.00

41.50

Centre not 
available

£

23.00
14.50
14.50

43.00

Centre not 
available

Miscellaneous Hire Charges – Groups (B) & (C):

Storage space – per cubic metre, per week K1701 9402 4 5.00 5.00

INSURANCE – GROUP (A)
(Social & casual hirers, regular community 
hirers)

Up to and including 4 hours hire

Over 4 hours hire

    K1701   9943 4 15.50

20% of the 
hire charge, 

plus 6% 
Insurance 

Premium Tax

15.50

20% of the hire 
charge, plus 6% 

Insurance 
Premium Tax



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

TEMPLE HILL COMMUNITY CENTRE 
(continued)       

INSURANCE – GROUP (B)
(Existing regular community hirers)

Up to and including 4 hours hire

Over 4 hours hire

INCOME CODE

K1701 9943

VAT 
CODE

4

2018/19      

£

3.50

15% of the 
hire charge, 

plus 6% 
Insurance 

Premium Tax

PROPOSED 
NEW CHARGES 

1.4.2019
£

3.50

15% of the hire 
charge, plus 6% 

Insurance 
Premium Tax

DEPOSIT AGAINST DAMAGE OR 
BREAKAGES

Hirers using Council Insurance

Hirers with their own insurance

X2706 8515 8

300.00

Deposit paid 
will be equal to 

the excess of 
their Policy

300.00

Deposit paid will 
be equal to the 
excess of their 

Policy



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

TREE ESTATE COMMUNITY CENTRE INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

REGISTERED CHARITIES CAN APPLY FOR A
15% DISCOUNT ON ALL CHARGES SHOWN

GROUP (A) HIRERS – SOCIAL USE
Types of use: Weddings, Dances, Dinners, Parties 
and Social use.  Hourly charge includes the use of 
all facilities including the bar, all available 
equipment and crockery, cutlery and glasses

Tree Estate Hire Charges
          
Monday-Thursday & Friday (before 5pm), per 
hour

Friday (after 5pm) & Saturday, per hour

Sundays, Bank Holidays, Christmas Eve and
New Years Eve, per hour

K1702 9402 4

31.00

36.00

47.00

32.00

37.00

48.50

GROUP (B) HIRERS – COMMUNITY USE 
Types of use: Community users, such as 
playgroups, senior citizens groups, self help, 
meetings, whist drives and bingo, youth groups, 
religious groups, bazaars, etc.  Hourly charge 
includes the use of crockery, cutlery and glasses

Tree Estate Hire Charges
          
 Monday-Thursday & Friday (before 5pm), per hour
 Hall
 Kitchen

          
 Friday (after 5pm) & Saturday per hour
 Hall
 Kitchen

          
 Sundays, Bank Holidays, Christmas and
 New Years Eve, per hour
 Hall
 Kitchen

K1702 9402 4

13.00
8.00

36.00
Use included 
in above rate

47.00
Use included 
in above rate

13.50
8.50

37.00
Use included in 

above rate

48.50
Use included in 

above rate



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

TREE ESTATE COMMUNITY CENTRE 
(continued)

GROUP (C) HIRERS – COMMERCIAL USE
Types of use: Sessions such as keep-fit, martial 
arts, dancing classes and all profit making 
organisations (proof of existing insurance policy is 
required at the time of booking)

INCOME 
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019
£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

Tree Estate Hire Charges
          
Monday-Thursday & Friday (before 5pm) per hour
Hall
Kitchen

Friday (after 5pm) & Saturday per hour
Hall
Kitchen

Sundays, Bank Holidays, Christmas Eve and
New Years Eve, per hour
Hall
Kitchen

K1702 9402 4

19.00
13.00

36.00
Use included 
in above rate

47.00
Use included 
in above rate

19.50
13.50

37.00
Use included in 

above rate

48.50
Use included in 

above rate

Miscellaneous Hire Charges – Groups (B) & (C):

Storage space – per cubic metre, per week K1702 9402 4 5.00 5.00

INSURANCE – GROUP (A)
(Social & casual hirers, regular community 
hirers)

Up to and including 4 hours hire

Over 4 hours hire

K1702 9943 4 15.50

20% of the hire 
charge, plus 

6% Insurance 
Premium Tax

15.50

20% of the hire 
charge, plus 6% 

Insurance 
Premium Tax

INSURANCE – GROUP (B)
(Existing regular community hirers)

Up to and including 4 hours hire

Over 4 hours hire

K1702 9943 4 3.50

15% of the hire 
charge, plus 

6% Insurance 
Premium Tax

3.50

15% of the hire 
charge, plus 6% 

Insurance 
Premium Tax



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

TREE ESTATE COMMUNITY CENTRE 
(continued)

DEPOSIT AGAINST DAMAGE OR 
BREAKAGES

Hirers using Council Insurance

Hirers with their own insurance

INCOME 
CODE

X2706 8515

VAT
CODE

8

2018/2019

£

300.00

Deposit paid 
will be equal to 

the excess of 
their Policy

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019
£

300.00

Deposit paid will 
be equal to the 
excess of their 

Policy



                                       FEES AND CHARGES 2019-20                             Appendix B (ii)

VALUER’S FEES
(exclusive of VAT)

INCOME
CODE

VAT
CODE

2018/2019

£

PROPOSED
NEW CHARGES

1.4.2019

£
Landlord’s Consent – Minimum Fee
Requests for small land purchases
Wayleaves/easements – Minimum Fee

A6030 9451
A6030 9451
A6030 9657

2
2
2

330.00
325.00
330.00

340.00
335.00
340.00



Appendix B (iii)

COMMUNITY GRANTS 2019/20 

Two grants schemes are funded from the revenue budget:

 Recurring Grants
 Dartford Community Grants

Recurring Grants

The total budget for Recurring Grants is £150,550. Currently, the largest 
single grant is £99,750 to the Citizens’ Advice Bureau (CAB). For the larger 
grants the Council has Service Level Agreements in place which allow for the 
organisations’ performance to be monitored and assessed annually.

The balance of the total budget is mostly made up of grants awarded to offset 
rent payable to Dartford Borough Council. 

Dartford Community Grants

The budget for Dartford Community Grants is £22,120. The Council also 
funds community grants from the Identified Initiative Reserve. 

Summary of Grants available in 2019/20:

General Fund
 Budget

        £

Recurring Grants (including Citizens’ Advice Bureau) 150,550

Dartford Community Grants 22,120

Total 172,670





Appendix B (iv)

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'001
Directorate Budgets 13,810 13,810 13,810 13,810

Known/Likely changes to the base budget
Allowance for inflation 133 269 404 540
Allowance for pay increase 205 414 636 866
Expected Misc Income Adjustments 21 71 155 155
Waste and Street Cleansing 38 99 161 224
Car Park Reduction in Fees 100 100 100 100
Waste Grant/Reserve contribution ceases 0 150 150 150

Revised Directorate Budgets 14,307 14,913 15,416 15,845

Less
Employee vacancy factor (125) (125) (125) (125)
Support to other funds (865) (865) (880) (880)

Net Estimated GF Budget 13,317 13,923 14,411 14,840

Funding
Business Rate Retention (2,995) (3,055) (3,116) (3,178)
Collection Fund surplus -Council Tax (200) (200) (200) (200)

Total Income from Grant, business rates  and CF surplus (3,195) (3,255) (3,316) (3,378)

Net Expenditure 10,122 10,668 11,095 11,462

Council tax base 38,247 38,747 39,247 39,747

Indicative Band D Council Tax £177.75 £177.75 £177.75 £177.75

Amount funded from Council Tax (6,798) (6,887) (6,976) (7,065)

Corporate Review/ Use of Reserves 3,324 3,781 4,119 4,397

Business Rate Retention - at current resource levels (4,998) (5,098) (5,200) (5,304)
Corporate Review/ Use of Reserves

1,321 1,737 2,035 2,271





Appendix B(v)

IDENTIFIED INITIATIVES RESERVE POTENTIAL
PROJECTS 2018/19 2018/19

Actual
2018/19

PO 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Total estimated
spend 2018/19

to 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Town Centre Improvements 125,000 13,654 50,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 550,000

Feasibility studies/works 30,000 5,525 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 150,000

Events 50,000 37,719 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 250,000

Community Projects/Grants 45,000 29,120 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 225,000

Local Development Framework 50,000 6,550 15,000 350000 10,000 10,000 10,000 395,000

Supporting Change 10,000 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 40,000

Air Quality Action Plan Development 0 0 0 35,000 0 0 0 35,000

Elections 15,000 0 0 200,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 245,000

Salute to Youth 25,000 21,736 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 125,000

Litter/Waste 129,618 37,500 129,618 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 329,618

Wifi 32,000 21,870 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 160,000

Small Grants and Contributions 46,000 0 23,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,572 203,572

Revenues and Benefits Grants and Contributions 40,000 0 20,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 42,949 182,949

TOTAL 597,618 173,674 419,618 1,037,000 477,000 477,000 480,520 2,891,138

IRR balance 2,698,187

Funding to identify 192,951





 
Appendix C (i)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT – PROBABLE OUTTURN 
2018/2019

Overall, the Housing Revenue Account is expected to outturn at £1,950,000 
under budget, which will leave it with a balance of £11.69m to be carried into 
2019/20. 

The main variances are as follows:

Rents 

Housing rents are expected to outturn very close to budget this year. The 
variance is less than 0.2% of the total budget. 

Leaseholders’ Charges for Services and Facilities

The latest information shows that the total amount chargeable to leaseholders 
will be £80,000 above budget. This reflects the value of the repair and 
maintenance works that have been undertaken on leaseholders’ properties.

General Management

This budget is predicted to be £161,000 below budget, due to a combination 
of factors including additional solar energy and court cost income, lower than 
budgeted expenditure on premises related insurance, pension costs and 
consultancy fees and salary savings arising from vacancies.

Special Management

This budget grouping is expected to underspend by £87,000. The main 
variances are as follows:

 Community Centres – Temple Hill is predicted to achieve additional 
income of £11,000. Temple Hill and Tree are both projected to 
underspend on staff costs by £24,000 in total. 

 Open Spaces costs are expected to outturn £45,000 under budget, due 
to the current contract costs being lower than budget. 

Housing Services for the Elderly

This budget is expected to underspend by approximately £92,000. The main 
underspends relate to gas and electricity costs which are in total £62,000 
lower than budget, the alarms contract which is £14,000 lower than budget 
and employee costs which are £10,000 below budget.

Responsive Repairs – Voids – underspend of £31,000

The Housing Maintenance Manager expects this budget to underspend by 
just over £31,000, based on current ordering levels. 



 
Appendix C (i)

Transfer from Major Repairs Reserve and Revenue Contribution to 
Capital

Together these are projected to be £1,418,000 under budget. Capital 
expenditure is higher than originally budgeted but less revenue contribution 
will be needed than initially anticipated. This is because £2.681m of pre-
applied funding has been identified within the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR). Application of these funds will leave the HRA CFR equivalent to the 
HRA loanstock. All future funding will require revenue contributions.



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 2018/19 TO 2021/22

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
£ £ £ £ £

Income and Expenditure Account

Income

Rents from houses (19,238,120) (19,274,890) (19,412,004) (19,412,000) (20,144,000)
Other rents (781,010) (795,770) (805,530) (831,000) (856,000)
Tenants' Charges for Services and Facilities (571,610) (596,060) (603,610) (612,190) (621,000)
Leaseholders' Charges for Services and Facilities (200,000) (280,000) (200,000) (80,000) (80,000)

Total Income (20,790,740) (20,946,720) (21,021,144) (20,935,190) (21,701,000)

Expenditure

General management 3,389,870 3,229,300 3,463,050 3,496,710 3,531,040
Special management 665,340 578,645 694,820 705,150 715,680
Housing services for the elderly 670,570 577,530 705,420 712,270 719,260
Planned repairs 1,166,000 1,175,500 1,200,980 1,225,050 1,249,560
General repairs 1,665,650 1,641,210 1,715,620 1,749,940 1,784,940
General repairs - voids 711,300 680,250 732,640 747,300 762,250
Provision for bad debts 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000
Miscellaneous 18,200 21,470 23,240 23,240 23,240

Capital charges:
Depreciation - dwellings/contribution to MRR 3,061,000 3,061,000 3,061,000 3,061,000 3,061,000
Depreciation - non-dwelling assets 131,000 109,570 131,000 131,000 131,000

Total Expenditure 11,678,930 11,274,475 11,927,770 12,051,660 12,177,970

Net cost of services (9,111,810) (9,672,245) (9,093,374) (8,883,530) (9,523,030)

Interest payable 1,438,620 1,438,620 1,344,020 1,257,980 1,163,000
Interest receivable (41,900) (35,040) (41,900) (41,900) (41,900)
Debt repayment 4,443,490 4,443,490 4,443,490 4,443,490 9,443,000

Net operating expenditure (3,271,600) (3,825,175) (3,347,764) (3,223,960) 1,041,070

Appropriations
Transfer from Major Repairs Reserve - non-
dwelling depreciation (131,000) (109,570) (131,000) (131,000) (131,000)
Transfer to General Fund - Rent Rebate
Subsidy Limitation 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue Contribution to Capital 6,597,000 5,179,000 6,737,000 4,778,000 3,272,000

Deficit/(Surplus) for the year 3,194,400 1,244,255 3,258,236 1,423,040 4,182,070

Balance brought forward (12,934,891) (12,934,891) (11,690,636) (8,432,400) (7,009,360)

Balance carried forward (9,740,491) (11,690,636) (8,432,400) (7,009,360) (2,827,290)



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

DETAILED HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
£ £ £ £ £

GENERAL MANAGEMENT SUMMARY

Housing Management 60,210 20,130 69,220 70,940 72,700
Estate Management 857,160 828,590 877,720 890,720 903,970
Performance Review 69,710 62,360 66,870 68,640 70,440
HRA Commercial Properties 15,050 (4,220) 15,050 15,050 15,050
Rents 352,230 316,660 363,560 369,210 374,980
Council House Sales 21,000 22,460 21,000 21,000 21,000
Repairs 590,550 572,850 606,450 617,970 629,720

1,965,910 1,818,830 2,019,870 2,053,530 2,087,860

Pension Costs 330,860 324,560 320,400 320,400 320,400
Employee Related Insurance 120,000 104,800 120,000 120,000 120,000
Support Service Costs 973,100 981,110 1,002,780 1,002,780 1,002,780

1,423,960 1,410,470 1,443,180 1,443,180 1,443,180

3,389,870 3,229,300 3,463,050 3,496,710 3,531,040

SPECIAL HOUSING SERVICES SUMMARY

Homelessness/Lettings 224,870 219,460 244,290 253,750 263,400
Community Centres 52,000 16,595 54,980 55,850 56,730
Open Spaces 388,470 342,590 395,550 395,550 395,550

665,340 578,645 694,820 705,150 715,680
HOUSING SERVICES FOR THE ELDERLY SUMMARY

Central Control (Alarms) 77,870 63,800 77,870 78,240 78,620
Services for the Elderly 592,700 513,730 627,550 634,030 640,640

670,570 577,530 705,420 712,270 719,260

PLANNED MAINTENANCE

Internal Decorations (Elderly Service) 35,000 35,000 36,050 36,780 37,520
Gas Servicing 575,000 540,000 592,250 604,100 616,180
Electric Testing Programme 60,000 55,000 61,800 63,040 64,300
Asbestos Surveys 50,000 0 51,500 52,530 53,580
Communal Areas 175,000 180,000 180,250 183,860 187,540
Disabled Adaptations 80,000 75,000 82,400 84,050 85,730
Sheltered Dwellings 50,000 50,000 51,500 52,530 53,580
Fire Risk Assessments 40,000 125,000 41,200 42,030 42,870
Energy Rating Certificates 5,000 3,000 5,150 5,260 5,370
Legionella Control 75,000 85,000 77,250 78,800 80,380
Asbestos Management Survey/Sample 0 7,500 0 0 0
Solar Panel Maintenance 21,000 20,000 21,630 22,070 22,510

1,166,000 1,175,500 1,200,980 1,225,050 1,249,560



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
Housing Management £ £ £ £ £
Codes: K1501
Spending Officer: Peter Dosad

EXPENDITURE

Employees 116,720 109,450 118,790 120,510 122,270
Supplies & Services 78,980 80,280 85,920 85,920 85,920
Transport 600 0 600 600 600
Miscellaneous 13,910 13,910 13,910 13,910 13,910
GROSS EXPENDITURE 210,210 203,640 219,220 220,940 222,700

INCOME

Court Costs (40,000) (45,000) (40,000) (40,000) (40,000)
Solar Energy Income (110,000) (133,160) (110,000) (110,000) (110,000)
Misc Income 0 (5,350) 0 0 0
GROSS INCOME (150,000) (183,510) (150,000) (150,000) (150,000)

Charge to General Management Summary 60,210 20,130 69,220 70,940 72,700

Estate Management
Code: K1503
Spending Officer: David Edie

EXPENDITURE

Employees 467,240 466,030 505,250 515,340 525,630
Premises 273,080 251,750 276,290 279,200 282,160
Supplies & Services 59,890 59,150 53,930 53,930 53,930
Transport 3,750 2,800 3,750 3,750 3,750
Agency & Contracted Services 8,000 14,680 7,000 7,000 7,000
Miscellaneous 54,000 42,980 40,300 40,300 40,300
GROSS EXPENDITURE 865,960 837,390 886,520 899,520 912,770

INCOME

Universal Credit Delivery Partnership 0 0 0 0 0
Charge to General Fund (8,800) (8,800) (8,800) (8,800) (8,800)
GROSS INCOME (8,800) (8,800) (8,800) (8,800) (8,800)

Charge to General Management Summary 857,160 828,590 877,720 890,720 903,970



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
Performance £ £ £ £ £
Code: K1505
Spending Officer: Jackie Pye

EXPENDITURE

Employees 86,950 86,770 89,040 90,810 92,610
Supplies and Services 2,370 840 2,440 2,440 2,440
Transport 900 260 900 900 900
Miscellaneous 5,000 0 0 0 0
GROSS EXPENDITURE 95,220 87,870 92,380 94,150 95,950
INCOME

Recharge to General Fund (25,510) (25,510) (25,510) (25,510) (25,510)
Miscellaneous Income 0 0 0 0 0
GROSS INCOME (25,510) (25,510) (25,510) (25,510) (25,510)

Charge to General Management Summary 69,710 62,360 66,870 68,640 70,440

HRA Commercial Properties
Code: K1704
Spending Officer: Paul Koster

EXPENDITURE

Premises 50 (4,220) 50 50 50
Supplies, Services & Fees 15,000 0 15,000 15,000 15,000
GROSS EXPENDITURE 15,050 (4,220) 15,050 15,050 15,050

Charge to General Management Summary 15,050 (4,220) 15,050 15,050 15,050

Rents
Code: K2010
Spending Officer: Alison Haines

EXPENDITURE

Employees 275,200 255,110 283,760 289,410 295,180
Supplies and Services 59,010 52,060 61,780 61,780 61,780
Transport 1,020 1,090 1,020 1,020 1,020
Agency & Contracted Services 12,000 8,400 12,000 12,000 12,000
Miscellaneous 5,000 0 5,000 5,000 5,000
GROSS EXPENDITURE 352,230 316,660 363,560 369,210 374,980

Charge to General Management Summary 352,230 316,660 363,560 369,210 374,980

Council House Sales
Code: K2515
Spending Officer: Alison Haines

EXPENDITURE

Supplies and Services 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Support Services 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000
Agency & Contracted Services 7,000 8,460 7,000 7,000 7,000
GROSS EXPENDITURE 21,000 22,460 21,000 21,000 21,000

Charge to General Management Summary 21,000 22,460 21,000 21,000 21,000



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

Repairs 2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
Code: K4030 £ £ £ £ £
Spending Officer:Peter Dosad 

EXPENDITURE

Employees 568,920 553,970 584,500 596,020 607,770
Supplies and Services 9,080 8,290 9,400 9,400 9,400
Transport 12,550 10,590 12,550 12,550 12,550
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0
GROSS EXPENDITURE 590,550 572,850 606,450 617,970 629,720

Charge to General Management Summary 590,550 572,850 606,450 617,970 629,720

Homelessness/Lettings
Code: K1502
Spending Officer: Marie Gerald

EXPENDITURE

Employees 369,220 428,400 474,200 483,660 493,310
Supplies & Services 7,170 9,280 9,510 9,510 9,510
Transport 1,250 2,060 1,250 1,250 1,250
Miscellaneous 42,000 34,660 42,000 42,000 42,000
GROSS EXPENDITURE 419,640 474,400 526,960 536,420 546,070

INCOME

Charge to General Fund/External Funding (194,770) (254,940) (282,670) (282,670) (282,670)
GROSS INCOME (194,770) (254,940) (282,670) (282,670) (282,670)

Charge to Special Housing Services Summary 224,870 219,460 244,290 253,750 263,400



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
Community Centres £ £ £ £ £
Code: K1701, K1702
Spending Officer: Alison Haines

EXPENDITURE

Employees 60,140 34,330 62,040 62,910 63,790
Premises 36,320 30,855 37,400 37,400 37,400
Supplies and Services 2,250 1,600 2,250 2,250 2,250
Agency and Contracted Services 1,290 900 1,290 1,290 1,290
GROSS EXPENDITURE 100,000 67,685 102,980 103,850 104,730

INCOME

Fees and Charges (45,500) (48,940) (45,500) (45,500) (45,500)
Insurance Costs (2,500) (2,150) (2,500) (2,500) (2,500)
GROSS INCOME (48,000) (51,090) (48,000) (48,000) (48,000)

Charge to Special Housing Services Summary 52,000 16,595 54,980 55,850 56,730

Open Spaces
Code: K1703
Spending Officer: Dave Thomas

EXPENDITURE

Premises 367,220 322,190 375,550 375,550 375,550
Special - Disposal of Illegal Dumping 21,250 20,400 20,000 20,000 20,000
GROSS EXPENDITURE 388,470 342,590 395,550 395,550 395,550

Charge to Special Housing Services Summary 388,470 342,590 395,550 395,550 395,550

Alarms
Code: K1801
Spending Officer: Alison Haines

EXPENDITURE

Supplies and Services 31,490 22,420 31,490 31,490 31,490
Agency and Contracted Services 48,500 43,500 48,500 48,870 49,250
GROSS EXPENDITURE 79,990 65,920 79,990 80,360 80,740

INCOME

Contribution from Users (2,120) (2,120) (2,120) (2,120) (2,120)
GROSS INCOME (2,120) (2,120) (2,120) (2,120) (2,120)

Charge to Housing Services for the Elderly Summary 77,870 63,800 77,870 78,240 78,620



APPENDIX  C (ii) 
 

CURRENT
BUDGET

PROJECTED
OUTTURN BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
Services for the Elderly £ £ £ £ £
Code: K1802
Spending Officer: Alison Haines

EXPENDITURE

Employees 303,320 293,730 334,490 340,970 347,580
Premises 250,960 188,990 254,650 254,650 254,650
Supplies and Services 32,490 26,830 32,480 32,480 32,480
Transport 6,350 4,800 6,350 6,350 6,350
Other Contractors 0 0 0 0 0
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0
GROSS EXPENDITURE 593,120 514,350 627,970 634,450 641,060

INCOME

Income (420) (620) (420) (420) (420)
GROSS INCOME (420) (620) (420) (420) (420)

Charge to Housing Services for the Elderly Summary 592,700 513,730 627,550 634,030 640,640





Appendix C (iii) 

 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT FEES AND CHARGES

HOUSING SCHEMES
Present Proposed

Use of Guest Room £14.50 inclusive of 
VAT per night

£15.00 inclusive 
of VAT per night

GARAGE RENTS
Council Tenants £14.00 per week, per 

48 week rent year
Including GM Service 
charge of £1.00 per 
week

£14.50 per week, 
per 48 week rent 
year
Including GM 
Service charge of 
£1.00 per week

Non-Council Tenants £16.50 inclusive of 
VAT per week, per 
48 week rent year
Including GM Service 
charge of £1.00 per 
week

£17.20 inclusive 
of VAT per week, 
per 48 week rent 
year
Including GM 
Service charge of 
£1.00 per week 
(no VAT)

PARKING SPACES
Council Tenants £10.00 per week, per 

48 week rent year 
£10.50 per week, 
per 48 week rent 
year 

Non-Council Tenants £12.00 inclusive of 
VAT per week, per 
48 week rent year

£12.60 inclusive 
of VAT per week, 
per 48 week rent 
year



Appendix C (iii) 

 

SERVICE CHARGES

ALL PROPERTIES 

The charges made are for communal lighting, Communal Heating, communal 
cleaning, window cleaning, laundry, security/entryphones, and grounds 
maintenance. 

The charges below are the averages for the properties in each size category 
that will incur a service charge. Individual service charges will differ. Service 
charges reflect the actual cost of services and can go up or down.

Property type Average service 
charge (based on a 
48 week rent year) 

2018/2019

Average service 
charge (based on a 
48 week rent year) 

2019/2020

General Needs: £ £
Bedsit 3.41 3.58

1 bedroom 2.64 2.52

2 bedroom 1.95 1.89

3 bedroom 1.03 1.03

4 bedroom 1.28 1.27

6 bedroom 0.58 0.58

Housing Schemes* 10.29 10.08

*Excluding Enhanced Housing Management charge



Appendix C (iii) 

 

HOUSING SCHEME PROPERTIES

Service Charges:
All residents of housing schemes are liable to pay a service charge. These are 
detailed in the table below. 

Individual Heating Charges:
In addition to the service charges listed above, some residents of housing 
schemes are liable to pay for their fuel as not every property has its own 
meter. These heating charges are shown in the table below. 

Supported 
Housing Scheme

Ward Service charges
(based on a 48 
week rent year)

Heating charge
(based on a 48 
week rent year)

£ £
Crusader Court Joyce Green 9.51 6.00
Mill Court Sutton-at-

Hone and 
Hawley

8.21 4.29

Farrell Court Wilmington 6.27 3.48
Manor Farm Swanscombe 0.74 N/A
Stow Court Stone 8.37 4.17*
Lenderyou Court Princes 8.44 5.05
Elizabeth Court Bean and 

Darenth
8.67 N/A

Warren Court Princes 4.57 5.19*
The Homestead West Hill 6.29 N/A
Alamein Gardens Stone 4.96 N/A
Templars Court Joyce Green 7.71 4.67
Thatcher Court Town 8.31 4.24
Hilltop Gardens Joyce Green 3.66 N/A
Wardona Court Swanscombe 6.54 4.87
*Where applicable

Enhanced Housing Management Charge

A Housing Management charge of £12.29 will apply for Housing Scheme 
Properties. 





APPENDIX D (i)

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND BUDGETS - HOUSING 2018/19 to 2021/22

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
RESOURCES £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Current
Budget

Probable
Outturn

Estimated
Resources

Estimated
Resources

Estimated
Resources

Brought forward resources:
  HRA 0 0 0 0 0
  1-4-1 Receipts 4,693 4,693 4,211 3,626 3,023
  Capital Financing Requirement 0 2,681 0 0 0
In-Year Receipts:
Major Repairs Reserve 3,061 3,061 3,061 3,061 3,061
Contribution from Revenue 7,103 5,179 6,737 4,778 3,272
New Capital Receipts 0 255 0 0 0
Grants and Contributions 0 0 500 500 0
RTB Retention Scheme: 1-4-1 receipts 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

15,857 16,869 15,508 12,965 10,356

Funding sources
Major Repairs Reserve 3,061 3,061 3,061 3,061 3,061
Contribution from Revenue 7,103 5,179 6,737 4,778 3,272
New Capital Receipts 0 255 0 0 0
RTB Retention Scheme: 1-4-1 receipts 1,167 1,482 1,585 1,603 743
Grants and Contributions 0 0 500 500 0
Capital Financing Requirement 0 2,681 0 0 0

Total Expenditure to be funded 11,331 12,658 11,883 9,942 7,076

Resources to be carried forward 4,526 4,211 3,626 3,023 3,280

CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND BUDGET
2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Current
Budget

Probable
Outturn Budget Budget Budget

COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECTS

Disabled Adaptations 250 250 250 250 250

Decent Homes Works:

Central Heating Renewals 914 750 750 750 750
Rewiring 1,000 1,000 880 880 500
Asbestos Removal 75 150 175 75 75
Rising Main Replacement 25 15 25 25 25
Door Replacements 100 100 60 75 100
Kitchen and Bathrooms 1,100 1,100 1,030 900 1,100
External Wall Rendering 1,490 1,560 1,465 0 0
Insulation Upgrades 0 16
Door Entry Systems 75 125 75 0 0
Fascia /Soffit Replacements 307 307 35 100 100
Roof Renewal 1,090 1,090 115 495 650
Roof Tanks/Water Mains Supply 50 50 50 50 50
Communal Areas 705 705 1,065 900 900
External Chimneys 35 18 25 25 25
Lift Replacement 25 25 50 25 25
Housing IT Upgrade 0 0 300 0 0

Supported Housing 150 150 200 0 0

Major Repairs 50 30 50 50 50

Other Projects:
New Homes 3,890 4,941 5,282 5,342 2,476

Purchase of New HRA Property 0 276 0 0 0

TOTAL : HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
PROJECTS

11,331 12,658 11,882 9,942 7,076





APPENDIX D (ii)

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND BUDGETS - GENERAL FUND 2018/19 to 2021/22

2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
RESOURCES £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Budgeted
Resources

Probable
Outturn

Estimated
Resources

Estimated
Resources

Estimated
Resources

Brought Forward Resources
Usable Receipts 5,440 7,465 6,927 136 695
Grants and Contributions 348 384 490 303 303
Community Infrastructure Levy 2,581 3,479 4,479 3,979 3,779
In Year Resources
Usable In Year Receipts - unrestricted Right To Buy receipts 500 500 500 500 500
Usable In Year Receipts - other capital receipts 500 3,110 2,000 1,000 1,000

Grants and Contributions 4,654 1,186 7,408 3,383 1,955
Community Infrastructure Levy 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Potential Capital Receipts/Use of Reserves/Borrowing 2,930 0 0 0

17,952 17,124 22,804 10,301 9,232
Funding sources
Usable Receipts 9,798 4,148 9,291 941 390
Grants and Contributions 4,654 1,080 7,595 3,383 1,955
Community Infrastructure Levy 200 0 0 1,500 1,200 1,200
Total Expenditure to be funded 14,652 5,228 18,386 5,524 3,545

Resources to be carried forward 3,300 11,896 4,418 4,777 5,687

CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND BUDGET
2018/2019 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Budget
Probable

Outturn Budget Budget Budget

Acacia Hall 4,310 526 4,767 0 0
IT Equipment 112 112 123 80 80
The Orchard Theatre 25 25 490 30 30
Other Corporate Properties 30 79 30 30 30
Town Centre Heritage Scheme 200 1 0 0 0
Central Park 75 50 0 0 0
Leisure and Open Spaces 0 0 750 250 0
Stone Lodge 3,690 2,592 2,340 150 250
Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements 4,000 703 6,925 2,900 1,472
Fairfield Improvement Works 311 10 85 201 0
Cemetery Storage 0 0 15 0 0
Civic Centre Refurbishment:

Internal Repairs and Improvements 626 330 691 200 0
Essential External Repairs 454 366 0 0 0

Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure 200 0 1,500 1,200 1,200
Pay and Display Replacement Machines 55 55 0 0 0
Green Deal - Residual 0 2 0 0 0

Housing projects:

Disabled Facilities Grants 545 358 670 483 483
Private Sector Renewal 19 19 0 0

Total: General Projects 14,652 5,228 18,386 5,524 3,545





Appendix D(iii)

Capital Strategy Report 2019/20

Dartford Borough Council

Introduction

This capital strategy is a new report for 2019/20, bringing together information previously published 
elsewhere. The strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local public services along with an overview 
of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability. It has been 
written in an accessible style to enhance members’ understanding of these sometimes technical areas.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property or vehicles that 
will be used for more than one year. In local government this includes spending on assets owned by 
other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies enabling them to buy assets. The Council has some 
limited discretion on what counts as capital expenditure, for example assets costing below £10,000 are 
not capitalised and are charged to revenue in year.

 For details of the Council’s policy on capitalisation, see the policy as outlined in the most recent 
statement of accounts: [link]

In 2019/20, the Council is planning capital expenditure of £29.5m as summarised below:

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure in £ millions

2017/18 
actual

2018/19 
forecast

2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

General Fund services 2.676 5.228 18.836 5.524 3.545

Council housing (HRA) 8.972 12.658 11.882 9.943 7.076

TOTAL 11.648 17.886 30.268 15.466 10.621

The main General Fund capital projects include building a new community facility at Stone Lodge and, 
works to the Acacia Hall site and Town Centre Improvement works.

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced account which ensures that council housing 
does not subsidise, or is itself subsidised, by other local services. HRA capital expenditure is therefore 
recorded separately, and includes the building of several new homes over the forecast period. There is 
also a significant budget to refurbish existing housing stock.

Governance: Service managers bid to include projects in the Council’s capital programme. Bids are 
collated by Financial Services and added to continuing projects. Each Strategic Director reviews the 
bids and puts them forward to be assessed by the Managing Director who assesses all bids based on 
a comparison of priorities against available finances/financing costs in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council. Recommendations to the Council are then made under delegated authority or via Cabinet. 
The final capital programme is then presented to Council in February each year for total budget 
approvals.

 For full details of the Council’s capital programme are available elsewhere in the Budget report.

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts


Appendix D(iii)

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and other 
contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or debt (borrowing, 
leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Table 2: Capital financing in £ millions

2017/18 
actual

2018/19 
forecast

2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

External sources 0.598 1.080 9.595 5.083 3.155

Contribution From 
Revenue/Reserves 8.061 8.240 9.798 7.839 6.333

Capital Receipts 2.989 5.885 10.875 2.544 1.113

Debt/Capital Financing 
Requirement 0 2.681 0 0 0

TOTAL 11.648 17.886 30.268 15.466 10.621

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and so is therefore 
replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is known as minimum revenue 
provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets (known as capital receipts) may be 
used to replace debt finance. In 2018/19 it is now planned to use capacity within the HRA Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) to fund £2.681m of capital expenditure. This will result in matching the 
HRA CFR to the outstanding debt and will improve the business plan position so that the maturity loan 
of £5m payable in 2022 is funded and new build expenditure can continue. 

Planned MRP (voluntary MRP) and use of capital receipts are as follows:

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance in £ millions

2017/18 
actual

2018/19 
forecast

2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

Own resources 4.443 8,273 4,443 4,443 9,443

 The Council’s full minimum revenue provision statement is appendix A to this report

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the capital financing 
requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces with MRP 
and capital receipts used to replace debt. The CFR is expected to decrease by £4.443m during 2019/20. 
Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows:

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions

31.3.2018 
actual

31.3.2019 
forecast

31.3.2020 
forecast

31.3.2021 
forecast

31.3.2022 
forecast

General Fund services 3,830 0 0 0 0

Council housing (HRA) 57.614 55,852 51,409 46,966 37,523

Capital investments 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL CFR 61.444 55,852 51,409 46,966 37,523



Appendix D(iii)

Asset management: The way in which the Council uses and manages its physical land and buildings’ 
asset base is central to its ability to support best value service delivery and to sustain and support its 
corporate objectives as set out in the Corporate Plan and other strategies. To ensure that capital assets 
continue to be of long-term use, the Council is developing a revised asset management strategy which 
will state and provide a level of detail of the main asset management aims. Currently, the headline 
strategical intent  by the different classes of asset held are as follows:

Operational Estate

The operational estate strategy is to maintain the current operational estate whilst making the most of 
opportunities to rationalise use of space and to generate income. Development or changes to assets 
will also be considered in respect of these and other corporate objectives. Any potential longer-term 
relocation of the Civic Centre and the options available to the Council will be considered in the light of 
accessibility, ease of access and location.

Investment Properties

The Council has relatively few investment properties, whose value at 31st March 2018 was £13.8m. 
These are discussed in the investment strategy in appendix D (iv).   These are non-residential property 
assets, which the Council has held for several years, from which the Council derives revenue income 
in the form of rent or is  holding the asset with a view to future capital appreciation. The Council’s 
strategy in relation to these properties will be one that seeks to maximise rental income/yield wherever 
possible, whilst balancing the Council’s desire to support community uses. As a general principle, the 
Council wishes to maintain and enhance the generation of long term revenue streams and where 
appropriate, by retaining freeholds and the income generating property portfolio.

Sports and Leisure Facilities (leased to third parties) 

Part of the Council’s Strategy for sports and leisure activities is based on the ethos of providing an 
environment conducive to physical activity centred on leisure centres, wide ranging leisure facilities and 
parks/open spaces which seek to encourage participation from people of all ages.

Community Property 

The Council’s strategic approach to its community property portfolio is:

 To generate a commercial yield on its commercial property portfolio but this may be subsidised 
where an organisation is clearly supporting the Council’s objectives or assisting with service 
delivery;

 To prioritise utilisation of buildings and identifying opportunities for organisations to share or 
co-locate;

 To explore through the ‘community right to nominate/bid’ procedure, how community assets 
can be used as a tool for encouraging community engagement.  

Green/Open Spaces Property 

The Council has made significant investments in parks and open spaces, in particular Central Park and 
will be making further significant investments in opening up areas such as Acacia Hall and land at Stone 
Lodge. There is currently a general policy of maintaining parks and open spaces and protecting public 
open space.

Housing 

The Council has focussed its housing strategy agenda at a strategic level on the Three Strands 
Approach, which seeks to protect and enhance the Borough whilst recognising the need to 
accommodate growth where appropriate, particularly as a means of improving less successful parts of 
the Borough. 



Appendix D(iii)

The Council’s property portfolio can play a role in achieving the Core Strategy’s priorities by creating 
opportunities to develop new housing supply of all tenures, making land available for the construction 
of new homes and by using an understanding of the Borough to improve the way service delivery 
connects with communities at a local level. 

The Housing stock also generates significant rental income which is reinvested into the stock to ensure 
that the quality of accommodation offered  is of a high standard and meets the needs of the tenants 
and contributes  towards the Council’s wider strategic objectives around health and well-being.

Asset disposals: When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known 
as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt. The Council is currently also permitted 
to spend capital receipts on service transformation projects until 2021/22. Repayments of capital grants, 
loans and investments also generate capital receipts. The Council anticipates to receive £2.5m of net 
capital receipts in the coming financial year as follows:

Table 5: Capital receipts in £ millions

2017/18 
actual

2018/19 
forecast

2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

Asset sales 2.25 0.81 0.30 0.30 0.30

Asset Sales (restricted 
for 141 Sales) 

1.60 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

Discounted Sales 
Scheme

2.82 2.50 1.70 0.70 0.70

TOTAL 6.67 4.11 2.50 1.50 1.50

 There are no planned disposals as such included in the figures above, however the sale of a 
section of Stone Lodge is expected to progress subject to conditions precedent. The Council 
also sells council houses under right to buy and considers selling minor land strips when 
approached to do so. 

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available to meet 
the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. Surplus cash is invested until 
required, while a shortage of cash will be met by borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or 
overdrafts in the bank current account. The Council is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue 
income is received before it is spent and funding is typically held before capital expenditure with the 
exception of grant funded projects. It is worth noting that some cash held by the Council is due to go to 
third parties such as income held for the Bridge Development and funds for distribution as a result of 
Council Tax or NNDR collection Fund Surplus. This income will be invested in the short term.

Due to decisions taken in the past, as at 31st December 2018 the Council has £58.07m borrowing at an 
average interest rate of 2.46% and £119.37m treasury investments generating an average income to 
31st December 2018 of 2.02% (non annualised).

Borrowing strategy: The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs over the 
period for which the funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-
term plans change is a secondary objective.   



Appendix D(iii)

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt are shown below, compared with the capital 
financing requirement (see above). 

Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement in £ millions

31.3.2018 
actual

31.3.2019 
forecast

31.3.2020 
budget

31.3.2021 
budget

31.3.2022 
budget

Debt 60.295 55.852 51,409 46,966 37,523

Capital Financing 
Requirement

61.444 55.852 51,409 46,966 37,523

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except in the 
short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council expects to comply with this both in the short and 
medium term. 

Affordable borrowing limit: The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also 
termed the authorised limit for external debt). In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit.

Table 7: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m

2018/19 
limit

2019/20 
limit

2020/21 
limit

2021/22 
limit

Authorised limit – borrowing
Authorised limit – PFI and leases
Authorised limit – total external debt

120
0

120

120
20

140

120
20

140

120
20

140

Operational boundary – borrowing
Operational boundary – PFI and leases
Operational boundary – total external debt

100
0

100

100
15

115

100
15

115

100
15

115

 Further details on borrowing are in section 4 of the treasury management strategy in appendix 
D (v)

Investment strategy: Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again. 
Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered to be part 
of treasury management. 

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield, that is to 
focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term 
is invested securely, for example with the government, other local authorities or selected high-quality 
banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, 
including in bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns 
below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an 
external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the Council may 
request its money back at short notice.



Appendix D(iii)

Table 8: Treasury management investments in £millions

31.3.2018 
actual

31.3.2019 
forecast

31.3.2020 
forecast

31.3.2021 
forecast

31.3.2022 
forecast

Near-term investments 54.23 39.71 28.15 25.73 20.92

Longer-term investments 43.14 64.66 64.66 64.66 64.66

TOTAL 97.38 104.37 92.81 90.39 85.58

Further details on treasury investments are in the treasury management strategy -see appendix 
D(v)

Governance: Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are 
therefore delegated to the Managing Director, the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and staff, who 
must act in line with the treasury management strategy approved by Council. Semi-annual reports on 
treasury management activity are presented to Cabinet. The Treasury Management Panel is 
responsible for scrutinising treasury management decisions and meets a minimum of three times per 
year.

Investments for Service Purposes

The Council can make investments to assist local public services. These may generate more risk than 
with treasury investments but such risk may be tolerated due to meeting service objectives. 

Commercial Activities/Direct Commercial Property Investments

There is no proposal for any direct investment in commercial property. Any such opportunities or future 
policies will be recommended to Cabinet or exercised within delegated powers. It is the view of the 
Council that commercial opportunities are best undertaken in synergy with the priorities of the Council. 
Additionally, commercial property investment risks are often best mitigated through a pooled tradable 
investment vehicle. 

Liabilities

In addition to debt of £60m detailed above, the Council is committed to making future payments to cover 
its pension fund deficit (valued at £19.8m on an ongoing funding basis). It has also set aside £6.7m to 
cover the risk of business rate appeals. 

Governance: Decisions on incurring new discretional liabilities are taken at an appropriate level in 
accordance with the relevant delegations. The risk of liabilities crystallising and requiring payment is 
monitored by the Financial Services team and reported to Cabinet alongside financial monitoring as 
necessary.

 Further details on liabilities and guarantees are shown in the statement of accounts [link]

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable on loans 
and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The net annual charge 
is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from 
Council Tax, business rates and general government grants.

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/council-budgets-and-spending/statement-of-accounts


Appendix D(iii)

Table 9: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

Proportion of net 
revenue stream:

2017/18 
actual

2018/19 
forecast

2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

General Fund -11.82% -11.20% -5.55% -5.51% -5.47%

Housing Revenue 
Account 7.29% 6.85% 6.39% 6.00% 5.36%

The General Fund ratio is negative because revenues exceed financing costs

Sustainability: Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 
budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for several years into the 
future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital programme is prudent, affordable 
and sustainable due to the level of resources identified, current investment income levels and the longer 
term ability to influence income levels. 

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with 
responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions. For example, the 
Managing Director, the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and the Financial Services Manager are 
all qualified accountants with significant experience, The Council also use relevant property and 
commercial expertise as required via its contract with Gen2. The Council  pays for staff to study towards 
relevant professional qualifications including CIPFA and to undertake continuing professional 
development and the Council’s treasury advisors also provide regular updates and courses. 

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of external advisers 
and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited as 
treasury management advisers, Gen2 as property consultant, Richard Robson as property valuers and 
other property consultants/project managers. This approach is more cost effective than employing such 
staff directly, and ensures that the Council has access to knowledge and skills commensurate with its 
risk appetite.



Appendix D(iii)

Appendix A – Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20

Where the Authority finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources to repay that debt 
in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for the repayment of debt is known as 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although there has been no statutory minimum since 2008. The 
Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government’s (MHCLG) Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision most 
recently issued in 2012.

The broad aim of the MHCLG Guidance is to ensure that debt is repaid over a period that is either 
reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case 
of borrowing supported by Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the 
period implicit in the determination of that grant.

The MHCLG Guidance requires the Authority to approve an Annual MRP Statement each year, and 
recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of MRP 

For capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, MRP will be determined as 4% of the Capital 
Financing Requirement in respect of that expenditure.  

For assets acquired by finance leases or the Private Finance Initiative MRP will be determined as being 
equal to the element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the balance sheet liability.

No MRP is chargeable in respect of assets held within the Housing Revenue Account. However 
Voluntary Revenue Provision in respect of the £86.953m payment made in 2012 to exit the Housing 
Revenue Account subsidy system will be determined as being equal to the principal amount repaid on 
the loans borrowed to finance that payment. 

Should the CFR increase, due to the use of internal or external borrowing, the appropriate MRP policy 
will be considered at that time, and it is likely that it will match the asset life. Capital expenditure incurred 
during 2019/20 will not be subject to any MRP charge, if applicable, until 2020/21.



Appendix D(iv)

INVESTMENT STRATEGY REPORT 2019/2020

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Treasury Management Investments

3. Service investments: Loans

4. Commercial investments: Property

5. Capacity, skills and culture

6. Investment indicators



Appendix D(iv)

1. Introduction

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

 Because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 
management investments)

 To support local services (service investments)

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is 
the main purpose)

The investment strategy is a new report for 2019/20, meeting the requirements of 
statutory guidance issued by the government in January 2018, and focuses on the 
second and third of these categories.

2. Treasury Management Investments

The Council typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) 
before it pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices).  It also 
holds reserves for future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of the 
County Council, fire authority, police and central government.  These activities 
lead to a cash surplus which is invested in accordance with guidance from the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  The balance of treasury 
management investments is expected to fluctuate between £98m and £128m 
during the 2019/20 financial year.

Contribution: The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of 
the Council is to support effective treasury management activities.

Further details: Full details of the Council’s policies and its plan for 2019/20 for 
treasury management investments are covered in a separate document, the 
Treasury Management Strategy available at appendix d (v).

3. Service Investments: Loans

The Council does not currently make any investments with local businesses, 
residents, housing associations or charities but may do so in the future.  The 
Council does make loans to employees for the purchase of cars, season tickets 
and bicycles (under the cycle to work scheme) and the total of these is shown in 
Table 1 below.  

Table 1:  Service loans

Category of borrower 31.3.2018 actual 2019/20



Appendix D(iv)

Balance 
owing
£’000

Loss 
allowance

£’000

Net figure in 
accounts

£’000

Approved 
limit

£’000
Loans to employees 69 0 69 250

Accounting standards require the Council to set aside loss allowance for loans, 
reflecting the likelihood of non-payment.  The figures for loans in the Council’s 
statement of accounts from 2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this loss 
allowance.  However, the Council makes every reasonable effort to collect the full 
sum lent and has appropriate credit control arrangements in place to recover 
overdue repayments.

Risk assessment: The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering into and 
whilst holding service loans.  The Council considers service loans to employees as 
low risk for the following reasons:.

 Employees in their probationary period and those already receiving a car 
allowance are not eligible.

 Car loans cannot exceed the purchase price of the vehicle and for second hand 
cars a certificate is obtained as to the reasonableness of the price. 

 Repayments are deducted directly from salary payments each month, reducing 
the risk of non-payment.  Any outstanding loan is collected in full prior to an 
employee leaving together with accrued interest to that date.  

 Employees receiving a car loan are required to pay an annual premium for a 
credit guarantee insurance which covers the performance of the Officer’s 
obligations under this scheme.

 Employee season ticket loans and cycle to work scheme loans are low value 
loans which are collected monthly from the employee through the payroll.

 Appropriate risk assessment and mitigation measures will be undertaken in the 
event the Council makes other loans for service purposes.



Appendix D(iv)

4. Commercial Investments: Property

The Council classes some of its properties as investment properties.  The majority 
of these properties were purchased many years ago and not originally as 
commercial investments, but for the wider benefits of the Borough, including 
improving the area and for economic development.  The reason for the Council 
continuing to hold these properties is partially to make a profit and to receive 
income.  These properties therefore fall under the definition of commercial 
investments and are detailed below.

Property 31.03.2017 31.03.2018 actual 31.03.2019 expected
Fair value 

£’000’s
Unrealised 
Gains or 
(losses)
£’000’s

Value in 
accounts 
£’000’s

Income 
Received 
£’000’s

Unrealised 
Gains or 
(losses) 
£’000’s

Value in 
accounts 
£’000’s

Income 
Receivable 

£’000’s

59-65 Hythe 
Street (Greek 
Taverna)

334 37 371 34 0 371 34

The Bridge 
development

6,141 1,562 7,703 0 0 4,723 0

Crown 
buildings (land 
only)

700 47 747 0 0 747 0

146 Lowfield 
Street (land 
only)

74 0 74 0 0 74 0

16 Market 
Street

98 0 98 9 0 98 9

Orchard 
Shopping 
Centre (land 
only)

2,560 0 2,560 215 0 2,560 215

37 Essex 
Road 
(Nightclub – 
land only)

233 33 266 0 0 266 0

TOTAL 10,140 1,679 11,819 258 0 8,839 258

All of the above properties have been held by the Council for several years.  The 
Council has no plans at this time for any new direct investment in commercial 
property. Any such opportunities or future policies will be recommended to Cabinet 
or exercised within delegated powers and, being capital expenditure, will be 
approved as part of the capital programme. It is the view of the Council that 
commercial opportunities are best undertaken in synergy with the priorities of the 
Council. 

Security: In accordance with government guidance, the Council considers a 
property investment to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or higher than its 
purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.  For those properties that 



Appendix D(iv)

have been held for some time or the site is significantly different from that originally 
purchased, the Council monitors the fair value fluctuations ensuring these do not 
drop significantly.  The investment is considered secure if fair value remains no 
less than 95% of initial fair value over a three year period.  Any losses will be 
reported in further updates of the strategy.

A fair value assessment of the Council’s investment property portfolio has been 
made within the past twelve months, and the underlying assets provide security for 
capital investment.  

Risk assessment:  The current list of commercial properties together with their 
rental income and any specific risks are reported to the Treasury Management 
Panel which meets a minimum of three times per year. 

Appropriate risk assessment and mitigation measures will be undertaken in the 
event the Council decides to make any commercial property investments.

Liquidity:  Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to 
sell and convert to cash at short notice, and can take a considerable period to sell 
in certain market conditions.  The Council does not foresee a need to sell any of 
these properties in the short term.  The Council has other more liquid assets it 
could sell should the need arise.   The Council monitors its longer term financial 
position carefully and should there be an indication that the Council requires the 
return of the capital then the asset would be marketed with significant lead in time.

5. Capacity, skills and culture

The Council ensures that all of its staff responsible for making treasury 
management investment decisions are fully trained.  All staff attend regular 
investment training sessions and workshops.  The Council holds regular meetings 
with its treasury advisers Arlingclose and all staff responsible for making 
investment decisions have to attend an annual investment review meeting with 
them.  All staff hold relevant accounting qualifications.    

The Council does not make significant commercial property investment decisions 
very often.  When an opportunity arises or an investment is considered, the Council 
ensures that it engages with experts and utilises the skills of those Officers with 
appropriate experience and qualifications.  Any officers or members that need to 
take decisions regarding a commercial property investment, but that do not hold 
the required skills, will be presented with the information regarding the investment 
in layman terms by a suitably qualified person or persons.

Investments in property are approved by Cabinet or in line with the Council’s 
scheme of delegations.



Appendix D(iv)

The Treasury Management Panel is responsible for the scrutiny of all investment 
decisions. All Council Members that are on this panel receive training at the 
beginning of their term and at regular intervals during their appointment.

6. Investment Indicators

The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 
and the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its 
investment decisions.

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to 
investments. 

Total investment exposure 31.03.2018 
Actual
£’000’s

31.03.2019 
Forecast
£’000’s

31.03.2020 
Forecast
£’000’s

Treasury management investments 97,374 104,370 92,810
Service investments: Loans 69 91 91
Commercial investments: Property 11,819 8,839 6,339
Total Investments 109,262 113,300 99,240

How investments are funded: 

Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are 
funded.  Since the Council does not normally associate particular assets with 
particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with.  There are no 
investments that can be described as funded by borrowing.  The Council’s 
investments are a result of its usable reserves, working capital surplus and income 
received in advance of expenditure.

Rate of return received:  For treasury management investments the indicator 
shows the income received less the associated costs, as a proportion of the sum 
initially invested.  It includes just the income return.  

For service investments the indicator shows the average rate of return on the 
current loans portfolio.

For commercial investments this indicator shows the investment income received 
as a proportion of the fair value at the start of the period but only for those 
properties held for income return.  Note that due to the complex local government 
accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the revenue 
account in the year they are incurred.



Appendix D(iv)

Table 
Investment income return 2017/18 

Actual
%

2018/19 
Forecast

%

2019/20 
Forecast

%
Treasury management investments 
(income return) 

1.60 2.02 2.00

Service investments: Loans 1.36 1.40 1.40
Commercial investments: Property 8.62 8.52 8.42

Treasury management investments include pooled fund investments whose 
valuation changes.  Only the income return is recorded in the above table.

Vacancy Levels:  All property investments that are held for rental occupation are 
fully tenanted.





Appendix D(v)

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 2019/2020

Contents

1. Introduction

2. External Context 

3. Local Context

4. The Borrowing Strategy

5. Investment Strategy

6. Treasury Management Indicators

7. Related Matters

8. Financial Implications

9. Other options considered

Appendices

Appendix A Existing Investment and Debt Portfolio Position

Appendix B  Economic and Interest Rate Forecast (Arlingclose)



Appendix D(v)

1. Introduction

1.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 
borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The Council has 
borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to 
financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management. 

1.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA 
Code) which requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy 
before the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal 
obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA 
Code.

1.3 Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered 
in a different report, the Investment Strategy – see appendix D (iv).

2. External Context 

2.1 Economic background: The UK’s progress in negotiating its exit from the 
European Union, together with its future trading arrangements, will continue to 
be a major influence on the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 
2019/20.

2.2 UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for October was up 2.4% year/year, slightly 
below the consensus forecast and broadly in line with the Bank of England’s 
November Inflation Report.  The most recent labour market data for October 
2018 showed the unemployment rate edged up slightly to 4.1% while the 
employment rate of 75.7% was the joint highest on record. The 3-month 
average annual growth rate for pay excluding bonuses was 3.3% as wages 
continue to rise steadily and provide some pull on general inflation.  Adjusted 
for inflation, real wages grew by 1.0%, a level still likely to have little effect on 
consumer spending.

2.3 The rise in quarterly GDP growth to 0.6% in Q3 from 0.4% in the previous 
quarter was due to weather-related factors boosting overall household 
consumption and construction activity over the summer following the weather-
related weakness in Q1.  At 1.5%, annual GDP growth continues to remain 
below trend.  Looking ahead, the Bank of England, in its November Inflation 
Report, expects GDP growth to average around 1.75% over the forecast 
horizon, providing the UK’s exit from the EU is relatively smooth.



Appendix D(v)

2.4 Following the Bank of England’s decision to increase Bank Rate to 0.75% in 
August 2018, no changes to monetary policy have been made since.  However, 
the Bank expects that should the economy continue to evolve in line with its 
November forecast, further increases in Bank Rate will be required to return 
inflation to the 2% target.  The Monetary Policy Committee continues to 
reiterate that any further increases will be at a gradual pace and limited in 
extent.

2.5 While US growth has slowed over 2018, the economy continues to perform 
robustly.  The US Federal Reserve continued its tightening bias throughout 
2018, pushing rates to the current 2.5% in December.  Expectations are fading 
that the further hikes previously expected in 2019 will materialise as concerns 
over trade wars drag on economic activity.

2.6 Credit outlook: The big four UK banking groups have now divided their retail 
and investment banking divisions into separate legal entities under ringfencing 
legislation. Bank of Scotland, Barclays Bank UK, HSBC UK Bank, Lloyds Bank, 
National Westminster Bank, Royal Bank of Scotland and Ulster Bank are the 
ringfenced banks that now only conduct lower risk retail banking activities. 
Barclays Bank, HSBC Bank, Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets and NatWest 
Markets are the investment banks. Credit rating agencies have adjusted the 
ratings of some of these banks with the ringfenced banks generally being better 
rated than their non-ringfenced counterparts. 

2.7 The Bank of England released its latest report on bank stress testing, illustrating 
that all entities included in the analysis were deemed to have passed the test 
once the levels of capital and potential mitigating actions presumed to be taken 
by management were factored in.  The Bank of England did not require any 
bank to raise additional capital.

2.8 European banks are considering their approach to Brexit, with some looking to 
create new UK subsidiaries to ensure they can continue trading here. The credit 
strength of these new banks remains unknown, although the chance of parental 
support is assumed to be very high if ever needed. The uncertainty caused by 
protracted negotiations between the UK and EU is weighing on the 
creditworthiness of both UK and European banks with substantial operations in 
both jurisdictions.

2.9 Interest rate forecast: Following the increase in Bank Rate to 0.75% in August 
2018, the Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting two 
more 0.25% hikes during 2019 to take official UK interest rates to 1.25%.  The 
Bank of England’s MPC has maintained expectations for slow and steady rate 
rises over the forecast horizon.  The MPC continues to have a bias towards 



Appendix D(v)

tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to push interest rate expectations too 
strongly. Arlingclose believes that MPC members consider both that ultra-low 
interest rates result in other economic problems, and that a higher Bank Rate 
will enable an effective policy weapon should rate cuts will be required.

2.10 The UK economic environment remains relatively soft, despite a seemingly 
strong labour market data.  Arlingclose’s view is that the economy still faces a 
challenging outlook as it exits the European Union and Eurozone growth 
softens.  Whilst assumptions are that a Brexit deal is struck and some 
agreement reached on transition and future trading arrangements before the 
UK leaves the EU, the possibility of a “no deal” Brexit still hangs over economic 
activity (at the time of writing this commentary in early January). As such, the 
risks to the interest rate forecast are considered firmly to the downside.

2.11 Gilt yields and hence long-term borrowing rates have remained at low levels 
but some upward movement from current levels is expected based on 
Arlingclose’s interest rate projections, due to the strength of the US economy 
and the European Central Bank’s forward guidance on higher rates. 10-year 
and 20-year gilt yields are forecast to remain around 1.7% and 2.2% 
respectively over the interest rate forecast horizon, however volatility arising 
from both economic and political events are likely to continue to offer borrowing 
opportunities.

2.12 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
attached at Appendix B.

3. Local Context

On 31st December 2018 the Council held £58.07m of borrowing and £119.35m 
of investments.  This is set out in further detail at Appendix A. Forecast changes 
in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in table 1 below.

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast 

31.03.18
Actual

£m

31.03.19 
Estimate 

£m

31.03.20 
Forecast 

£m

31.03.21 
Forecast 

£m

31.03.22 
Forecast 

£m
General Fund CFR 3.83 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
HRA CFR 57.61 55.85 51.41 46.97 37.52
Total CFR 61.44 55.85 51.41 46.97 37.52
Less:
Existing External Borrowing 60.53 55.85 51.41 46.97 37.52

Internal (over) Borrowing 0.91 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Less: General Reserve
          HRA balances
          Earmarked/capital reserves

3.00
13.08
42.54

3.00
11.69
46.33

3.00
8.43

41.38

3.00
7.01

40.38

3.00
2.83

39.75



Appendix D(v)

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are 
the underlying resources available for investment.  The Council’s current 
strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing.

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends 
that the Council’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over 
the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the Council expects to comply with 
this recommendation during 2019/20.

Liability Benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an 
alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has been calculated showing the 
lowest risk level of borrowing.  This assumes the same forecast as table 1 
above, but that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of 
£10m each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk.

Table 2: Liability benchmark

The table above shows that the Council does not have a need to borrow at this 
time as the liability benchmark is negative.

4 The Borrowing Strategy

The Council currently has £58.07m of loans outstanding which were borrowed 
in March 2012 to fund the Housing Self Financing settlement.  The amount 
outstanding will fall to £56.07m by March 2019.

Less: Working capital 39.67 43.35 40.00 40.00 40.00
Investments net of internal 
borrowing 97.38 104.37 92.81 90.39 85.58

31.03.18 
Actual 
£m

31.03.19 
Estimate 
£m

31.03.20 
Forecast 
£m

31.03.21 
Forecast 
£m

31.03.22 
Forecast 
£m

CFR 61.44 55.85 51.41 46.97 37.52
Less: General Reserve
          HRA Balances
          Earmarked/capital reserves

3.00
13.08
42.54

3.00
11.69
46.33

3.00
8.43

41.38

3.00
7.01

40.38

3.00
2.83

39.75
Less: Working capital 39.67 43.35 40.00 40.00 40.00
Plus: Minimum investments 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
Liability benchmark -26.85 -38.52 -31.40 -33.42 -38.06



Appendix D(v)

The Council is not expecting to borrow to fund the capital programme during 
2019/20; should there be a requirement to do so, total borrowing will not exceed 
the Authorised Limit of £120m.  The Council will, in consultation with its treasury 
management adviser, adopt a flexible approach to borrowing should it be 
required. The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which the funds are 
required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-term 
plans change is a secondary objective.   

Borrowing Sources

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and any successor body
 Any institution approved for investments
 Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
 Any other UK public sector body
 UK public and private sector pension funds (except Kent Pension Fund)
 Capital market bond investors
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local authority bond issues

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

 leasing
 hire purchase
 Private Finance Initiative 
 sale and leaseback

Currently all of the Council’s debt is with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
but it continues to monitor other sources of finance, such as local authority loans 
and bank loans, which may be available at more favourable rates.

The Council applied to be, and was successful in becoming, a qualifying 
authority, giving it access to reduced interest rates from the PWLB – the 
‘Certainty Rate’.  This eligibility is reviewed annually by HM Treasury/PWLB. 

As an alternative to the PWLB, the UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was 
established in 2014 by the Local Government Association.  Any decision to 
borrow from the Municipal Bonds Agency will be the subject of a separate 
report to Cabinet, prior to borrowing.



Appendix D(v)

Prior to undertaking further borrowing, the Council will undertake a full analysis 
of the various sources open to it at that time. This will be in consultation with 
its treasury management advisers.

Debt Rescheduling:  PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity 
and either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula 
based on current interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to 
negotiate premature redemption terms. The Authority may take advantage of 
this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without 
replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a 
reduction in risk.

Borrowing, rescheduling and repayment of debt will be reported to Cabinet and 
to the Treasury Management Panel.

5 Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure, plus balances and reserves.  In the current financial 
year to 31 December 2018, the Council’s investment balances have ranged 
between £103.5m and £130.7m and roughly similar levels are expected to be 
maintained in the forthcoming year. However, these may rise should land sales 
at Stone Lodge materialise. The peaks in investments generally relate to the 
timing of the receipt of business rates and council tax, which are then held until 
the pre-set payment dates of precepts. 

Objectives: The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently, 
and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking 
the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing 
money is to strike a balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 
incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving very low investment 
income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, 
the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal to or higher than the 
prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of the sum 
invested.

Negative Interest Rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2019/20 there is 
a small chance that the Bank of England could set its Bank rate at or below 
zero, which is likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, 
short-term investment options.  This situation already exists in many other 
European countries.  In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than 
the amount originally invested.



Appendix D(v)

Strategy: The Council’s investment strategy during 2018/19, given the 
increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, was to maintain a large proportion of investments which offer 
diversification and potentially higher yields. The Council now has £93.67m 
(78.47%) of its investments in externally managed pooled funds which are 
considered to be longer term investments, i.e. defined as those invested for 
periods longer than a year.  Each fund has different characteristics, asset 
classes and risk – details of the externally managed pooled fund balances as 
at 31 December 2018, by fund type, are included in Appendix A.  The balance 
of the Council’s funds (£25.70m) is currently invested in money market funds.  
The Council intends to continue this strategy over the coming year.  

Business models:  Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain 
investments depends on the Council’s “business model” for managing them. 
The Council aims to achieve value from its internally managed treasury 
investments by a business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and 
therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to 
be accounted for at amortised cost.

Approved counterparties:  The Council may invest its funds with any of the 
counterparty types in table 3 below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) 
and the time limits shown.

Table 3: Approved Investment Counterparties and limits

Credit 
Rating

Banks 
Unsecured

Banks
Secured Government Corporates Registered 

Providers

UK Govt n/a n/a £ Unlimited
50 years n/a n/a

AAA £7.5m
 5 years

£7.5m
20 years

£10m
50 years

£3m
 20 years

£3m
 20 years

AA+ £5m
5 years

£7.5m
10 years

£7.5m
25 years

£3m
10 years

£3m
10 years

AA £5m
4 years

£7.5m
5 years

£7.5m
15 years

£3m
5 years

£3m
10 years

AA- £5m
3 years

£7.5m
4 years

£7.5m
10 years

£3m
4 years

£3m
10 years

A+ £5m
2 years

£7.5m
3 years

£5m
5 years

£3m
3 years

£3m
5 years

A £5m
13 months

£7.5m
2 years

£3m
5 years

£3m
2 years

£3m
5 years

A- £5m
 6 months

£7.5m
13 months

£3m
 5 years

£3m
 13 months

£3m
 5 years

None £1m
6 months n/a £7.5m

5 years n/a £3m
5 years

Pooled 
funds and 

No single investment in a pooled fund will exceed £15m.  Limits for each individual 
fund are set following consultation with the Council’s treasury advisers



Appendix D(v)

real estate 
investment 

trusts
This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below.

Credit rating: Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published 
long-term credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies.  Where 
available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of 
investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used.  However, 
investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings and all 
other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.

Banks unsecured:  Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior 
unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than multilateral 
development banks.  These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via 
a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.  
See below for arrangements relating to operational bank accounts.

Banks - Secured: Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other 
collateralised arrangements with banks and building societies.  These 
investments are secured on the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses 
in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that they are exempt from bail-
in.  Where there is no investment-specific credit rating, but the collateral upon 
which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral 
credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash 
and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one 
bank will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national 
governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral development 
banks. These investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a low 
risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk.  Investments with the UK 
Central Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

Corporates:  Companies other than banks and registered providers issue 
loans, bonds and commercial paper.  These investments are not subject to bail-
in, but are exposed to the risk of the company becoming insolvent.  Loans to 
unrated companies will only be made as part of a diversified pool in order to 
spread the risk widely.

Registered Providers: Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured 
on the assets of registered providers of social housing and registered social 
landlords, formerly known as housing associations.  These bodies are tightly 
regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England), the Scottish Housing 



Appendix D(v)

Regulator, the Welsh Government and the Department for Communities (in 
Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of 
receiving government support if needed.

Pooled Funds: Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of  
any of the above investment types, plus equity shares and property. These 
funds have the advantage of providing wide diversification of investment risks, 
coupled with the services of a professional fund manager, in return for a fee.  
Short-term Money Market Funds that offer same-day liquidity and very low or 
no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank accounts, while 
pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a notice 
period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, 
but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into 
asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the 
underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, 
but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and 
continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be 
monitored regularly.

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in real 
estate and pay the majority of their rental income to investors in a similar 
manner to pooled property funds. As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced 
returns over the longer term, but are more volatile especially as the share price 
reflects changing demand for the shares as well as changes in the value of the 
underlying properties.

Operational Bank accounts:  The Council may incur operational exposures, 
for example through current accounts, collection accounts and merchant 
acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and 
with assets greater than £25 billion.  These are not classed as investments, but 
are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept 
below £1m per bank.  The Bank of England has stated that in the event of 
failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to be bailed-
in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council maintaining 
operational continuity.  

Investment Instruments:
Of the above investment instruments within the scope of the strategy the 
following are currently being used:



Appendix D(v)

 Pooled Funds with variable net asset value (‘cash plus’, bond,  
equity income, multi-asset, absolute return funds and a property 
fund)

 Money Market Funds (MMF)
 Operational bank accounts

However, as stated above, the Council recognises the importance of 
diversification and will continue to diversify its investments and consider all 
types of investment and asset classes, for use during the life of this Strategy.  

Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and 
monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, who notify changes in ratings as 
they occur.  Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to 
meet the approved investment criteria then:

 no new investments will be made,
 any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost 

will be, and
 full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other 

existing investments with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch 
negative”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only 
investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made with 
that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy will 
not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel 
rather than an imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: The Council understands 
that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  
Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the credit 
quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap 
prices, financial statements, information on potential government support and 
reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s 
treasury adviser.  No investments will be made with an organisation if there are 
substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet 
the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in 
credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these 
circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of 
higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 



Appendix D(v)

maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be 
in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that 
insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to 
invest the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the 
UK Government, via the Debt Management Office or invested in government 
treasury bills for example.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment 
income earned, but will protect the principal sum invested.

Investment Limits:  The Council’s General Fund and HRA reserves available 
to cover investment losses are forecast to be £61.02m on 31 March 2019.  In 
order that no more than 15% of available reserves will be put at risk in the case 
of a single default, the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other 
than the UK Government) will be £7.5m.  Individual limits for unsecured 
investments with financial institutions are determined on a variety of credit 
criteria and in most instances will be lower than the £7.5m maximum limit.     The 
Council has never suffered an investment loss requiring the use of reserves.

A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single 
organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on investments in 
brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors as below.  
Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count 
against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over 
many countries.

Table 4: Investment Limits

Cash limit
Any single organisation, (except the UK Central 
Government and externally managed pooled 
funds)

£7.5m each

UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same 
ownership (excluding externally managed pooled 
funds)

£7.5m per group

Any group of pooled funds under the same 
management

£25m per manager

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee 
account £25m per broker

Foreign countries £10m per country
Registered Providers and registered social 
landlords £5m in total

Unsecured investments with Building Societies £5m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £5m in total



Appendix D(v)

Money Market Funds
£65m in total, £7m per 

individual money 
market fund

Real estate investment trusts £25m in total

Tables 3 and 4 set the parameters and boundaries for the Council’s 
investments, the operational use of counterparties will be determined by the 
credit criteria outlined in Table 2.  A counterparty list along with individual 
exposure and maturity limits for in-house use is always maintained and updated 
on a regular basis in line with evolving credit conditions.  

Liquidity management 
The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software (Logotech) to 
assist with determining the maximum period for which funds may prudently be 
committed. The forecast is compiled on a prudent basis, with receipts under-
estimated and payments over-estimated, to minimise the risk of the Council 
being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial 
commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and cash flow forecast.

6 Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management 
risks using the following indicators:

Security
The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of its investment portfolio.  
This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) 
and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment.  
Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Target
Portfolio average credit score A

Liquidity
The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk 
by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments 
within a rolling one month period, without additional borrowing.

Target
Total cash available within 1 month £5m



Appendix D(v)

Interest Rate Exposures
This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The 
upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates 
will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Target
One-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates £400,000
Upper limit on a one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in 
interest rates (£1,000,000)

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that 
maturing loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.  The Council’s 
debt is at fixed rates of interest, maturing debt is not being replaced with new 
borrowing and will not be impacted by an increase in interest rates.  The Council 
will benefit from any increase in interest rates on its investments.

Maturity Structure of Borrowing
This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The 
upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will be:

Maturity 
% as at 

31/03/2019

Upper 
Limit for 

2019/2020

Lower 
Limit for 

2019/2020
Under 12 months 7.96% 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 7.96% 25% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 29.60% 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 28.27% 50% 0%
10 years and within 20 years 26.22% 50% 0%
20 years and above 0.00% 20% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.  

Principal sums invested for longer than a year
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  The limits on 
the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end 
will be:

Limit on principal invested beyond year 
end 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Internally Managed Funds £20m £15m £10m



Appendix D(v)

Externally Managed Funds £125m £125m £125m

7 Related Matters

The CIPFA code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy:

Financial Derivatives: Local authorities have previously made use of financial 
derivatives embedded into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate 
risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase 
income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  
The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 
removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone 
financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or 
investment).

The Council will only use the standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 
forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to 
reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  
Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, 
will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting 
transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they present 
will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria.  The current value of any amount due 
from a derivative counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit 
and the relevant foreign country limit.

Policy on Apportioning Interest to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
As all the Council’s borrowing relates solely to the HRA, a ‘one pool’ approach 
was adopted, meaning that all interest paid on the loans is charged direct to the 
Housing Revenue Account. Interest on the average notional cash balances 
within the HRA are calculated annually and credited/debited to the HRA.

8 Financial Implications

The budget for investment income in 2019/20 is £0.65m.  This is based on the 
current level of investment and current interest rates.  If actual levels of 
investment or actual interest rates differ, performance against budget will be 



Appendix D(v)

correspondingly different.   The budget for debt interest paid in 2019/20 is 
£1.34m. 

9 Other options considered

The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management 
strategy for local authorities to adopt.  The Council believes that the above 
strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk management and cost 
effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk 
management implications are listed below.

Alternative Impact on Income and 
expenditure

Impact on risk 
management

Invest in a narrower 
range of counterparties 
and/or for shorter times

Interest income will be 
lower

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater

Invest in a wider range 
of counterparties and/or 
for longer times

Interest income will be 
higher

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller

Reduce level of 
borrowing

Cost of premature 
redemption is extremely 
high.  Saving on debt 
interest is likely to 
exceed lost investment 
income

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a 
lower impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
less certain



Appendix D(v)

Appendix A – Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position as at 31 December 
2018

External Borrowing

Loan 
Type

Maturity 
Date

Years 
to 

Maturity

Principal 
Borrowed 
(28/03/12) 

£m

Semi-
annual 

repayment
Interest 
Rate %

Principal 
Outstanding 

(31/12/18) 
£m

Maturity 01/02/2022 3.09 5.00  2.40% 5.00
EIP 01/02/2039 20.10 18.00 0.33 2.90% 13.67
EIP 01/02/2026 7.09 9.00 0.32 1.82% 4.82
EIP 01/02/2022 3.09 9.00 0.45 1.31% 3.15
EIP 01/02/2032 13.10 26.95 0.67 2.44% 18.19
EIP 01/02/2037 18.10 9.00 0.18 2.79% 6.66
EIP 01/02/2031 12.10 10.00 0.26 2.35% 6.58
   86.95 2.22 2.41% 58.07

 
Total Gross External Debt 58.07

Investments  
             Managed in-house  

Short-term investments 25.70
Long-term investments 0.00

             Pooled Funds by type:  
                    Cash Plus Funds 18.96
                    Short Dated Bond Funds 14.96
                    Long Dated Bond Funds 11.89
                    Multi-asset Income Funds 22.69
                    Equity Income Funds 18.78
                    Absolute Return Bond Funds 4.41
                    Property Funds 1.98
Total Investments 119.37
Net Investments 61.30

 



Appendix D(v)

Appendix B – Economic & Interest Rate Forecast – provided by Arlingclose

Underlying assumptions: 

 Our central interest rate forecasts are predicated on there being a transitionary period 
following the UK’s official exit from the EU. 

 The MPC has a bias towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to push interest rate 
expectations too strongly. We believe that MPC members consider that: 1) tight labour 
markets will prompt inflationary pressure in the future, 2) ultra-low interest rates result in 
other economic problems, and 3) higher Bank Rate will be a more effective policy weapon if 
downside risks to growth crystallise.

 Both our projected outlook and the increase in the magnitude of political and economic risks 
facing the UK economy means we maintain the significant downside risks to our forecasts, 
despite the potential for slightly stronger growth next year as business investment rebounds 
should the EU Withdrawal Agreement be approved. The potential for severe economic 
outcomes has increased following the poor reception of the Withdrawal Agreement by MPs. 
We expect the Bank of England to hold at or reduce interest rates from current levels if Brexit 
risks materialise.

 The UK economic environment is relatively soft, despite seemingly strong labour market data. 
GDP growth recovered somewhat in the middle quarters of 2018, but more recent data 
suggests the economy slowed markedly in Q4. Our view is that the UK economy still faces a 
challenging outlook as the country exits the European Union and Eurozone economic growth 
softens.

 Cost pressures are easing but inflation is forecast to remain above the Bank’s 2% target 
through most of the forecast period. Lower oil prices have reduced inflationary pressure, but 
the tight labour market and decline in the value of sterling means inflation may remain above 
target for longer than expected. 

 Global economic growth is slowing. Despite slower growth, the European Central Bank is 
conditioning markets for the end of QE, the timing of the first rate hike (2019) and their path 
thereafter. More recent US data has placed pressure on the Federal Reserve to reduce the 
pace of monetary tightening – previous hikes and heightened expectations will, however, 
slow economic growth. 

 Central bank actions and geopolitical risks have and will continue to produce significant 
volatility in financial markets, including bond markets. 

Forecast: 

 The MPC has maintained expectations of a slow rise in interest rates over the forecast 
horizon, but recent events around Brexit have dampened interest rate expectations. Our 
central case is for Bank Rate to rise twice in 2019, after the UK exits the EU. The risks are 
weighted to the downside.

 Gilt yields have remained at low levels. We expect some upward movement from current 
levels based on our central case that the UK will enter a transitionary period following its EU 
exit in March 2019. However, our projected weak economic outlook and volatility arising from 
both economic and political events will continue to offer borrowing opportunities.



Appendix D(v)

Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.17
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.13
Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -0.85

3-mth money market rate
Upside risk 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.17
Arlingclose Central Case 0.90 0.95 1.10 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.27
Downside risk -0.20 -0.45 -0.60 -0.80 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.76

1-yr money market rate
Upside risk 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.33
Arlingclose Central Case 1.15 1.25 1.35 1.50 1.70 1.60 1.50 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40
Downside risk -0.35 -0.50 -0.60 -0.80 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.77

5-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.15 1.25 1.35 1.50 1.50 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.33
Downside risk -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.80 -0.80 -0.70 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.66

10-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.50 1.65 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.75 1.75 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70
Downside risk -0.55 -0.70 -0.70 -0.80 -0.80 -0.75 -0.75 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.71

20-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.18
Downside risk -0.60 -0.70 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

50-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.90 1.95 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.99
Downside risk -0.60 -0.70 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.80%
PWLB Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60%





Appendix E

CORPORATE PROPERTY MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME

Total estimated expenditure on the maintenance and improvement of the Council's assets is shown below. This
appendix is for information only as budgets are shown elsewhere in the report.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £

Day to day maintenance and responsive repairs
Included in the General Fund revenue budget

Orchard 0 0 0 Responsibility rests with contractor

Acacia 53,620 53,620 53,620

Fairfield 0 0 0 Responsibility rests with contractor

Other Corporate Property 135,370 135,370 135,370  

Planned maintenance

Funded from the Corporate Property Maintenance Reserve

Orchard 30 30,000 30,000
Responsibility mainly rests with the
contractor but the Council does have
some responsibility under the lease

Acacia 0 0 0 Any works will be funded from the
specific Acacia Reserve

Fairfield 0 0 0 No works identified 

Other Corporate Property 20,000 20,000 20,000

Improvements

Included in the capital budget

Orchard 490,000 30,000 30,000

Acacia 4,767,000 0 0

Civic Centre Refurbishment:
Internal Repairs and
Improvements 691,000 200,000 0

Other Corporate Property 30,000 30,000 30,000

Total Expenditure 6,187,020 498,990 298,990





Appendix F

BUSINESS RATE RETENTION FOR 2019/20 AND FUTURE FUNDING 
ARRANGEMENTS

1 Introduction

The Final Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20 was announced on 29 January 
2019. 

2. 2019/20 Local Government Finance Settlement 

The settlement notified authorities of their Business Rate Baseline and Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG). Indicative allocations were also provided until 2019/20.

The table below shows the 2019/20 Local Government Finance Settlement position 
compared to the 2018/19 position:

               £
   Baseline Business 

Rate Funding

2018/19 2,927,325

2019/20 2,672,366

Although the baseline funding level is just under £2.7m the Council is able to budget for 
higher resources than this as the Council benefits from growth achieved since the baseline 
was set.

The income budget for Business Rates has been set according to the latest estimates of 
income. The Council is no longer a pilot authority in 2019/20 but continues to benefit from 
the operation of a business rates pool. Therefore the expected gains from existing pooling 
arrangements have been included in the higher baseline figure set in the budget. 

It is important to note that future funding is expected to reduce to the level of the baseline 
due to a reset of the system in 2020/21. In addition, a fair funding review of government 
funding may well change the baseline figures. 

3 Tariff

The Council’s baseline funding is £2,672,366. If the Council’s individual business rates 
baseline is greater than this, the Council has to pay a “tariff” to the Government. The 
table below shows the Council’s individual Business Rates Baseline and the relative 
position of other Local Authorities.

Dartford area business rates baseline 79,826,420

Kent County Council 9% 7,184,378



Appendix F

Kent Fire Authority share 1% 798,264
Dartford share 40% 31,930,568

For 2019/20 the tariff level for the Borough of Dartford is £29,258,202 which is equal to the 
Dartford share baseline less the funding baseline

4 Levy 

Any growth or reduction in business rates compared with the baseline is shared between 
central government and the relevant local authorities in the percentages noted in section 3 
above. 

However, for individual authorities, growth is limited by the imposition of a levy. The levy 
percentage is calculated as:

1 – [baseline funding level/individual authority business rates baseline]

For Dartford this would give a levy percentage of 91.6%. 

However, the Government has decided to cap the levy at 50%, so it is the 50% that 
applies before pooling is considered (see section 6).

The effect of how the levy would operate is illustrated below. Growth, above the baseline, 
of 1% increases net funding to the Council by £320,000, but 50% is lost to the levy giving a 
net increase of £160,000 before pooling (see section 6).

Baseline Baseline 
+1%

£m £m
Total business rates income 79.826 80.625
Less Central share 
(Government) 50% -39.913 -40.312

Less KCC share 9% -7.184 -7.256
Less KF&R share 1% -0.798 -0.806
Balance equals DBC share 40% 31.931 32.250
Less payment of tariff -29.258 -29.258
Equals DBC Baseline Funding 2.672 2.992

Less levy 0 -0.160
DBC funding after levy is 
applied 2.536 2.832

5 Safety net

The safety net guarantees that the Council’s income from business rates will not fall below 
a certain level. The safety net has been set at 92.5% of the baseline funding level. This 
means that the Council’s income cannot fall below 92.5% x £2.672m= £2.472m. How this 
works in practice is shown below. A 1% reduction in business rates means a gross loss of 
income of £319,000, to £2.353 m. But income cannot drop below £2.472m so the Council 
would receive a safety net payment of £119,000.



Appendix F

Baseline Baseline 
-1%

£m £m
Total business rates income 79.826 79.028
Less Central share (Government) 50% -39.913 -39.514
Less KCC share 9% -7.184 -7.113
Less KF&R share 1% -0.798 -0.790
Balance equals DBC share 40% 31.931 31.611
Less payment of tariff -29.258 -29.258
Equals DBC Baseline Funding 2.672 2.353

Plus safety net 0 0.119
DBC funding after levy is applied 2.672 2.472

The safety net does not apply to individual authorities in a pool arrangement but the 
contingency arrangements in the pool operate in a similar way as explained in section 6.

6 Pooling

Despite an unsuccessful application to continue as a pilot authority, Dartford Council will 
again be  part of the Kent Business Rates Pool in 2019/20. The Safety Net and Levy 
examples above describe how the Levy and Safety Net are applied to an individual 
authority. However, within a pool these calculations take place cumulatively. The pool 
should result in a gain to the authority as the cumulative levy rate for the Kent Pool is only 
3% compared to 50% for Dartford individually. The pooling agreement distributes the 
borough gains from pooling as follows:

30% to the borough;
30% to Kent County Council to be used to the benefit of growth throughout the pool area;
30% to joint regeneration projects in the borough area;
10% to a contingency pot to offer a protection mechanism to authorities within the pool that would 
otherwise have received an individual safety net payment.

The operating principle of the Kent Pool is that no authority should find itself worse off than 
had they not been in the pool. The contingency pot is designed to prevent this from happening 
and, if it is not sufficient, the other authorities’ pooling gains can be used to protect authorities by 
maintaining the individual safety net position.

Given that gains are first allocated to ‘safety net’ authorities, a gain from pooling has not 
been included within the budget for 2019/20. However, once any gain is realised, it can be 
used in a planned way to support expenditure in future years.

7 Future Funding and Business Rates Retention

The government is consulting on future business rates arrangements and is reviewing both 
how the current scheme operates and the funding baselines on which the system is built. 



Appendix F

Funding baselines are currently set using values derived from 2013/14 formula and before. 
The government plan is to update these formula to try to ensure fair funding for local 
authorities. Currently it is expected that most of the funding baseline for district councils 
will be derived from a “foundation formula” which is driven by population statistics with 
some area adjustments. However, consultation continues. 

The new business rates system is expected to be designed around a 75% retention model 
which will enable local authorities to benefit more from future growth. The government is 
also consulting around different models of business rate retention which seek to simplify 
the system from complexities such as appeals and the additional government grants 
needed for each new relief or change agreed at a national level. They are also considering 
how long any future growth should be retained.

In addition to the consultations on fair funding and business rate retention, there will be a 
spending review which will determine the total level of funding available for allocation to 
local authorities.

The transition to these new arrangements is likely to have a significant impact for Dartford 
It has been indicated that the government may move to a new baseline without any 
transitional arrangements - a full reset. The effect of this is shown in the medium term 
financial plan.

After this, income levels will depend upon the final allocation model adopted and future 
growth in business rates. 

Additionally, whilst new homes bonus has remained a feature of local government funding 
in the current settlement period its future has not been confirmed and it is possible that 
legacy payments  currently expected could be re-prioritised..



                                                                                                             Appendix G

AMENDMENTS TO THE APPROVED BUDGETS

1. Introduction

1.1 The budget process is an important part of the Council’s system of 
management and internal control. Budgets are integral to the delivery of the 
Council’s services, identifying the resources available to deliver these 
services.

1.2 Council services must be funded, and all such funding must be controlled 
through effective budget management and budgetary control processes.  
Spending against budget must be subject to close monitoring throughout the 
year and variances from the budget reported to Cabinet.

1.3 The annual budget, as approved at this meeting of the Council, sets the 
budget for the financial year.  However, there may be unforeseen or 
opportunistic reasons why a budget may later need to be varied.  
Restructuring or process changes may also necessitate budgets to be 
reviewed and amended during the year. To enable Spending Officers to 
manage their budgets successfully and effectively, budgets may be varied 
during the year.  Budgets, or a part of a budget, may be transferred from one 
budget to another. Some exemptions and rules apply.  The transfer of a 
budget or part of a budget from one budget area to another is called a 
virement.

2. Virement Rules

2.1 The aim of the virement rules is to provide flexibility to Spending Officers but, 
at the same time, to ensure that any virements are actioned within the 
constraints of the overall budget and ensure that value for money is achieved. 
Virement rules may be suspended at any time by the Managing Director.

2.2 Changes to budgets are categorised into temporary or permanent virements.  
Temporary virements may be regarded as short-term, one-off budget changes 
and will affect the current financial year only.  Permanent virements will affect 
the current financial year and all future financial years. Identifying whether a 
virement is temporary or permanent is a pre-requisite of the virement 
authorisation process.

2.3 In order to assist the virement management process, virements will be 
classed as either ‘technical’ or ‘non-technical’.

2.4 Technical virements DO NOT change the approved use of the budget, nor do 
they authorise any increase in service levels or volumes within management 
control. They most commonly occur as a result of:



                                                                                                             Appendix G

i) Restructuring changes which require budgets to be reallocated against 
different cost centres/account codes;

ii) Improvements to the budget monitoring process being initiated i.e. 
where better clarity is given by using different/new cost centre or 
account codes;

iii) When offset income and expenditure budgets are required as a result 
of specific grant/contributions received by the Council,

iv) When offset income/expenditure budgets are required as a result of the 
use of reserves;

v) Reallocation of the centrally held inflation allowance as and when 
inflation is applied to the major contracts;

Vi) Reallocation of salary budgets, as and when vacancies occur, to the 
employee vacancy factor budget.  This will also include any 
subsequent offsetting recruitment costs.

2.5 Non-technical virements change the use of an approved budget. For example, 
the full approved budget for equipment may not be required, but there could 
be a need to attend specialist training courses to comply with legislation within 
the same financial year and the training budget is insufficient. The Spending 
Officer could seek to move part of the equipment budget to the training budget 
as a temporary virement.

2.6 There are some circumstances where virements WILL NOT generally be 
permitted (exemption list):

i) From non-recurring to recurring expenditure, i.e. where a budget has 
been included for a specific purpose for that year only;

ii) Where any virement would commit the Council to additional recurring 
funding;

iii) No proposed virement should involve the introduction of a new policy 
or significant variation of existing policy, or level of activity, without the 
approval of Cabinet;

iv) Virements from/to salary budgets unless approved by the Managing 
Director;

v) Virements between revenue and capital;
vi) Virements between General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 

budgets;
vii) Virements from/to centrally allocated budgets.

2.7 All virements are subject to agreement of the Managing Director or his 
nominee (Financial Services Manager). 

2.8 Expenditure can only be incurred if it can be met from an approved budget.

2.9 Expenditure can only be incurred in accordance with agreed policies. 
Expenditure should not be incurred simply because a budget exists e.g. 
spending equipment budget in March because the budget has not been fully 
spent.



                                                                                                             Appendix G

3 Definitions:

To facilitate the understanding of the virement rules the following definitions 
are given:

3.1 Service Area: the name of the service shown in bold in the budget report at 
Appendix B(i) and Appendix C(ii). This may be a single cost centre or a group 
of cost centres, depending upon the nature of the service.

Budget Line: the lowest level of expenditure and income budget shown in the 
budget report at Appendix B(i) and Appendix C(ii).

Spending Officer:  the officer named as such for each service area in the 
budget report at Appendix B (i) and Appendix C (ii).

4. Virement Authorisations and Limits – General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account

4.1 Technical Virements

Due to the nature of these virements, i.e. there is no change to the original 
approved usage of the budget all technical virements will be approved by the 
Managing Director or his nominee.

Financial Limit:  Unlimited

4.2 Non-Technical Virements

Before any virements can be agreed, consideration must be given to the 
exemption list

4.3 Spending Officers:

Spending Officers may vire within an individual budget line, i.e. between the 
individual low level budget codes that produce a budget line that are not 
separately identified in the budget report.

Example:  A budget line for supplies and services may comprise of a number 
of smaller budget values for printing, stationery, equipment, protective clothing 
etc. Budgets or parts of budgets may be vired from one of these lower level 
budgets to another as long as the budget line total for supplies and services 
does not change.

Financial Limit:  Unlimited.

Spending Officers may also vire between individual budget lines within a 
service area.



                                                                                                             Appendix G

Example: A spending officer may vire from a budget held within an individual 
budget line such as equipment which is included under the supplies and 
services line to the hired services budget held under the agency and 
contracted services budget line.

Financial Limit:  £10,000.  There is, in theory, no limit to the number of 
virements that a Spending Officer can authorise, however successive 
virements to or from the same budget will have a cumulative effect.  Therefore 
the budget for each individual budget line cannot be varied from the original 
budget by more than £10,000 in total, or 25% of the original budget whichever 
is less.

4.4 Directors:

Where a virement exceeds a Spending Officer’s authority, and within their 
area of responsibility, Directors may vire between individual budget lines 
within a service area.

Example:  As for Spending Officer.

Financial Limit:  As for Spending Officer but with a limit of £30,000

Directors may vire budgets between different service areas within their area of 
responsibility.

Example:  The Strategic Director (External Services) is responsible for a 
number of service areas and there may be a need to transfer a budget or part 
of a budget from Car Parks Administration shown under the service area of 
Car Parks in the budget book to Civil Enforcement shown under Enforcement 
and Regulation.

Financial Limit:  £30,000

4.5 Managing Director:

In addition to the above, the Managing Director has the authority to vire 
between any service areas.

Financial Limit: £100,000

4.6 Cabinet:

Virements that fall outside the above criteria will be subject to Cabinet 
approval.

Financial Limit:  unlimited within the overall budget 

In addition all individual virements over £10,000, approved by officers, will be 
reported to Cabinet for information at the earliest opportunity.



                                                                                                             Appendix G

5. Capital Virements

5.1 The Capital Programme consists of a number of individual projects and 
budgets are approved for each project.  These are shown in the budget report 
as Appendix D(i) and Appendix D(ii).  Capital projects often span more than 
one financial year but officers must manage expenditure within the approved 
budget each year.  Should a virement be necessary, the following will apply:

5.2 Directors:

Directors may authorise virements between capital projects for which they are 
responsible.

Financial Limit:  £30,000 or 5%, whichever is the greater.

5.3 Managing Director:

The Managing Director is authorised to approve virements between any 
capital projects.

Financial Limit:  £100,000 or 10%, whichever is the greater,

5.4 Cabinet:

Virements that fall outside the above criteria will be subject to Cabinet 
approval.

Financial Limit:  unlimited within the overall budget

5.5 General Assembly of the Council:

Where additional funding is required for a capital project and funding cannot 
be found from within the existing capital programme, approval to increase the 
overall budget must be sought from the General Assembly of the Council.

6 Reserves:

6.1 The Managing Director is authorised to utilise reserves as appropriate and, 
following his approval, the required virements will be actioned.

7. Authorisation Summary

7.1 To provide further clarity the authorisation limits are summarised in the table 
below:



                                                                                                             Appendix G

Virement Type Authoriser Financial Limit
Revenue (General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account)
Technical Managing Director or 

nominee
Unlimited

Non-Technical:
Lower level budgets within 
individual budget lines

Spending Officer Unlimited

Between budget lines within a 
service area

Spending Officer Up to £10,000

Between budget lines within a 
service area

Director Up to £30,000

Between service areas within 
responsible area

Director Up to £30,000

Between any service areas Managing Director Up to £100,000
Between any budgets where the 
Managing Director’s authority 
limits are exceeded

Cabinet Unlimited within the 
overall budget

Capital
Between projects within a 
Director’s area of responsibility

Director £30,000 or 5% 
whichever is the 
greater.

Between any projects Managing Director £100,000 or 10% 
whichever is the 
greater

Between any projects where the 
Managing Director’s authority 
limits are exceeded

Cabinet Unlimited within the 
overall budget

Additional funding is required 
over and above the overall 
original approved allocation

General Assembly of 
the Council

Unlimited but subject to 
overall funding 
available

8 Sanctions

8.1 Directors must take every possible action to ensure that spending is 
maintained within budget. This includes action to remedy any default by 
Spending Officers managing detailed areas within the budget.

8.2 Where central monitoring reveals that a budget is likely to be exceeded, the 
Managing Director will require Directors to operate within such expenditure 
rules or guidelines as are needed to bring the budget under control.

8.3 Where a service area’s budget is exceeded as a whole at the year end, 
reasons for doing so must be reported to the Cabinet.

8.4 The virement rules are aimed at helping managers to achieve their service 
objectives and performance targets, however the Managing Director has the 
authority to remove, or limit this facility from any Spending Officer, or Director 
if the rules are misused.



Appendix H

STATEMENT ON ROBUSTNESS OF THE BUDGET, ADEQUACY OF 
RESERVES AND KEY BUDGET RISKS

Introduction

This statement is given for the 2019/20 budget setting process for Dartford 
Borough Council.  The Authority’s Chief Financial Officer is responsible for 
ensuring the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves.

The Council has adopted a detailed budget for the year 2019/20. This 
includes the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account and the Capital 
Programme. A summary Medium Term Financial Plan has been determined 
for the years 2020/21 to 2023/24.

The exact income for business rates and new homes bonus are uncertain for 
future years with both possible positive and negative factors at play. Business 
rates are likely to be rest to baseline in 2020/21.

The Medium Term Financial Plan shows the potential budget gap for the 
years 2019/20 to 2022/23.

Robustness of the budget

The aim of the budget is to provide a realistic and sustainable medium term 
framework that reflects Council priorities within the estimated resources 
available.

The detailed estimates take into account past outturn, current spending plans 
and likely future demand levels and pressures.

Factors taken into account for the 2019/20 Budget are:

The Council's Aims and 
Priorities

Estimates reflect both the key priorities for 2019/20 
endorsed by the Council, and those more specific 
priorities that go to support their achievement.

Consultation with 
Council Taxpayers

The budget reflects political commitments made at the 
local elections in May 2015 and the key priorities in the 
Corporate Plan and other relevant consultations.  The 
Council has set a balanced budget for 2019/20 by 
examining all services and deleting any non-priority 
budgets, with no direct effect on the services provided to 
residents.

The level of funding 
likely from Central 
Government towards 
the costs of local 
services.

For 2019/20 the Council will not receive formula grant. 



Appendix H

Business Rate 
Retention

The baseline funding level for Dartford in 2019/20 is 
£2,672,366. The Council will receive more than this if 
business rate income is greater than the business rates 
baseline. The funding level could fall if actual business 
rates income reduces, but pooling arrangements mean 
that the funding level should not fall lower than 
£2,471,938.

New Homes Bonus New Homes Bonus is a central government grant aimed 
at encouraging the development of new housing. The 
Council receives a grant of 80% of the average national 
council tax £1,671 for every additional property, over an 
expected council tax base growth of 0.4%, each year for 
a period of four years. 

In 2019/20 the Council will receive £4.77m in New 
Homes Bonus. The Council will put this money into 
reserves. It is prudent not to use all of the Homes Bonus 
in support of the General Fund but some use of the 
reserve that includes previous years contributions will be 
required.

Council Tax Base The Council Tax Base for 2019/20 is 37,747.03 Band D 
equivalents. Future years assume some increases in tax 
base, consistent with recent growth and planned 
projects.

The Prudential Code 
and its impact on 
Capital Planning

The Council has no long-term external debt in the 
General Fund. The Council may take advantage of 
favourable market conditions to borrow long term to fund 
capital expenditure, retaining any capital receipts for 
investment.  A key objective of the Prudential Code is to 
ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital 
investment plans of local authorities are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable. This budget report (appendix 
D) includes the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Capital and Investment Strategies. 

The Council took on debt of just under £87m on 1 April 
2012 as part of the housing self-financing system. The 
HRA budget provides for repayment of debt principal at 
approximately £4m each year.  Details are included in 
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

Capital Programme The capital programme is being provisionally set for 
three years. A significant receipt is anticipated in the next 
financial year, however if it is not forthcoming, options at 
the Council’s disposal are to fund from revenue or 
reserves, or to borrow. The Council will not commit 
expenditure in any year unless resources have first been 
fully identified.



Appendix H

Interest Rates Income from investments has been set taking account of 
advice from external sources. For investment income, 
average interest rates of less than 1% have been 
assumed for 2019/20.

Interest on the HRA debt is fixed. 
Adequacy of General 
Fund balance 

At the beginning of 2019/20, the General Fund balance 
will be approximately £3m, with the balance at the end of 
2018/19 also estimated at £3m. The adequacy of 
reserves is discussed in more detail below. 

Pay and Price Inflation The budget for 2019/20 includes a 2.5% pay award for 
staff. The same increase has been assumed in future 
years. Price inflation on contracts is assumed at 2% in 
future years.

Fees and Charges The Council has limited scope to increase income from 
fees and charges. For 2019/20 some increases are 
proposed, but only where they can be justified by cost or 
comparison with other organisations. 

Emerging Growth 
Pressures and 
Assumed Reductions

The projections within the budget include all quantified 
priorities and growth pressures that are known at 
present. New priorities and growth pressures will 
undoubtedly emerge over the period and, in 
consequence, the indicative budget for future years will 
be updated annually. 

Financial Management The Council’s financial information and reporting 
arrangements are sound. The Council received an 
unqualified audit opinion for both the financial statements 
(2017/18) and value for money conclusion.

Adequacy of reserves and key risks to the achievement of the budget

The minimum prudent level of unallocated balances and earmarked reserves 
that the Council should maintain is a matter of judgement.  It is the Council’s 
safety net for unforeseen or other circumstances.  The minimum level cannot 
be judged merely against the current risks facing the Council, as these can 
and will change over time. The minimum General Fund balance is currently 
set at £2.5m, which is around 17.5% of estimated income. When considering 
the level of non-earmarked balances and the budget generally, the Council 
takes account of the key risks that could affect the viability of the budget. The 
main factors are:

 Interest rate volatility  

 Income volatility

 Change to Government grants/funding arrangements

 Government legislation and additional responsibility



Appendix H

 Changes to domestic and world economy e.g. possible effect of Brexit

 Emergencies

 Performance of the Pension Fund

 Failure of a major service partner

 Problems with computer systems causing a shortfall or halt in collection 
performance

 Ability to take advantage of opportunities

 Uninsured risks

 New services

 Income from business rates

The main specific financial risks for the Council in the short term are:

 Interest rates remaining low. Budgeted income reflects current market 
conditions with a strategy to avoid institutional default where possible. 
Risk of further downside movements is minimised by investment 
policies.

 The Council’s ability to reduce the use of temporary accommodation 
for homeless households leading to higher levels of mandatory 
expenditure – This pressure is continuing to grow.

 Business rates appeals and associated income volatility.

 Increases in arrears on council tax, business rates and rents.

 Fair Funding Review and reset of Business Rates Growth.

 Changes in the Local Government funding arrangements. 

 Roll out of Universal Credit.

 The effect of the welfare reforms on residents’ demands for services 
and their ability to pay for them.



Appendix H

The minimum General Fund balance will be kept under regular review.  The 
General Fund balance at 31 March 2019 is estimated to be £3m. Because of 
the risks identified above, the minimum balance will be maintained at £2.5m.

Earmarked Reserves

A number of earmarked reserves exist to cover items that require short-term 
revenue expenditure in the near future, or are held for specific purposes. 
These currently total approximately £26m, which should be sufficient to meet 
any unforeseen expenditure or loss of income for the key risks identified 
above. Some reserves will be adjusted in 2018/19 to reflect decisions in this 
budget and the Managing Director will review them all when finalising the 
2018/19 accounts. 

Capital Programme

The Capital Programme is based on corporate priorities and an estimate of 
available resources. The Council has been prudent in estimating capital 
resources and it is expected that additional resources will be generated in the 
next three years.

Housing Revenue Account

The Council operates a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for income and 
expenditure relating to the Council’s housing stock. By law, the HRA has to 
remain in surplus and the Council has taken positive action to ensure that it 
does so. The HRA will have a balance of approximately £11.6m at 31 March 
2019. This is likely to reduce over the next few years due to expenditure on 
New Build Housing and rent decreases, before increasing again from 
2022/23.

Opinion of the Authority’s Chief Financial Officer 

The Chief Financial Officer is of the opinion that the approach taken in 
developing the 2019/20 budget meets the requirements contained in the Local 
Government Act 2003, which are to ensure the robustness of the budget and 
the adequacy of reserves.





Appendix J (i)

COUNCIL TAX – PRECEPTS – 2019/2020

Bean Parish Council

Darenth Parish Council

Longfield and New Barn Parish Council

Southfleet Parish Council

Stone Parish Council  

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish Council

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council     

Wilmington Parish Council  

SPECIAL EXPENSE TOTAL

Dartford Borough Council
 (excluding special expenses)

Kent County Council – including social care precept
 

Kent Police and Crime Commissioner

Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority

   £

19,678

67,604

69,459

8,704

379,378

105,481

426,806

90,238

1,167,348

6,709,535 

49,049,246

7,290,839

2,935,209





 
Appendix J (ii)

Council Tax Parished and Unparished Areas -  2019/2020

UNPARISHED AREAS

AREA A B C D E F G H

Dartford Borough Council 118.50 138.25 158.00 177.75 217.25 256.75 296.25 355.50

Kent County Council 866.28 1,010.66 1,155.04 1,299.42 1,588.18 1,876.94 2,165.70 2,598.84

Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 128.77 150.23 171.69 193.15 236.07 278.99 321.92 386.30

Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority 51.84 60.48 69.12 77.76 95.04 112.32 129.60 155.52

Total Unparished Areas 1,165.39 1,359.62 1,553.85 1,748.08 2,136.54 2,525.00 2,913.47 3,496.16

TOTAL PARISHED AREAS

Bean Parish Council 1,188.92 1,387.08 1,585.23 1,783.38 2,179.68 2,575.99 2,972.30 3,566.76

Darenth Parish Council 1,200.82 1,400.95 1,601.09 1,801.22 2,201.49 2,601.76 3,002.04 3,602.44

Longfield and New Barn Parish Council 1,183.92 1,381.24 1,578.56 1,775.88 2,170.52 2,565.16 2,959.80 3,551.76

Southfleet Parish Council 1,174.62 1,370.39 1,566.16 1,761.93 2,153.47 2,545.01 2,936.55 3,523.86

Stone Parish Council 1,225.98 1,430.30 1,634.63 1,838.96 2,247.62 2,656.27 3,064.94 3,677.92

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish Council 1,212.99 1,415.15 1,617.32 1,819.48 2,223.81 2,628.13 3,032.47 3,638.96

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council 1,229.05 1,433.89 1,638.73 1,843.57 2,253.25 2,662.93 3,072.62 3,687.14

Wilmington Parish Council 1,185.52 1,383.10 1,580.69 1,778.27 2,173.44 2,568.61 2,963.79 3,556.54





 
Appendix J (iii)

Council Tax - Band D 2016/17 to 2019/20

Authority 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Kent County Council 1133.55 1178.82 1237.68 1299.42

Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 152.15 157.15 169.15 193.15

Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority 72.00 73.35 75.51 77.76

Dartford Borough Council 162.90 167.85 172.80 177.75

Bean Parish Council 32.35 32.89 34.63 35.30

Darenth Parish Council 46.50 46.74 48.53 53.14

Longfield and New Barn Parish Council 27.81 27.80 27.80 27.80

Southfleet Parish Council 14.67 13.99 13.80 13.85

Stone Parish Council 80.60 84.03 87.49 90.88

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish Council 66.78 68.12 70.00 71.40

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council 102.07 102.07 96.46 95.49

Wilmington Parish Council 28.75 29.17 29.74 30.19





 
Appendix J (iv)

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ANALYSIS OF NET GENERAL FUND BUDGET AND FUNDING

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
£ £ £

Revenue Support Grant 1,283,209 684,482 0 0
Business Rates 3,100,000 3,500,000 4,900,000 5,000,000
Homes Bonus 3,559,998 3,670,283 4,121,233 4,773,509

Redistributed by Central Government 7,943,207 7,854,765 9,021,233 9,773,509

Amount funded by Council Tax 5,578,183 5,930,960 6,339,178 6,709,535
less: transfer to reserves -1,495,061 -2,457,679 -3,423,829 -4,161,641

Funded by Council Taxpayers 4,083,122 3,473,281 2,915,349 2,547,894

Collection Fund surplus 225,001 284,374 504,248 498,896

Net General Fund Budget 12,251,330 11,612,420 12,440,830 12,820,299

Council Tax base 34,242.99 35,334.88 36,685.06 37,747.03

Band D Tax 162.90 167.85 172.80 177.75





Appendix K

1 COUNCIL TAX

1.1 The Basic Structure of Council Tax

Council tax is a tax on property, with certain personal discounts in specific 
circumstances.  The amount of tax payable depends on the value of the 
property occupied and the number of liable persons resident in the property.  
The actual payment required may be modified further in relation to means, 
through entitlement to council tax support. 

Residential properties have been valued in eight broad bands, labelled A-H, 
and the tax rate applying to each band will be determined in accordance with 
ratios established in the legislation, so that the lowest valued properties (Band 
A) will pay two-thirds of the tax applying to Band D, and the highest valued 
properties (Band H) will pay twice the Band D rate.

The normal rate of council tax applies to a household containing two or more 
liable adults.  There is no extra payment required if there are more than two 
liable adults, but a property with only one liable adult will qualify for a 25% 
discount. 

1.2 Setting the Preceptors’ Rates of Council Tax

County Councils, Fire Authorities and Police Authorities set their own rates of 
council tax.  In order to achieve this, they receive their own entitlement of 
RSG and non-domestic rate income.

Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue and the Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner determine their spending requirements as normal, including 
any adjustments to/from reserves, and then deduct government grant and 
business rate income to arrive at the amount to be funded from council tax.  
This sum is divided by the tax base for the whole county to establish each 
preceptor’s respective tax rates.

These authorities’ tax rates must be supplied with the council tax bills, either 
in hard copy or electronically.  These authorities also demand from each 
district the precept amount to be paid from the council tax collection fund, 
calculated by multiplying the district's tax base by the total tax rate for the 
county.

Although the various authorities set separate tax rates, taxpayers will receive 
a single bill.  Total tax bills will depend, therefore, on district council budget 
decisions as well as on those of the other authorities.  Individual bills will vary, 
depending not only upon the valuation band of the property, but also on any 
entitlement to personal discounts or council tax support, as well as any local 
parish precept.



Appendix K

2 THE ANNUAL BILL

2.1 Council tax is property based, with each billing authority having a council tax 
record for each domestic unit shown in the Valuation List issued by the 
Valuation Office.  Bills take account of personal discounts in respect of those 
properties for which the Council is satisfied that there is an entitlement to 
personal discount.

2.2 It is the responsibility of the billing authority to take reasonable steps to 
identify those properties where there is entitlement to a personal discount, 
e.g. unoccupied properties, those with only one adult resident, or where there 
are individuals in the discount disregard categories who do not add to the 
council tax bill.  If the Council is not satisfied that there is entitlement to 
personal discount, it should bill for 100% council tax, but the reasons for 
refusal of a discount must be capable of being substantiated at an appeal.

2.3 The differential amounts of council tax for properties in each of the eight 
property value bands (Bands A to H) are determined by the multipliers set out 
in the legislation as amounts related to the tax set for Band D as detailed 
below:-

Ratios of Tax

Band Range of Values (Value on 1 April 1991) Bills

Band A £40,000 or less 6/9

Band B more than £40,000 but no more than £52,000 7/9

Band C more than £52,000 but no more than £68,000 8/9

Band D more than £68,000 but no more than £88,000 1

Band E more than £88,000 but no more than £120,000 11/9

Band F more than £120,000 but no more than £160,000 13/9

Band G more than £160,000 but no more than £320,000 15/9

Band H more than £320,000 2

The Council’s tax base is calculated in terms of Band D by the number of 
properties in each band from Band A to Band H and converting the total in 
each band to a Band D equivalent.  The tax base for the whole area and town 
and parishes areas of Dartford was set by the Council at its meeting on 10 
December 2018



Appendix K

2.4 As a precepting authority, the Council is required by law to provide information 
on precepts by 1 March, in order that billing authorities can set their council 
tax before 11 March.

2.5 The amount of council tax is set as an annual amount, for each valuation 
band, due in respect of a financial year commencing on 1 April.  The annual 
debits for individual council taxpayers are taken directly from the amount set 
for the property value band in the area where the taxpayer's dwelling is 
located, but may be subject to one or more of the following deductions:

(a) Disabled Person's reduction

(b) Personal discount of 25% or 50%

(c) Council tax support

2.6 Once the council tax resolution has been passed, bills are printed on the 
assumption that people shown in the Council tax records as council taxpayers 
will be liable for the whole year's charge.  If the council taxpayer's liability is 
subject to a reduction for disabled person's relief or a discount, it is assumed 
that the reduction or discount will continue throughout the year.  If there is 
entitlement to council tax support, it is assumed that benefit will continue at 
the same level throughout the year.  It is the responsibility of the taxpayer to 
notify the Council of any change, although the Council must act if information 
comes to light which it believes results in a change of circumstances for the 
individual.

2.7 Initially, only one bill is issued to each household, addressed to the person or 
persons determined as the council taxpayer for that property.  Council tax bills 
may be addressed to one or more named individuals or, if the name of the 
liable person cannot be identified, the bill may be addressed to "The Council 
Taxpayer".

2.8 Persons who have been disregarded for the purpose of personal discount 
may still be responsible for paying council tax if they satisfy the test for 
liability, i.e. the person who comes highest in the liability list in Section 6 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  Therefore bills (with any appropriate 
discount allowed) must be issued to such people, where they are the liable 
person.  For example, a property owned and occupied by a student with a 
second, non-student, resident attracts a personal discount of 25%.  As 
resident owner, the student will be the liable person for council tax, in this 
case at 75% of the amount for the property value band, and should be billed 
accordingly.

2.9 An annual council tax bill issued at the beginning of the year will be payable 
by up to twelve monthly instalments.  The Council may offer alternative 
arrangements for bills to be paid by fewer instalments but taxpayers may 
insist on the right to pay by twelve instalments.  In all cases, enforcement will 



Appendix K

be related to whether a person has defaulted on any payment due based on a 
ten-monthly payment cycle.  Whilst instalment details must be shown on every 
bill, this does not prevent authorities from inviting payment in advance by a 
single lump sum, quarterly or in two halves.  Regulations will not permit 
payment to be demanded any earlier than 14 days after the issue of the bill 
and a minimum of 14 days' notice must be given of the first monthly 
instalment. The date on which instalments are payable is entirely a matter for 
the Council to decide and is not prescribed in legislation.

2.10 Requests from one person to pay the bill on behalf of another, as often occurs 
where someone is handling the affairs of an elderly relative, will be accepted.  
There is no reason why such requests should not be met, but if a bill is sent to 
the person volunteering to pay, there is still an obligation to send a bill directly 
to the actual council taxpayer, since regulation 18 of the Administration and 
Enforcement Regulations 1992 (as amended) requires the billing authority to 
serve a demand notice on every liable person.   The notice sent to the actual 
taxpayer, however, may carry a message to the effect that someone else has 
arranged to make payment.  In these cases, if the council tax is not paid, it will 
be necessary to inform the actual taxpayer accordingly and to apply any 
enforcement action only against the liable person.



Appendix L

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR MEMBERS

1. Introduction

1.1 It is important that Members are fully aware of the legal implications of the Council 
Tax making process, when they consider the Budget Report.  The situation is very 
complex and it is necessary to provide formal and full advice to all Members.

2. General Position

2.1 The first and overriding legal duty on Members is their fiduciary duty to weigh the 
needs of service users against the interests of local taxpayers.  In planning the 
annual budget, Members are under a fiduciary duty to act prudently, responsibly, in 
a businesslike manner and, in their view, in a way which constitutes the best 
interests of the general body of local taxpayers.  In deciding upon expenditure, the 
Council must fairly hold a balance between recipients of the benefits of services 
provided by the Council and its local taxpayers.  Members should note that their 
fiduciary duty includes consideration of future local taxpayers as well as present 
local taxpayers.

2.2 There is a general requirement in administrative law that a local authority decision 
must be rational, must be authorised by law and must take account of all relevant 
considerations, whilst ignoring any irrelevant ones (the Wednesbury Principles).  
The extent to which election promises or prior committee decisions may constitute a 
relevant consideration is dealt with in Section 8 below. A Council decision that is 
Wednesbury unreasonable may be quashed or invalidated by a court. 

2.3 The Localism Act 2011 provides a general power of competence which enables 
local authorities (and parish councils that meet certain minimum standards), to do 
anything apart from that which is specifically prohibited.  The power: 

 allows authorities to act in their own financial interest to generate efficiencies 
and secure value for money outcomes and to raise money by charging for 
discretionary services and trade in line with existing powers;

 allows authorities to engage in activities such as providing certain 
indemnities and guarantees and engaging in speculative activities;

 provides the Secretary of State with a power to amend or repeal enactments 
that prevent or obstruct local authorities from using the power, and to 
remove overlapping powers. 

However, some limitations have been placed on local authorities’ powers.  These 
will remain governed by the existing regimes in relation to taxation, precepting and 
borrowing (including Prudential Borrowing).  Councils are also required to act in 
accordance with statutory limitations or restrictions on their powers. The 
Wednesbury principle referred to in para. 2.2 above continues to apply. The 
Secretary of State has powers to set conditions, or prevent authorities relying on the 
power in specified circumstances. 

2.4 Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness (Section 20(c) Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014)



Appendix L

It is the Council’s responsibility to put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Council is 
required to maintain an effective system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of its policies, aims and objectives whilst safeguarding and securing 
value for money from the public funds at its disposal.

3. Obligation to Make a Council Tax

3.1 The legal significance of the Annual Budget derives from the Council's duty under 
Section 31A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the 1992 Act) to calculate 
the aggregate of:-

(a) the expenditure it estimates it will incur in the year in performing its functions 
in the year (including an allowance for contingencies);

(b) the payments it estimates it will make in the year in defraying expenditure 
already incurred; and

(c) expenditure it will incur in funding costs before a transfer of funds is made 
from the Collection Fund,

and then deduct such sums as will be paid into the General Fund, i.e. income.  
Calculations made under this section must be made before 11 March in the 
preceding financial year.

3.2 In order to fulfil this duty, the Council must prepare detailed estimates of its 
expenditure for the coming year and of the resources which will be available to 
meet this expenditure.  Account must be taken of any deficit brought forward from a 
previous year and the amount needed to cover contingencies.  The resources 
include income from rents, fees and charges and any available balances.  All of 
these issues must be addressed in the budget report.  The estimation of the 
detailed resource and expenditure items is the main reason for the budget process.  
The budget must balance, i.e. proposed expenditure must be met from proposed 
income from all sources, with any shortfall being the precept on the Collection Fund.  
In addition, there are the following specific requirements.

3.3 Section 30(6) of the 1992 Act places a duty on all charging authorities to make a 
Council Tax for the financial year on or before 11 March of that year, but not before 
the earlier of 1 March or the date of issue of the last precept capable of being 
issued to it for the financial year for which the amount is set.

The 1992 Act does not invalidate a Council Tax made after this date.  Failure to 
make a lawful Council Tax on or before 11 March could have serious financial 
results for the Council and make the Council vulnerable to an Order from the Courts 
requiring it to make a Council Tax.  Another effect of the 1992 Act is to place the 
same burden as under Community Charge upon any Council and its Members who 
are unable to agree on its Council Tax.  A combination of legal and practical factors 
creates the process, which is as follows:

(a) The Council can only borrow against known income.  There are three main 
sources of income:



Appendix L

(i) Transfers from the Collection Fund;
(ii) Government Grants; and
(iii) Rents, Fees and Charges

(b) Transfers from the Collection Fund become due only following the date on 
which the Council approves a valid resolution to make a Council Tax.  The 
Council cannot borrow against an anticipated Council Tax.

(c) The Council is under a fiduciary duty to local taxpayers to manage its 
financial affairs according to law in a reasonable and prudent manner.  

3.4 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 places a general duty on local 
authorities to make arrangements for ‘the proper administration of their financial 
affairs’.

3.5 Information must be published and included in the Council Tax demand notice.  The 
Secretary of State has made regulations which require charging authorities to issue 
demand notices in a form, and with contents, prescribed by these regulations.

3.6 There is also a duty under Section 65 of the 1992 Act to consult persons or bodies 
appearing to be representative of persons subject to non-domestic rates in each 
area about proposals for expenditure (including capital expenditure) for each 
financial year.  

The non-domestic rate poundage is set by central government and they do not 
consider it a matter for consultation at a local level.  It is the government's view that 
ratepayers are a major consumer of local authority services and contribute a 
substantial proportion of local authority revenue through non-domestic rates.  They 
have a wider interest through their capacity as employers, as well as other 
concerns.

Consultation under Section 65 of the 1992 Act is intended to provide a focus for a 
constructive and continuing dialogue between authorities and representatives of 
non-domestic ratepayers on all these matters.  The emphasis of the system is on 
ensuring that consultation takes place from the earliest stage in the development of 
expenditure plans and is not concentrated on the detailed budget proposals at the 
point at which they are about to be finalised.  An authority must consult before it 
makes the calculation of expenditure referred to earlier.

4 Council Tax - Localism Act 2011 implications

4.1 Under provisions in the Localism Act 2011, local authorities are required to 
determine whether the amount of Council Tax they plan to raise is excessive.  A set 
of principles, defined by the Secretary of State and approved by the House of 
Commons, is used by authorities to decide if the amount to be raised is excessive. 
An authority proposing an excessive increase must also make substitute 
calculations, based on a non-excessive council tax level, and this takes effect if the 
council tax level initially set by the authority is rejected in the referendum.

4.2 The provisions first applied in the 2012-13 financial year. For 2019-20 the 
government set out the percentage increase in Council Tax which local authorities, 
Fire Authorities and Police and Crime Commissioners in England can set in 2019-



Appendix L

20 without a referendum. A general increase of 2.99% is set with two exceptions. 
The first of these exceptions is that Authorities providing social care can charge an 
additional levy of up to 3% on their bill and the second is that lower quartile district 
councils and police authorities have a separate increase limit of £5 and £24 
respectively.

So far the restriction scheme has not been applied to parish and town councils, 
although the Secretary of State has said that this may be revisited in the future.  

Referendums, if applicable, are to be organised by billing authorities and there is 
provision for recovery of expenses where the referendum is held on behalf of a 
precepting authority. Rules for the conduct of referendums have been set out in 
regulations.  

5. Deficit Budgeting

5.1 A deficit budget - one which does not cover all anticipated expenditure with 
resources reasonably expected to be available - is unlawful.  Any Council Tax which 
rests on such a budget will be invalid.  Councils are constrained to make a Council 
Tax before all the separate elements, which will constitute available resources or 
anticipated expenditure, have been identified and quantified fully. Best estimates 
have to be employed.

5.2. Where these best estimates include sums for unallocated savings or unidentified 
expectations of income, extreme care must be taken to ensure that the estimates 
are reasonable and realistic and do not reflect an unlawful intention to incur a 
deficit.   It might be appropriate at budget setting time to require regular monitoring 
throughout the financial year of such estimated savings or income. Prompt action to 
reduce spending must be taken, if at any stage it seems likely that a balance 
between income and expenditure will not be achieved.  Court cases have shown 
that borough newspapers and publicity material, extracts from Members' speeches 
reported in local newspapers and the text of Council resolutions can all provide 
evidence of unlawful misconduct within the meaning of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1982 and might similarly provide evidence of unlawful intention to incur 
a deficit, if unidentified savings were to be included in the agreed budget.

6. Borrowing

The Council is permitted to borrow within limits set by the Council in its Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, under the framework established by the self-
regulating Prudential Code (see Appendix D (iii & iv)).

7. Other Relevant Legislation

7.1 Under Sections 114(2) and 114(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (the 
1998 Act), the Section 151 Officer is required to make a report, if it appears that a 
decision or course of action the Council or an officer has agreed, or is about to 
make, is unlawful, or that expenditure is likely to exceed resources available.

7.2 The statutory effect of issuing a report is provided for in Section 115 of the 1988 Act 
and may be summarised as follows:



Appendix L

(a) The Council must meet within 21 days of the date of a report to consider its 
contents.  The Council must decide whether it agrees or disagrees with the 
views contained therein and what action, if any, it proposes to take in 
consequence of it.

(b) Beginning with the date of a report and ending with the first business day 
after the day on which the Council concludes its consideration of it, the 
Authority must not enter into any new agreement which may involve the 
incurring of expenditure (at any time) by the Authority.

7.3 The first duty of Members is to determine whether they agree with the Section 151 
Officer's report.  If Members were to disagree, they would need to set out cogent 
reasons for so doing.  Unless such reasons can be set forward, Members' action in 
disagreeing with the Section 151 Officer's views on the basis of her professional 
judgement would be likely to be held unreasonable and could constitute a breach of 
the [Member] Code of Conduct.

7.4 The Council is under a general duty to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

Localism Act 2011 (the 2011 Act)

7.5 Key measures to increase the power of local government through the 2011 Act 
include:
 A general power of competence, giving councils unprecedented freedom to 

work together to improve services and drive down costs. Councils are now free 
to do anything - provided they do not break other laws;

 Giving councils greater control over business rates. Councils have the power to 
offer business rate discounts, which could help attract firms, investment and 
jobs. The 2011 Act cancels backdated business rates and prevents the 
imposition of a  business rate supplement on firms if a simple majority of those 
affected do not give their consent, and simplifies the process for claiming small 
business rate relief;

 Allowing councils to keep the rent they collect and use it locally to maintain 
social homes through the abolition of the housing revenue account;

 Removing the ability of councils to charge families for overfilling their bin and to 
introduce extra tariffs for taking away household waste;

 Giving communities the right to veto excessive council tax rises. Previously only 
central government had the power to ‘cap’ increases.

8. Member Code of Conduct

8.1 The Council is under a duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
its elected members, co-opted members and parish/town councillors.  In July 2012, 
the Council adopted a new [Member] Code of Conduct. The Audit Board oversees 
the Council’s ethical governance arrangements.  



Appendix L

9. Legal Status of Political Promises and Documents

9.1 It is appropriate for Members to consider their own position as some Members may 
have expressed support publicly for policies that are not policies of the Council.

9.2 Political documents do not represent a commitment on behalf of the Council.  To 
treat any political document as a commitment would be illegal.  Where there is a 
valid choice before Members then, at that stage, and only at that stage, Members 
may take political documents into account.

9.3 All decisions must be taken within the framework of the formal decision making 
process of the Authority.  Members must take into account all relevant matters and 
disregard all irrelevant ones.  Decisions taken at a political meeting, such as a 
political group meeting, have no status within this process.  A Member who votes in 
accordance with a group decision which has been reached, having regard to 
relevant factors, and who has addressed their mind independently to those factors 
and to the decision itself, will be acting within the law.

9.4 The Court, in considering the Westminster Gerrymandering case, took the 
opportunity to provide guidance to Officers and Members seeking to keep on the 
right side of the difficult professional line of maintaining political independence.  The 
Court stated as follows:

9.4.1 “There is nothing improper in Council Officers attending political meetings of a 
group of Council Members if invited to do so.  Their presence does not convey 
assent to party political views but gives the opportunity to hear the germination 
and development of ideas, which may develop into Council policy.  That 
knowledge will both alert them to issues, which they may ultimately have to 
address professionally and in some cases give "a steer" as to the practicality and 
propriety of ideas before they become policy.

9.4.2 It is entirely appropriate for Officers to provide Councillors with information about 
their local authority and its inhabitants which is available to the Officers and which 
can be supplied at modest cost.

9.4.3 In their dealings with Members, Officers may well hear a substantial amount of 
"Members’ speak" i.e. talk that is obviously party political in nature.  This does not 
require the giving of advice or the taking of action by an Officer until such time as it 
is clear that the aspiration contained in the "Members’ speak" is to become policy.

9.4.4 What Officers should not do is imperil their independence by political partiality, 
suppress their professional views in the face of political pressure or lend support 
to policies of a party political or sectional serving character which are not in the 
interests of the authority's council tax payers as a whole.”

9.5 The Courts have advised on the balancing exercise to be undertaken by a Council 
when deciding whether to pursue a particular policy.  The Court held as follows:-

9.5.1 “A local authority must exercise its statutory powers in the public interest and for 
the purpose of which those powers have been conferred.



Appendix L

9.5.2 Political views, as to the weight to be attached to the various relevant 
considerations and as to what is appropriate in the public interest in the light of 
those considerations, may properly influence the exercise of a statutory discretion.

9.5.3 A decision will not be unlawful merely because some political advantage, such as 
electoral popularity, is expected to flow from it, so long as the decision is made for 
a legitimate purpose or purposes.  Because at some stage in the evolution of a 
policy an improper political purpose has been espoused, does not mean that the 
policy ultimately adopted is necessarily unlawful.

9.5.4 However, a political purpose extraneous to the statutory purpose can taint a 
decision with impropriety.

9.5.5 Where there is more than one purpose:-

a) The decision will generally be lawful provided that the permitted purpose is 
the true and dominant purpose behind the act.  This is so even though some 
secondary or incidental advantage may be gained for some purpose, which 
is outside the authority's powers.

b) The decision will be invalid if there are two purposes - one ultra vires and 
one intra vires - and the ultra vires purpose is a (even if not the) major 
purpose of the decision.  Accordingly, a decision substantially influenced by 
a wish to alter the composition of the electorate would be unlawful.

9.5.6 Where there is some evidence justifying enquiry, the Court will consider whether 
an apparently lawful purpose e.g. home ownership is merely a colourable device 
to conceal an illegitimate purpose e.g. electoral advantage.





  

in Local Government

 the role of the 
 chief financial officer

Appendix M



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government2

Contents
Foreword ................................................................................................................................... 3

Definitions used throughout the document ...................................................................... 4

Introducing the CIPFA statement ........................................................................................ 6

Using the CIPFA statement ................................................................................................... 7

Principle 1 ................................................................................................................................ 8

Principle 2 ..............................................................................................................................12

Principle 3 ..............................................................................................................................17

Principle 4 ..............................................................................................................................24

Principle 5 ..............................................................................................................................27

Appendix A – Legislative Requirements ...........................................................................29

Appendix B – Flow chart for section 114 procedures .....................................................34

CIPFA Statement on the role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government

The chief financial officer (CFO) in a public service organisation:

 < is a key member of the leadership team, helping it to develop and implement 
strategy and to resource and deliver the authority’s strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public interest

 < must be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all material 
business decisions to ensure immediate and longer term implications, 
opportunities and risks are fully considered, and alignment with the authority’s 
financial strategy 

 < must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole authority of good financial 
management so that public money is safeguarded at all times and used 
appropriately, economically, efficiently and effectively. 

To deliver these responsibilities the chief financial officer:

 < must lead and direct a finance function that is resourced to be fit for purpose

 < must be professionally qualified and suitably experienced.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 3

foreword

1 www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports

This Statement on the Role of the CFO in Local Government describes the role and 
responsibilities of CFOs in local government. It builds heavily on CIPFA’s Statement on 
the Role of The CFO in Public Services1 and applies the principles and roles set out in that 
document to Local Government.

The CFO occupies a critical position in any organisation, 
holding the financial reins of the business and ensuring 
that resources are used wisely to secure positive results. 
While the global financial crisis and economic downturn 
have made these tasks even more challenging, they 
have also underlined the fundamental importance 
of the role. Achieving value for money and securing 
stewardship are key components of the CFO’s role 

in public service organisations, a duty enshrined in 
legislation for the CFO in local government. 

In order to support CFOs in the fulfilment of their duties 
and to ensure that local authorities have access to 
effective financial advice at the highest level, CIPFA is 
introducing a ‘comply or explain’ requirement in the 
annual statement of accounts.

Rob Whiteman 
Chief Executive 
CIPFA

 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government4

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
The organisation’s most senior executive role 
charged with leading and directing financial strategy 
and operations. 

Deputy Finance Officer 
Is the designated deputy finance officer for the chief 
finance officer.

Leadership Team
Comprises the Board and management team.

Board
The group of people charged with setting the strategic 
direction for the organisation and responsible for 
its achievement.

Management Team
The group of executive staff comprising the senior 
management charged with the execution of strategy.

Chief Executive
The most senior executive role in the organisation.

Deputy CFO 
The deputy supports the CEO and has 
delegated authority. 

Managers
The staff responsible for the achievement of the 
organisation’s purpose through services/businesses 
and delivery to its clients/customers.

Finance Function
The staff with a prime responsibility for financial 
matters, located either in a central department or 
within business/service areas. Some functions may 
be outsourced.

Governance2 
The arrangements in place to ensure that an 
organisation fulfils its overall purpose, achieves its 
intended outcomes for citizens and service users, and 
operates in an economical, effective, efficient and 
ethical manner.

Financial Management3 
The system by which the financial aspects of a 
public service organisation’s business are directed, 
controlled and influenced, to support the delivery of the 
organisation’s goals.

Audit Committee
The governance group charged with independent 
assurance of the adequacy of the risk management 
framework, the internal control environment and the 
integrity of financial reporting.

 definitions used  
 throughout the document

The public services have a variety of organisational structures and governance arrangements. 
Some include elected representatives, while others are wholly appointed. The following terms 
are used throughout the Statement in a generic sense. The Statement and the supporting 
guideline and requirements need to be read in the context of these. Terms in use in different 
parts of the public services can be substituted for the generic terms used here.

2 The Good Governance Standard for Public Services 2004, OPM and CIPFA, 2004 www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports

3  CIPFA FM Model, www.cipfa.org/fmmodel



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 5

Internal Audit
An assurance function that provides an independent 
and objective opinion to the organisation on the 
control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness 
in achieving the organisation’s objectives. 

Head of Profession
The leading professionally qualified accountant 
charged with promoting professional standards within 
the organisation.

Annual Governance Report 
The mechanism by which an organisation publicly 
reports on its governance arrangements each year.

Public Service Organisation

One or more legal bodies managed as a coherent 
operational entity with the primary objective of 
providing goods or services that deliver social benefits 
for civic society, are not privately owned, and receive 
public and/or charitable funding.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government6

 introducing the  
 CIPFA statement

The CFO in local government is not only bound by 
professional standards but also by specific legislative 
responsibilities. This statement should also be applied 
to those individuals who carry out the role of deputy 
CFO or section 151 officer. They must have regard to the 
fact that delegated responsibility brings with it all the 
professional standards and legal responsibilities of the 
CFO. The role and responsibilities of the ‘treasurer’ were 
developed by case law in England and Wales. In Attorney 
General v De Winton 1906, it was established that the 
treasurer is not merely a servant of the authority, but 
holds a fiduciary responsibility to the local taxpayers. 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires 
local authorities to make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and appoint a 
CFO to have responsibility for those arrangements.4

Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973 requires local authorities to make arrangements 
for the proper administration of their financial affairs 
and appoint a CFO to have responsibility for those 
arrangements. In Northern Ireland, section 54 of 
the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 1972 
requires local authorities to make safe and efficient 
arrangements for the receipt of money paid to it 
and the issue of money payable by it and for those 
arrangements to be carried out under the supervision 
the chief financial officer.

This Statement sets out how the requirements of 
legislation and professional standards should be fulfilled 
by CFOs in the carrying out of their role. The Statement 
is not intended to be exhaustive and does not negate 
the personal responsibility of finance professionals to 
ensure that they comply with all professional standards 
and legislative requirements. It is intended to codify 
the key responsibilities of the CFO in local government 
and assist those carrying out that role in ensuring 
that they meet the key personal duties of the role. The 
Statement refers to CIPFA’s Statement of Professional 
Practice with which all CIPFA members are required 
to comply. For members of other accountancy bodies 
this represents best practice within the public sector. 
All professional accountants should also have regard to 
their own body’s Code of Ethics as well as that produced 
by International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA) on behalf of the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC).

Contained with the appendices for completeness is a 
description of the legislative framework. 

4 For the Greater London Authority and its four functional bodies (Transport for London, the London Development Agency, the Metropolitan Police Authority 
and London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.) the chief finance officer is not a s151 officer but a s127 officer (GLA Act 1999). For the City of 
London the chief finance officer the 1989 Local Government and Housing Act that places the Chamberlain in the same relationship to the Court of 
Common Council as applies to local authority chief financial officers to their councils. 

This Statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in Local Government aims 
to give detailed advice on how to apply the overarching public services Statement within 
local government. 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 7

Statement approach and structure
The Statement sets out the five principles that define 
the core activities and behaviours that belong to the 
role of the CFO in public service organisations and the 
organisational arrangements needed to support them. 
Successful implementation of each of the principles 
requires the right ingredients in terms of:

 < the organisation

 < the role

 < the individual.

For each principle the Statement sets out the 
governance arrangements required within an 
organisation to ensure that CFOs are able to operate 
effectively and perform their core duties. The Statement 
also sets out the core responsibilities of the CFO role 
within the organisation. Many of the day-to-day 
responsibilities may in practice be delegated or even 
outsourced, but the CFO should maintain oversight 
and control. 

Summaries of personal skills and professional standards 
then detail the leadership skills and technical expertise 
organisations can expect from their CFO. These 
include the key requirements of CIPFA and the other 
professional accountancy bodies’ codes of ethics and 
professional standards to which the CFO as a qualified 
professional is bound. The personal skills described have 
been aligned with the most appropriate principle, but in 
many cases can support other principles as well.

CIPFA Statement on the role of the 
chief financial officer (CFO) in public 
service organisations

The CFO in a public service organisation:
1 is a key member of the leadership team, helping it 

to develop and implement strategy and to resource 
and deliver the organisation’s strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public interest

2 must be actively involved in, and able to bring 
influence to bear on, all material business decisions 
to ensure immediate and longer term implications, 
opportunities and risks are fully considered, and 
alignment with the organisation’s financial strategy 

3 must lead the promotion and delivery by the 
whole organisation of good financial management 
so that public money is safeguarded at all times 
and used appropriately, economically, efficiently 
and effectively. 

To deliver these responsibilities the CFO:
4 must lead and direct a finance function that 

is resourced to be fit for purpose

5 must be professionally qualified and 
suitably experienced.

 using the 
 CIPFA statement

The organisation: 
Governance Requirements

The role:
Core CFO Responsibilities

The individual:
Personal Skills and 

Professional Standards

1

2

3

4

5



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government8

The chief financial officer in a local authority is a key member of the leadership team, helping 
it to develop and implement strategy and to resource and deliver the authority’s strategic 
objectives sustainably and in the public interest.

Key member of the leadership team
The leadership team in public services organisations 
takes many forms, with different mixes of executive and 
non–executive members and elected representatives. 
Collectively the leadership team are responsible for 
setting the strategic direction for the organisation, its 
implementation and the delivery of public services. 
In recognition of the centrality of financial issues to 
organisational success it is UK government policy that 
all government departments should have a professional 
CFO reporting directly to the permanent secretary with a 
seat on the departmental board, with a status equivalent 
to other Board members. HM Treasury recommends ‘It 
is good practice for all other public sector organisations 
to do the same, and to operate the same standards’.5 
CIPFA fully supports the Treasury’s recommendation.

Local authorities operate a number of different 
democratic models. In local authorities, therefore, the 
concept of the leadership team will include executive 
committees, elected mayors, portfolio holders with 
delegated powers and other key committees of the 
authority. The CFO should play a key role within these 
leadership teams whilst balancing their responsibility to 
advise all members.

Local authorities are required to have a suitably 
qualified CFO with certain defined responsibilities and 
powers.6 The governance requirements in the Statement 
are that the CFO should be professionally qualified, 
report directly to the chief executive and be a member of 
the leadership team, with a status at least equivalent to 
other members. The Statement requires that if different 
organisational arrangements are adopted the reasons 
should be explained publicly in the authority’s Annual 
Governance Report7, together with how these deliver the 
same impact.

Developing and implementing 
organisational strategy
All local authorities face competition for limited public 
funds and have to balance expenditure needs against 
the burden of local taxation. Many will have allocated 
cash limits, while others have tax raising powers. All will 
be concerned to examine opportunities, with suitable 
assessment of legal powers and risk, for building income 
streams, whether through attracting external grants, 
charging for services, or commercial activity. Strategic 
planning needs to be based on an understanding of the 
external political landscape, the authority’s demand 
and cost drivers, and the need to manage and fund 
longer term commitments on a sustainable basis. 
Increasingly local authorities are working with statutory 
and in partnership, requiring strategy and development 
across a number of different partners. Local authorities 
strategic planning frameworks need to allow for this.

Finance translates ambitions and goals across the 
authority into a common language, so the CFO must 
share in the strategy development and implementation 
responsibilities of the leadership team. These include 
supporting elected representatives under the proper 
governance arrangements and the CFO must be in 
a position to provide unfettered advice to elected 
representatives to inform their decision making. 

The CFO must also ensure the members of the 
leadership team have the financial capabilities 
necessary to perform their own roles effectively. 
There is a duty on the leadership team to ensure the 
decisions framework is sufficient to allow this, e.g. LEP 
and partnership decisions. The CFO must encourage 
continuous improvement and development to enable 
the authority to deliver at the highest levels. As well as 
having the fundamental concern for probity and control, 

principle 1

5  HM Treasury ‘Managing Public Money’ Annex 4.1. 2007

6  The officer appointed as the CFO must, by virtue of section 113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 in England and Wales, be a member of a specified 
accountancy body. There is no equivalent statutory requirement in Northern Ireland and Scotland although in both cases, this is widely acknowledged to be 
good practice.

7 The Annual Governance Statement is currently voluntary in Scotland.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 9

the CFO must be proactive in managing change and 
risk, be focussed on outcomes, and help to resource 
the authority’s plans for change and development in 
the public services it provides. As a key member of the 
leadership team, the CFO must also behave in ways 
that are consistent with the authority’s agreed values, 
objectives and appetite for risk.

Helping resource and deliver 
organisational objectives
There is a growing trend for CFOs to hold a range of 
different responsibilities beyond finance, including 
managing other services or leading change 
programmes. Whilst these can develop the individual 
as a corporate manager, authorities must not let the 
CFO’s core financial responsibilities be compromised 
through creating too wide a portfolio. Dilution and/
or overload in the role of the CFO can result in poor 
financial outcomes for the authority. Setting out the 
core CFO responsibilities in this Statement is intended 
to allow local authorities and their CFOs to assess 
their job descriptions to ensure that their core finance 
responsibilities can be properly performed.

Local authorities also need to engage with partners 
through a range of collaborative or commissioned 
relationships in order to realise their goals. Partnership 
working and the focus on community outcomes mean 
that the CFO needs to understand the financial risks and 
potential liabilities that may impact on the authority 
and have appropriate involvement in partnerships’ 
business decisions. The CFO must therefore work to 
develop strong and constructive working relationships 
with key decision makers in partner organisations. 
Where the CFO is providing advice to partner bodies 
and organisations it remains the CFO’s responsibility to 
ensure that where actual or potential conflicts of interest 
may occur, the local authority has access to appropriate 
financial advice independent of that partnership. 

Delivering the authority’s strategic 
objectives sustainably and in the 
public interest
Local authorities have a corporate responsibility to 
operate within available resources and to remain 
financially sound over the short-, medium- and longer- 
term. Maximising public value involves an appreciation 
of user needs, expectations and preferences, and the 
planning process must allow for their involvement and 
influence. The internal process to determine priorities 
often then needs to grapple with service rationing 
and difficult trade-offs between different groups of 
service users, as well as between present and future 
benefits. The overarching long-term need to match 
financial resources to the authority’s purposes and 
policies, within constraints of affordability, taken 

with the responsibility to citizens and taxpayers 
for financial stewardship, mean that the CFO must 
contribute actively to cross organisational issues and 
to corporate decision making to match resources to the 
authority’s objectives. 

Public finance is complex and highly regulated, and 
the CFO must contribute expert technical advice and 
interpretation. CFOs must act in the public interest, even 
if necessary against a perceived organisational interest. 
In some types of public service organisation, including 
local authorities, this professional obligation is given 
statutory backing, and a fiduciary duty is established in 
case law. In Attorney General v De Winton 1906, it was 
established that the treasurer is not merely a servant of 
the authority, but holds a fiduciary responsibility to the 
local taxpayers. This remains applicable to the CFO. 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires 
that every local authority in England and Wales should 
“... make arrangements for the proper administration of 
their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their 
officers has responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs”. Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) 
Act 1973 substantially repeats these words for Scottish 
authorities. In Northern Ireland, section 54 of the Local 
Government Act (Northern Ireland) 1972 requires that 
“a council shall make safe and efficient arrangements 
for the receipt of money paid to it and the issue of 
money payable by it and those arrangements shall be 
carried out under the supervision of such officer of the 
council as the council designates as its CFO”.

The CFO’s duties in England and Wales were significantly 
extended by section 114 of the 1988 Act which requires 
a report to all the local authority’s members to be made 
by that officer, in consultation with the monitoring 
officer (MO) and head of paid service, if there is or is 
likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced 
budget. Section 114 does not apply to Scotland – 
instead the requirement to set a balanced budget 
is established in s108(2) of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973 and s93(3) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. In Northern Ireland, the equivalent 
duty – whilst not specified in statute – would rest 
with the authority’s CFO in keeping with the statutory 
responsibility under section 54 of the Local Government 
Act (Northern Ireland) 1972.

As holders of the ‘red card’, the CFO must exercise a 
professional responsibility to intervene in spending 
plans in order to maintain the balance of resources so 
that the authority remains in sound financial health. 
To ensure that the necessary corrective action is 
implemented, the CFO must have direct access to the 
chief executive, other leadership team members, the 
audit committee and also to external audit.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government10

Governance requirements  Principle 1

 < Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the leadership team and its 
members individually.

 < Ensure that the CFO reports directly to the chief executive and is a member of the leadership team with a status 
at least equivalent to other members.

 < If different organisational arrangements are adopted, explain the reasons publicly, together with how these 
deliver the same impact. 

 < Determine a scheme of delegation and reserve powers, including a formal schedule of those matters specifically 
reserved for collective decisions by the Board, and ensure that it is monitored and updated.

 < Ensure that authority’s governance arrangements allow the CFO: 

– to bring influence to bear on all material business decisions

– direct access to the chief executive, other leadership team members, the audit committee and external audit.

 < Review the scope of the CFO’s other management responsibilities to ensure financial matters are 
not compromised.

 < Assess the financial skills required by members of the leadership team and commit to develop those skills to 
enable their roles to be carried out effectively.

 < Review partnership arrangements to ensure that the authority always has access to financial advice in 
relations to its role in partnership.

Core CFO responsibilities Principle 1

 < Contributing to the effective leadership of the authority, maintaining focus on its purpose and vision through 
rigorous analysis and challenge.

 < Contributing to the effective corporate management of the authority, including strategy implementation, 
cross organisational issues, integrated business and resource planning, risk management and 
performance management.

 < Supporting the effective governance of the authority through development of

– corporate governance arrangements, risk management and reporting framework8

– corporate decision making arrangements. 

 < Contributing to the development of public service partnership to deliver objectives.

 < Leading or promoting change programmes within the authority.

 < Leading development of a medium-term financial strategy and the annual budgeting process to ensure 
financial balance and a monitoring process to ensure its delivery. 

8 CIPFA LAAP 99 Bulletin on Local Authority Reserves



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 11

Personal skills and professional standards Principle 1

 < Role model, energetic, determined, positive, robust and resilient leadership, able to inspire confidence and 
respect, and exemplify high standards of conduct.

 < Adopt a flexible leadership style, able to move through visioning to implementation and collaboration/
consultation to challenge as appropriate.

 < Build robust relationships both internally and externally.

 < Work effectively with other leadership team members with political awareness and sensitivity. 

 < Support collective ownership of strategy, risks and delivery.

 < Address and deal effectively with difficult situations.

 < Demonstrate best practice in change management and leadership.

 < Balance conflicting pressures and needs, including short- and longer- term trade-offs.

 < Facilitate the growth of effective partnerships whilst balancing the need to protect the individual 
financial position.

 < Demonstrate strong commitment to innovation and performance improvement.

 < Manage a broad portfolio of services to meet the needs of diverse communities.

 < Facilitate the growth of effective partnership enabling improved service delivery.

 < Maintain an appropriate balance between the technical financial aspects of the CFO role and broader focus 
on the environment and stakeholder expectations and needs.

 < Comply with the IFAC Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as implemented by local regulations and 
accountancy bodies, as well as other ethical standards that are applicable to them by virtue of their professional 
status as a member of CIPFA or another accountancy institute. The fundamental principles set out in the Code 
are integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality, and professional behaviour. 
Impartiality is a further fundamental requirement of those operating in the public services.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government12

Responsibility for financial strategy
No organisation can achieve its goals effectively without 
proper structures for allocating and optimising the 
use of resources. The centrality of finance means the 
CFO must play the lead role in advising and supporting 
the leadership team in turning policy aspirations into 
reality by aligning financial planning with the vision and 
strategic objectives for the authority. 

Within the overall corporate governance and 
management structure, the CFO has direct responsibility 
for leading development and implementation of the 
financial strategy necessary to deliver the authority’s 
strategic objectives sustainably. The CFO must therefore 
work closely with decision makers to establish a 
medium- to long-term strategy that ensures the 
financial sustainability of the authority. This may 
require the CFO to provide comprehensive advice on 
alternative delivery models to inform debate. 

The CFO must also develop and manage resource 
allocation models to optimise service outputs and 
community benefits within funding constraints and any 
tax raising limits. In implementing these models, the 
CFO must ensure that the financial and risk implications 
of policy initiatives are analysed and appropriately 
addressed. Models must encompass partnership 
working, alternative delivery models, capital investment 
programmes and annual operations, as well as financial 
targets and benchmarks. They must also take into 
account future commitments, resources available 
and the desirable levels of reserves, to ensure that the 
authority’s finances remain sustainable.

The statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State under the 2000 Local Government Act (England 
and Wales) advises that local authorities will need to 
ensure that the CFO and the monitoring officer have 

access as necessary to meetings and papers and that 
members must consult with him/her regularly.10 The 
advice continues that the finance director will have an 
important role in the management of the local authority 
in particular by: 

 < contributing to corporate management in particular 
to the provision of professional financial advice

 < maintaining financial administration and 
stewardship

 < supporting and advising all members and officers 
in their respective roles

 < examining alternative delivery models and 
supporting members in their understanding of 
each approach

 < providing financial information to the media, 
members of the public and the community.

There is no equivalent legislative requirement in 
Scotland or Northern Ireland, but the guidance is 
equally relevant.

Influencing decision making
Local authorities must be rigorous in their decision 
making, be explicit about the reasons for their decisions 
and record the supporting information and expected 
impact. This requires the CFO to be actively involved 
in, and able to bring influence to bear on all material 
business decisions whenever and wherever they 
are taken. 

The CFO must be able to advise the leadership team 
directly, including elected representatives, in order to 
discharge responsibilities in relation to the authority’s 
financial health and long-term viability. The CFO must 
therefore be a persuasive and confident communicator 
with the status and credibility to challenge others, 

The CFO in a local authority must be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to 
bear on, all material business decisions to ensure immediate and longer term implications, 
opportunities and risks are fully considered, and alignment with the authority’s overall 
financial strategy.

principle 2

10  In Wales the statutory guidance does not include this reference but implies that this should be the case.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 13

and influence material business decisions. The CFO’s 
advice and reports to the leadership team must be clear, 
concise, relevant and timely, highlighting issues that 
the team needs to be aware of, and options for action.

The CFO must also work to develop strong and 
constructive working relationships with both the 
executive and non executive members of the authority’s 
leadership, creating mutual respect and effective 
communication. Providing information and advice 
to elected officials as a public servant will call on an 
understanding of ethics, the wider public interest, 
and diplomacy.

The Local Government Act 2003 and Local Government 
Scotland Act 2003 emphasise the importance of sound 
and effective financial management. In relation to 
capital financing there is a statutory requirement for 
each local authority to set and arrange their affairs to 
remain within prudential limits for borrowing and capital 
investment. Advice on fulfilling this responsibility is set 
out in CIPFA’s Prudential Code.11

In England and Wales there is also a statutory duty 
on the CFO to report to the authority, at the time the 
budget is considered and the council tax set, on the 
robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy 
of financial reserves. This is a public report. In addition, 
the Secretary of State in England or the National 
Assembly for Wales have reserve powers to specify in 
regulations a statutory minimum level of reserves that 
will be used if authorities fail to remedy deficiencies 
or run down reserves against the advice of the CFO. 
There is no equivalent specific legislation in Scotland or 
Northern Ireland. 

The CFO also has a key role to play in fulfilling the 
requirements of the statutory duty to keep the 
authority’s finances under review during the year and 
take action if there is evidence that financial pressures 
will result in a budget overspend or if there is a shortfall 
in income.12

Financial information for decision makers
At all levels in the authority those taking decisions 
must be presented with relevant, objective and reliable 
financial analysis and advice, clearly setting out the 
financial implications and risks.

The CFO has an important role in ensuring necessary 
financial information and advice is provided to the 
leadership team and decision makers at all levels 
across the authority. Meaningful financial analysis and 

robust and impartial interpretation is a key component 
in performance management, asset management, 
investment appraisal, risk management and control.

Although not a specific responsibility of CFOs alone, 
they – along with the monitoring officer and chief legal 
officer (CLO) – should be alert to the ‘Wednesbury’ rules14 
which emphasise the importance of ensuring that when 
developing policy all relevant matters are properly 
considered. The judgement in the case stated that an 
authority’s action in exercise of a statutory discretion 
would only be regarded unreasonable, in excess of the 
powers given by Parliament and therefore invalid if:

 < in making its decision it took into account matters 
which it ought not to take into account, or

 < it did not take into account matters which it should 
have taken into account, or

 < even if the two previous conditions were satisfied the 
conclusion was so unreasonable that no reasonable 
authority could ever come to it.

These principles apply regardless of whether 
decisions on policy are taken by individual members 
or collectively. In order to demonstrate that these 
principles have been observed it is important that 
policy decisions and the associated advice are – as 
a matter of routine – well and clearly documented. 
The ‘Wednesbury’ rules do not apply specifically 
in Scotland or Northern Ireland, but adherence to 
these will demonstrate good governance and proper 
decision making.

11  The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, CIPFA www.cipfa.org/publications

12 Associated Provincial Picture Houses v Wednesbury Corporation (1948).



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government14

Governance requirements Principle 2

 < Establish a medium-term business and financial planning process to deliver the authority’s strategic objectives, 
including:

– a medium-term financial strategy to ensure sustainable finances

–  a robust annual budget process that ensures financial balance

–  a monitoring process that enables this to be delivered.

 < Ensure that these are subject to regular review to confirm the continuing relevance of assumptions used.

 < Ensure that professional advice on matters that have financial implications is available and recorded well in 
advance of decision making and used appropriately.

 < Ensuring that budget calculations are robust and reserves adequate, in line with CIPFA’s guidance.

 < Ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit for purpose – relevant, timely and 
giving clear explanations of financial issues and their implications.

 < Ensure that timely, accurate and impartial financial advice and information is provided to assist in decision 
making and to ensure that the authority meets its policy and service objectives and provides effective 
stewardship of public money and value for money in its use.

 < Ensure that the authority maintains a prudential financial framework; keeps its commitments in balance with 
available resources; monitors income and expenditure levels to ensure that this balance is maintained and takes 
corrective action when necessary.

 < Ensure the authority understands the budgetary commitment of a contracted service including the longer term 
financial implications.

 < Ensure that advice is provided on the levels of reserves and balances in line with good practice guidance13 

 < Ensure compliance with CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services Code of Practice.

 < Ensure that appropriate management accounting systems, functions and controls are in place so that finances 
are kept under review on a regular basis. These systems, functions and controls should apply consistently to all 
activities including partnerships arrangements, outsourcing or where the authority is acting in an enabling role.

 < Ensure the provision of clear, well presented, timely, complete and accurate information and reports to budget 
managers and senior officers on the budgetary and financial performance of the authority.

 < Ensure that medium-term business and financial planning systems along with ongoing performance 
monitoring cover the services provided through partnerships and alternative delivery models

 < Ensure that the prudential financial framework accurately reflects the commitments and potential future 
impact of contracted future services

13 LAAP 99 – Local Authority Reserves and Balances, www.cipfa.org.uk/pt/download/laap77.pdf



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 15

Core CFO responsibilities Principle 2

Responsibility for financial strategy

 < Agreeing the financial framework and planning delivery against the defined strategic and operational criteria.

 < Maintaining a long-term financial strategy to underpin the authority’s financial viability within the agreed 
performance framework.

 < Implementing financial management policies to underpin sustainable long-term financial health and reviewing 
performance against them.

 < Evaluating the financial implications of alternative delivery models.

 < Appraising and advising on commercial opportunities and financial targets. 

 < Developing and maintaining an effective resource allocation model to deliver business priorities.

 < Developing an approach for the delivery of collaborative services within a structured framework.

 < Leading on asset and balance sheet management to allow the authority to maximise it’s effective use 
of resources.

 < Co-ordinating the planning and budgeting processes. 

 < Involvement in strategic assets management.

Influencing decision making

 < Ensuring that opportunities and risks are fully considered and decisions are aligned with the overall 
financial strategy.

 < Providing professional advice and objective financial analysis enabling decision makers to take timely and 
informed business decisions.

 < Ensuring that efficient arrangements are in place and sufficient resources available to provide accurate, 
complete and timely advice to support councillors’ strategy development.

 < Ensuring that clear, timely, accurate advice is provided to the executive in setting the funding plan/budget.

 < Ensuring that advice is provided to the scrutiny function in considering the funding plan/budget.

 < Ensuring that the authority’s capital projects are chosen after appropriate value for money analysis and 
evaluation using relevant professional guidance.

 < Checking, at an early stage, that innovative financial approaches comply with regulatory requirements.

Financial information for decision makers

 < Monitoring and reporting on financial performance that is linked to related performance information and strategic 
objectives that identifies any necessary corrective decisions.

 < Preparing timely management accounts.

 < Ensuring the reporting envelope reflects partnerships and other arrangements to give an overall picture.

 < Monitoring the service impact of 3rd party contacts on the delivery of organisational objectives.

 < Monitoring the longer-term financial impact of 3rd party contracts.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government16

Personal skills and professional standards  Principle 2

 < Take all reasonable steps to ensure that:

– budgets are planned as an integral part of the strategic and operational management of the authority and are 
aligned with its structure of managerial responsibilities

–  budgets are constructed on the basis of reliable data of past performance and rigorous assessments of 
future resources and commitments, and that policies and priorities are evaluated in an open, consistent and 
thorough manner

–  responsibilities for budget management and control are unambiguously allocated, that commitments are 
properly authorised, and that budgets are related to clear objectives and outputs

–  the accounting and financial information systems make available, at the relevant time to all users, the 
appropriate information for their responsibilities and for the objectives of the authority.

 < Implement other appropriate management, business and strategic planning techniques.

 < Link financial strategy and overall strategy.

 < Demonstrate a willingness to take and stick to difficult decisions – even under pressure.

 < Take ownership of relevant financial and business risks.

 < Network effectively within the authority to ensure awareness of all material business decisions to which CFO 
input may be necessary.

 < Role model persuasive and concise communication with a wide range of audiences internally and externally.

 < Provide clear, authoritative and impartial professional advice and objective financial analysis and interpretation 
of complex situations. 

 < Apply relevant statutory, regulatory and professional standards both personal and organisational.

 < Demonstrate a strong desire to innovate and add value.

 < Challenge effectively, and give and receive constructive feedback.

 < Operate with sensitivity in a political environment. 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 17

The CFO in a local authority must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole authority 
of good financial management so that public money is safeguarded at all times and used 
appropriately, economically, efficiently, and effectively.

Promotion and delivery of good  
financial management
Good financial management is fundamental to 
establishing confidence in the public services and good 
relationships with the taxpayer and other funders. The 
leadership team collectively needs to set the tone that 
financial management is core to achieving strategic 
aims, and to demonstrate that public money is used 
well. Nevertheless it is the CFO who must take the lead 
in establishing a strong framework for implementing 
and maintaining good financial management across the 
authority. The CFO will be instrumental in assessing the 
existing organisational style of financial management 
and the improvements needed to ensure it aligns with 
the authority’s strategic direction.

Financial management is the business of the whole 
authority. When the leadership team, managers and the 
finance function all fulfil their financial management 
responsibilities successfully, they collectively create 
the financially literate and adept authority. The CFO 
must actively promote financial literacy throughout 
the authority and in partnership bodies so that the 
leadership team and managers can discharge their 
financial management responsibilities, alongside 
their wider responsibilities in relation to risk and 
performance management.

Best value and value for money
The CFO has a key role to play in balancing control and 
compliance with value creation and performance. Better 
value for money releases resources that can be recycled 
into higher priorities, without increasing taxation. 
Helping to secure positive social outcomes within 
affordable funding therefore lies at the heart of the CFO’s 
role in the local authority.

With the foundations in place, good financial 
management will focus on stretching limited resources 
to maximise value for the public service. Value for 
money (economy, efficiency and effectiveness) should 
be the concern of all managers, but the CFO will need to 
take the lead in coordinating and facilitating a culture 
of efficiency and value for money. This will involve 
approaches and techniques such as:

 < enabling the authority to measure value for money, 
and making sure that it has the information to 
review value for money and performance effectively 

 < advising on appropriate strategies for managing 
assets and stretching utilisation, and the productive 
use of other resources

 < providing leadership in using and developing 
efficiency tools and techniques, including 
benchmarking, IT, shared services, process analysis 
and cost management, collaborating with others 
where this is more efficient, effective or economical

 < ensuring the rigorous financial appraisal and 
oversight of change programmes, partnership 
working, income generation proposals and 
investment projects. 

Safeguarding public money
The CFO must lead the implementation and 
maintenance of a framework of financial controls and 
procedures for managing financial risks, and must 
determine accounting processes and oversee financial 
management procedures that enable the authority to 
budget and manage within its overall resources. At the 
most fundamental level this means ensuring robust 
systems of risk management and internal control, that 
financial control is exercised consistently, and that the 
authority implements appropriate measures to protect 

principle 3



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government18

its assets from fraud and loss and to identify and meet 
the assurance needed. 

Where services are provided by partnership and 3rd 
party arrangements the CFO must ensure the mechanics 
and assurance mechanics are in place and compliance 
is monitored.

The CFO also has a specific role with regard to 
stewardship. This includes ensuring that the governance 
structures codify financial control, internal control, 
risk management and assurance, as well as defining a 
framework of financial accountabilities and reporting. 
In addition to the finance director’s responsibilities to 
the authority, a wider role also exists in relation to the 
general public. The local authority is regarded as the 
trustee of local citizens’ money, and the finance director 
has the prime obligation and duty to them to manage 
the authority’s resources prudently on their behalf as 
established in the 1906 de Winton case. 

In effect this means that the finance director has 
a personal responsibility for the stewardship and 
safeguarding of public money and for demonstrating 
that high standards of probity exist. Strong financial 
management, accurate financial reporting and effective 
financial controls are therefore central to the finance 
director’s role in local government. This role was 
strengthened by the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 (in England and Wales), which requires the finance 
director to report inappropriate financial management 
as well as wrongdoing.

Section 114 of the 1988 Act requires a report to all the 
local authority’s members to be made by that officer, 
in consultation with the monitoring officer and head 
of paid service, if there is or is likely to be unlawful 
expenditure or an unbalanced budget. Section 114 
does not apply to Scotland – instead the requirement 
to set a balanced budget is established in s108(2) of 
the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and s93(3) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. In Northern 
Ireland, the equivalent duty – whilst not specified in 
statute – would rest with the authority’s CFO in keeping 
with the statutory responsibility under section 54 of 
the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 1972. 
Further guidance recommending courses of action to 
be followed when a report under s114 may be required 
is attached at appendix B to this Statement. Although 

section 114 does not apply to Scotland or Northern 
Ireland the principles that underlie it and the actions 
proposed in appendix B are recommended to finance 
directors as a means of discharging their overall 
responsibility for sound financial management. 

Consistency of standards and transparency in financial 
activities are essential. In this context, CIPFA’s view is 
that the statutory role of the CFO does not stop at the 
boundaries of the local authority but extends into its 
partnerships, devolved arrangements, joint ventures 
and companies in which the authority has an interest. 
As a minimum the CFO would exercise this through 
ongoing monitoring and obtaining rights of access to 
information in order to ensure financial probity. CFO’s 
must be satisfied that what ever is being monitored is 
needed and the information available

The CFO should oversee the appropriate arrangements 
with respect to service contracts and alternative 
delivery models. 

Assurance and scrutiny
Accountability for public expenditure is a core 
requirement for local authorities. They are held 
accountable by intermediary stakeholders, such as 
scrutiny groups, service inspectorates and external 
auditors, and by primary stakeholders: the citizens, 
service users, funders and taxpayers. 

Managing information flows is a key component of 
the CFO’s role as an ambassador for the authority on 
financial matters and in building relationships with 
stakeholders. The CFO must also provide information 
and advice to those who officially scrutinise and review 
the authority; funders, regulators, and external audit, 
and any group which exercises scrutiny internally. 
The community, taxpayers and the press also 
expect information. 

Internal audit is an important independent internal 
scrutiny activity. Internal audits remit does not 
necessarily end within the organisation boundary 
but can extend to a partnership and alternative 
delivery model. The CFO must support the authority’s 
internal audit arrangements and ensure that the 
audit committee receives the necessary advice 
and information, so that both functions can 
operate effectively.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 19

Public service providers face a variety of regulatory 
requirements and standards for external financial 
reporting, while measures of value are expressed both 
as financial and as non-financial performance targets. 
The role of the CFO in external reporting is to meet the 
reporting requirements relevant to the authority and 
to apply professional good practice, conscious of the 
needs of users. External financial reporting must be of 
good quality, supported by analysis and documentation 
and should receive an unqualified audit opinion. This 
will be facilitated if the CFO maintains a constructive 
professional relationship with external auditors 
and inspectors.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (England 
and Wales), in Scotland, the Local Authority Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 1985 and in Northern Ireland 
the Local Government (Account and Audit) regulations 
(Northern Ireland) 2006 impose responsibilities on 
the finance director relating to accounting records 
and supporting information, control systems and the 
statement of accounts.

A key feature of the Regulations in England and Wales is 
the requirement for internal audit. Regulation 6 requires 
that a ‘relevant body shall maintain an adequate and 
effective system of internal audit of its accounting 
records and its system of internal control’. Similar 
references exist for Northern Ireland in regulation 3a of 
the Local Government (Account and Audit) regulations 
(Northern Ireland) 2006. Although there is no specific 
reference to internal audit for Scotland the successful 
discharge of the finance director’s responsibilities 
depends in part on effective internal audit. 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government20

Governance requirements Principle 3

 < Make the CFO responsible for ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for keeping 
financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of financial control.

 < Ensure that systems and processes for financial administration, financial control and protection of the authority’s 
resources and assets are designed in conformity with appropriate ethical standards and monitor their continuing 
effectiveness in practice.

 < Ensure that the authority puts in place effective internal financial controls covering codified guidance, budgetary 
systems, supervision, management review and monitoring, physical safeguards, segregation of duties, accounting 
procedures, information systems and authorisation and approval processes. Ensuring that these controls are an 
integral part of the authority’s underlying framework of corporate governance and that they are reflected in its 
local code.

 < Address the authority’s arrangements for financial and internal control and for managing risk in Annual 
Governance Reports.

 < Publish annual accounts on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities and achievements, its 
financial position and performance.

 < Ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained.

 < Develop and maintain an effective audit committee. 

 < Ensure that the authority makes best use of resources and that taxpayers and/or service users receive value 
for money. 

 < Embed financial competencies in person specifications and appraisals.

 < Assess the financial skills required by managers and commit to develop those skills to enable their roles to be 
carried out effectively. 

 < Ensure that councillors’ roles and responsibilities for monitoring financial performance/budget management are 
clear, that they have adequate access to financial skills, and are provided with appropriate financial training on an 
ongoing basis to help them discharge their responsibilities.

 < Ensure ongoing monitoring of assurance arrangements in respect of partnerships and alternative service 
delivery models and that appropriate access to information is maintained.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 21

Core CFO responsibilities Principle 3

Promotion of financial management 

 < Assessing the authority’s financial management style and the improvements needed to ensure it aligns with 
the authority’s strategic direction.

 < Actively promoting financial literacy throughout the authority.

 < Actively promote good financial management throughout all partnerships and alternative delivery models.

 < Assisting the development of a protocol which clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities of both 
democratically elected councillors, whether acting in executive or scrutiny roles, and of officers for financial 
management, including delegated authority/powers.

 < Ensure effective monitoring of partnerships through monitoring and access to information.

Value for money

 < Challenging and supporting decision makers, especially on affordability and value for money, by ensuring 
policy and operational proposals with financial implications are signed off by the finance function or being clear 
on the reason’s for alternative selection.

 < Advising on the financial thresholds for ‘key’ decisions where there is a requirement to do so.

 < Developing and maintaining appropriate asset management and procurement strategies.

 < Managing long-term commercial contract value.

Safeguarding public money

 < Applying strong internal controls in all areas of financial management, risk management and asset control.

 < Establishing budgets, financial targets and performance indicators to help assess delivery.

 < Implementing effective systems of internal control that include standing financial instructions, operating 
manuals, and compliance with codes of practice to secure probity.

 < Ensuring that the authority has put in place effective arrangements for internal audit of the control 
environment and systems of internal control as required by professional standards and in line with CIPFA’s Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.14

 < Ensuring that delegated financial authorities are respected.

 < Promoting arrangements to identify and manage key business risks, including safeguarding assets, risk 
mitigation and insurance.

 < Overseeing of capital projects and post completion reviews.

 < Applying discipline in financial management, including managing cash and banking, treasury management, 
debt and cash flow, with appropriate segregation of duties.

 < Ensuring the effective management of cash flows, borrowings and investments of the authority’s own funds or 
the pension and trust funds it manages on behalf of others; ensuring the effective management of associated 
risks; pursuing optimum performance or return consistent with those risks.

 < Implementing appropriate measures to prevent and detect fraud and corruption.

14 CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom developed by the CIPFA/LASAAC Joint Committee 
www.cipfa.org/publications



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government22

Core CFO responsibilities Principle 3

 < Establishing proportionate business continuity arrangements for financial processes and information. 

 < Ensuring that any partnership arrangements are underpinned by clear and well documented internal controls.

 < Be alert to potential conflicts of interest and ensure the authority has access to appropriate independent advice.

Assurance and scrutiny

 < Reporting performance of both the authority and its partnerships to the board and other parties as required.

 < Ensuring that financial and performance information presented to members of the public, the community 
and the media covering resources, financial strategy, service plans, targets and performance is accurate, clear, 
relevant, robust and objective.

 < Supporting and advising the audit committee and relevant scrutiny groups.

 < Ensuring that clear, timely, accurate advice is provided to the executive and the scrutiny functions on what 
considerations can legitimately influence decisions on the allocation of resources, and what cannot.

 < Preparing published budgets, annual accounts and consolidation data for government-level consolidated 
accounts.

 < Ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on a timely basis, meet the requirements of the law, 
financial reporting standards and professional standards as reflected in CIPFA’s Code of Practice. 

 < Certifying the annual statement of accounts.

 < Ensuring that arrangements are in place so that other accounts and grant claims (including those where the 
authority is the accountable body for community led projects) meet the requirements of the law and of other 
partner organisations and meet the relevant terms and conditions of schemes

 < Liaising with the external auditor.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 23

Personal skills and professional standards Principle 3

 < CFOs should take all reasonable steps to ensure that:

–  effective systems and procedures operate to monitor progress against budgets and their objectives at regular 
intervals, and that appropriate reporting mechanisms are in place

– payments, including benefits and taxation, are made on time, accurately and in accordance with 
legal requirements

–  cash is handled with special care to avoid loss, particularly loss through theft and secure arrangements are in 
place to deal with the handling of electronic or other cash-less transactions

–  the accounting and financial information systems provide an accessible, complete, comprehensive, consistent 
and accurate record of the authority’s financial transactions

–  all financial reports are relevant, reliable and consistent, are compatible with the authority’s accounting and 
financial information systems available, at the relevant time to all users, the appropriate information for their 
responsibilities and for the objectives of the authority

–  within the specific legislative framework for each authority, systems exist to secure the efficient and effective 
management of taxes, in particular to ensure that tax liabilities and obligations are properly reported and 
accounted for and to prevent any tax losses

–  treasury management is carried out in accordance with CIPFA’s treasury management code and that 
effective treasury management arrangements are in place.

 < Generate ‘buy-in’ to, and support delivery of, good financial management across the authority.

 < Develop and sustain partnerships, and engage effectively in collaboration.

 < Deploy effective facilitation and meeting skills.

 < Build and demonstrate commitment to continuous improvement and innovative, but risk-aware, solutions.

 < Place stewardship and probity as the bedrock for management of the authority’s finances.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government24

Meeting the finance needs of the business
The organisation of finance functions is changing 
rapidly. Traditionally they have been centralised 
services, but increasingly they include devolved finance 
teams in business areas. Arrangements may also 
now include outsourced functions, or services shared 
between organisations. 

Whatever the structure, a strong customer focus both 
externally and internally must be a key feature of 
the way the finance function does business. It must 
support the authority’s broader development agenda, by 
appraising investment options and change programmes 
and contributing creative financial solutions within an 
effective risk management framework.

The finance function must also have a firm grasp of 
the authority’s financial position and performance. 
The CFO must ensure that there is sufficient depth of 
financial expertise, supported by effective systems, 
to discharge this responsibility and challenge those 
responsible for the authority’s activities to account for 
their financial performance. The resources available 
must be proportionate to the complexity of the financial 
environment. 

Section 114(7) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 requires authorities in England and Wales to 
provide their CFO with ‘such staff, accommodation and 
other resources as are in his opinion sufficient to allow 
his duties under this section (i.e. s114) to be performed’. 
There is no equivalent requirement in Scotland or 
Northern Ireland.

Appropriately developed finance skills
The CFO must promote financial literacy throughout 
the authority, including championing training and 
development of relevant skills at all levels. However 
the CFO has a particular responsibility for learning 
and development amongst finance staff in order to 
ensure that both current and likely future finance skill 
needs are addressed. This will include identifying the 
competencies needed by the finance function, including 
specialist skills, and ensuring it can access the skills and 
experience to exercise stewardship of public finances, 
develop financial performance and contribute effectively 
to new organisational directions and innovation. 

The CFO must ensure that the head of profession role 
for accountants and finance specialists authority-wide 
is properly discharged in order to ensure compliance 
with regulatory and professional standards. Exercising 
leadership on financial matters in a devolved 
environment will require a documented line of 
professional accountability to the CFO, where this is not 
a direct line management relationship.

The CFO in a local authority must lead and direct a finance function that is resourced to be 
fit for purpose.

principle 4



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 25

Governance requirements Principle 4

 < Provide the finance function with the resources, expertise and systems necessary to perform its role effectively. 

 < Ensure there is a line of professional accountability to the CFO for finance staff throughout the authority.

Core CFO responsibilities Principle 4

 < Leading and directing the finance function so that it makes a full contribution to and meets the needs of 
the business. 

 < Determining the resources, expertise and systems for the finance function that are sufficient to meet business 
needs and negotiating these within the overall financial framework.

 < Managing partnership delivery.

 < Implementing robust processes for recruitment of finance staff and/or outsourcing of functions.

 < Reviewing the performance of the finance function and ensuring that the services provided are in line with the 
expectations and needs of its stakeholders.

 < Seeking continuous improvement in the finance function.

 < Ensuring that finance staff, managers and the leadership team are equipped with the financial competencies 
and expertise needed to manage the business both currently and in the future whether directly or 
indirectly employed.

 < Ensuring that the head of profession role for all finance staff in the authority is properly discharged.

 < Acting as the final arbiter on application of professional standards.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government26

Personal skills and professional standards Principle 4

 < Create, communicate and implement a vision for the finance function. 

 < Role model a customer focussed culture within the finance function.

 < Establish an open culture, built on effective coaching and a “no blame” approach.

 < Promote effective communication within the finance department, across the broader authority and with 
external stakeholders. 

 < Apply strong project planning and process management skills.

 < Set and monitor meaningful performance objectives for the finance team. 

 < Role model effective staff performance management.

 < Coach and support staff in both technical and personal development.

 < Promote high standards of ethical behaviour, probity, integrity and honesty.

 < Ensure, when necessary, that outside expertise is called upon for specialist advice not available within the 
finance function.

 < Promote discussion on current financial and professional issues and their implications.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 27

The CFO in a local authority must be professionally qualified and suitably experienced.

Demonstrating professional and 
interpersonal skills
The CFO must be able to demonstrate their own 
professional standing to exercise financial leadership 
throughout the authority. As a member of a professional 
body, the CFO’s skills, knowledge and expertise will have 
been tested by examination and must be continuously 
developed in a structured and monitored context. The 
CFO must adhere to the professional values of accuracy, 
honesty, integrity, objectivity, impartiality, transparency 
and reliability and promote these throughout the 
finance function.15 

The CFO must communicate complex financial 
information in a clear and credible way. They should be 
able to operate effectively in different modes including 
directing, influencing, evaluating and informing. The 
CFO must also have the confidence to give impartial and 
objective advice even if it may be unwelcome, and be 
sufficiently forceful to intervene with authority if financial 
or ethical principles need to be asserted or defended.

The officer appointed as the CFO must, by virtue of section 
113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 in England 
and Wales, be a member of a specified accountancy 
body.16 There is no equivalent statutory requirement in 
Northern Ireland and Scotland although in both cases, this 
is widely acknowledged to be good practice. 

The statutory role must be performed by an ‘officer’ of the 
authority. Although ‘officer’ is not defined the legal view is 
that the terms ‘staff’ and ‘officer’ in the Local Government 
Act 1972 and elsewhere are intended to embrace 
all employees of local authorities. It is permissible 
for an authority to procure non-statutory financial 
management services from an individual on the basis of 
a service contract. 

Applying business and 
professional experience
The CFO must have an understanding and commitment 
to the wider business, looking beyond narrow financial 
objectives, to inspire respect, confidence and trust 
amongst colleagues, inspectors and stakeholders. In 
practice this means being creative and constructive 
in strategic roles and effective in management 
responsibilities, with a sound grasp of approaches such as 
performance management and project leadership.

The CFO must understand how and when to apply the 
tools and techniques of financial analysis in support of 
business decisions in order to evaluate proposals and to 
offer well founded and expert advice. Such techniques 
include strategic analysis, review of sector best 
practice, benchmarking, option appraisal, performance 
measurement, and risk assessment. However data is not 
always clear cut and the CFO must also be able to apply 
judgement to imperfect information.

The CFO must have a good understanding of public sector 
finance and its regulatory environment and comply with 
standards formulated through rigorous due process in 
support of the public interest to support the leadership 
team effectively. The CFO must also have a good 
understanding of the principles of financial management, 
and personally set a tone for the authority that finance 
matters and is a key part of everyone’s job throughout 
the authority. 

principle 5

15  Further information on behaviours can be found in the IFAC Code of Ethics, www.ifac.org

16  Defined to mean a qualified member of one of the six bodies comprising the Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies (CCAB) in the UK and Ireland, 
that is 
– Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
– The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
– The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland 
– The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland 
– Chartered Institute of Management Accountants 
– The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government28

Governance requirements Principle 5

 < Appoint a professionally qualified CFO whose core responsibilities include those set out under the other 
principles in this Statement and ensure that these are properly understood throughout the authority. 

 < Ensure that the CFO has the skills, knowledge, experience and resources to perform effectively in both the 
financial and non-financial areas of their role.

Personal skills and professional standards Principle 5

 < Be a member of an accountancy body recognised by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), 
qualified through examination, and subject to oversight by a professional body that upholds professional 
standards and exercises disciplinary powers.

 < Adhere to international standards set by IFAC on:

– ethics

– Continuing Professional Development.

 < Demonstrate IT literacy.

 < Have relevant prior experience of financial management in the public services or equivalent.

 < Understand public service finance and its regulatory environment. 

 < Apply the principles of public financial management. 

 < Apply relevant commercial skills and understanding of relevant alternative delivery models 

 < Understand personal and professional strengths. 

 < Undertake appropriate development or obtain relevant experience in order to meet the requirements of the  
non-financial areas of the role.



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 29

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 – 
England and Wales

This section requires that every local authority in 
England and Wales should “make arrangements for the 
proper administration of their financial affairs and shall 
secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs”.

The words “proper administration” are not statutorily 
defined nor have they received judicial consideration. 
Section 58 of the Local Government Act 1958 had 
somewhat narrower wording requiring authorities to 
make “safe and efficient” arrangements for the receipt 
and payment of money. 

“Proper administration” requires a somewhat wider 
consideration of all aspects of local authority financial 
management and should include:

 < compliance with the statutory requirements for 
accounting and internal audit

 < ensuring the authority’s (and ultimately its 
members’) responsibility for securing proper 
administration of its financial affairs (Lloyd v 
McMahon (1982) AC 625)

 < proper exercise of a wide range of delegated powers 
both formal and informal (Provident Mutual Life 
Assurance Association v Derby City Council (1981) 
1 WCR 173)

 < responsibility for managing the financial affairs of 
the local authority in all its dealings

 < recognition of the fiduciary responsibility owed to 
local taxpayers (Attorney General v De Winton (1906) 
2 CH 106).

This view is strengthened by Section 113 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 which requires the 
responsible officer under Section 151 of the 1972 Act to 
be a member of a specified accountancy body.

Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973 – Scotland 

Section 95 states that: “every local authority shall make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their 
financial affairs and shall secure that the proper officer 
of the authority has responsibility for the administration 
of those affairs”. 

The same considerations as to the meaning of ‘proper 
administration’ as set out above apply in Scotland. 
There is no equivalent statutory requirement to Section 
113, Local Government Finance Act 1988, requiring 
the CFO to be a member of a specified accountancy 
body, in Scotland although in both cases, this is widely 
acknowledged to be good practice.

Section 54 of the Local Government Act (Northern 
Ireland) 1972 – Northern Ireland

Section 54 requires that “council shall make safe and 
efficient arrangements for the receipt of money paid 
to it and the issue of money payable by it and those 
arrangements shall be carried out under the supervision 
of such officer of the council as the council designates 
as its CFO”.

The Northern Ireland Act uses the more narrow wording 
previously used under the 1958 Local Government Act. 
There is no equivalent statutory requirement to Section 
113, Local Government Finance Act 1988, requiring the 
CFO to be a member of a specified accountancy body, in 
Northern Ireland although in both cases, this is widely 
acknowledged to be good practice.

 legislative 
 requirements

APPENDIX A



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government30

Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 – England and Wales

The responsible officer under Section 151 of the 1972 
Act had his or her duties significantly extended by 
Section 114 of the 1988 Act which requires a report to 
all the authority’s members to be made by that officer, 
in consultation with the council’s monitoring officer, 
if there is, or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an 
unbalanced budget.

Introduction

Section 114 (1) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 places a duty on the CFO to report certain matters 
to the authority. Serious consequences could follow 
making such a report and this note recommends sound 
procedures and consultation, particularly with the 
authority’s CLO if that person is not the MO, prior to 
making the report.17

The duty of the CFO to report is triggered if they believe 
that a decision involves (or would involve) unlawful 
expenditure a course of action is unlawful and is 
likely to cause a loss or deficiency an entry of account 
is unlawful.

In those circumstances the CFO is required to make a 
report to the authority and send a copy to every member 
and the external auditor. The course of conduct which 
led to the report must not be pursued until the full 
council has considered the report. The council must 
consider the report within 21 days and decide whether it 
agrees or disagrees with the views in the report and what 
action it proposes to take.

Likewise the CFO must inform the authority where 
they believe that the authority’s expenditure is 
likely to exceed available resources. The authority is 
prevented from entering into any agreements incurring 
expenditure until the council has considered the report.

Regulations under the Local Government Act 2000 have 
amended section 114 for those authorities in England 
operating executive arrangements. In those cases 
such reports are submitted to full council in respect 
of non-executive functions and to the executive for 
executive functions.

If the unlawful expenditure relates to actions undertaken 
by the executive then under sections 114A and 115B, the 
CFO’s report must be submitted to the executive. Copies 

must be sent also to all members of the authority and 
the external auditor (and the council manager if there 
is one).

No action should be carried out until the executive has 
considered the report. The executive must then provide 
a report to the authority, the CFO and the external 
auditor, explaining what action, if any, is to be taken and 
the reasons. 

This guidance note is intended to assist in the provision 
of sound legal (and financial) advice to members of 
the authority the duty to make a part VIII report rests 
with the CFO and nothing in this note derogates from 
that responsibility. 

The legislation raises issues that could place the CFO in 
conflict with his or her employers. The consequences 
of submitting a part VIII report are unlikely to be in the 
long-term interests of the authority, its officers (or even 
local government generally) if many have to be made. 
The need to issue a number of s114 reports would also 
indicate that there are underlying problems with the 
overall performance of the authority. Every action should 
be taken to avoid conflict by providing timely advice to 
elected members and where possible offering alternative 
lawful solutions on financial matters. However, at the 
end of the day section 114 imposes a statutory duty on 
the CFO.

Preliminary matters

Information resulting in the need for a part VIII report 
could come from the CFO’s staff, an officer, a member 
of the authority, the public or the auditor. All elected 
members and officers should be made aware that it 
is the CFO’s duty to raise possible issues requiring 
investigation which may lead to a formal report. This 
could in part be achieved by including details of the 
CFO’s statutory duty in the member/officers’ protocol 
in the local authority’s written constitution which must 
be prepared and maintained under section 37 of the 
2000 Act. The topic should also be included in members’ 
training programmes.

Making a report under sections 114 (2) and 114A(2) 
requires the CFO to make a decision that an act or 
omission is or could be unlawful; this decision should 
only be taken after full consultation with the head 
of paid service, the authority’s MO (and chief legal 
officer where the CLO is not the MO) whereas a report 

17  The statutory duty is to consult the head of paid service and MO. 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 31

under section 114 (3) requires a financial judgement 
on (essentially) the budget which the CFO could take 
alone. Even in a section 114(3) report the CFO is required 
by statute to consult the head of paid service (chief 
executive) and the MO because other corporate and 
legal issues may well flow from the report and because 
there may be overlaps with the MO’s duty to report 
to the authority about unlawfulness under the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 section 5.

MOs have a reciprocal duty to issue reports under section 
5 of the 1989 Act and to consult the head of paid service 
(chief executive) and CFO on their reports.

Circumstances of a developing situation (for example, 
shortage of budget resources or a prospective unlawful 
act) should be distinguished from the imminent or 
actual situation. Timing of a part VIII report will need 
careful thought and decision.

There may well be occasions when the chief executive, 
the MO, the CLO or the CFO will be asked for a view on 
matters which the authority has under consideration 
but which if developed might lead to a part VIII report. A 
mere preliminary enquiry or request should not lead to a 
formal report under the Act. If the situation develops the 
need to report must be reviewed.

It is not considered that the provisions of sections 114 
(2) and 114A (2) relate to cases of discovered fraud 
(which could be the subject of criminal prosecution) 
– these should normally be dealt with under the 
authority’s financial regulations.

A decision will be needed whether to report or not on 
items which could be regarded as outside sections 114 
(2) and 114 A (2) such as trivial expenditure or loss of 
income although there may be circumstances in which 
such a report may be justified.

In the case of action under section 114 (3) the need for 
a report arises only where an authority’s total resources 
fall short of likely expenditure. It does not apply where, 
say, a committee’s budget is overspent – this might 
be the subject of a report outside the provisions of part 
VIII although this could in some circumstances amount 
to a loss or deficiency under section 114 (2) (b) or 114 A 
(2) (b).

This note assumes that within the authority the chief 
executive, MO/CLO and CFO are three separate posts. 
They may not always be so, although there is now a 

statutory bar on the chief executive or CFO being the 
authority’s MO. The authority’s MO may also be the CLO. 
Where the roles are separate both should be consulted.

Recommended procedures

Having regard to the circumstances and the preliminary 
matters mentioned above the procedure for a report 
under section 114 (2) or 114 A (2) – an unlawful act or 
omission – is suggested as follows:

 < Consult with the MO/CLO on the issue of 
unlawfulness.

 < Consult the chief executive on the matter (s114(3A) 
and s114 A (3)).

 < If there is disagreement or doubt the CFO should ask 
the MO/CLO to obtain Opinion of Counsel.

 < If there is still disagreement after Counsel’s Opinion, 
the CFO and MO/CLO refer the matter to the chief 
executive for assistance on procedures but chief 
executives should not substitute their own advice, 
even where legally or financially qualified.

Under section 114 (3) where the matter is an unbalanced 
budget – real or potential – the CFO is in a better 
position to come to a decision unaided. However it 
is recommended: 

 < an informal indication is given by the CFO at a very 
early stage and an attempt made to get immediate 
remedial action

 < the likelihood of a report under section 114 (3) 
should be made known to the chief executive at an 
early opportunity

 < the CFO should consider informal consultation with 
the internal and external auditor

At this point the CFO has to decide the course of action. 
If it is decided to proceed, the CFO goes to next stage.

Where the CFO decides there is a case for a part 
VIII report:

 < If the action or expenditure is potential the CFO 
should draft a report stating the facts and reasons 
and discuss with the MO, the chief executive and 
relevant chief officers how to obviate the need for the 
report by remedial action. If successful the matter 
will rest.

 < Where remedial action is not possible, or where the 
act or expenditure has already happened, the CFO 
should draft a report as in consultation with chief 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government32

18  If inadequate action is agreed in response to a s114(3) report the CFO may need to consider whether or not a further report is required to address the 
situation. This should be decided in conjunction with the chief executive, MO and (if necessary) legal advice should be sought.

executive and MO. The report should clearly state that 
it is made under the relevant sub-section of section 
114 or section 114 (A) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 and the consequences. The CFO 
then ‘makes’ the report by signing it personally.

The statutory duty to make a part VIII report and send a 
copy to each member of the authority and the external 
auditor rests on the CFO. The Act does not say when a 
report is to be sent but implies it should be sent as soon 
as reasonably practicable. 

Where an authority in England or Wales is operating 
executive arrangements under the Local Government 
Act 2000 the report must be to the full council and sent 
to each member of the council and to the auditor, if it 
relates to non-executive functions or the likelihood of an 
unbalanced budget.

Where the local authority is operating executive 
arrangements, and the executive (or a person on their 
behalf) is about to make or has made a decision involving 
unlawful expenditure, a loss or deficiency or an unlawful 
item of account, the CFO must make the report to the 
executive, and send copies to every member, the auditor 
and (in the case of a mayor and council manager) the 
council manager.

The duty to make and send the report rests with the CFO 
and that starts the 21 day ‘prohibition period’ and in 
normal circumstances the timing of sending it needs to 
be carefully considered in consultation with the ‘Proper 
Officer’ for calling meetings (and the chief executive if 
not that officer).

Part VIII reports are likely to be made in highly 
contentious circumstances and as such could be the 
target for legal challenge. They must therefore be subject 
to most careful drafting, rehearsing all relevant matters 
and arguments besides clearly advising as to the options 
or decisions sought.

Whatever the decision, the CFO must have taken all 
steps necessary to arrive at and justify that decision. The 
CFO should ensure that there is a proper record of the 
considerations leading to the decision.

The executive must then meet within 21 days to consider 
the CFO’s report and no action must be taken until this 
has happened. After considering the report, the executive 
must then prepare a report which specifies what action 
(if any) the executive has taken or proposes to take, 
the timing and the reasons for the action. A copy of 
that report must be sent to the external auditor, every 
member of the council and the CFO.

Liaison with proper officer responsible for calling 
meetings: (Schedule 12 Local Government Act 1972)

It is for the “proper officer” to advise on procedure 
for considering the report but by agreement such 
information could be included in the CFO’s report or 
accompany it.

The report could be sent to each member of the authority 
as a separate document. However, in the case of reports 
to the full council it would be advisable to send copies 
with the council summons to the meeting which will 
consider it. In the case of reports to the executive, copies 
could be sent with the agenda for the meeting which 
will consider it, as well as the remaining members of the 
council and the council manager (if any). In both cases 
copies must be sent to the auditor.

The statutory duty to send the report is the CFO’s 
but it is recommended that normally the authority’s 
usual procedure for sending reports to all members be 
followed. However, proof the report was sent to individual 
addresses may subsequently be needed, so special 
arrangements for delivery may be required.

Other matters

Once the CFO has sent the report to each member 
of the authority (or to each member of the council, 
the executive and council manager (if any) where 
executive arrangements are operating) and to the 
external auditor, their reporting duty under part VIII 
has been completed.18 In the case of authorities with 
executive arrangements, the executive must then issue 
its report in response. The CFO, under their section 151 
responsibilities may then have to advise full council 
on the outcome. If the authority (or the executive) acts 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 33

positively on the s114 (114A) report, well and good; 
if not, any further formal action is to be taken by the 
external auditor pursuant to section 6 of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998 or by the issue of an ‘advisory 
notice’ under section 19A or by applying to the court for 
a declaration under section 17 of the 1998 Act. 

The authority’s standing orders and financial regulations 
should be compatible with the part VIII procedures. 

In the light of these provisions it is clearly essential 
that all reports to committees or to the executive, 
an executive committee or an individual executive 
member containing financial matters should be cleared 
with the CFO. The CFO should also have access to all 
decision records, minutes and forward plans of executive 
key decisions.

The 1988 Act requires the authority to provide the CFO 
with sufficient resources to carry out their duties under 
part VIII. These would include the cost of obtaining 
advice and resources outside the authority if required.

The CFO’s duties under part VIII must be carried out 
personally and it is recommended that they nominate 
a person to act in their absence or when ill under 
section 114(6).

The activities of companies set up by authorities 
appear to be outside the present legislation for section 
114/114A reports.

Where a report has been made under section 114(3), 
arrangements need to be made to inform all persons, 
including school staff, who have delegated authority to 
enter commitments, that such powers are suspended 
during the prohibition period.

Section 114 equivalent in Scotland and 
Northern Ireland

Section 114 does not apply to Scotland – instead the 
requirement to set a balanced budget is established in 
s108(2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 
and s93(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
In Northern Ireland, the equivalent duty – whilst not 
specified in statute – would rest with the authority’s 
CFO in keeping with the statutory responsibility under 
section 54 of the Local Government Act (Northern 
Ireland) 1972.

 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government34

Flow chart for Section 114 Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (England and Wales) Procedures

MATTER COMES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE CFO

(YES)

NO ACTION

ACTION OR PAYMENT POSSIBLY ILLEGAL LIKELY CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
EXCEEDS LIKELY RESOURCES

LIKELY REVENUE EXPENDITURE
EXCEEDS LIKELY RESOURCES

(THIS YEAR)(THIS YEAR) (A FUTURE YEAR)

NOTIFY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: SEEK CORRECTIVE ACTION
FOR YEAR IN QUESTION

(NOT SUCCESSFUL) (SUCCESSFUL)

CFO DRAFTS
PART VIII REPORT

NO  ACTION

CONSULT WITH MO AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CFO ‘MAKES’ (SIGNS) REPORT

REPORT SENT BY CFO TO EVERY
MEMBER OF AUTHORITY (OR TO 
MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL OR
EXECUTIVE WHERE EXECUTIVE

ARRANGEMENTS ARE OPERATING) 
AND THE AUDITOR

PROHIBITION PERIOD BEGINS
(ANY NEW AGREEMENT TO SPEND IS HALTED)

AFTER THE EVENT POTENTIAL

CONFER WITH CLO/MO/CHIEF EXECUTIVE
WAS IT LAWFUL?

CONFER WITH CLO/MO/CHIEF EXECUTIVE
WOULD IT BE LAWFUL?

(NO)UNCERTAIN (NO)UNCERTAIN (YES)

NOTIFY CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

NOTIFY CHIEF EXECUTIVE
TRY TO GET IT STOPPED

GET COUNSEL’S
OPINION

GET COUNSEL’S
OPINION

(YES)

(NO) (NO) (YES)CFO DRAFTS

PART VIII REPORT
(NOT

SUCCESSFUL)
(SUCCESSFUL)

NO ACTIONNO ACTION
AGREE REPORT WITH MO AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(AND COUNSEL IF NECESSARY)

CFO ‘MAKES’ (SIGNS) REPORT

REPORT SENT BY CFO TO EVERY
MEMBER OF AUTHORITY 

NO ACTION NO ACTION

WHERE EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS OPERATE AND
REPORT CONCERNS EXECUTIVE ACTION REPORT SENT TO EXECUTIVE, 
EVERY MEMBER OF AUTHORITY, THE AUDITOR AND COUNCIL 
MANAGER/MAYOR (IF ONE EXISTS) OR IF IT RELATES TO NON
EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS, REPORT SENT TO EACH MEMBER OF
THE AUTHORITY AND THE AUDITOR

(A FUTURE YEAR)

PROHIBITION PERIOD BEGINS 
(THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION IS HALTED)

AUTHORITY COUNCIL/EXECUTIVE MUST CONSIDER
REPORT WITHIN 21 DAYS

HOLD MEETING TO CONSIDER REPORT

AGREE REPORT

DECIDE REMEDIAL ACTION

DISAGREE REPORT

NO ACTION

PROHIBITION PERIOD ENDS NEXT DAY

PROPER OFFICER NOTIFIES AUDITOR OF DECISION

PROPER OFFICER
NOTIFIES AUDITOR
OF DATE TIME AND
PLACE OF MEETING

WHERE EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS OPERATE, 
EXECUTIVE MUST REPORT ON ACTIONS (IF ANY)
TAKEN IN RESPONSE, TIMING AND REASONS TO 
THE AUTHORITY, CFO AND AUDITOR

for section 114 local government finance act 1988 
(England and Wales) procedures

APPENDIX B

flowchart 



CIPFA | The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 35

Flow chart for Section 114 Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (England and Wales) Procedures

MATTER COMES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE CFO

(YES)

NO ACTION

ACTION OR PAYMENT POSSIBLY ILLEGAL LIKELY CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
EXCEEDS LIKELY RESOURCES

LIKELY REVENUE EXPENDITURE
EXCEEDS LIKELY RESOURCES

(THIS YEAR)(THIS YEAR) (A FUTURE YEAR)

NOTIFY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: SEEK CORRECTIVE ACTION
FOR YEAR IN QUESTION

(NOT SUCCESSFUL) (SUCCESSFUL)

CFO DRAFTS
PART VIII REPORT

NO  ACTION

CONSULT WITH MO AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CFO ‘MAKES’ (SIGNS) REPORT

REPORT SENT BY CFO TO EVERY
MEMBER OF AUTHORITY (OR TO 
MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL OR
EXECUTIVE WHERE EXECUTIVE

ARRANGEMENTS ARE OPERATING) 
AND THE AUDITOR

PROHIBITION PERIOD BEGINS
(ANY NEW AGREEMENT TO SPEND IS HALTED)

AFTER THE EVENT POTENTIAL

CONFER WITH CLO/MO/CHIEF EXECUTIVE
WAS IT LAWFUL?

CONFER WITH CLO/MO/CHIEF EXECUTIVE
WOULD IT BE LAWFUL?

(NO)UNCERTAIN (NO)UNCERTAIN (YES)

NOTIFY CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

NOTIFY CHIEF EXECUTIVE
TRY TO GET IT STOPPED

GET COUNSEL’S
OPINION

GET COUNSEL’S
OPINION

(YES)

(NO) (NO) (YES)CFO DRAFTS

PART VIII REPORT
(NOT

SUCCESSFUL)
(SUCCESSFUL)

NO ACTIONNO ACTION
AGREE REPORT WITH MO AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(AND COUNSEL IF NECESSARY)

CFO ‘MAKES’ (SIGNS) REPORT

REPORT SENT BY CFO TO EVERY
MEMBER OF AUTHORITY 

NO ACTION NO ACTION

WHERE EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS OPERATE AND
REPORT CONCERNS EXECUTIVE ACTION REPORT SENT TO EXECUTIVE, 
EVERY MEMBER OF AUTHORITY, THE AUDITOR AND COUNCIL 
MANAGER/MAYOR (IF ONE EXISTS) OR IF IT RELATES TO NON
EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS, REPORT SENT TO EACH MEMBER OF
THE AUTHORITY AND THE AUDITOR

(A FUTURE YEAR)

PROHIBITION PERIOD BEGINS 
(THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION IS HALTED)

AUTHORITY COUNCIL/EXECUTIVE MUST CONSIDER
REPORT WITHIN 21 DAYS

HOLD MEETING TO CONSIDER REPORT

AGREE REPORT

DECIDE REMEDIAL ACTION

DISAGREE REPORT

NO ACTION

PROHIBITION PERIOD ENDS NEXT DAY

PROPER OFFICER NOTIFIES AUDITOR OF DECISION

PROPER OFFICER
NOTIFIES AUDITOR
OF DATE TIME AND
PLACE OF MEETING

WHERE EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS OPERATE, 
EXECUTIVE MUST REPORT ON ACTIONS (IF ANY)
TAKEN IN RESPONSE, TIMING AND REASONS TO 
THE AUTHORITY, CFO AND AUDITOR



Registered office: 
77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN 

T: 020 7543 5600  F: 020 7543 5700 
www.cipfa.org

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  
Registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060 

Registered with the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator No SCO37963



Appendix N

PUBLIC INTEREST REPORT, ADVISORY NOTICE AND JUDICIAL REVIEW – 
AUDITOR POWERS

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (LAAC) introduced a new local audit regime 
in England, abolishing the Audit Commission on 1 April 2015 and providing that local 
authorities may appoint local external auditors.

Local authorities are required to keep their accounts in accordance with ‘proper practices’. 
This is defined, for the purposes of local government legislation, as meaning compliance 
with the terms of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2015/16.

The Code specifies the principles and practices of accounting required to prepare a 
Statement of Accounts which gives a true and fair view of the financial position and 
transactions of a local authority and offers constructive advice and assistance to 
practitioners and external auditors on all aspects of the detailed application and 
implementation of the 2015/16 Code.

Local auditors have a right to access all relevant documents and records necessary to 
allow them to conduct their audit. This includes computer data in a legible form, and it also 
includes the right to question relevant officers on documents and data. It is a criminal 
offence for officers of an audited body to obstruct an auditor in carrying out this duty, or to 
fail to answer questions.

Where an auditor has concerns regarding a public body’s accounts, they may: 

• Make written recommendations to the Authority; 
• Produce a public interest report; 
• Issue an ‘advisory notice’ if it appears to the auditor that funds have been, or are about to 

be, spent unlawfully by the Authority. Such a notice prevents the Authority from making 
the decision to spend the money in question, if it has not yet done so; 

• Apply for judicial review of an action, or failure to act, by an authority which might have 
an effect on its accounts. 

At the conclusion of the audit, based upon the work carried out, the auditor will issue their 
opinion. In most cases, this will be an ‘unqualified’ opinion (i.e. the audited body’s 
accounts constitute a ‘true and fair’ view of its finances). If the auditor has encountered 
material issues which either limit the scope of their work or where they disagree with 
material items in the accounts, they may issue a ‘qualified’ opinion, setting out their 
concerns in the audit report. 

The actions of a committee or sub-committee, authorised to act on behalf of an Authority, 
are to be treated as the actions of the Authority itself.

The actions of any person (not being an officer of an Authority) authorised to act on behalf 
of that Authority are also to be treated as the actions of the Authority itself.  An example 
would be a local authority acting as duly authorised agent of the Authority under audit (e.g. 
a district council acting as highways agent for the County Council).





Appendix P

Dartford Borough Council Pay Policy Statement – 2019-20

1. Purpose

This Pay Policy Statement is made in accordance with Section 38(1) of the 
Localism Act 2011 and will be updated annually as part of the budget report.

This Pay Policy Statement sets out Dartford Borough Council’s policies 
relating to the pay of its workforce for the financial year 2019-20, in particular:

a) the remuneration of its Chief Officers
b) the remuneration of its “lowest paid employees”
c) the relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and the 

remuneration of its employees who are not Chief Officers

2. Legislative Framework

In determining the pay and remuneration of all its employees, the Council will 
comply with all relevant employment legislation and:

 The Equality Act 2010
 The Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 

Regulations 2000
 The Agency Workers Regulations 2010, and where relevant
 The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 

2006.

With regard to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, 
the Council ensures that there is no pay discrimination within its pay 
structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified.

3. Definitions 

For the purpose of this Pay Policy Statement the following definitions will 
apply:

3.1 “Pay” in addition to salary includes fees, allowances, benefits in kind, 
increases in/enhancements to pension entitlements, and termination 
payments.

3.2 “Chief Officer” (has the meaning given in section 2 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989) and refers to the following roles within 
Dartford Borough Council:

a) Directors;
b) Statutory Officers. 

 
3.3 “Lowest Paid Employees” refers to those staff employed within grade 
B of the Council’s local pay framework. 



Appendix P

The definition for the “Lowest Paid Employees” has been adopted because 
Grade B is the lowest grade on the Council’s local pay framework. Grade B 
(starter level) and a number of cleaners and one seasonal part time worker 
are paid no less than the Living Wage Foundation’s Living Wage.

From time to time the Council employs apprentices or other such categories of 
workers, including casual workers, who are not included within the definition of 
‘Lowest Paid Employee’ as they are employed under the Government’s 
National Minimum Wage legislation and pay is dependent on age.

3.4 “Specified Posts” refers to the most senior staff below Directors that 
have high level and wide ranging responsibilities, who report either to the 
Managing Director or Directors.

3.5 “Other Officers” refers to staff other than Chief Officers and includes 
Lowest Paid Employees and staff in Specified Posts. 

3.6 “Statutory Officers” refers to the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer.

4.  Pay framework and remuneration levels

4.1 General approach

Remuneration at all levels needs to be adequate to secure and retain high-
quality employees dedicated to fulfilling the Council’s business objectives and 
delivering services to the public.

4.2 Responsibility for decisions on remuneration 

It is essential for good governance that decisions on pay and reward 
packages for Chief Officers are made in an open and accountable way and 
that there is a verified and accountable process for recommending the levels 
of top salaries.

Salaries for Chief Officers are determined by a meeting of the General 
Assembly of the Council in accordance with the Council’s local pay 
framework.

The pay grade for Other Officers is determined in accordance with the 
Council’s Pay and Grading Policy.  

The Council’s local pay framework was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on 25 February 2002. 

4.3 Salary grades and grading framework

Grades for Other Officers are determined by job evaluation. The Council 
operates the Hay Job Evaluation Scheme, with the grade for each role being 
determined by a consistent job evaluation process, or an extension thereto for 
specified posts.



Appendix P

As part of this, the Council determines a local pay framework, from Grade B 
(lowest) to Grade M (highest). Each job is evaluated against the Hay Job 
Evaluation Scheme criteria. Each grade comprises an entry level and a 
market level. New starters, current staff moving to a higher graded new post 
or whose post has been re-evaluated at a higher grade are paid at entry level 
and move to market level after 12 months, subject to satisfactory 
performance.  In exceptional circumstances, the market level may be applied 
earlier than 12 months, subject to the approval of the Managing Director. 

Chief Officers are evaluated under the Council’s local pay framework and 
these posts are paid at a specific salary (with no increments) as determined 
by the General Assembly of the Council. The salary of Other Officers’ posts is 
based on the Hay Job Evaluation Scheme, or on comparables and/or external 
advice, and agreed by the Managing Director.

Other than entry and market level, pay grades do not have any increments.

Pay awards are considered annually for all staff and approved as part of the 
budget report considered by the General Assembly of the Council in February 
or March each year.  

5.  Remuneration – level and element 

5.1 Salaries 

5.1.1 Chief Officers

The salary and terms and conditions of employment for Chief Officers are 
determined by the General Assembly of the Council.

Chief Officers are subject to the same pay award (if any) as Other Officers. 

5.1.2 Other Officers

The salary and terms and conditions of employment for Other Officers are 
determined in accordance with the Pay and Grading Policy. 

The salary of specified posts will be determined by the Managing Director in 
accordance with existing structures, comparables, and/or external advice. 

Other Officers are subject to the same pay award (if any) of Chief Officers. 

5.2 Bonuses

The Council does not pay bonuses to any member of staff.



Appendix P

5.3 Fees or allowances

Any allowance or other payment will only be made to staff in connection with 
their role or the patterns of hours they work and must be in accordance with 
the Council’s policies e.g. Expenses Policy, Pay and Grading Policy etc. 

All employees at or above Grade H are entitled to subsidised medical health 
insurance. 

Other non-contractual benefits may from time to time be offered to all 
employees e.g. subsidised sports membership.

Separate payments are made to staff for election duties. The fees paid to 
Council employees for undertaking these election duties vary according to the 
type of election they participate in, and the nature of the duties they 
undertake.

When deciding on such payments, regard is had to guidance proposed by the 
Kent Association of Electoral Administrators or similar organisations and 
approved by Kent Chief Executives. The Managing Director has delegated 
authority to agree the fee levels as proposed by the relevant body and 
approval for this delegation will be sought each year along with this Pay Policy 
Statement.

5.4 Performance related pay 

The Council does not operate a scheme of performance related pay.

5.5 Benefits in kind

Any benefits in kind will be in accordance with any specific policy e.g. 
Expenses Policy and subsidised medical health insurance.

5.6 Pension

All employees are eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS). In line with LGPS rules, all new employees are auto enrolled on 
commencement of employment. The Council will not offer an alternative 
scheme to employees.

In certain circumstances, the Council may grant additional scheme 
membership. The Council’s policy on employer pension discretions is included 
as an Annex to this Pay Policy Statement. 

Additional scheme membership for the Chief Officers is approved by the 
General Assembly of the Council. For Other Officers, approval is by the 
Managing Director.



Appendix P

5.7 Severance Payments

The Council is required to have a policy for discretionary payments under the 
Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) Regulations 2006.

The Council’s policy on these discretionary payments is included as an Annex 
to this Pay Policy Statement.

It is not the general policy of the Council to re-employ former employees who 
have received a redundancy or discretionary compensation payment on 
leaving. However, the Council must have flexibility to respond to operational 
requirements. For Other Officers, the Council will only re-employ former 
employees who have received a redundancy or discretionary compensation 
payment after approval by the Managing Director. In the case of the re-
employment of Chief Officers, approval would be required by the General 
Assembly of the Council.

5.7.1 Chief Officers 

Irrespective of value, any severance/settlement package (including 
redundancy, permanent ill-health or infirmity of mind or body) proposed for the 
Head of Paid Service will be referred to the General Assembly of the Council 
for approval.

The Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Leader has delegated 
authority to agree any severance/settlement package (including redundancy, 
permanent ill-health or infirmity of mind or body) for the Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer, to a value less than £100,000.

Any severance/settlement package (including redundancy, permanent ill-
health or infirmity of mind or body) to a value in excess of £100,000, proposed 
for the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, will be referred to the 
General Assembly of the Council for approval.

Before attempting to reach a financial settlement, it may be appropriate to 
take legal advice and/or consult with the external auditor to ensure that any 
payment is justified and lawful. Relevant considerations will include the 
likelihood of a claim succeeding and the amount of compensation that could 
be awarded by a Court or Employment Tribunal. 

5.7.2 Other Officers

For any discretionary compensation for Other Officers approval is by the 
Managing Director.

5.8 New starters joining the Council

Employees new to the Council will normally be appointed to the entry grade. 
Where the candidate’s current employment package would make the first 
point of the salary range unattractive (and this can be demonstrated by the 



Appendix P

applicant in relation to current earnings) or where the employee already 
operates at a level commensurate with a higher salary, the market grade may 
be payable, subject to the approval of the Managing Director. 

The grade and starting salary, for Chief Officers will be determined by the 
General Assembly of the Council.  The grade for Other Officers will be 
determined by the Hay Job Evaluation scheme.

6. Relationship between remuneration of “Chief Officers” and “Other 
Officers”

For the purpose of this Pay Policy Statement, the “pay multiple” is defined as 
the ratio between the highest paid salary and the mean average salary of the 
whole workforce. In this context, salary excludes any payments made for 
election duties, travel expenses, and any payments made on termination of 
employment.

The policy of the Council is to set the pay multiple at a maximum of six. 

7. Publication and access to information about the remuneration of 
Council employees

The Council publishes in its annual accounts, information relating to the 
remuneration of staff over a level defined by Government guidance. 

Responses to freedom of information requests are subject to the 
consideration of the Data Protection Act 2018.

8. Amendments to this Pay and Policy Statement

This Pay and Policy Statement may be amended in-year by resolution of the 
General Assembly of the Council. 



Appendix P

Annex to Pay Policy Statement

Schedule of employer policy decisions under the Pension Regulations 
for Dartford Borough Council

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013

9 (1) & (3) Contributions

Dartford Borough Council will apply the nationally determined 
employee contribution rates and bands.  These are subject to 
change, usually on 1 April each year, but may be varied at any 
time.

Pensionable pay will be reviewed monthly and based on 
earnings for that month to identify the appropriate band and 
contribution percentage.
 
Dartford Borough Council will notify employees of their individual 
contribution rates in their payslips or by letter at least annually.

16 (2)e &
16 (4)d Shared Cost Additional Pension Contributions (SCAPC)

It is not Dartford Borough Council’s general policy to operate a 
SCAPC where a scheme member wishes to purchase extra 
annual pension (up to the limit defined in the regulations).  

This does not apply where an scheme member has a period of 
child related leave or authorised unpaid leave and elects, within 
30 days of return to work, to pay a SCAPC to cover the amount 
of pension ‘lost’ during the period of absence, Dartford Borough 
Council is required to contribute 2/3rds of the cost. If an election 
is made after the 30 day time limit the full costs will be met by 
the scheme member. 

17 (1) Shared Cost Additional Voluntary Contributions (SCAVC)

Dartford Borough Council will not operate a SCAVC for 
employees.

21 (5) In determining Assumed Pensionable Pay whether a lump sum 
payment made in the previous 12 months is a ‘regular lump 
sum’.

Dartford Borough Council will maintain a list which details what 
Dartford Borough Council considers to be a regular lump sum 
payment made to our employees to be used in the calculation of 
the Assumed Pensionable Pay.



Appendix P

22 (7)(b) & Aggregation of Benefits
22 (8)(b) 

Employees who have previous LGPS pension benefits in 
England and Wales will automatically have these aggregated 
with their new LGPS employment unless they elect within 12 
months of commencing membership of the LGPS in the new 
employment to retain separate benefits.  Dartford Borough 
Council may extend this time limit if the scheme member can 
demonstrate exceptional circumstances so as to justify this.

 
30(6) & Flexible Retirement
30(8)  

It is Dartford Borough Council’s policy to only agree to the 
flexible retirement of a scheme member, and the immediate 
payment of benefits, where there is no detrimental effect on the 
service.

If consent has been given under Regulation 30(6), it is not 
Dartford Borough Council’s policy to waive, in whole or part, any 
actuarial reduction to the scheme member’s benefits.

30(8) Waiving of Actuarial Reductions

It is not Dartford Borough Council’s general policy to waive any 
actuarial reductions applied to benefits paid early or where a 
scheme member has previously been awarded a deferred 
benefit, unless there is a demonstrable benefit to the 
organisation which would take full account of any extra costs to 
be borne by the authority. Any such consent shall be approved 
by the Managing Director.

Where a request has been made for the early payment of 
benefits for compassionate reasons full consideration must be 
given to the guidelines issued by Kent County Council.  Payment 
may only be made after agreement by the Managing Director.  

31 Award of Additional Pension

Dartford Borough Council has the discretion to award additional 
pension (up to the additional pension limit defined in the 
regulations) to an active member or within 6 months of leaving 
the scheme to a scheme member who was dismissed on 
grounds of redundancy or business efficiency.  

Dartford Borough Council will only exercise this discretion in 
exceptional circumstances and only at the discretion of the 
Managing Director.

Additional pension granted under this policy will be awarded as 
a contribution of 1.5% of basic salary for every completed five 
years of service, subject to a maximum of 20 years’ service 



Appendix P

being taken into account and an overall maximum of £6,500 
additional pension being awarded.

100 (6) Aggregation of Benefits

If an employee wishes to transfer any pension benefits they 
have built up in other schemes to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme, the election to do so must be made within 12 
months of starting a new period of membership.  This time limit 
may be extended if the employee can demonstrate exceptional 
circumstances so as to justify this.

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendments) Regulations 2014

Schedule 2
1 (1)(c) Whether to allow the rule of 85 to be ‘switched on’ for members 

from age 55 and before age 60.

It is not Dartford Borough Council’s general policy to make use 
of the discretion to ‘switch back on’ the 85 year rule protections 
unless there are clear financial or operational advantages to 
Dartford Borough Council.

Each case will be considered on its merits by the Managing 
Director.  

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and 
Contributions) Regulations 2007

11(2) Where a scheme member’s pensionable pay consists of fees, it 
is the policy of Dartford Borough Council that, if this produced a 
higher figure, an average of all such fees for any three 
consecutive years ending 31 March within the period of 10 years 
ending with the last date of active membership may be used in 
the calculation of benefits.

The Discretionary Compensation Regulations (2006)
 
5 It is the policy of Dartford Borough Council to base redundancy 

pay on the actual week’s pay rather than the statutory ceiling.

6 Additional compensation allowed in this regulation will not 
normally be agreed unless there is an overall benefit to the 
authority; such cases to be approved by the Managing Director.





Appendix Q

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Local Government Finance Act 1992

Local Government Act 1999

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014

Localism Act 2011

The Local Government Finance Report (England) 2019/20 and related documents

Kent County Council Precept 2019/20

Kent Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 2019/20

Kent Fire and Rescue Authority Precept 2019/20

Parish Precepts 2019/20

The Levying Bodies (General) Regulations 1992




	Agenda
	6 Member Attendance at  Meetings - Councillor B E Read (pages 1-2)
	7 Appointment of a new Member to the Independent Remuneration Panel (pages 3-4)
	8 Council Tax Discounts for Empty and Uninhabitable Dwellings and Empty Premium (pages 5-10)
	9 Revenue and Capital Budgets 2019/20 (pages 11-294)
	2 Appendix A(i) PO
	3 Appendix A(ii) changes in 2018-19
	4 appendix B(i) GF Summary TS
	5 Appendix B(i) Internal Services LS DONE
	6 Appendix B(i) Managing Director LS DONE
	7 Appendix B(i) External Services LS DONE
	8 Appendix B(ii) Fees and Charges LS DONE
	9 Appendix B(iii) Community Grants DONE LH
	10 appendix B(iv) MTFP
	10 appendix B(v) IIR
	11 Appendix C (i)-Housing Revenue Account LD DONE
	13 Appendix c ii HRA LD DONE
	12 Appendix C(iii)HRA Fees and Charges
	18 Appendix D (i) Capital  HRA
	19 Appendix D (ii) Capital GF Main.xls
	20a Appendix D (iii) Capital Stategy
	20b Appendix D (iv) Investment Strategy 2019-20
	20c Appendix D (v) TMSS
	21 Appendix E Corporate Property  LH DONE
	22 Appendix F - BR
	23 Appendix G Amendments to the Approved Budget  LH
	24 Appendix H Robustness of budget
	26 Appendix J(i) - Precepts
	27 Appendix J(ii) CTax Parished and Unparished
	28 Appendix J(iii) Band D CTax LD DONE
	29 Appendix J(iv) Funding Analysis LD DONE
	30 Appendix K MKS
	31(a) Appendix L
	31(b) Appendix M Role-of-CFO-in-LG_2015_final
	31(c)  Appendix N
	32 Appendix P -  Pay Policy Statement 2019-2020 APPROVED
	33 Appendix Q BACKGROUND PAPERS


